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Greenland Hong Kong Holdings Limited (337.HK) is a subsidiary of
Greenland Holdings, one of Fortune Global 500.

Established on 18 July 1992, Greenland Holdings Corporation Limited
["Greenland Holdings”, stock code: 600606.SH) is a large enterprise
of mixed ownership supervised by the State-owned Assefs Supervision
and Administration Commission of Shanghai Municipal Government
headquartered in Shanghai, the PRC.

Ever since ifs establishment 27 years ago, Greenland Holdings has created
a diversified development pattern of “focusing on the development of the
real estate market and placing equal siress on emerging industries such
as Big Infrastructure, Big Finance and Big Consumption” with a global
presence in over 30 countries across five continents. By listing the entire
group on China’s A-share market (600606.5H) and a number of listed
companies in Hong Kong, Greenland has established a capital platform
integrating its domestic and overseas resources, and successfully turned
from "Greenland for China” to “Greenland for the World". Since being
recognized as one of Fortune Global 500 in 2012, Greenland Group has
been on the list for seven consecutive years!

As the only overseaslisted real estate platform and brand display window
of Greenland Holdings, Greenland Hong Kong developed its projects in
18 cities across 9 provinces strategically located in the Pan-Yangtze River
Delta and the Pan-Pearl River Delta regions including Guangdong-Hong
Kong-Macao Creater Bay area to meet the multilevel consumers” demands
in the real estate market. It also spared no effort in pushing ahead with the
"Real Esfate +" strategy by focusing on advantage industries of “healthcare,
cultural and commercial fourism and scientific innovation”, actively reduced
cost, raised efficiency and optimized investment structure to enhance the
competitiveness and market influence of the Group, with a view fo establish
a comprehensive indusiry group by creating a better lifestyle.

leveraging the mature brand image, rich resources, large scale and system,
advanced management and passionate corporate culture of Greenland
Holdings, Greenland Hong Kong will comprehensively consolidate the
existing assets and fully utilize the advantages of the capital platform in
Hong Kong to establish ifself as a benchmark in the Hong Kong capifal

market for mainland China's real estate players!

FEE

R BEBERBR AR (FEH ?&Pﬁﬁfoﬁﬁﬁi
337) R~ FR5005R AR AE R F A ) ©

AR R B AR AR (LR R RIEH - 4k
PERR - EmAERES : 600606.SH)2—RE L8
TEAEEEEERZReRENRHAIRAMA

H% - BISZPA1992F7 H 188 » #AFFR A H
B L -

PRIL274F R - ARMIERR B FE R BREBE AL T TIA
FPHERZERTE  AEE KRR - KEESH
HEXVEERINZTRE  FHEREERAK
M=TZERER - BEIRENAREEE EH(600606.
SHIRZRBRELTAR @ BEREEAINERE
MERTE » BEIEM[ PR B2 %Ffﬂ“a‘ﬁﬁ’]
AR - B201 2F ERABAR - At EEELE
B F Rt R 50058 |

AR BB (E RAR IR AR ME — ROIRSN E B A F
8 knMERINERED  ZEESEENE
BB - MEEBEMZEOR 18T - AR
iR R=AMZR=ARE(EEEERNE
&) mERHMENSZEANHERNK  BRR
el FHhE+ | B - BRI BES - XBEK -
Ws‘z‘éﬂ%ﬂ:@%@?% TR BERE
R RAASEBRFIRTISTEN - ATEIE
%ﬁ%ixﬁﬁ‘tﬁiA TEFAUENEREKE -

RS RARIRMZERER AN RETR - EENED
BIR - BRNRRER - SENERKF IR
BREEXIL  SHEESEHESREER - 7t
DHNRELEAFEERE RATBEAMEARE
PRARFTREE |




CONTENTS

H &%

2

Financial Highlights
MR E

4

Key Events of the Year
FEAFOE

5

Awards and Accolades

HRIR KRR

8

Chairman’s Statement

ERHmE

14

Property Projects
Portfolio

WEIAB BN

44

Property Investment

MEIE

48

Management
Discussion and
Analysis

B Ewma koA

04

Corporate
Governance Report

EEERWE

84

Environmental,
Social and Governance
Report

BE @ REARE

104

Directors and
Senior Management
Profiles
BEERER
EEEAB[N

115

Report of the
Board of Directors

E=EWE

140

Independent
Auditor's Report

EVEPY GRS

148

Consolidated Statement
of Profit or Loss and Other
Comprehensive Income
AR

Hip 2 EAER

150

Consolidated Statement
of Financial Position

REBIIRRR

152

Consolidated Statement
of Changes in Equity
HAMSEHE

154

Consolidated Statement
of Cash Flows

FARERER

156

Notes to the
Consolidated
Financial Statements

NN pvE e I

326

Summary of
Consolidated
Financial Information

RAMBERBR




GREENLAND HONG KONG HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2018

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
LUy S

RESULTS HIGHLIGHTS ¥45H§E

2018 2017
—ET-N\E —E—+F
RMB Million RMB Million Change
ARBEER AREBET HE
Revenue Wz 15,444 14,619 +825
Gross Profit FEF 4,138 3,591 +547
Results from Operating Activities 28 B 48 &S BN 4R 2,473 2,916 443
Profit for the year £F & 4 % 1,981 1,836 +145
Attributable to: LA™ A FEAS -
— Owners of the Company — AR AFIHEA A 1,736 1,319 +417
— Non-controlling interests — 1 Ax & 245 517 —272
Earnings Per Ordinary Share (RMB) &% & i@ & (A R T)
— Basic and Diluted — 78 & #58 0.61 0.46 +0.15

©2017 ©@2018

Revenue 15,444
Wezs
14,619
Profit of the year
F R T

Net profit affributable
fo equity owners

of the Company
EA/NSESZEPN 1.319
FEAR TR T !
0
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RMB Million
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FINANCIAL HIGHLGHTS (Confinved)
B EEE)

2017
—T—+F

RMB Million
ARBEETT

2018

—B-0\E

RMB Million

ARBESET

Total Assets B EE4REE 90,230
Total Liabilities & E4258 76,285
Total Equity #4850 13,945

68,750 +21,480
57,165 +19,120
11,585 +2,360

REVENUE ANALYSIS Uiz 53 #r

2018
—F-N\F
RMB Million
AREBEST

2017

T —F
RMB Million Change
ARERETT B

Sales of properties and consfruction management service

MEIHE MR EREE RS 14,831 14,102 +729
Property management and other services
WEEIE R EIRTS 427 344 +83
Hotel and related services JF /& K 8@ R %5 135 137 -2
lease of properties #1310 E 51 36 +15
Total #5t 15,444 14,619 +825

96.0=

Sales of properties and
construction management service
MERIHE NREEE R
Property management and

other services
MEER K EARY

Hotel and related services

A5 RERE RS

lease of properties
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GREENLAND HONG KONG HOLDINGS LIMITED

KEY EVENTS OF THE YEAR
FEASEMOEE

Annual Report 2018

In January 2018, won the bid for several plots of land located in
Dongmeng Economic Development Zone in Nanning with a tofal
GFA of approximately 872,891 sq.m. and for a plot of land suited
in Yulin City with a total GFA of approximately 999,414 sq.m.

In January 2018, signed the equity fransfer agreement to acquire
70% of equity interest in the project located in Zhaoging City,
Guangdong Province with a total GFA of approximately 1,585,000

sg.m.

In March 2018, partnered with Provectus Care, a renowned
Australian elderly care company, and Shanghai International Medical
Center, a domestic top medical institution, to establish the first

Shanghaibased medical insfitution focusing on Alzheimer's disease

In April 2018, won the bid for five plots of land in Wujiaba sub-
disfrict, Kunming City with a total GFA of approximately 863,186

sg.m.

In May 2018, won a bid for a land parcel in Wujiang District,
Suzhou with a total GFA of approximately 22,000 sq.m. as Phase Il

supportive part of Greenland Jiangnan Huafu project

In June 2018, obtained two land parcels in Wuxi and one land
parcel in Yiwu respectively with a total GFA of approximately
610,543 sq.m.

In June 2018, entered into the framework cooperation agreement on
comprehensive renovation project in five shanty areas in Jiachengli in

Wuxi

Issue of USD200 million of 7.875% bonds due 2019 in June 2018
In September 2018, won the bid for a land parcel in Shengzhou,
Zhejiang province with a total GFA of approximately 232,272 sq.m.
In December 2018, further acquired two land parcels situated af
Greenland Nanning Central Plaza with a total GFA of approximately

287,935 sq.m.

Issue of USD200 million of 9.875% bonds due 2020 in December
2018

RZBE-NF—A BEZRERUABEER
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AWARDS AND ACCOLADES
18 N BRER

GREENLAND HONG KONG

Awarded the Outstanding Enterprises for Environmental Protection for “2018
Asia-Pacific Environmental Profection Achievement Awards” by the Unifed
Nations Environment Programme Foundation, the China Environmental
Protection Association, the Hong Kong Environmental Protection Association
and the Green Environment Profection Association of Macau

SHANGHAI GREENLAND HUANGPU
CENTER

Awarded the Performance Award for the "SBID International Inferior Design
Awards” by UK Design Council

Awarded the Silver Award for the 4th “China Real Estate Design Award for
2017-2018"

WUXI SKY TREE

Awarded the Excellent Award for the 4th “China Real Estate Design Award
for 2017-2018"

Awarded the "Wuxi Human Sefflements Property Project Award for 2018"
by Wuxi Housing Exchange Center (government agency)

WUXI GREENLAND XI SHUI DONG
Awarded the "Quality Property Project for 2018" by Fang.com

Awarded the “Quality Property Project for 2018" on China FZG Rankings
by Fang.com

Awarded the "Wonderful living Model Community for 2018 in China” by

House.sina.com.cn

WUXI DIAMOND MANSION

Awarded the "2019 Top 10 Potential Property Projects in Wuxi” by Wuxi
Weibo Housing

Awarded the "Popular Property Project of the Year” by Wuxi.focus.cn

YIWU GREENLAND EPOCH GATE

Awarded the “Most Commercial and Influential Model” by the Yiwu Redl
Estate Jinwu Award Committee

Awarded the "Top Villa in Yiwu" by the Yiwu Real Estate Jinwu Award
Committee
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GREENLAND HONG KONG HOLDINGS LIMITED

Annual Report 2018

AWARDS AND ACCOILADES (Continued)
RIR IR (4#)

XUZHOU GREENLAND LAKESIDE VILLA

Awarded the 2018 Property Developer of New Era and Property Project
for Wonderful Living” by Xuzhou Press

Awarded the “Chun Hua Award in Real Estate Fair (Spring Edition] for
2018" by Xuzhou Property Market Observation

FOSHAN GREENLAND MOUNTAIN TIME
Awarded the “Best Use of New Media for 2018

Awarded the “Best Selling Property Project for 2018" in annual top trending
searches by Anjuke

KUNMING GREENLAND SOUTHEAST ASIA
HEADQUARTERS

Awarded the Bronze Prize for the "Third REARD Real Estate Star Design
Award" by REARDatChina.com

Awarded the "Model Property Project for 2018" by Anjuke
Awarded the "New Forces of Property Project of the Year” by Focus.cn

Awarded the “Most Popular Property Project in Wujiaba for 2018" by

House.ifeng.com

Awarded the “Star Property in Wujiaba Sub-district of the Year” by

Fang.com

Awarded the “Quality Property Project in Wujiaba Subdisfrict of the Year”
by News.163.com

KUNMING GREENLAND DIAN LAKE
INTERNATIONAL HEALTH TOWN

Awarded the "Model of Ecological Intelligence for 2018" by Tencent

Awarded the “Kunming Best Human Setflements Environment Award for

2018" by Focus.cn

Awarded the “Chinese Large-scaled Property Projects Driving Urban and
Ecological Development” for the 40th Anniversary of Reform and Opening-
up by the Union of National Real Estate Chamber Of Commerce, the
Operation and Management Committee of China Real Estate Association,
the Chinese Organization Committee of UN Infernational Week of Science
and Peace and the Marketing Association of Chinese Mainstream Media

of Real Estate
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AWARDS AND ACCOILADES (Continved)
RIG N IREK (48)

NANNING GREENLAND DONGMENG
INTERNATIONAL TOWN

Awarded the Bronze Prize for the “Third REARD Real Estate Star Design
Award" by REARDatChina.com

NANNING GREENLAND NANNING
CENTRAL PLAZA

Awarded the “2018 Property Project with the Best Investment Potential
in Nanning” by FM93.0 (Education) of Guangxi Broadcasting System,
LEDAMEDIA and iResearch

Awarded the "Guangxi Complex Model for 2018" on Guangxi Real Estate
Strengthen Rankings by Nanning Evening Post and FM@50 Radio

Awarded the “Urban Complex Landmark Award for 2018"by Guangxi
Daily, Nanguo Moming News and House Weekly

NANNING GREENLAND CITY
Awarded the Excellence Award for “CBDA China Decoration Design
Award" by the China Building Decoration Association

Awarded the “large-scaled Influential Property Project in Nanning” on
Guangxi Real Estate Strengthen Rankings for 2018 by Nanning Evening
Post and FM50 Radio

Awarded the "Urban Model Awards for 2018" for “Golden Brick Award
for Real Estate of Guangxi” by Nanguo Morning News and House VWeekly

Awarded the "Annual Top Trending Property Project Searches for 2018" on
Top China Real Estate Rankings (Desirable life) by Anjuke

NANNING GREENLAND XIN LI*PU YUE
GARDEN

Awarded the “Best Selling Property Project for 2018" on the Top China
Real Estate Rankings

TAIYUAN GREENLAND SHANDING PARK
Awarded the “Sixth Residential Architecture Design Excellence Award for
2018" by the World Association of Chinese Architects

Awarded the “Taiyuan Livable Property Project for 2018”

Awarded the "Taiyuan Quality Villa for 2018
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GREENLAND HONG KONG HOLDINGS LIMITED

Annual Report 2018

CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EEHE

In terms of macroeconomics, in 2018, faced with the domestic and
overseas pressure, the economy showed a clear downward frend. The
central bank repeatedly launched currency adjustment instruments to
ensure a reasonable liquidity, but the liquidity of the real economy did
not improve significantly, and monefary derivation capacity was limited.
Coupled with the Fed's repeated interest rate hikes, commencement and
gradual escalation of the SinoUS trade war, the domestic financial market
became turbulent. In ferms of real estate indusiry, the number of aborted
auctions increased significantly and the proportion of the number of aborted
auctions fo the tofal number of launches reached the peak. The real estate
control po\icy remained "thf”. In /\/\orch, the government work reports
of the National People’'s Congress and the Chinese Political Consultative
Conference further stressed the positioning of “the houses are used for
living, not for speculation”. In July, the meeting of the Political Bureau of the
Central Committee of the Communist Party of China emphasised that “it is
defermined to resolve the problems of the real estate market and hold down
prices.” The annual policy fone sef by the two conferences had led the real

esfate industry fo face a more complicated economic environment.

Backed by the sfrong resources of the parent company Greenland Holdings
Corporation Llimited {“Greenland Holdings”), the Group aims at domestic
consumption and user demand upgrades. The Group also comprehensively
deploys emerging industries such as healthcare indusfries as well as cultural
and business tourism industries and actively advances the strategies of
"Real Esfate +", while expanding innovative business, injecting vitality and
premium info real estafe development and operation, creating industrial
synergies and building an industry chain that covers different stages of life

cycle.

2018 was the fifth year of Greenland Hong Kong's establishment and a
crucial year for development. In terms of overall sales revenue and access
fo land resources, we continued fo maintain growth with quality and the
overall performance was excellent. The Group adhered to the following four
principles. Firstly, raise the status, develop from a nationwide perspective
and be more stringent to face severe market situation. The Group adjusted
land acquisition strategies as soon as practicable with rational decision-
making. Secondly, ingenuity building and product research to create a
boutique work with designed soul and thought that makes a city take
pride in. Thirdly, take an innovative thinking and lead the technology. By
establishing a smart operation platform, the Group improved management
efficiency and took the frontier of information management. Fourthly,
industrial synergy and diversified development. In terms of integrated
industries, the Group adjusted ifs organizational structures of the property

sector to create its own value.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (Confinved)
FERE®)

Jun Chen
Executive Director,

;" Chairman and CEQ.
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GREENLAND HONG KONG HOLDINGS LIMITED

Annual Report 2018

CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (Continued)
FREHE #)

HISTORICAL BREAKTHROUGH OF
CONTRACTED SALES

In 2018, the Group precisely defined project positioning and pricing
strategy. Greenland Hong Kong continues to innovate benchmarking
projects and pursue ultimate product quality. In terms of product design,
the Group adheres fo the product development concepts with Greenland
Hong Kong's characteristics. With “creating a better lifestyle” as the main
direction, the Group creafes IP products to form six major products’ series,
namely healthcare series, cultural tourism series, technology & health
series, TOD series, ulfra high-rise series and commercial experience series,
leading to the sfable increase in contracted sales and contracted GFA sold,
of which the Pan-Yangtze River Delta and Pan-Pearl River Delta regions
continued to be the mainstream of the Group's contracted sales. | am
pleased fo announce that the annual contracted sales in 2018 reached a
historical high of RMB37.925 billion, representing a year-on-year increase
of approximately 26%.

RAPID INCREASE IN LAND BANK IN CORE
REGIONS

In 2018, Greenland Hong Kong strategically increased its land bank in
core urban areas through various land acquisition strafegies and expanded
the development scale as well as market influence. Greenland Hong Kong
has added approximately 6.38 million square meters of land bank and
acquired 11 new parcels of land in 8 cifies, from the beginning of 2018
and up to the date of the annual results announcement of 28 March 2019,
mainly focused on the Pan-Yangize River Delta and the Pan-Pearl River Delta
regions where Yangize River Delta City Cluster and Guangdong-Hong
Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area are two of the most popular world-class city
clusters in China. Relying on these two major city clusters and selecting core
cities, Greenland Hong Kong achieved promising sales performance in the

context of escalating policy adjustments.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (Continved)
FERE®)

By the date of the annual results announcement of 28 March 2019, the
Group's land bank was strategically located in the prime areas of major
cities along the Pan-Yangtze River Delta and Pan-Pearl River Delta including
the area radius of the Belt and Road Gateway, Hainan Free Trade Zone
and Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area, which would be
sufficient to meet Greenland's development need in the next two to three
years. In future, the Group will also continue fo identify high-quality land

projects with promising pofenﬂo| for de\/e|opmem.

COMPREHENSIVE LAYOUT PLAN FOR NEW
EMERGING INDUSTRIES

Greenland Hong Kong relies on forward-looking judgments and insights
info macroeconomic and industrial frends to respond positively fo natfional
strafegies. In March 2018, the Group announced a joint investment with a
renowned Australian elderly care company Provectus Care and a domestic
top medical institution Shanghai International Medical Centre. In January
2019, the construction of Shanghai’s first professional care facility for
Dementia (including Alzheimer's disease] was completed in Shanghai. The
completion of Provectus Care Residence marked the attempt of Greenland
Hong Kong starting from scrafch, responding to natfional calls and social
needs and introducing Australia’s advanced concepts into Shanghai to
bring about a localised service. Moreover, the Group's Greenland Dian
Lake International Health Town project in Kunming, Yunnan province,
covers international medical, outpatient, Hanfang healthcare, genetic
testing, precision medicine and health management, efc., helping Kunming
to create a "health city in China”, which is also an important layout of
healthcare industrial strategies of Greenland Hong Kong which strives to

create a “Real Esfate +" business synergy.
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GREENLAND HONG KONG HOLDINGS LIMITED

Annual Report 2018

CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (Continued)
FREHE #)

FULL-RANGE COST CONTROL TO INCREASE
EFFICIENCY

In ferms of corporate governance, the Group has embraced the information
era in the development process. The selFdeveloped and operated Internet
smart e-commerce sourcing platform, "Hezhi”, has been put info use since
its official launch in June 2018. There are 557 suppliers with more than
60,000 products. The platform is aimed at online building materials
procurement and industrial chain upgrading, which significantly saves
bidding time and manpower input to reduce procurement costs. In addition,
the Group realised paperless office and overall bidding coverage via the
“internet, infelligence and delicacy”. The Group continued to establish the
direct procurement platform and the BIM digital project full-range control
systfem. The modern management model ensured low consumption but high
production, which in turn fully increased operating efficiency and realised
"management and supervision without blind area” through utilisafion of big
dafa.

OUTLOOK

In relation to the outlook of 2019, Sino-US trade disputes will ease in
a short period of time. Foreign trade pressure will also be alleviated in
which economic operation will remain stable and monetary policy will
continue fo maintain a stable and neutral nature. Various real estate
regulatory policies will also focus on stability. Standing on a brand-new
starting point, Greenland Hong Kong will sTricﬂy imp|ement the po|icy of
"raising the sfatus, increasing the standard, enhancing responsibilities and
strengthening enforcement” and the requirement of “deep understanding,
great determination, quick action, flexible method and strict enforcement”.
The Group will not only base on the present and grasp opportunities in the
market, but also focus on longterm development and plan the layout of the
next five years of the development schedule to lay a solid foundation for

Greenland Hong Kong fo reach the “100 billion camp”.

EREERAFEY

ERRDRESE - ARBAHRBETEEARE
BIERR  BXMBELNERRESERREY
a-la®] BT \FRALEARBDE  TA
ABEHERIZESS7F - B mEBE 6000084 H - F
BRI M BRBMEREAL - KIBENE
BEERMATRA - BRAERBEA - 51 A&
BUATARRME - BRME - B - UERER(H
nHENEERE  HEEZREFERTARE
BMEBA(tEREFEERR - AAR(CERER
A MEIERESEE - 2HETEENE - BBAK
BRERIEREEETR] -

RE

RE-_ZT-NF  PEXEZFFRERBEMN - SN E
SENEAFRER  EEETRIT TR - B¥EK
IGAE B TR - B E S B BER A
RRT - E—EZMOER L A EBLTH
BRERBITIIRGWMA - RIVEE BEEME -
SBIEBMITIH16F T8 BEIRBER RLE
ATTBHER  TEEE AHERIN20FE
Ko REBTMEBYRET ~ £ETS - BEEER
RiE  REMRARKIFERREZL - RHE
BEATREESEER -
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BEEERERAA

CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (Confinved)
FERE®)

The Group will adhere fo the initial intention of “creating a better lifestyle”
and continue fo implement the “"Real Estate +" strategy to shoulder the
mission of society. People’s longing for a better life in China and the
consfant demand for rich spiritual and cultural connotations have become
the direction of Greenland Hong Kong's efforts. It will also continue to
actively implement a series of precise employees’ incentive schemes to
stimulate the strong momentum for the future development. As a Hong Kong-
listed p\oh(orm of Greenland Ho|dings, Greenland Hong Kong will take
a fop-down approach, capitalise on the international financing platform,
actively explore the Group's new business model, promote the Group's
globalisation and upgrade of investment model, and create a better lifestyle

for people and higher value for ifs shareholders.

APPRECIATION

With the loyalty, continuous efforts and precise enforcement of policies from
all levels of employees, Greenland achieved various breakihroughs in 2018
and each business sector was developing steadily. The year of 2019 is the
first year of Greenland Hong Kong's “next five-year development”. It is of
great significance fo the Company's development process. We believe that
everyone will build a common, united and uplifting spirit, so that Greenland
Hong Kong will be able to enter a more new and stable development
model and achieve even better results, thereby laying a solid foundation
for future development. On behalf of the Group, | would like to take this
opportunity to express my sincere gratitude to our shareholders, fellow
board members, and all business partners for their support and frust. We
will use our every endeavour fo promote sustainable development of the

Group and generate substantial reward for our shareholders.

REEB RS RIESRF A TR N0 - BEE
I BHuE+ | 8RS - BREHSMNED - PEAR
HRFERNBENE S BRI TER
KRB E BB NNTR - I EREERE
—FIEEE THERE MBI EERRER
HSRAE ] o (EREINIERIE T EE LT E - 4%
WEBKL RN ARRER: - FMABER{CRE
Fa - BERREEFNEBER  HBHEERI
EHmRIIRERRTR - RARBRAIET XL
MEETR - RERRAEEZNERE -

S

BHEMEIRBRT - THSNIIEERE - 4%
WR —F— \FRBZARY - FEEXHERISE
R o ZT-NEFRFMEB T —ERFHE N
Bz%F HRARNEREREAAIFALESE &M
BEARAZLZR - BER L RERW - FIES
% BB ETEREAEN  ERENERERN
HUSEINERNRAE - AARKRERITTEREAR -
REIHE  AARKEERAREHER - #5882
CRAMABEBHFE RO RER - TS
BEERN  HBHAKENORERRE  BRABKER
SIRABER
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PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLIO
/E SRR MY

THE MAP BELOW SHOWS THE
GEOGRAPHICAL COVERAGE OF OUR
PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT
PROJECTS.

TEHEMYEERIEE
HIBBEGLE -

B
SUZHOU
m WUXI
41 4
XUZHSU fe) =: YT
HUANGSHAN o ==z
Wqﬁ‘ SHANGHAI

fo—
NINGBO

2
SHENGZHOU
)

YIWU

HAIKOU
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PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLO (Continved)

YEBB BN @)

'SHANGHAI 1§

e Cambridge Forest New Town
BR+E

e Oriental Garden (Cambridge
Watertown)
R 7 BERe (BB /K 48)

e Tiffany (Cambridge Waters)
BiRE (FRIEKE)

® Holiday Inn Shanghai Pudong
Kanggioo

/iﬁﬁﬁiﬁlfﬁx H /@E

® Greenland Seaside City
SN

® Greenland Huangpu Center
AR EREIT

® Greenland Yunxiang Tower

R EARE

JIANGSU ST &

® Suzhou
BRI
— Global 188
IRTK188
— Triumph Residence
i
- Greenland Jiangnan Huafu
AR T FERT
— Greenland Suzhou ONE
£ b &R M ONE
— Greenland Lincoln Garden
AR E DR
® Xuzhou
M
— China Resources Greenland
Triumph Arch
B[S ulhind!
— Greenland Lakeside Villa
ERHbHREER
® \Wuxi
— Greenland Xi Shui Dong
LR FEKER
— Greenland Sky Tree
K b R 2o
— Greenland Diamond Mansion
R PR RS
— Wouxi Health Home
EHRERER
. Changshu
=2
- Greenbnd la Casa
FEHbIERE
— Greenland Emerald Bay

ZHEJIANG 7’

* Ningbo
B
- Greenlond Bihu International
K BB
® Hangzhou
M
— Greenland Cifi City
KRB IEI
® Jiaxing
=
— Tongxiang Greenland Central
Plaza
TR B AR P RIS
® Yiwu
— Greenland Epoch Gate
Kr ARG
® Shengzhou
N
— Greenland Four Seasons
Impressmn

AR ENR

YUNNAN ZE53

® Kunming

A

— The Mefropolitan
AW

— Greenland Hai Po Lan Ting
AR UL IR BE

— Greenland Xiang Shu Hua
Cheng
KR AT

— Greenland Yunduhui Square
i EE T ES

— Greenland Dian lake
International Health Town
A B B R 2 B

— Greenland Southeast Asia
Headquarters

R AR A

ANHUI 2

® Huangshan

=L

— Greenland Taiping Lake Resort

K PHERRE

SHANXI 17

® Taiyuan
IR
— Greenland Shanding Park
AR LI A

HAINAN '5r/

°* HAIKOU

ga

— Greenland The Florea
KR b SR 13k

— Greenland Hai Chang Liu
LE AR

— Haikou Greenland City
V8 AR H

— Greenland Central Culture
Center

AR R TAE I

GUANGXI EFA

® Nanning

— Nanning Greenland Cenfer
R BAR I

— Greenland Internafional Huadu
A% BB TE B

- Wuxiang Greenland Center
HRERIH L

— Greenland Nanning Central
Plaza
AR E B RES

— Greenland West Town
Infernational Huadu
AR PO B FR TE AR

— Greenland Xin Li ® Pu Yue
Garden
ARIDFTE o BEA AR

- Nonmng Greenland City

BT

- Green|ond Dongmeng

Infernational Town

AR b IR B BRI

e VYulin

B
- Yulin Greenland City
E AR

GUANGDONG =%

(i

— Greenland Mountain Time

KRR B

® Zhaoging

EE

— Greenland Forest Lake
[Songlong Town)
A Hb AR BRI PR A BB
(RFE/NE)
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PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLO (Confinved)
WEBB BN #)

SHANGHAI PROJECTS LtiBIEH

1 Cambridge Forest New Town FiE¥E5

Site area (sq.m) #bEEEFE (F75K)

1,573,113

CFA (sq.m) #8Z=EmE(FHK)

1,077,054

Brief Introduction JEB &4t :

— One of the largest low-density
residential developments in Shanghai
FERRNEREEEEREEZ—

— Within 25 minutes’ driving distance to
the city center

PEREM AR 0250 $BETE

2 Oriental Garden (Cambridge Watertown) 75 EEBz (BRiEK )

Site area (sq.m) A EE(FFTK)

304,011

GFA (sq.m) fBREEmE S (FF7K)

195,548

Brief Introduction IEB &4} :

— The Chinesestyle, lakeside villa
development
U ERER

— The project has approximately 700
houses; located in Qingpu District,
Shanghai; 25km from Honggjico
Airport
I EEERE - mK700REE
R IEREIIBHIS 25N E

- Adjacent to ancient water fown
Zhujigjiao; 1,700-year history and a
famous tourist site; excellent ecological
area
WERARAEESHEERA © K
KARER,700FFE L HKHE &
$ - DAEESE A AR [ i 5t
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BERERERLT
PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLIO (Confinved)
YEBB BN @)

SHANGHAI PROJECTS tiBIEH

3 Tiffany (Cambridge Waters) #i& & (FigKEB)

Site area (sq.m) HAREFE (F 5 K)

434,317

CFA (sq.m) B EmE(FHK)

596,845

Brief Introduction IEH &4} :

— A large-scale property development
comprising mainly residential
properties targeted af middle class
cusfomers
TS RBER )RR Y 3

RIEE UPERERSTIERRE
=

] |
T L L

Within 5 minutes to the nearest Metro
station and within 20 minutes to the
city center by the subway

FERE AR H S UE X 50 881 T2 + 20
3§ A] RS AT T A0

4 Holiday Inn Shanghai Pudong Kangqiao _Ligi#E%kt R BifE

Site area (sq.m| HAEEE (SF5K)

42,750

GFA (sq.m) #EEEmEE(FT7K)

58,596

Brief Introduction IEB &4t :

— The project is located close to the
Pudong airport, the 2010 World Expo

site and the Shanghai Disneyland

ZIA BAROERES - 2010 FH1E

SEH R HEm T EHE

The hotel has 400 guest rooms. This

project also consists of apariments,

refail space and conference facilities

BEACOEEEER - A% - TF
ZR LG HRIE
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PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLO (Confinved)
WEBB BN #)

SHANGHAI PROJECTS LtiBIEH

5 Greenland Seaside City #kithiEiEH

Site area (sq.m) #bEEEFE (F75K)

69,172

GFA (sq.m) B2 S E & (T 3K)

151,091

Brief Introduction IEE 4} :

- A mixed development of commercial
and office
BERMAGEERIER

— located in Heging Town, within
Shanghai Free Trade Zone, Pudong
New Area, Shanghai, 24km to
People's Square and 1 1km to Pudong
airport
R DEERESEE - B L
BERERS - EEEARES24R
B ORRES1IRE

Srdny

6 Greenland Huangpu Center #ihE=iEiEL

Site area (sq.m) A EE(FFTK)

64,980

GFA (sq.m| #8525 (F77K)

242,610

Brief Introduction IEHE 4 :

— A mixed development of residential,
commercial and office
FE  BERIAGAERIER

- To be developed into a new landmark
in Shanghai
TR R BN 2R
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PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLIO (Confinved)
YEBB BN @)

SHANGHAI PROJECTS tiBIEH

7 Greenland Yunxiang Tower #ittEHIXE

Site area (sq.m) HAREFE (F 5 K)

11,229
GFA (sq.m) #@ZsEmE(FHXK)
27,339

Brief Introduction JHE 4 :

- A mixed development of commercial
and office
[GEJC NI LIEIE]=

— located at east of Cha Xi Road and
south of Jin Mai Road
IR AR - B
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PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLO (Confinved)
WEBB BN #)

1 Global 188 iZ3k188

SUZHOU PROJECTS EfMIEH

Site area (sq.m) #bEEEFE (F75K)

14,893

CFA (sq.m) #8Z=EmE(FHK)

149,308

Brief Introduction IHE &4 :

— located in the CBD of Suzhou
Industrial Park, near Jinji Lake,
underground connected fo the subway
AR DS B A ER N TERE PR
ISR A - HhEE R b S uh

Site area (sq.m) A& EE (F 5 K)

158,825

GFA (sq.m) RSB (F773K)

542,134

Brief Introduction IEB &4 :

— A mixed development of residential
and commercial
FEREEGEEERIAE

— located in the center of Taihu Lake
New Town in Wujiang District,
Suzhou, south of Kaiping Road, west
of Jiangcheng Boulevard
MSERAERNN T ROT [ A FTIAZ O
HER — FASF B AR - TR RSB AT




ey BREEERERAR

PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLUO (Continued)
MEBBB BN &

SUZHOU PROJECTS EfMIEH

3 Greenland Jiangnan Huafu %I AEERT

Site area (sq.m) HA&EFE(FHK)

214,062

CFA (sq.m) B EmE(FHK)

510,411

Brief Introduction IEBE &4} :

- A residential development

FE#RIAR
LR | ' »E — Located at Chengnan, Wujian
il i Ih || I gnan, VVujiang
il ' h REEE: |I1~*‘El i District, Suzhou City, which is the
. - i core and political center of Wujiang,
L} ::'J'f.-_# j;;, I i!EI| l ‘ I as well as a highend new CBD
- eI |||| "_ integrated with financial, commercial

and residential functions
ASERAERIN R T It R - SRR
BRINZLHE  BEERITHIK
AL LRSS - B - BE
—EEMEimI A CBDIER 1%

4 Greenland Suzhou ONE #ih &5 ONE

Site area (sq.m) AR EFE(F 5 K)

69,217

GFA [sq.m| #32EEETE (F77K)

171,143

Brief Introduction IEB &4 :

— located in the economic and
technological development zone in
Wouijiang, north of Jiangling Dong
Road and east of Pang Bei Road
P RITEBE R R - TR
BELASE - BEdEBE AR

— Developed into a high-quality
residential community

MEABEEEHRE

21
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PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLO (Confinved)
MEBEEEN (#®)

SUZHOU PROJECTS EfMIEH

5 Greenland Lincoln Garden #ithHki5AE

Site area (sq.m) HEREFE (F 75 K)

96,212

CFA (sq.m) B2 mfE (FHK)

204,000

Brief Introduction IEB &4} :

- located in Dongfang Avenue,
Shengze Town, Wujiang District,
Suzhou City, Jiangsu Province
IR TERE N RITRREHEHR
VNG|

— Designated as high-rise and minor
high-rise products, with a developed
road network and comprehensive
commercial and educational facilities
and resources
TR/ SEBER B2k
EAE HEREERER

— A mixed development of residential,
commercial and office
FE  BEARPANGEAERIE
H
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BEEERERAA

PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLO (Continved)

YEBB BN @)

WUXI PROJECTS f$518H

1 Greenland Xi Shui Dong #kih a7k

R S L

j-rmr-'ul:-'n 4l -
Ar_t

Site area (sq.m) HA&EFE(FHK)

249,005

CFA (sq.m) B EmE(FHK)

658,819

Brief Introduction IEB &4 :

— Located in the heart of Wuxi and
in close proximity o the central
commercial and business district.
Currently the largest city-core
development project in Wuxi, fo be a
multi-phase and large-scale city-centre
integrated development comprising
residential and commercial compound
ISR L - B R 2
E - =EHEIIRANHTHOR
BRIER - BRRESEEMEE
TEROKRE - ZHFRBENRTERS
#2818 H

2 Greenland Sky Tree #kithXz=4t

Site area (sq.m) AR (F772K)

164,643

GFA (sq.m) #2EEmTE (FT7K)

356,493

Brief Introduction JEE &4t :

- located above the No. 1 subway of
Wuxi Guang Cheng Subway Property
Development Project in VWuxi
P S5 A 1 SR AR - BV S5
MEFEER

- located in Tai Hu New Town with
convenient fransportation, good
landscape and mature infrastructure
IR ARITI - 2B E - ERE
X BRATENEARRE

- A mixed development of residential,
commercial and office

EE  BEMRAGAER

23
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PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLO (Confinved)
MEBEEEN (#®)

WUXI PROJECTS f#$515H

3 Greenland Diamond Mansion #ifakRES

Site area (sq.m) HEREFE (F 75 K)

70,890

CFA (sq.m) B2 mfE (FHK)

191,000

Brief Introduction IEB &4} :

— The land parcel is located in the
business core circle of Wuxi near the
Fengxiang Road Viaduct, within 5
minufes fo the city center and within
approximately 60 minutes” driving
distance to Suzhou, Shanghai and
Changzhou
ZIBR P ES A OREE - SEaRE
AR AHEEETRL - R
g B BINE60D EERE

— The land project is planned to be
developed info a high-quality project
in the urban core area
ZIIRIA B e R LR IEE
BiemEE 2EITEE R

- A mixed development of residential
and commercial

EEAMEENFAERIER

4 Wuxi Health Home HEiGEFERE

Site area (sq.m) HbAEEI & (F 5 K)

58,927

GFA [sq.m] #2SEE R (¥ 77K)

155,000

Brief Introduction IEB &4t :

— The project is located in the downfown
of liangxi district, Wuxi and in the
economy circle within one-hour drive
way from Shanghai. Surrounded by a
variety of transportation, commercial,
education, medical and landscape
resources, it is endowed with high
development value for its advantages
in location and abundant facilities
ZHEBUNEHREETHO -
BRERE/NRLERE - FEEABT T
ENRB BEE HE BE R
BER  BENRUEZNEEN
RERTTEERSHHEER

- A mixed development of residential
and commercial

EEAMEENFAERIAR
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PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLIO (Confinved)
YEBB BN @)

CHANGSHU PROJECTS ##I5H

1 Greenland La Casa #Hbia =i

Site area (sq.m) HA&EFE(FHK)

119,769

CFA (sq.m) B EmE(FHK)

96,611

Brief Introduction IEE &4t :

— Situated at the foot of Yu Mountain,
facing the national park and
with established amenities and
infrastructures
REILMT - mRERHEMALD
A T E B SRR R AR R
i)

— A prestigious project in the area
consisting of fownhouses and
duplexes units
A EERERI 2 R & N RIS PRAE A Y
BEEF=IEE

Site area (sq.m) HAEE(FFK)

107,391

GFA (sq.m) #EEEmTE (FT7K)

141,588

Brief Introduction JEE &4t :

— Situated at the unique location and
adjoins the scenic Shang lake fo the
north along with impressive landscape
%I B AR B R
WHA< ANERELENILKSE

25
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PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLO (Confinved)
WEBB BN #)

NINGBO PROJECT Z;¥I5H

1 Greenland Bihu International #ith 28 E S

!"' Site area (sq.m) #bEEEFE (F75K)

90,974

CFA (sq.m) #8Z=EmE(FHK)

138,603

Brief Introduction JEB &4t :

— Excellent location af the enfrance
to Hangzhou Bay Bridge linking
Shanghai to ifs southwest, City
Express Ring Road fo its east, Yubei
Expressway fo its north and is
adjacent fo Xiaoyong Railroad
PEEWAIEAE - FAEELT
NERBEE DS - REEEEN
SERAE - ALE AR SRR -
WA R =8

- A strafegic move to mark the Group's
expansion into Zhejiang province,
and establish a more comprehensive
coverage of the Yangize River Delta
BN AEE RN A BB ER
BHTERNMBEN—F @ LEXR
SEER=AMRE T EMNIE
BEm
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PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLIO (Confinved)
YEBB BN @)

HUANGSHAN PROJECT =1UIEH

1 Greenland Taiping Lake Resort it KFifiERE

Site area (sq.m) HA&EFE(FHK)

2,283,733

CFA (sq.m) B EmE(FHK)

1,049,453

Brief Introduction IEE &4} :

- located in the northern part of
Huangshan, close fo the legendary
scenic Taiping Lake
IREILTALES - BARE R E R
FR5E KT

- Multi-phase resort development
comprising five-star hotels, golf course,
resort villas and apartments
REPERNEREER - 20
ERBE - BRMS - ERAE
SYNCS

— A golf practicing facility designed by
world-renowned Gary Player
f it RTER A= IREREH AN Gary
Player ®RETHIBAARIRS

— Crowne Plaza Huangshan Taiping
Lake, a standard five-star resort hotel
with a GFA of 42,092 square meters
and a fotal of 247 rooms
| PR sz 2w R BB IS e
FEEIERA2,092F 7K » #2047
BEE = BERENTERER
dbriye

2
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PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLO (Confinved)
WEBB BN #)

HANGZHOU PROJECT #imIEH

1 Greenland Cifi City #ithBiEH

Site area (sq.m) #bEEEFE (F75K)

58,789

GFA (sq.m) #2EEmAE (777 K)

258,814

Brief Introduction IEE 4} :

- A mixed development of residential
and commercial
FEENEERGEERIAR

- located at Hangzhou Olympic and
International Expo Center, Binjiang
District, Hangzhou City, Zhejiang

Province
LR A LN B T @A) B A8
B

JIAXING PROJECT =HEIEH

1 Tongxiang Greenland Central Plaza #RE%#%kith s RES

Site area (sq.m) A EE(FFTK)

137,628

GFA (sq.m| #8525 (F77K)

335,633

Brief Introduction IEB &4t :

— located in the main district of
Tongxiang, Jiaxing City, Zhejiang,
and belonged fo the economic and
technological development zone in
Tongxiang; approximately 3km from
Tongxiang city center; just close to the
old town of Tongxiang, and the only
way fo access from Tongxiang South
to the city center
PN ISE TR TR - R
PR TH ARl P 3% 1= - BRBEAR
AR LRISRE - BERE
& - AR E AR E T O
q=8e

- A comprehensive cyber city of
residential, commercial and office

EE - AEARBRANGEARIRM
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PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLIO (Confinved)
YEBB BN @)

YIWU PROJECT & EIEH

1 Greenland Epoch Gate #kith&ii5M

Site area (sq.m) HA&EFE(FHK)

135,663

CFA (sq.m) B EmE(FHK)

264,543

Brief Introduction IEE &4} :

— The project is located in the most
prosperous business circle in Yiwu,
directly linked fo several main trunk
roads and only 20 minutes’ driving
distance to Yiwu Stafion and Yiwu
Airport
ZHEEBUNESRREENDE
EEEFZEH T RBERE
B EES - BEWSE205E
B2

— The project will be developed
into a high-quality urban complex
including high-end commercial, luxury
residential, leisure and restaurants
in the center of economics, polifics,
culture and fransportation in Yiwu
ERBRSTRE  BUa - Xt - X
BRL  ZIEBBRITERRES
ImEE  REET  BRRE X
TR A—BNEER TS

- A mixed development of residential,
commercial and office
=X - MEARPANGEERIE
H
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PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLO (Confinved)
WEBB BN #)

SHENGZHOU PROJECT IERMIER

1 Greenland Four Seasons Impression #kithPUFEISR

A

Site area (sq.m) #bEEEFE (F75K)

119,963

CFA (sq.m) #8Z=EmE(FHK)

232,272

Brief Introduction JEB &4t :

— The land parcel is located at the core
area of Pukou Eco-Tech development
zone, Shengzhou of Shaoxing City,
Zhejiang Province, near the national
highway No. 104 in Shengzhou
Pudong Avenue
LR FOHT A AR EIR N TR O
BRI ERAZOE - BRIR
JNTRR R AE BB 10448

- A mixed development of residential
and commercial

EENREENGESERER
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PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLIO (Confinved)
YEBB BN @)

TAIYUAN PROJECT XIRIEH

1 Greenland Shanding Park &1L HEE

Site area (sq.m) HA&EFE(FHK)

335,368

CFA (sq.m) B EmE(FHK)

269,493

Brief Introduction JHE 4 :

— located in Xiaodian District, southeast
of Taiyuan City, the capital of Shanxi
Province, an area with enormous
potential as the local government
intends to develop the area info a
multifunctional residential, commercial
and leisure new fown center
MRILTEE G K REREA/NERE -
ZHBVEREEE N - BEHIK
FERMNZINETT - BERIK
B AR O

HAIKOU PROJECTS j80O01&8H

1 Greenland the Florea #4515

Site area (sq.m) HAEE(FFK)

292,366

GFA (sq.m) #EEEmTE (FT7K)

235,514

Brief Introduction IEB &4 :

— Located at the firstier waterfront in
the eastern part of Haikou, the Florea
enjoys an unobstructed ocean view,
comprising Spanish-style residential
development
RGO TRED - SR — B
BERER  AAETAETEA
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PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLO (Confinved)
WEBB BN #)

HAIKOU PROJECTS i&OI8H

2 Greenland Hai Chang Liv #iiBRFE

Site area (sq.m) #bEEEFE (F75K)

339,720

CFA (sq.m) #8Z=EmE(FHK)

1,000,652

Brief Introduction IHE &4 :

— located at the core area of New
CBD, just close to the New
administration Center of Haikou
LS AT RAZ0 & 15(CBD) -
ZH0E AT T L

— The land connects the Coast Avenue
from North, and faces the International
Exhibition Centre
ZHRI SO REEREER
Z2——AEKE EEEREEE
=L

3 Haikou Greenland City iFO4kME

— Site area (sq.m) A& EFE (SF77K)

2,524,679

GFA (sq.m) #81REEmE S (FF7K)

4,396,600

Brief Introduction IEB &4} :

- Alargesscale mixed development of
residential, commercial and office
REUEE - BEIP ARG EREA
H

— located in Meilan District, east of
Haiwen Highway, south of Meilan
Airport and west of Nandu River
IRERME - B EDEAR -
WIS AR - BRTAR
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PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLIO (Confinved)
YEBB BN @)

N

HAIKOU PROJECTS ;iB0O0I&H

4 Greenland Central Culture Center #ihohs3T{LiR

Site area (sq.m) HAREFE (F 5 K)

975,717

GFA (sq.m) #3REEmAE (FJ7K)

3,273,100

Brief Introduction IEH &4} :

— A large-scale mixed development of
residential, commercial and office
REEE BEIPAGEERE
H

— Located in Xiuying District, west of
Chang Bin Road, east of VWuyuan
Lake, north of Changliuv No. 3 Road,
south of Haiyu West Line
A FHEER - RIBEAA - AR
AR - RIR=SREEUAL - JBRTAe
AR

KUNMING PROJECTS EHRIEH
1) The Metropolitan EEXH

Site area (sq.m| HAEEE (SF5K)

170,812

CFA [sq.m) RS (F77K)

621,141

Brief Introduction JEE &4t :

— located along Dianchi Road in the
metropolitan area of Kunming, where
the Provincial Central Administration
Offices are located, is a high quality
multi-phase residential and commercial
project
REATHORAEBEA - i
MEMEPRITBRARE - BHH
BRAOABEBEETRAEGEE
=
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PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLO (Confinved)
MEBEEEN (#®)

- B

(2 Greenland Hai Po Lan Ting 435I

Site area (sq.m) HEREFE (F 75 K)

CFA (sq.m) B2 mfE (FHK)

Brief Introduction IHE &4 :

- A mixed development of residential
and commercial
FENEFLEAERIER

— located at the south west side of Er
Huan Road, the east coast of Caohai,
the north of Dianchi and west of Xi Fu
Road in Kunming City
UREPMEZIREAEA - At
1bE6 - EBRE - FEREEIAA

(@) Greenland Xiang Shu Hua Cheng it & 7EH

Site area (sq.m) HbAEEI & (F 5 K)

GFA (sq.m) #8REEmEE (FF7K)

Brief Introduction IEB &4 :

- A mixed development of residential,
office and commercial
FE WAREELREERIER

— located at west of Jinchuan Road,
east of Guihua Road, north of Chen
Jia Ying Road and south of Guihua
Road, the Pan-Asia Technological
New Zone, northwest side of Wuhua
District in Kunming City
REATREREIL A RZER
e - RER)E - AERE
¥ MEMRREE - LEHREK




[ BUEBERERAR

PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLIO (Confinved)
YEBB BN @)

-~ —~

(@) Greenland Yunduhui Square i ELEES

Site area (sq.m) HA&EFE(FHK)

S

CFA (sq.m) B EmE(FHK)

Brief Introduction IJEE &4t :

— A mixed development of residential,
office and commercial
FE - MAREEESERIER

— located af west of connecting railway
of Kun Wu expressway, east of
extension of Ke Pu Lu, north of VWang
Qiong Gong Road and south of
Chen Jia Ying Road, the Pan-Asia
Technological New Zone, northwest
side of Wuhua District in Kunming
City
IR EATmREEREIL A EZaER
e REERSEBEE - |
EMNERERR  BETHRK -
L EBRK L

AP

i\

W rLr ST

P

(i
!

L1
L]

ab 14|

[ Greenland Dian Lake International Health Town #ithiE ith B2 {2 B

Site area (sq.m) AR (F772K)

GFA (sq.m) #EEEmE (FT7K)

Brief Introduction IEB &4 :

— Located in the area covered by the
Kunming Comprehensive Healthcare
Industry Innovation Growth Pole
and Thai-Malay Comprehensive
Healthcare Corridor
7 B2 AR A B 2 2 Bl 488 = A4 |1
[EEREOANREER I BIEER

— The project will be established as
an integrated “universal health”
project covering the core industry of
"healthcare”, its upstream industry of
“university-industry cooperation” and
its downstream industry of “cultural
and business tourism”
ZIEBERAORE BEE L
EXEINRE - [ESM] EFEEMIX
RIIRIE | T E RN BE N — 88 M K
f2pE |EXIAA

— A mixed development of residential,
commercial and office

X% BEUARBRANGSERIAR

33



36  GREENLAND HONG KONG HOLDINGS LIMITED

Annual Report 2018

PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLO (Confinved)
WEBB BN #)

KUNMING PROJECTS EHHIEH

6 Greenland Southeast Asia Headquarters #kith5EEgEachi

4

Site area (sq.m) #bEEEFE (F75K)

141,280

GFA (sq.m) #2EEmEAE (F77K)

863,186

Brief Introduction JEE &4} :

— The land parcel is located in Wujiaba
sub-district, Guandu district, Kunming
city
ZI RN R AT EE R KT
&

— The project will be developed into
a mixed development of residential,
commercial, office and hotel,
including 458-mefre super highrise, to
be the landmark of Kunming city and
Yunnan Province
ZIEBEETEITIERET - % -
MARBENGRAE  Hd - 015
458 KiEB= BRE - FTETR B
B T T AR




[ BUEBERERAR

PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLIO (Confinved)
YEBB BN @)

XUZHOU PROJECTS #MIEH

1 China Resources Greenland Triumph Arch ZEB%kith 8T

Site area (sq.m) HA&EFE(FHK)

86,971

CFA (sq.m) B EmE(FHK)

324,119

Brief Introduction JHE 4 :

- A mixed development of residential
and commercial
FEREELEERIEE

— located in Gulou District, Xuzhou City,
Jiangsu Province, west of Zhong Shan
Road [N and north of Tong Pei Road
A TERERMTEERR - Fldt
BELATE - SRV EE AL

Site area (sq.m) HAEE(FFK)

356,629

GFA (sq.m) #EEEmE (FI7K)

328,609

Brief Introduction IEB &4 :

— A mixed development of residential
and commercial
FEREELEAERIER

— Located in the south west of
Tongshancheng District, south of
Fenghuang Mountain and north of
Yin Mountain, Xuzhou City, Jiangsu
Province
RSP IERE RN iR L = P R
B - BUELLSAR - $RILAE
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PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLO (Confinved)
WEBB BN #)

GUANGXI PROJECTS EfIEH

1 Nanning Greenland Center FEEE#kMdul

Site area (sq.m) HEREFE (F 75 K)

39,099

CFA (sq.m) B2 mfE (FHK)

241,617

Brief Introduction JEB &4t :

- A mixed development of office and
commercial
MANEEGEERIAR

— located south of Wuxiang Avenue,

: Wouxiang New District of Nanning

dnbRa i (LR RS af | City, Guangxi Aufonomous Region

AL L | GREmEAEEETHERSA
M (IR T oz % F ! ELAE

2 Greenland International Huadu #ihEIPRTEER

Site area (sq.m) HbAEEI & (F 5 K)

98,629

GFA (sq.m) fBREEmEE (FF7K)

340,416

Brief Introduction IEHE 4 :

- A mixed development of residential
and commercial
EERARLGEEEIAR

— located on Pingle Boulevard,
Wouxiang New District, Nanning City,
Guangxi Autonomous Region
R EERREET ARME T
E VN

=

%
¥ ..III"'."."‘ LR LR
el s

|
i
i
|
IE
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PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLIO (Confinved)
YEBB BN @)

GUANGXI PROJECTS EfEIEH

3 Wuxiang Greenland Center ARl

Site area (sq.m) HA&EFE(FHK)

23,479

CFA (sq.m) B EmE(FHK)

116,306

Brief Introduction IEB &4 :

- A mixed development of commercial
and office
[SEISE YN ELIEIEEE

— located east of Pingle Boulevard,
Wouxiang New District, Nanning City,
Guangxi Autonomous Region
RN EREAREENARNETF
LRERA

Site area (sq.m) HAEE(FFK)

192,684

GFA (sq.m) #EEEmTE(FT7K)

736,908

Brief Introduction IEB &4 :

— located in the extended section
of Dongge Road and close to the
intersection of Dongge Road, Binhu
Road and Jinhu N. Road. The project
has topHier urban facilities and
convenient fransport infrastructure
IR RERIEFRER - MAPRER
B R IL IR AR o THE R
TEARS T AR R (B A SR A

— A mixed development of residential,
commercial and office with fop-
tier urban facilities and convenient
transport infrastructure
=% MERPAGAERE - UH
BIERI T R e S (B 2B E R
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PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLO (Confinved)
WEBB BN #)

GUANGXI PROJECTS EfIEH

5 Greenland West Town International Huadu #kith Py EER{E 4B

Site area (sq.m) HEREFE (F 75 K)

74,043

CFA (sq.m) B2 mfE (FHK)

295,008

Brief Introduction IEB &4} :

— located in Xiangsihu subdistrict in
Nanning, west of Luowen Avenue
and east of Luoxian Avenue

MAEERTEDE - ESCREN
PAREB RKEIAR

— Located in the Nanning's center
of culture, education and scientific
research development
R EL - % B MEHERD
.

— A mixed deve|opmem of residential
and commercial

EERBEEEEER

6 Greenland Xin Li * Pu Yue Garden #ith#7EE « Bt A GE

Site area (sq.m) HbAEEI & (F 5 K)

86,087

GFA (sq.m) fBREEmEE (FF7K)

222,376

Brief Introduction IEHE 4 :
— located in Jiangnan district in
Nanning. The land is in the east of
Sanijin Avenue and north of Zhixing
Street
A ETLIER=ZAERMA -
Sl

— Developed for residential purpose.
Re-develop the old town to vitalize the
city
THERETRE B AE - RE
TE TS AR 7)




[ BUEBERERAR

PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLIO (Confinved)
YEBB BN @)

GUANGXI PROJECTS EfEIEH

7 Nanning Greenland City EE#ki

Site area (sq.m) HE&EE(FHK)

336,417

CFA (sq.m) B EmE(FHK)

623,388

Brief Introduction IEH &4} :

- located in Sanfang Town, Xingning
District, Nanning City
IR EM SR = J5A

— Planned fo be developed info a
complex with fen categories such
as ecological living, international
education, creative industries,
commerce and enferfainment, sports
and leisure
REIITE—BREAREE - BERK
B RIBEX BERE BEK

BRI —BRMER A 6

Site area (sq.m) HAEE(FFK)

873,312

GFA (sq.m) #EEEmE (FI7K)

1,783,891

Brief Introduction JEE &4t :

— Located in the core area of ASEAN
Economic Development Zone,
Nanning
UM ERBEHERZ DR

— Planned fo be developed info a
future city with thousand mu and
six categories such as commercial
center, garden and residence,
family activities, rehabilitation and
medical services, themed hotel and
international education
REFTE—REmEDL - EEE
B BFRE - REBRR  TER
JE - BIBRHE S BBE TR
Vdn
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PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLO (Confinved)
WEBB BN #)

GUANGXI PROJECTS EfIEH

© Yulin Greenland City E# &k

Site area (sq.m) #bEEEFE (F75K)

437,525

GFA (sq.m) #2EEmEAE (F77K)

999,414

Brief Introduction JEH 4t :
- located in High-end Residential Lo,
Yudong lake, Yulin, Guangxi
LA BE P8 R M E B8 = o B (AR R
— Planned fo be developed into a future
city with thousand mu
B E AT — B T EUR R T
- A mixed development of residential
and commercial

EERBENEEEREAR




[ BUEBERERAR

PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLIO (Confinved)
YEBB BN @)

GUANGDONG PROJECTS E&HIEH

1 Greenland Mountain Time ##h15%7)I|

Site area (sq.m) HA&EFE(FHK)

778,697

CFA (sq.m) B EmE(FHK)

483,381

Brief Introduction IEB &4 :

- located in Jingulang, Genghe Town,
Gaoming District, Foshan City, and
close to Hehe Avenue and State Road
No. 525
R eBEESESRE -
SHATAE » 52588

— Planned fo be developed info a
quality themed tourism resort project
BB EITEX RS m e EREIRE
EREIAR

- A mixed development of residential
and commercial

FEEAREENZAERIAR

2 Greenland Forest Lake (Songlong Town) #kithiiliiEIBR 4 B4 (SREE/INH)

Site area (sq.m) HAEE(FFK)

792,500

GFA (sq.m) #EEEmTE (FT7K)

1,585,000

Brief Introduction IEB &4 :

- located in the Guangdong — Hong
Kong — Macau Greater Bay Area
and situated in the one-hour economic
and commuting radius of Guangzhou

u.hl'-'—— a4 and the three-hour economic and

commuting radius of Hong Kong

l P ‘_ IR EBRAER - BRAEMNA

PO NS EBEERB AT E R
AL 3/ N A B A R

— Inifially planned to be developed into
the best destination for comprehensive
culture and experiential tourism in
South China
NETREGEITERER BEES
xR RiREE B Bt

— A mixed development of residential,
commercial and hotel
EFE - BEAREERNFS ERIEA
=
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PROPERTY INVESTMENT
MERE

PROPERTIES HELD FOR DEVELOPMENT AND HEEZEAXAREFMFEEREGE

SALE BY THIS REPORT 3
Name of property and location Group's interest % Property Status Scheduled completion
MEEHRAE FREMEZESL J MER EEER A

(1) Combridge Forest New Town 98.24%  Apariment A Completed Completed
Xiuyan Rd, Pudong New Area, Shanghei Commercial 7% B BIEK
LETRERAEA LR

(2)  Tifany (Combridge Woers) 100%  Apariment AZ Completed Completed
Shuichan Rd,, Baoshan Distict, Shanghai Commerciol 755 [Rh:371 2R
BRE (R
DEmBILEAES

(3] Oriental Garden [Cambridge Watertowr| 100% Vil B2 Completed Completed
Fuding Rd, Gingpu District, Shonghai B B
Sk (k)

LETERRERR

(4] Holiday n Shanghai Pudong Kanggjoo 100%  Hotel JE/E Completed Completed
Xiuyon Rd, Pudong New Area, Shanghai Senvice opartment B B
HERRGREEE RBARE
LETRRARAR Commerciol 7%

(5] Greenlond Seaside City 50%  Office AR Completed Completed
Heaing Town, Pudong New Areq, Shanghai Commercial 7% BIEK BIEK
U
LETRRARAEA

() Greenland Huangpu Center 100%  Apariment A Superstructure 2019
Wuligiao Area, Huangpu District, Shanghai Office HRAZ work in progress —TNE
HEREL Commercial FZ LERERTS
HETERRRERE

[7)  Greenland Yunxiang Tower 100%  Ofiice HAR Completed Completed
Nanxiang Town, Commercial 7% BN BN
Jiading Disfrict, Shonghai
BHEMRE
LETEEREME

(8)  Global 188 100%  Apariment A Completed Completed
No. 88, Suhui Rd., Suzhou Industry Park, Office HAZE 25174 BEK
Suzhou City, Jiangsu Province Commercial 5%

RIK188
TEFABMNTEHN TXERHERO0H

(9] Triumph Residence 50%  Aparment A Phase Il - supersiructure work 2020
Taihu loke New Town, Wajiong district, Suzhou Ciy, Commercial 7% in progress TR
Jiangsu Province E-H-FERERTR
i
TEA BT RIIR AR

(10)  Greenlond Jiangnan Huofu 100%  Apariment A% Phase Il - superstructure work 2019
Chengnon, Wujiang Disfrict, Suzhou City Villa B2 in progress —ENE
BT RERT FoH- FERSEHTIH
FINRIRAMERA

[11)  Greenland Suzhou ONE 100%  Residential £ Completed Completed
North of Jiangling Dong Rd and east of Pang Bei Road Commerciol 5% [R5:31 2K
Wajiang District, Suzhou City Office A%

FR3ARIONE
FNTRTRITRERBAL - EILBIAR

(12)  Greenland lincoln Garden 99%  Residential £ Superstructure work in progress 2020
Dongfang Avenue, Wujiang District, Suzhou, Jiangsu Province Commercial 7% FERERTH “T-%F
BB R Office AR

IHREFNRIER A



ZE-N\EER BEEERERAA

PROPERTY INVESTMENT (Confinved)
MERE ®)

PROPERTIES HELD FOR DEVELOPMENT AND B EXBRERFNFEERRRSGE
SALE BY THIS REPORT (Continued) ME(4E)

Name of property and location Group's interest % Property Status Scheduled completion
MEERRHE FREMEZE S MR REERAH

[13] Greenland Xi Shui Dong 100%  Apariment A% Phase VI - superstruciure work 2020
No. 122, Jiankang Rd., Wuxi City, Jiangsu Province Commerciol 7% in progress “Zo%F
AR FRE- LEREHTIH
THREEHTRER1225%

[14)  Greenland Sky Tree 90%  Residentiol = Phase | — Supersiructure 2020
Tai Hu New Town, Wauxi City, Jiangsu Province Commercial F5 ¥ work in progress ZECTF
Rz Office A% F-H- LERERTH
ILERE ES MR

[15] Greenland Diamond Mansion 100%  Residential £ Supersiructure work in progress 2020
Near the Fengxiang Road Viaduct, Wuxi City, Jiangsu Province Commerciol % TERERTHR —T-TF
iy CE
IHEESTEARMSER

(16)  Wauxi Health Home 100%  Residential £ Preliminary stage 2023
Downtown of Liangxi District, Wuxi City, Jiangsu Province Commerciol % MR —Z-=f
IHERHTRERTH

[17] Greenland la Caso 100%  Apariment A% Complefed Completed
No. 688, Yushan Rd [N]., Changshu City, Jiangsu Province BEMN BIER
pthgE
THEFAMELILEO885E

(18] Greenland Emerald Bay 100%  Apariment A% Completed Completed
Huanhu Rd (S)., Changshu City, Jiangsu Province Villa B2 [mh300 (=3
ERE
TEE RAMRAREHR

[19]  Greenland Bihu Infemational 100%  Apariment A8 Completed Completed
Cicheng Town, Jiangbei District, Villa B2 DER R

Commercial %
S

HITAERM LI EEMER

[20)  Tongxiang Greenlond Ceniral Plaza 70%  Residential £ Supersiructure work in progress 2019
the main urban area of Tongxiang, Commercial 7 TEREHTE —ET-NE
Jioxing, Zhejiang Province Ofiice RZ
BT RES
HIERETRATRE

[21)  Greenland Epoch Gate 100%  Residentiol £ Superstructure work in progress 2021
Business Circle of Yiwu City, Zhejiang Province Commercial 7% TERERTR —E--F
B Office #AR
HIEEETAZE

[22) Greenland Four Seasons Impression 100%  Residential £ Supersiructure work in progress 2020
Shengzhou of Shaoxing Cily, Zhejiang Province Commercial B2 TEREHTE —E-TF
KB FEIR
HIBBRENT

[23)  Greenland Shanding Park 100%  Apariment A% Phase Il - superstiucture work -~ 2019
No. 86, Dongfeng Rd., Xioodian Distict, Taiyuan City Vilo 52 in progress —T-NE
bLSHE FH-LEREHTID
KR/ EE R EH 865

[24)  Greenland Taiping Lake Resort 100%  Hotel EJE Phase ll - superstructure work 2019
No. 1, Binhu Boulevard, Taiping Lake Town, Aportment A in progress —T-NEF
Huangshan District, Huangshan City, Anhui Province GColf BmAKRS F=H- FERSEETS
AT HERE

ZHABLTRELEATHHENAEH
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PROPERTY INVESTMENT (Confinved)
MERE ®)

PROPERTIES HELD FOR DEVELOPMENT AND #HEXBERFWIBFERERSGE
SALE BY THIS REPORT (Continued) ME(4E)

Name of property and location Group's interest % Property Status Scheduled completion
MELERME FRENERE L MERR REEm M

125)  Greenland The Florea 100%  Apariment A% Completed Completed
No. 3, Haidian 6 East Road, Haikou City, Hainan Province Vila 512 BEK Bk
BeLESel
BEEEATEENREIN

[26)  Greenlond Hai Chang Liv 50.1%  Apariment A% Phase V- supershucture work 2020
No. 319, Binhai Boulevard, Xiuying District, Haikou City, Commercial 5% in progress —E-FE
Hainan Province FRE- LEREHTIH
RBRR
BRABOTAREREAES19%

[27) Haikou Greenland City 100%  Apariment A Phase IV - supersfructure work -~ 2019
Jingxian Rd., Meilan Distrct, Haikou City, Hainan Province Office B#AZE in progress “E-F
O Commerciol F% EMH- FEREBTF
BEEEATEERHER

(28)  Greenland Ceniral Culture Center 100%  Apariment A% Phase IV - supersiructure work 2020
Wuyuan River Area, Xiuying District, Haikou City, Hainan Province Office HAR in progress —E-EE
i Commerciol 7% FIH- FEREETP
BEGEATARELRTILE

[29)  The Mefropolifon 100%  Apariment A% Completed Completed
No. 77, Jinniu Rd., Xishan District, Kunming City, Yunnan Province Commercial 5% &R &
BEAH
ERARFTALRESTHR/7H

(30)  Greenland Hai Po lan Ting 55%  Aparment AF Completed Completed
Xishan District, Kunming City, Yunnan Province Villo 512 BEK BEK
iEIRRE Commerciol %

EREEATALE

[31)  Greenland Xiang Shu Hua Cheng 55%  Apariment AZ Completed Completed
Wuhua District Kunming City, Yunnan Province Office BAZE B BHEM
BRI Commerciol 7%

ERARATIER

(32)  Greenland Yunduhui Square 55%  Aparment A Completed Completed
Wouhua District Kunming City, Yunnan Province Office AR BIERK BER
SHESEES Commercial 754
EHERANLER

[33)  Greenland Dian Lake International Health Town 100%  Residential (£ Phase | = superstiuciure work 2019
Dayu District, Dianchi International Tourism Resort, Kunming Commercial 75 in progress —ENE
R ERRER Office BAZE FH-LERERT
EREHERREEREARRE

(34)  Greenlond Southeast Asia Headquarters 100%  Residentiol £ Phase | - superstructure work 2020
Wujiaba Subdistrict, Guandu Distict, Kunming City, Yunnan Province Commercial 7% in progress —ToFF
GRS Office HAZE F—H-LERERTH
EEKRATERERREAE eEL T

(35)  Greenland Cffi City 50%  Apariment AZ Completed Completed
Hangzhou Olympic and International Expo Center, Commercial 7% BEK BEK
Binjiang District, Hangzhou City, Zhejiang Province
iR,

IERMTEIENMNREREN

(36)  China Resources®Greenlond Triumph Arch 50%  Aparment AZ Phase IIl - supersiructure work -~ 2019
Binggong Road, Xuzhou Cily, Jiangsu Province Commercial 7% in progress —T-NE
Edshsioe ! FoH-LEREHIT

THRERMNTETHE



ZE-N\EER BEEERERAA

PROPERTY INVESTMENT (Confinved)
MERE ®)

PROPERTIES HELD FOR DEVELOPMENT AND B EXRBEFNFEERRRSGE
SALE BY THIS REPORT (Continued)

ME(E)

Name of property and location Group's interest % Property Status Scheduled completion
MEZBRIE FREMERE S WEAR REERAH

[37) Greenland Lokeside Villa 100%  Townhouse E§#ERIE Phase l - superstructure work 2019
Jiaoshan Lake Area, Xuzhou City, Jiangsu Province Commerciol % in progress —Z-NE
S NES FoH- LEREHIT
IEARMTRL R

[38)  Nanning Greenland Center 100%  Office HAE Phase Il - superstucture work -~ 2019
Waxiang New District, Nanning City, Guangxi Autonomous Region Commerciol in progress “F-NE
BEGA L FoH- LEREHTIH
ERERENETALHE

[39]  Greenland Infemational Huadu 100%  Apariment A% Completed Completed
Pingle Boulevard, Wusiang New District, Nanning Cily, Commercial 754 2K =23
Guangxi Autonomous Region
BRI
ERBRREETLRHETEAE

[40)  Wuxiang Greenland Center 100%  Office HAR Completed Completed
Waxiang New District, Nanning City, Guangxi Autonomous Region Commercial BAR AR
it el
ERERERETILHE

[41) Greenland Nanning Centrol Plaza 60%  Residential £ Phase Il - supersiruciure work 2019
Dongge Road, Nanning City, Guangxi Autonomous Region Commercial 7% in progress —T-NE
RREPRES Office FAE FH- LEREHRTH
EREEENENREHR

(42)  Greeland West Town International Huadu 18%  Residentiol £ Superstructure 2019
Xiangsihu subrdisfrct, west of Luowen Avenue and Commercial g% work in progress —E-1E
east of Luoxian Avenue, Nanning, Autonomous Region TERSET
R REREREH
BEBRREXAEAAREEAENRARANE

[43)  Greenland Xin Li*Py Yue Garden 100%  Residential % Superstructure 2019
Jiangnan District in Nanning City, work in progress —ET-NE
Guangxi Autonomous Region LEREHTY
SN
EEM R AERETIRR

[44) Nanning Greenland City 15%  Residentiol = Superstructure 2020
Santang Town, Xingning District, Nanning Ciy, Commercial % work in progress “T-%F
Guangyi Autonomous Region Office HRE LERSET
BES
Bt BN ETRER = RE

[45)  Greenland Dongmeng Inferational Town 100%  Residentiol £ Phase | - superstructure work 2019
Dongmeng Economic Development Zone, Nanning Cily, Commercial 7% in progress —F-NE
Guangxi Autonomous Region Office AR M- L EREHTH
R BRI
EREMGKE BN ETR BEEREE

(46 Yulin Greenlond City 42.5%  Residentiol {£% Phase | - supersiructure work 2019
Yuling City, Guangxi Autonomous Region Commercial P in progress —Z-NE
T F-H- LEREHIH
EFEA R AR EMAT

[47)  Greenland Mountain Time 100%  Residential % Phase | = Supersiruciure 2019
Genghe Town, Gaoming Distrct, Foshan, Guangdong Province Commercial 7% work in progress —E-NE
ezl F-H-LEREHIH
EREBUTREREAE

(48)  Greenland Forest lake 70%  Residential (£ Phase | - superstructure work 2019
Huilong Town, Gaoyao District, Zhaoging City, Guangdong Province Commercial 7% in progress —E-NE

AR A
EREEET = RECREARN

Hotel JE/E

F—H- LERERTY
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BEEWL N DA

BUSINESS REVIEW

Results

In 2018, the National Bureau of Statistics announced that the gross
domestic product ("GDP") grew by 6.6% year on year. Although the GDP
achieved expected development goals of the Chinese government, it was
the lowest economic growth rate of China in the past 28 years. In addition,
the international situation was complicated. “Black swan” incidents such as
Sino-US trade frictions and Fed rate hikes had followed. The economy of
China continued to face downward pressure. The real estate market of the
year performed diversely. In the first half of the year, despite a high level of
pressure of regulatory policies, sales inertia was maintained. Indicafors such
as growth rates of investment development, new construction area and land
acquisition area were sfill rapid. In the second half of the year, the real estate
market experienced a cyclical decline. The selthrough rates of core first —
and secondHier cities had different degrees of adjustment and the growth
rate of land acquisition area had slowed down. Although the growth
rate of investment development remained high, growth momentum was
insufficient, reHecﬂng that the property market experienced an Od[usfmenf
period. Faced with the above challenges, the overall performance of the
Group was still in line with expectations. For the year ended 31 December
2018 ("the year under review’), the tofal contracted sales amounted
to approximately RMB37,925 million, representing a year-on-year increase
of approximately 26%, and the contracted gross floor area ("GFA") sold
amounted to approximated 3,275,175 square mefers, representing a year-

on-year increase of approximately 44%.

During the year under review, the Group recorded a total revenue of
approximately RMB 15,444 million, an increase of approximately 6%
from 2017. Profit for the year affributable to owners of the Company was
approximately RMB 1,736 million, representing a year-on-year increase of
approximately 32%. Basic and diluted earnings per share affributable fo the
owners of the Company amounted to RMBO.61 compared with RMBO.46
per share in 2017.

E S0 |

E 35

—E-NF BERFARAMBANLEELE
(TGDP)RFHERSL.6%  BEELR THEBMN
EHERAE  BAETE28FROKELEE
R NEBERTPEERSE  pXEFER - X
BREMBEIRRE I FMHEEME - PELER
BERTITES - 2FEMEMS AT ARKNH
BEXIRER  E¥EFHERAPERRERKRE S
B BEHEEEES  REFAZE FHI@
T LB EEEEREERKEREREE
o FATNEFR  BHEDS LR EAHLEE -
B ZEEmH ARG E T TRZENER -
THBEmMELRNE  RERBILRERT S
BERBANR  RERETLRT B FrRHES -
EHALEEEE  AEEERBRATEEY
HEZZ—- \F+_A=+—B1LFE([EEE
M)A EEREBENSARES7,925,000,000
TT o WFIRRL20% - DEANEREMmE ([
B\ XR3275175F 7K BFEBRAOR
44% °

BEFAN  AEEHFSFAREHDARE
15,444,000,000 7t » 8 = T — £ F 1 1 4
6% e RRRBEBEANRBEFEDENORBARE
1,736,000,0007T » #=FIENAI32% o ANA &l
BARGERERRESEN/ARKOOIT
—EtFEABRARK0L0TT -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Confinved)
EEEWmAR DN (#)

BUSINESS REVIEW (Confinued) 3£ EIRE(48)

Results (Continued) (¢ )]

In 2018, the total GFA sold and delivered was 1,027,967 square meters RZE—N\F BELEEAXNEEZEAEEL
and the average selling price ("ASP") was approximately RMB14,025 1,027 967 ¢ 75K « FHERB([FYEFHNAE

per square meter. The revenue derived from sales of properties and FEFRKARE14,025TT - WEHE REESE
construction management service was approximately RMB 14,831 million, RIS B ARKE14,831,000,0007 * &B_E
representing a year-on-year increase of approximately 5% as compared —tEFEH AR 14,102,000,000 7T # G 38 11 49
with approximately RMB14,102 million in 2017. The details of completed 5% RZBE—N\EBTRIMHESFBOT ¢

and delivered properties in 2018 are as follows:

Approximate Approximate

GFA sold sales
and delivered recognized Average
in 2018 in 2018  selling price
—F-N\F —E-N\F
EH R &
B mE BasHER EHEE
sgm RMB'000 RMB/sgm
75K AREFT ARET/
Property
LY ES
Greenland Central Culture Center Haikou 205,466 2,588,931 12,600
SRR R STAEI B0
Greenland Jiangnan Huafu Suzhou 173,005 2,317,166 13,394
LRI T RN BRI
Greenland Nanning Central Plaza Nanning 134,447 2,096,805 15,596
frHFER R ES R
Greenland Huangpu Center Shanghai 28,046 2,005,303 71,500
R ERET s
Haikou Greenland City Haikou 121,763 1,060,419 8,709
g H AR I picqm!
Greenland Hai Chang Liu Haikou 106,341 1,060,034 9,968
BRI RIT pisqm|
Greenland Hai Po Lan Ting Kunming 46,799 753,664 16,104
AR IR E =12
Greenland Suzhou ONE Suzhou 45,694 680,716 14,897
£ ER M ONE BRI
Greenland Yunduhui Square Kunming 26,433 217,740 8,237
friEE e ES E A
Greenland Seaside City Shanghai 10,463 214,068 20,460
o gu N y==" st
Greenland Lincoln Garden Suzhou 18,483 199,089 10,820

RRIME RER #RIN
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Results (Continued) ES (¢ )]
Approximate Approximate
GFA sold sales
and delivered recognized Average
in 2018 in 2018  selling price
—E—\EF —ET—)\F
BRI &R
BB EE BotHERsR EHEE
sqm RMB'000 RMB/sgm
K ARET T AREETT
Greenland Taiping Lake Resort Huangshan 21,978 180,624 8,218
g AKERERRER =
Greenland Forest Lake (Song Long Town) Zhaogjing 16,474 161,706 9,816
A HOH B PR AR B (R 2 /N ) E
Greenland Shanding Park Taiyuan 15,585 158,963 10,200
Gt L SR KIR
Greenland Cifi City Hangzhou 4,635 125,013 26,972
AR BB, LA
The Metropolitan Kunming 9,106 113,629 12,478
B A =]
Nannning Greenland Center Nanning 9,612 112,216 11,675
FAEEAR A 0 M=
Greenland Lakeside Villa Xuzhou 11,458 108,460 9,466
LR REEE N
Greenland International Huadu Nanning 10,598 90,789 8,567
LR B PR AEED FEE
Greenland Emerald Bay Changshu 2,483 38,349 15,445
irihIERE B
Greenland Bihu International Ningbo 2,013 34,998 17,386
£ 10 225 B R =R
Greenland The Florea Haikou 4,310 31,219 7,243
AR ER IS, s
Greenland Xi Shui Dong Wuxi 889 30,065 33,819
AR PEIKER s
Global 188 Suzhou 1,223 29,773 24,344
IR¥K188 BN
China Resources Greenland Triumph Arch Xuzhou 279 3,644 13,061
B skl I
Greenland Xiang Shu Hua Cheng Kunming 384 2,707 7,049
e T 2R
Sub-total 1,027,967 14,416,990 14,025

et
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BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued) EFEOEE(E)
Results (Continued) ES{¢ )
Approximate
sales
recognized
in 2018
ZB-N\F
Item City TERRAg
I5H Yt BAHER
RMB'000
ARETFT
Carparking lot
fFEEfL
Greenland Nanning Central Plaza Nanning 203,682
HIibrER R RS M=
Greenland Hai Po Lan Ting Kunming 50,076
i IR E =23
Haikou Greenland City Haikou 26,871
8 AR pisqm|
Greenland Jiangnan Huafu Suzhou 23,959
Kxih IR EENT ERM
Tiffany (Cambridge Waters) Shanghai 23,933
BiRE (FABKE) i
China Resources @ Greenland Triumph Arch Xuzhou 19,360
=SS i lhdi! R
Wouxiang Greenland Center Nanning 17,333
FREFMA L M
The Metropolitan Kunming 15,787
B A B
Greenland Xiang Shu Hua Cheng Kunming 15,231
K BRITER =3
Greenland Xi Shui Dong Wuxi 14,500
I PEKER &35
Greenland Yunduhui Square Kunming 2,010
HINEE G ES =3
Greenland The Florea Haikou 1,277
Kb gRig pisqm|
Oriental Garden (Cambridge Watertown) Shanghai 130
R 77 BERT (FRREK4R) i
Greenland Bihu Infernational Ningbo 104
Kb 224 BB R
Cambridge Forest New Town Shanghai 86
BE+S i
Sub-total 414,339
et
Total sales of properties 14,831,329

MEHEST
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BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

Contracted Sales

Relying on the economies of scale and brand influence of the parent
company, Greenland Holdings Corporation Limited ("Greenland
Holdings" (600606.5H)), the Group continued fo focus on real estate
business to further develop and reserve high-quality land, deepened
core cities of the Pan-Yangtze River Delta region and the Pan-Pearl River
Delta region, and pursue ultimate product quality. In 2018, the Group
recorded the fotal contracted sales of approximately RMB37,925 million,
representing a year-on-year increase of approximately 26%, and the
contracted GFA sold amounted to approximately 3,275,175 square
meters, representing a yearon-year increase of approximately 44%. The

average selling price for 2018 was RMB11,580 per square mefers.

During the year under review, the bulk of contracted sales mainly derived
from projects in Pan-Yangtze River Delta and Pan-Pearl River Delta, including
those in Jiangsu, Guangxi, Yunnan and Hainan, which accounted for
approximately 32%, 24%, 14% and 13% of the total confracted sales
respectively. Other contracted sales mainly consisted of those derived from

core projects in Zhejiang Province and Guangdong Province.

Strategic Cooperation

In March 2018, the Group officially announced the development strategy
for healthcare industries. It would focus on healthcare businesses by
leveraging its strong brand advantages and deploying cutting-edge
healthcare resources at home and abroad to create a high-quality life
and health service platform. In the meantime, the Group also partnered
with Provectus Care, a renowned Australian elderly care company, and
Shanghai Infernational Medical Centre, a domestic top medical insfitution, to
esfablish the first Shanghai-based medical institution focusing on Alzheimer's
disease, and fo establish a high-end brand of old-age care, rehabilitation
and nursing. In January 2019, Greenland Hong Kong Provectus Care
Residence ["Provectus Care Residence’|, o professional nursing
center, was officially opened. It will provide professional, personalized and
comprehensive international nursing services for the elderly with cognitive
disorder. Provectus Care Residence in Shanghai is the important practice in
the development of the Company's health care industry. With the insights
in the individual demands, the Company will take more humanization into

account in the process of the property development.

EXOIRE(ER)

BHIHE

TR RRAMIERE BN AR R ([ i
B 1(600606. SH)) BRI EE K ambE & 1 - A%
B BRI EIEE AR - E— PR
WEEMLE  RZR=ZANZR=AEFZ
DT BREENERRE - —T—/\F K
SESGEMNHERBEHARKES7,925000,000
TT RFEENL26%  MEEELEERBRNA
3,275,175 5K » IRFBIMA44% - —F—)\F
MFHEBRAEFIIRKARK 5807

EIEFA  NEBEEEBHEERRDHRZ
REARZHK=AMNIER - 9 Tk E@l -
TR REEIEE A RIERN T 8932% - 24% - 14% K%
13%MEKHERE - Hh A QS EENZ LB X
ZRIEMIIEEMERIEE

BESS{E

RZZ—N\F=A  AREEAEMBERREXH
REE  REEREEXE  MABRANREED
AEBERIIRBBEREER  TEREGRER
BEaE - Al ERANTZARELRNEZHER
PERREEE - BATRREERE L EEREE
hORERE - Eib DEERMAZEMEEER
EE - ARITERHEEREEERE - R -F
—NE-A BEEERE-ERRERRITAHE(R
BAER AT A ) ERE) - B RRMEEARHTE
i @At - 2R UNERERRYE - SR
BREABEANRRIEREREEENEREE -
BEE HERFLERNZIRN - ARAIHRRAER
WEREPEEES AMLHRE -
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BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

Strategic Cooperation (Continued)

In June 2018, the Group entered info the framework cooperation agreement
on the comprehensive renovation projects in five shanty areas including
Jiachengli with Liangxi Regional People’s Government of Wuxi, Jiangsu
Province. Jiachengli land parcel covers a site area of 221,300 sq.m., and
is located in the southwestern side af the intersection of Qingyang Road
and Zhenxin Road in Liangxi District, Wuxi. Based on Liangxi District’s
industrial p|onning and deve|opmem direction, the Group will e><p|oH its
own advantages in property development, urban planning and industrial
resources to support Wuxi's industrial transformation and upgrading.
Meanwhile, the Group also signed a framework cooperation agreement
on the renovation projects of old towns with Liangxi Regional People’s
Government. With a fofal area of 300 mu, the project covered the land
parcels in Zhenda Steel Pipe Factory, in the west to Er Mao Fang parcels,
in Mao lane and along Zhenxin Road. The Group would also render the
services such as designing the development plan and investment promotion
and advising on the project’s construction, development and operation in

the renovation and upgrading of these land parcels.

In February 2019, the Group and the Government of Dantu District,
Zhenjiang City, Jiangsu Province entered into a cooperation framework
agreement fo render consultant services for design, investment planning
and project construction development of reconstruction and upgrading of
the land parcel in relation to the urban renewal construction project, the
intercity sfation project and the nationality characteristic fown project. The
cooperation will give full play to advantages of Greenland Hong Kong
such as urban planning and design, construction of infercity sfation as well as
education and healthcare sectors, efc. to help Dantu Xincheng equip with
a new development engine and assist Zhenjiang in achieving substantial
improvement in urban cities, which will take an important step in realizing
the goal of "Prosperity of Jiangsu” of Greenland Hong Kong. It will also be

another major sfrafegic |oyouT in Non]ing metropohfon areq.

EORE(R)

BEES{E(&R)

RZF—)\FXRA  AREETHEEHHRERE
ARBUR LI R S AEW P 847 A BoE R B %5]
EREERE - MBI N EHTHTRERE
B BRI X X O Al - (531221,300F 77
Ko AEERRERRENERREINERA -
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EHES - BN EHEREXBE R - R
REFERDERE ARBFRIRZMERIBIE - —
EHTERILE - EBMIR - R REE L
SOOmM B SR B #%R] TIER G 1R - RiE
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BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)
Land Bank

During the year under review, the Group strategically and systematically

increased land bank in core urban areas.

In January 2018, the Group won the bid for several plots of land for the
project, located in Dongmeng Economic Development Zone in Nanning of
the PRC with a total GFA of approximately 872,891 sq.m. for residential,
commercial and office purposes. In the same month, the Group further
acquired a plot of land located in Yulin City, Guangxi Province of the
PRC, with a tofal GFA of approximately 999,414 sq.m. for residential and

commercial purposes.

On 23 January 2018, the Group entered into the equity transfer agreement
to acquire 70% of equity interest in Zhaoging Hengchang Industrial
ltd., which holds the property project in Zhaoging City,
Guangdong Province of the PRC, at a fotal consideration of RMB1,855

Investment Co.,

million with a total GFA of approximately 1,585,000 sq.m. The Songlong
Town Project situated at Huilong Town, Gaoyao District, Zhaoging City
for the residential, commercial and hotel uses. This project will help the
Group's focus on its development advantages in Greater Bay Area and

further consolidate its presence in the Pearl River Delta.

On 18 April 2018, the Group announced winning bid for five plofs of
land in Wujiaba sub-district, Guandu district, Kunming city, at a tofal
consideration of approximately RMB3,426 million. The project occupied
1,280 sq.m. with a planned GFA of
approximately 863,186 sq.m.. The project will be a mixed development

a site area of approximately 14

of residential, commercial, office and hotel, including 458-meter super

highrise, to be the landmark of Kunming city and Yunnan province.

In May 2018, the Group won a bid for a land parcel in Wujiang District,
Suzhou at a tofal consideration of approximately RMB 135 million. This land
parcel is adjacent to Greenland Jiangnan Huafu project of the Group. With
a total GFA of approximately 22,000 sq.m, it will be developed into a
residential and commercial project as Phase Il supportive part of Greenland

Jiangnan Huafu project.

On 13 June 2018, the Group successfully won the bid for Litfle Swan
plot in Liangxi district, VWuxi city, at a total consideration of approximately
RMBT1,343 million. The project had a planned GFA of approximately

91,000 sqg.m. situated in the business core circle of Wuxi near the
Fengxiang Road Viaduct. It is planned to be developed into a high-quality

project in the urban core area.

EFHOER(&E)

Tttt
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BUSINESS REVIEW (Confinued)
Land Bank (Continued)
On 15 June 2018, the Group further acquired a new plot of land, namely

Health Home, in Liangxi district, Wuxi city, at a total consideration of
RMB®73 million. The land occupies a site area of 58,927 sq.m. with a
planned GFA of approximately 155,000 sq.m.. The project is located
in the downtown of Liangxi district, Wuxi, near the Company's another
project, Greenland Xi Shui Dong. Surrounded by a variety of transportation,
commercial, education, medical and landscape resources, the project is
endowed with high development value for its advantages in location and

abundant facilities.

On 30 June 2018, the Group successfully won the bid for a land parcel
in Xiangyang Yiwu at a total consideration of approximately RMB4, 180
million. The project occupies a land area of 135,663 sg.m. with a
planned GFA of approximately 264,543 sq.m. As the first enfry into the
mid-Zhejiang province, the project will be an urban complex including high-
end commercial, luxury residential, boutique hotel, leisure and restaurants in
the center of economics, politics, culture, and transportation in Yiwu, which

shows the Group's determination fo further develop in Zhejiang province.

On 4 September 2018, the Group successfully won the bid for Shengzhou
project af a fotal consideration of approximately RMB504 million. The
project covered a GFA of approximately 232,272 sq.m. located at the
core area of Pukou Eco-Tech development zone, Shengzhou of Shaoxing

City, Zhejiang Province for residential and commercial purposes.

On 12 December 2018, the Group successfully bid and acquired new
land parcels of Greenland Nanning Central Plaza for approximately
RMB1.1355 billion. The land parcels cover an area of approximately
54,508 square mefers with a planned GFA of approximately 287,935
square meters and an average floor price of approximately RMB3,943
per square mefer, which will be developed as a complex for residential,

commercial and office purposes.

EORE(R)
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BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

Land Bank (Continued)

On 7 March 2019, the Group won the bid for the land parcel in
Dongmeng Economic and Technological Development Zone in Nanning,
Guangxi Province at a total consideration of approximately RMB66 1
million, with a total GFA of approximately 911,000 sg.m. to be
developed as Phase Il of Greenland Dongmeng Infernational Town. The
consfruction of the project will facilitate the urban development, industrial
integration, promotion of business and Troding in Dongmeng Economic and
Technological Development Zone in Nanning, so as to enhance the roles of
Nanning city as the core city of Beibu Gulf, actively integrate info the "Belt
and Road” and play an active role in the construction of the Guangdong-

Hong KongMacao Greater Bay Area.

As at the date of the annual results announcement of 28 March 2019,
the Group held a land bank of approximately 20 million sq.m. mainly
strategically located in the prime zones of major cities in the Pan-Yangize
River Delta and Pan-Pearl River Delta, which is sufficient to support its
development in the next two to three years. The Group will continue to
seek additional high-quality land projects with promising potential of

development.

Offshore Financing

The Group issued USD200 million 7.875% bonds due 2019 and USD200
million 9.875% bonds due 2020 respectively in June and December
2018. The net proceeds from the issuance were mainly used for offshore

debt refinancing.

Outlook

The Central Economic Work Conference in 2019 described that the
economy of China maintained stable in the context of changes and concemn
and poinfed out that the development of China was sfill and would be in
an important strategic opportunity period in the long term. It also faced
squarely the downward pressure on the economy of China. Regarding
the real estate market, the Central Economic Work Conference proposed
to build a longterm mechanism for healthy development of the real estate
market and the concept of "housing is for living in, not for speculation” was
particularly reiterated. With measures such as region-specific regulatory
policies, category-specific guidance and reinforcement of main responsibility
of the city government, housing market system and housing security system
were improved. In the face of a volatile market environment in the future,
Greenland Hong Kong will adhere to the philosophy of “creating a better

lifestyle”, remain sensitive and farreaching.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Confinved)
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BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

Outlook (Continued)

With the profound experience of operation in real estate, the Group will
continuously penetrate info the core cities in Pan-Yangtze River Delta and
Pan-Pearl River Delta, and meet the multilevel consumers’ demands in the
real estate market. Meanwhile, the Group will also promote the business
strategy of “Real Estate +", establish property projects in sectors such as
cultural, commercial and tourism as well as healthcare, reduce cost and
raise efficiency, opfimize investiment structure to enhance its competitiveness
and market influence so as to lay a solid foundation for business
development. 2019 is the 100th anniversary of the May Fourth Movement,
the 7Oth anniversary of the founding of New China and a significant year
of fully building a moderately prosperous society. Greenland Hong Kong
will strive to seek opportunities in a difficult position, grasp a variety of
management tasks by resolving various difficulties and promote the steady
development of various businesses to contribute to the stable development

of the economy of China.

The Group has interest+bearing borrowings denominated in US dollar and
Hong Kong dollar, while the operating income is mainly denominated in
RMB. During the year under review, the depreciation of RMB exchange rate
posed pressure on the corporate financing cost and earnings performance.
The Group's financial results were also affected to a certain degree.
Therefore, up to the date of the annual results announcement the Company
of 28 March 2019 has signed forward foreign exchange contracts in
the aggregate principal amount of US$20 million to hedge against the
exchange risk while reverting RMB to US dollar. The Company will continue
to monitor the trend of exchange rate of RMB against US dollar, and
toke appropriate measures to hedge against the risk in foreign currency

exchange.
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FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

Revenue

The total revenue of the Group increased by approximately 6% from
approximately RMB 14,619 million in 2017 to approximately RMB 15,444
million in 2018, mainly due fo the increase in the revenue arising from

sales of properties and construction management service.

As the core business of the Group, the sales of properties and consfruction
management service generated a revenue of approximately RMB14,831
million in 2018 (2017: approximately RMB14,102 million), accounting
for approximately 96% of the tofal revenue. The revenue of the Group from

other segments included hotel operation income, property management and

other services, and rental income from leased properties.

MR

Wa
AEBR_ZFZ-NEFNARENDRARE
15,444,000,0007T * M- F—tFHHARE
14,619,000,0007T N#6% » T EZHNKEY
G MRS E TR RISH M ERIRINFAER

MEHERTEBNROER  —T—/\FW
MEHENELREERBELIRSHDARE
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2018 2017 Change
—T—N\E —T—+F =
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARETT ARET T AREETTT
Sales of properties and MEHE N
construction management service EEEIERSE 14,831,329 14,101,515 729,814
Property management and MESIEN
other services E A AR 426,923 343,675 83,248
Hotel and related services BIE R B E RS 134,541 137,361 (2,820)
Rental income HE WA 51,453 36,321 15,132
Total wast 15,444,246 14,618,872 825,374
Cost of Sales SHERK

Cost of sales increased by approximately 3% from approximately
RMB11,028 million for 2017 to approximately RMB1 1,306 million. The
cost of sales mainly comprised land costs, construction costs, capitalized

finance costs and sales tax.

Gross Profit and Margin

Gross profit increased by approximately 15% to approximately RMB4,138
million from approximately RMB3,591 million in 2017, and margin rose
from approximately 25% to approximately 27% during 2018.

HERAKARKETT,306,000,0007T - —F—+
FRIA "/ AR 11,028,000,000 7T + 18 H0 %Y
3% HERAEZBELMRAR - BERK - &
AERBERRA R HER

EFIREFE

ER R T FHARES,591,000,0007T -
BMNH 1 5%EH AR #4,138,000,0007T ¢ [F#
ENRRALD25%TE T — NFHRI27% °
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FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE (Continued)

Other Income, Other Gains and Losses and Other Operating
Expenses

Other income, other gains and losses and other operating expenses
decreased from a gain of approximately RMB285 million for 2017 to a
loss of approximately RMB678 million for 2018, which was mainly due
to the foreign exchange loss arising from the depreciation of Renminbi in
2018.

Operating Expenses

With the sustainable business development and expansion of the Group,
selling and marketing cosfs increased from approximately RMB587 million
in 2017 to approximately RMB811 million in 2018 while administrative
expenses increased from approximately RMB438 million in 2017 to
approximately RMB530 million in 2018.

Net Finance Costs
Net finance cosfs decreased from approximately RMB129 million in 2017
to approximately RMB1 14 million.

Gains on the Change in Fair Value of Investment Properties
The Group recorded fair value gains on investment properties of
approximately RMB 1,227 million for the year, as compared with a gain of
approximately RMB329 million in 2017. The fair value gain was mainly
attributable fo gain on investment properties in Shanghai, Nanning and
Kunming, the PRC.

Income Tax Expenses

Income tax increased to approximately RMB 1,750 million in 2018 from
approximately RMB 1,420 million in 2017 mainly due fo more corporation
income fax and land appreciation tax provision for the property delivery

with higher margin.

Profit for the Year Attributable to Owners of the Company
The Group's profit for the year affributable to owners of the Company
amounted to approximately RMB 1,736 million, an increase of
approximately 32% compared with approximately RMB1,319 million in
2017.

Financial Position

As at 31 December 2018, the Group's total equity was approximately
RMB13,945 million (31 December 2017: approximately RMB11,585
million), fotal assets amounted to approximately RMBQO,230 million (31
December 2017 approximately RMB68,750 million) and total liabilities
stood at approximately RMB76,285 million (31 December 2017:
approximately RMB57, 165 million).
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FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE (Continued)
Liquidity and Financial Resources

The Group's business operations, bank loans and cash proceeds raised
have been the primary source of liquidity of the Group, which have been

applied in business operations and investment in development projects.

As at 31 December 2018, net gearing ratio (total inferestbearing loans
and bonds less cash and cash equivalents (including restricted bank
deposits| over total equity) increased to a level of approximately 88% (31
December 2017 approximately 84%). Total cash and cash equivalents
(including restricted cash) amounted to approximately RMB6,277 million,
with fofal borrowings of approximately RMB 18,503 million and an equity
base of approximately RMB 13,945 million.

Treasury Policy
The business fransactions of the Group were mainly denominated in RMB.
Apori from fund raising fransactions in the copifo| market, there is limited

exposure fo foreign exchange risk.

The Group has established a treasury policy with the objective of
enhancing the control over treasury functions and lowering the costs of
funds. In providing funds to ifs operations, funding terms have been centrally

reviewed and monitored at Group level.

To minimize the inferest risk, the Group continued to closely monitor and
manage its loan porTfoho b\/ its existing ogreemenfs' interest margin spreod

with market interest rates and offers from the banks.

Credit Policy
Trade receivables mainly arose from sale and lease of properties and are
seftled in accordance with the terms stipulated in the sale and purchase

agreements and lease agreements.

Pledge of Asset

As at 31 December 2018, the Group pledged properties and fime
deposits with a carrying value of approximately RMB13 billion to secure
bank facilities, and the total secured loan balance outstanding amounted to

approximately RMBY billion.
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FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE (Continued) AT (8)

Financial guarantee AT HER

As at 31 December 2018, the Group provided guarantees to banks for: REZZ—NF+ZA=1+—08  ZEERATEE
ARITIREER -

-

Mortgage loan 1748

31 December
2017
=t
+TZRA=+—8H
RMB'000
ARBFIT

9,022,333

31 December
2018
—EB—N\F

+=A=+-H
RMB’000
ARETT

11,561,273

Capital commitment

Property under development and investment

BEXRiE

31 December
2017
—F—+tF
t=-A=+—~
RMB'000
ARETTT

31 December
2018
—E—N\EFE

+=RA=+-—-8
RMB’000
ARBTR

EATOERNEGA M RETS

properfies under development contracted but not FHRRENERPIER
provided in the consolidated financial statements BEDIGEME 13,487,602 11,138,547
Human resources ANER

As at 31 December 2018, the Group employed a total of 3,722
employees, among which approximately 1,929 employees worked for the
property development business {31 December 2017: 3,153). The Group
has adopted a performance-based rewarding system to motivate its staff.
In addition to a basic salary, yearend bonuses are offered to staff with
an oufstanding performance to aftract and refain talent. The Group also
provides various fraining programs fo improve their skills and develop their

respective expertise.

RZB-NF+ZA=1+—H rEELHXER
37224 EE(ZF—+F+-A=+—H:3,153
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REHE - FREAFH SN TEARARIMNET
REFEIEAAR S| RIRE AT - AEETRHE
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KEY RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group's financial condition, results of operations and business
prospects may be affected by a number of risks and uncertainties pertaining
to the Group's businesses. The following are the key risks and uncertainties
identified by the Group. There may be other risks and uncertainties in
addifion fo those shown below which are not known to the Group or which

may not be material now but could tum out to be material in the future.

Business Risk

Performance of the Group's core business will be affected by various
factors, including but not limited to economic conditions and the
performance of property markets in regions where the developments or
investments are located, which would not be mitigated even with careful

and prudent investment strategy and strict control procedures.

Impact of Government Policies and Regulations

The business operation of the Group is also subject to government policy,
relevant regulafions and guidelines established by the regulatory authorities.
Failure to comply with the rules and requirements may lead to penalties,
amendments or suspension of the business operation by the authorities. The
Group closely monitors changes in government policies, regulations and

markets as well as conducting studies fo assess the impact of such changes.

Foreign Exchange Risk
For defails of the Group's exposure in foreign exchange risk, please see
paragraph headed “Financial Performance — Treasury Policy” of this

"Management Discussion and Analysis”.

Third-Party Risk

The Group relies on third-party service providers in certain parts of its
business. While gaining the benefits from external service providers, the
management realises that such operational dependency may pose a threat
of vulnerability to unexpected poor or lapses in service including reputation
damage, business disruption and monetary losses. To address such
uncertainties, the Group engages only reputable third-party providers and

c|ose|y monitors their performonce
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COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

During the year under review, insofar as the Board was aware, there
were no material breach of or non-compliance with applicable laws and
regulations by the Group that had a significant impact on the business and

operations of the Group.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Group recognises that employees are its valuable assets. Thus, the
Group recognises the accomplishment of its employees by providing
comprehensive benefit package, career development opportunities and
infernal training appropriate to individual needs. The Group regularly
reviews the remuneration package of employees and makes necessary
adjustments fo conform fo the market level. Further, the Group provides a
healthy and safe workplace for all employees and no strikes and cases of

fatality due to workplace accidents occurred during the year under review.

The Group also understands that it is important to maintain good relationship
with business partners and bank enterprises fo achieve its long-term goals.
During the year under review, there was no material or significant dispute

between the Group and its business pariners or bank enferprises.
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DEFINITIONS

=

In this report, unless the confext otherwise requires, the following terms shall RARIRE - BRXESHIEIN - THFAZEENUT

have the meanings sef out below:

"AGM”
[RBFRE ]
"Articles”

[4BAI ]

"Board”
[E%g]

"CG Code”
[EREASTRI
"Company” or

"Greenland Hong Kong”

[ARF] [ RS ]

"CPS”

[ FT§B B SR |
"EGM”
[RRFFRIRE |
"Director(s)”

[E%]

"Greenland Holdings”

[Es:iubedilg

"Group”
[A&EE )
!

[E7]

“Hong Kong”
[&#]

“listing Rules”
[ LA
"Model Code”

[F2E<FAl ]
"PRC”

[

"RMB”

[AREE]

"SFO"
[#%5 K EAE 1EH ]
“Sharels)"

[ A&7 ]
“Shareholder(s)"
[&ER ]

"Stock Exchange”
[ B2 PAr

EE
the annual general meeting of the Company
RAFRFBEFRE
the articles of association of the Company
EANSIF R il
the board of Direcfors
Exg

Corporate Governance Code set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules

LR B ER T PR E b E A ST

Greenland Hong Kong Holdings Limited (4%t & &2 B R A ), a company incorporated
in the Cayman Islands with limited liability, whose ordinary shares are listed on the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 0337)

I EBIERARAR  RHASHSEMKZAERAR - REERAERAT Em (5D
5% - 0337)

non-voting convertible preference share

W AR SRR AT SR B SE AR

the extraordinary general meeting of the Company

RAFREFRIRE

the director(s) of the Company

RRRES

LRI EE R (D BBR A F] (Greenland Holdings Corporation Limited*), a company
esfablished in the PRC and listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 600606.SH)
IR R ERO AR AR - —fRREKZEAR - WK EEEFR S ET (RO K
5% : 600606.5H)

the Company and its subsidiaries

RRARRHEF AT

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

BT BREEEE

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC

PEEBRRITRER

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange

B Pz LT AR A

the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules

ERAINER T PRE T AE R EITESF R HHIEESTR

the People’s Republic of China

REEARIAE

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC

AR¥E - PEVEFEE®

Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong]

EREDIES7 1 F 35 5 MBS (60

ordinary share(s) of the Company

R AE R

holder(s) of the Share(s)

[BSHEST=PN

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

ERBERHARRR
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board and the management of the Company freasure shareholders’
confidence and trust in the ability and vision of the management team and
have pledged to maintain an open and responsive attitude in shareholders’
communications that are atf least on a par with other leading corporations
in the industry. The Board has been adamant in upholding best practices
in corporate governance to ensure the timeliness, transparency and faimess
of disclosure to maximize the Group's corporate values and will continue
to enhance its disclosure practices to display an exemplary corporate

governance practice.

It is the Board's belief that a sound corporate govemnance system has been

and will remain an instrumental element to the healthy growth of the Group.

Corporate Governance

The Company has strictly complied with the code provisions of the CG
Code during the year ended 31 December 2018, except for code
provisions A.2.1, A.4.2 and E.1.2 as described below.

Code provision A.2.1 stipulates that the roles of chairman and chief
executive should be separate and should not be performed by the same
1 January 2018 to 31 December 2018, Mr. CHEN Jun

had undertaken the role of both chairman of the Board and chief executive

individual. From

officer of the Company. The Company considers that the combination of
the roles is conducive fo the efficient formulation and implementation of the
Group's strategies and policies and such combination has not impaired the
corporate governance practices of the Group. The balance of power and
authority is ensured by the management of the Company’s affairs by the
Board which meets regularly to discuss and determine issues conceming the

operations of the Group.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES
(Continued)

Corporate Governance (Continued)

Code provision A.4.2 sfipulates that all directors appointed to fill a casual
vacancy should be subject to election by shareholders at the first general
meeting after their appointment. Pursuant to the Articles, any person
appointed as a director by the Board shall stand for re-election af the next
following AGM. Such arrangement is considered appropriate in light of
the requirement of paragraph 4(2) of Appendix 3 to the Listing Rules which
requires that any person appointed by the directors to fill a casual vacancy
shall hold office only until the next following AGM and shall then be eligible

for re-election.

Code provision E. 1.2 stipulates that the chairman of the Board should
attend the AGMs. The chairman of the Board did not attend the AGM held

on 23 May 2018 due to other business commitments.

Set out below is a detailed discussion of the corporate governance

practices adopted and observed by the Company during the year.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
The Company adopted the Model Code as its code of conduct for dealings

in securities of the Company by the Directors. Based on specific enquiry by
the Company, all Direcfors have confirmed that they have complied with the
required sfandards set out in the Model Code during the year ended 31
December 2018
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BUSINESS MODEL AND STRATEGY

Business Model

In 2018, the number of aborted auctions of land of various cities in China
increased significantly and the proportion of the number of aborted auctions
to the fofal number of launches reached the peak. Real estate regulation
has become a longterm mechanism for the real estate market in China.
The real estate industry has transformed from a “driver” to a “stabilizer” of
the economic development in China. However, Greenland Hong Kong sfill
maintained a quality growth. Backed by the strong resources of Greenland
Holdings, the parent company, the Group continued to focus on real estate
business, develop and reserve high-quality parcels of land, exploit regional
potential and create high-ended boutique projects with ingenuity. At the
same fime, the Group comprehensively deployed emerging industries such
as healthcare industries as well as cultural and commerical tourism industries
and actively advanced the strafegies of “Real Esfate +", striving to become

a better lifestyle provider and to build a comprehensive industrial group.

Integrated Strategy

As the important listing platform of Greenland Holdings in Hong Kong,
Greenland Hong Kong will further focus on the Group's overall strategy,
realize the transformation and upgrading of innovation in the industrial
field and strengthen its core competitiveness to continuously expand
and consolidate. It will also continue fo focus on the real estate industry,
deepen its business area, strengthen management fo implement a balanced
development deployment of the three major businesses, broaden its income
sources and promote the overall advantages of the “Greenland Family” in

capital markets and throughout the industry.

The Traditional Real Estate Business

Under the background of escalating policy adjustments, Greenland Hong
Kong grasps the market trend and continues to enhance its strength on
land bank fo create a balanced and deep layout of provincial capital and
second- and thirdier cities. At the same time, by concentrating on the Pan-
Yangtze River Delta and the Pan-Pearl River Delta regions further focusing
on Hangzhou Bay and Guangdong-Hong KongMacao Greater Bay Areq,
the Group is committed to building an industry benchmark with quality and
constantly innovating and breaking through. The Group also launches cross-
industry investment and industry infegration around the real estate industry,
thereby making traditional real estate business and innovation industry more

closely integrated and creating greater benefits for Greenland Hong Kong.
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BUSINESS MODEL AND STRATEGY
(Continued)

Integrated Strategy (Continued)

The Traditional Real Estate Business (Continued)

As Greenland Hong Kong continues to innovate benchmarking projects
and pursue ultimate product quality, various products are stunning in the
market, thereby attracting high attention from industry and society. In terms
of product design, the Group adheres to develop product concepts with
Greenland Hong Kong's characteristics. By creating a better lifestyle as the
main direction, the Group creates IP products to form six major products’
series, namely healthcare series, cultural tourism series, technology & health

series, TOD series, ultra high-ise series and commercial series.

Greenland Hong Kong strategically increases land bank in core urban
areas and leverages its advantages in products, development and sales
to cooperate with local governments and capitalists to comprehensively
enhance market influence, expand development scale and improve business
layout. The Group actively complies with the country’s future strategic
development. Since 2017, the Group has been planning for markets in
Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area, including cities such
as Foshan and Zhaoging. Since 2018, Greenland Hong Kong has added
approximately ¢.38 million square meters of land bank and acquired 11

new parcels of land in 8 cities.

During the year, Greenland Hong Kong officially released its healthcare
strategies. Capifalizing on ifs strong brand advantage to deploy domestic
and overseas cuttingedge healthcare resources, Greenland Hong Kong
created a firstclass healthcare service platform. In response to national
calls and social needs, Greenland Hong Kong cooperated with Shanghai
International Medical Center and Provectus Care in Australia fo create
the first insfitution in Shanghai to focus on professional care for cognitive
disorders. On 11 January 2019, Greenland Hong Kong Provectus Care

Residence was officially opened to the public.
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BUSINESS MODEL AND STRATEGY
(Continued)

Integrated Strategy (Continued)

“Real Estate +" strategy

Greenland Hong Kong will adhere to the initial intention of “creating a
better lifestyle”, continue to implement healthcare strategies and shoulder
a sense of mission in society to let the elderly in China “live with quality
and dignity”. The healthcare complex building of Kunming Dianchi Lake is
dedicated to creating a complex residential and community of the aged.
The Provectus Care Residence, which is leading the market with rich
pension care project design, firstclass refined management and high-ended
residential experience, is gradually put info place. By deepening industrial
transformation, it creates a full-chain lifestyle with skeleton and a flesh-
and-blood life in universal health industry chain, thereby leading market

development.

Creating Industrial Synergies

In the future, Greenland Hong Kong will seek fo establish an industrial fund
in cooperation with benchmarking scientific and fechnological innovation
and creafive cultural base to focus on three major industries for investment,
nome|\/ the healthcare indusfr\/ for the aging popu|oﬁon, the entertainment
and education industry for children’s growth and the future strategic and
emerging industry for science and technology to form synergy development
with the real estate indusfry. At the same time, Greenland Hong Kong will
continue to adhere to the development principles of assetlight, efficient
turnover and rapid growth as well as rely on technological innovation
and informatization to enhance operational management standard.
Greenland Hong Kong successfully creates the sourcing platform and the
BIM digitalization project panoramic management and control system
for the Group. Through making use of modern management mode,
Greenland Hong Kong achieves low consumption and high efficiency and
comprehensively improves operating efficiency, thereby fully exerting its

competitive advantages.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board currently comprises five executive Directors and three

independent non-executive Directors:

Executive Directors:

CHEN Jun (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
WANG Weixian (Honorary Chairman)

HOU Guangjun (Chief Operation Officer)

WU Zhengkui

WANG Xuling

Independent non-executive Directors:
CHEONG Ying Chew, Henry

FONG Wo, Felix, JP

KWAN Kai Cheong

The Board from time to time assesses its composition and diversity to
ensure that the Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity
of perspectives appropriate for the requirements of the business of the
Company. The Board has extensive management experience in the property
market in the PRC. The Board has the required knowledge, experience and
capabilities to operate and develop the Group's business and implement
the Company's business strategies. The biographical details and experience
of the Directors and senior management are sef out in the "Direcfors and

Senior Management Profiles” section of this annual report.

Each Direcfor has a duty fo act in good faith and in the best interests
of the Company. The Directors are aware of their responsibilities and
accountability to shareholders and for the manner in which the affairs of the

Company are managed and operated.

Directors have timely access fo relevant information prior fo each board
meeting o enable them to make an informed decision and fo discharge
their duties and responsibilities. Directors can attend board meefings either

in person or by electronic means of communication.

EEE
EEeRREERERTEER BB IIENTE
==

BITES -

BRE (LA TIHARE)
THRE(EELE)
EHRE(HFELEE)
RIFZE

Tz

BIEPITES :
REH

AR CAFL)
CEE

B TRFMEERES T - NRREESE
AREARRINEGREREANEERT - &5k
kZ7le - EFERTEMEMSHEEEEEEL
%o BEERARKERERAEBREBELEBAR
AXBRBEMTNTE KBk - EERSR
EEEAEBNEEFBERERENAFRIEER
BREREBABMN ] -

BEEYAEEANEN A AR RRENZENRAUE
WITHE - EFHABREERRAREEMGLER
RAEBHTANEELBEML -

REBITREZEGHA  EFARERESERE
o AL R FREHAIERE METTREMNBE &
B - EFURSIERETBANALFESS

P
=



ZE-N\FFR

BEEERERAA

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continved)
TEERRE @)

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Under the Articles, one-third of all Directors (whether executive or
non-executive] is subject fo refirement by rotation and re-election at each
AGM provided that every Director shall be subject to refirement at least

once every three years.

Ms. WANG Xuling, an executive Director of the Company, is the sister
of Mr. WANG Weixian, the Honorary Chairman of the Group. Apart
from this, to the best of know|edge of the Directors, there is no financial,
business, family or other material or relevant relationship among members
of the Board.

The Company provides Directors with directors’ and officers’ liability
insurance coverage fo profect them from loss as a result of any legal

proceedings against the Company.

During the year, the Company held 10 board meetings. Sufficient notice
convening the board meefings were despatched to the Directors setting
out the matters to be discussed. All Directors were given an opportunity fo
include matters in the agenda for the board meetings and had access to the
Company Secretary fo ensure that all board procedures and all applicable
rules and regulations were followed. The Board also enabled the Directors
fo seek independent professional advice at the Company’s expense in
appropriate circumstances. At the meefings, the Direcfors were provided
with the relevant documents to be discussed and approved. The minutes of
board meeting are kept by the Company Secretary or other professional
service provider and they are open for inspection by the Directors and
members of Board committees. The secretary of the meeting or any other
person authorised by the Board is responsible for taking the minutes and all
the matters considered and the decisions reached in the board meefing are
recorded in sufficient detail. The draft minutes are sent to the Directors for
comment within a reasonable time affer each meeting and the final versions

are sent to all Directors for their records.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)
During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Company held ten board

meetings, and its annual general meeting on 23 May 2018 and three
extraordinary general meeting on & March, 31 August and 19 December
2018 respectively. The following is the aftendance record of the Directors

in the aforesaid meetfings:

Name of Director

Mr. CHEN Jun PRE &

Mr. WANG Weixian TRERE

Mr. HOU Guangjun BEHrRB A

Mr. WU Zhengkui RIEEFRAE

Ms. WANG Xuling ThzEL+

Mr. CHEONG Ying Chew, Henry SREH A

Mr. FONG Wo, Felix, JP TS (R aRt)
Mr. KWAN Kai Cheong PR E %A

BEEE(H)
HEZZ—)\F+ZA=1T—HILFE ' &R

T TREFESH I%_?*/\ﬁﬂﬂ_Jr:
BRITBRFAFAE  UR=ZT—N\F=AAH -
NA=Z+—BE+ZA+ B9 BIET =R
RIKE - EER LG RMNHFLENAT

Number of meetings attended/

Number of meetings held
HEEERE BITEHRRE

Board meetings General meetings

BRERXE
10/10 0/4
1/10 0/4
10/10 4/4
5/10 0/4
4/10 0/4
5/10 4/4
5/10 4/4
5/10 4/4

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Mr. CHEN Jun currently serves as the chairman of the Board and the chief

executive officer of the Company.

The chairman is responsible for the overall business and investment
strafegies of the Group. The chairman is also responsible for overseeing
effective functioning of the Board and application of good corporate
governance practices and procedures. The chief executive officer is
responsible for managing the Group's overall operations and execution of
the Group's long term business development policies. The Board, led by the
chairman, sefs the overall directions, strategies and policies of the Group.
Under the leadership of the chief executive officer, the management is
responsible for execufing the Board's strategy and implementing its policies

through the day-to-day management and operations of the Company.

The Board delegates appropriate aspects of its management and
administrative functions to the management who shall report o the Board.
The Board reviews on a periodic basis such delegations fo ensure that they

remain appropriate.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
(Continued)

Important matters are reserved for the Board's decision, including:

o long-ferm objectives and strategies

e extension of the Group's activities info new business areas
®  appointments to the Board and the Board commitiees

o annual risk management and internal confrols assessment
e annual budgets

*  material acquisitions and disposals

o material connected transactions

o material banking facilities

] announcements of interim and final results

o declaration or recommendation of dividends

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The independent non-executive Directors of the Company have diversified
backgrounds and industry skills and one of the independent non-executive
Directors has appropriate accounting qualification as required by the
Listing Rules. With their expertise, they offer experience, independent
judgement and advice on the overall management of the Company. Their
responsibilities include maintaining a balance between the interests of all

shareholders of the Company as a whole.

All the independent non-executive Directors are members of the audit,

nomination and remuneration committees.

All the independent non-executive Directors are appointed for a term of one
year renewable by mutual agreement on an annual basis. The Company
has received an annual confirmation of independence from each of the
independent non-executive Directors. The Company is of the view that all
the independent non-executive Directors meet the guidelines for assessing
independence set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers them

to be independent.
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS

The Board established the remuneration committee on 19 September 2006
with specific written terms of reference which deal clearly with its authority
and responsibilities. In compliance with the CG Code, the Board has
adopted new terms of reference for the remuneration committee which have
been posted on the respective websites of the Company and the Stock

Exchange.

The committee is responsible for formulating and reviewing the remuneration
policy and specific remuneration packages of all executive Directors. In
formulating the remuneration policy, the commitiee takes into consideration
factors such as salaries paid by comparable companies, employment
conditions and responsibilities, and individual performance of the
Directors, senior management, and the general staff. The committee can
seek independent professional advice to complement its own resources to

discharge its duties.

The remuneration committee currently comprises Mr. CHEN Jun, Ms.
WANG Xuling and all the independent non-executive Directors namely
Messrs. CHEONG Ying Chew, Henry, FONG Wo, Felix, JP. and KWAN
Kai Cheong. Mr. KWAN Kai Cheong was the chairman of the committee
during the year ended 31 December 2018.

The Company has adopted the model that the remuneration committee
make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of

individual executive Directors and senior management.

Details of the emoluments of each Director, on a named basis, are set out

in note 14 to the financial statements.

The remuneration of the senior management paid for the year ended 31

December 2018 fell within the following bands:
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AR
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS
(Continued)
The above remuneration includes fee, basic salaries, allowance, bonus,

share-based payments and other benefits.

Two meetings was held by the remuneration committee in 2018 fo discuss

remuneration related matters. Individual attendance of the members is set

out below:

Mr. CHEN Jun 2/2
Mr. KWAN Kai Cheong 2/2
Ms. WANG Xuling 2/2
Mr. CHEONG Ying Chew, Henry 2/2
Mr. FONG Wo, Felix, JP 2/2

NOMINATION OF DIRECTORS

The Company established a nomination committee on 1 April 2013 in
compliance with the CG Code. The nomination committee is responsible for
nomination and selection of Directors. Proposed new Directors are selected
based on skills and experience that will enable them to make positive
confributions to the performance of the Board. The nomination committee
has specific written terms of reference which deal clearly with its authority
and responsibilities and posted on the respective websites of the Company
and the Stock Exchange. The principal functions of the nomination

committee include:

® o review the structure, size and composition (including the skills,
knowledge, experience and diversity) of the Board and make
recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to

complement the Company’s corporate strategy;

* o identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members
and select or make recommendations to the Board on the selection of

individuals nomination for directorships;

® o assess the independence of independent non-executive Direcfors;
and
*  io make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or

reappointment of Direcfors and succession planning for Directors, in

particular chairman and chief executive.
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NOMINATION OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

The nomination committee currently comprises two executive Directors,
namely Messrs. CHEN Jun and HOU Guangjun; and all the independent
non-executive Directors, namely Messrs. CHEONG Ying Chew, Henry,
FONG Wo, Felix, JP. and KWAN Kai Cheong. Mr. CHEN Jun was the

chairman of the committee during the year ended 31 December 2018.

One meeting was held by the nomination committee in 2018 to review
the sfructure, size and composition of the Board, evaluation of performance
and contribution of the retiring Directors and the independence of the
independent non-executive Directors. Individual aftendance of the current

members is set out below:

Mr. CHEN Jun

Mr. HOU Guangjun

Mr. CHEONG Ying Chew, Henry
Mr. FONG Wo, Felix, JP

Mr. KWAN Kai Cheong

NN N N O

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Board established the audit committee on 19 September 2006 with
specific written terms of reference which deal clearly with its authority and
responsibilities. In compliance with the CG Code, the Board has adopted
ferms of reference for the audit committee which have been posted on the

respective websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The committee is responsib|e for formu|0ﬂng and reviewing the financial, risk
management and internal control systems of the Company. The committee
is also responsible for making recommendation to the Board on the
appointment, re-appointment and removal of the external auditor, approving
the remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditor and
considering any questions of resignation or dismissal of such audifor. The
committee can seek independent professional advice fo complement its own

resources fo discharge its duties.

The committee comprises all the independent non-executive Directors,
namely Messrs. CHEONG Ying Chew, Henry, FONG Wo, Felix, JP.
and KWAN Kai Cheong. Mr. KWAN Kai Cheong is the chairman of the
committee during the year ended 31 December 2018.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (Continued)

Two meetings were held by the audit committee in 2018. Individual

atfendance of the members is set out below:

Mr. KWAN Kai Cheong 2/2
Mr. CHEONG Ying Chew, Henry 2/2
Mr. FONG Wo, Felix, JP 2/2

During the year, the committee reviewed, together with the senior
management and the Auditor, the financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2018, the accounting principles and practices adopted
by the Company, statutory compliance, other financial reporting matters,
the risk management and internal control systems. The audit committee
also reviewed the Group's interim results for the six months ended 30 June

2018.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Fung Wai Sum of Tricor Services Limited, an external service provider,
has been engaged by the Company as its Company Secretary since 11
May 2018. The primary contact person of the Company is Ms. Cindy Liu,
Assistant Controller of Capital Market Department of the Company.

In accordance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, Ms. Fung Wai Sum has
taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training during the year
ended 31 December 2018.

FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Board aims at presenting a comprehensive, balanced and
understandable assessment of the Group's performance, position and
prospects. Management provides such explanation and information to
enable the Board to make an informed assessment of the matters put before
the Board for approval. The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for

preparing the financial statements for the Group.

The statement of the Auditor regarding its responsibilities for the financial
statements of the Group is set out in the report of the Independent Auditor's

Report on page 140 to 147.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board has overall responsibility for maintaining a sound and effective
system of internal control and for reviewing its effectiveness, particularly
in respect of the controls on financial, operational and compliance to

safeguard shareholders’ investment and the Group's assets.

The Audit Director reports to the audit committee on key findings regarding
internal controls. The audit committee, in turn, communicates any material

issues to the Board.

With the continuous efforts of the Board, management and all staff, the
Group has established a relatively comprehensive and effective risk
management system for the purpose of providing reasonable assurance
on compliance with laws and regulations by the Company in its operation
and management, asset security, financial reporting and the authenticity
and completeness of the relevant information. The Group has complied with
Code C.2.4 of Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules by adopting the following

system:

1. Identification: The Company paid close aftention to external and
internal changes in the conditions through a variety of methods,
and understood the risks involved and analyzed the reason for the

potential risks on an ongoing basis.

2. Assessment: The Company analyzed the possibility and impact of

risks and made corresponding assessments.

3. Management: The Company considered risk response to ensure
effective communication of the Board regarding the risks and

confinuous moniforing on residual risks.

The Board is responsible for the Company's risk management and infernal
control systems and for reviewing the effectiveness of such systems. They
are responsible for the assessment and determination of the nature and
extent of the risks that the Company is willing to undertake to achieve
its strategic objectives, as well as the establishment and maintenance of
appropriafe and effective risk management and internal control systems.
The risk management and internal control systems are designed fo manage
rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and
can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material

misstatement or loss.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL (Continued)

The Audit Committee assisted the Board in leading the management of risk
management and internal control systems and managed and oversaw its

composifion, execution of duties and supervision.

The Infernal Audit Department is responsible for conducting an independent
review on the adequacy and effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems and adopting risk controlbased auditing methods.
lts annual work plan, which covers the major tasks and procedures of
the Group's business segments such as real estate development, property
services, business management, Infemet finance, building and construction
and hotel management, has been approved by the Board and the Audit
Committee. It also provided the Audit Committee and the Board with
its findings and recommendations for improvement. The Internal Audit
Department will follow up on the audit findings so as to ensure that its
recommendations have been properly implemented and will regularly report

to the Audit Committee on its progress.

The head of the Internal Audit Department reported directly fo the chairman
of the Audit Committee of the Group and the chairman of the Board.

Under the support of the Audit Committee, the Board has reviewed the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems through
reviewing management reports and infernal audit findings twice a year
and considered that the Company’s risk management and internal control

systems for the year ended 31 December 2018 are effective and sufficient.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

Deloitte is primarily responsible for providing audit services in connection
with annual financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2018.

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the fotal remuneration in respect
of audit and audit-related services provided by Deloitte for the Group
amounted to RMB3,380,000.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board is responsible for performing duties relating to corporate

govemance funcfions as sef out below:

e to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on

corporofe governance,

® o review and monitor the training and continuous professional

development of Directors and senior management;

e to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on

compliance and legal and regulatory requirements;
p g 9 ry req

® o develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance

manual [if any) applicable to employees and Directors; and

e toreview the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and

disclosure in the corporate governance report.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Board developed and
reviewed the Company’s corporate governance practices, including the
revised terms of reference for the remuneration committee, audit committee

and nomination committee.

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING

According fo the code provision A.6.5 of the CG Code, all Directors
should participate in continuous professional development to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that their contribution to the

board remains informed and relevant.

All Directors have been provided with training on their duties and
responsibilities as a director of a listed company and the compliance issues
under the Listing Rules. The Company confinuously updates Directors on
the latest developments regarding the Listing Rules and other applicable
regulatory requirements, to ensure their compliance and enhance their
awareness of their continuing obligations as Direcfors and good corporate

governance practices.

During the year, the Compony provided the Directors with materials
regarding the CG Code. Each of the Directors provided the Company
with their respective fraining record pursuant to the CG Code. During the
year, all Directors have participated in appropriate confinuous professional
development by ways of attending training or reading materials relevant to

the Company’s business or to Direcfors” duties and responsibilities.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Procedures for convening an extraordinary general meeting
and putting forward proposals at shareholders’ meetings

Pursuant to article 58 of the Articles, shareholder(s) holding at the date of
deposit of the requisition not less than one-enth of the paid-up capital of the
Company carrying the right of voting af general meetings of the Company
(the “Requisitionist(s)’) may, by written requisition [the “Requisition’)
to the Board or the Company Secretary, to require an EGM to be convened
by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in the Requisition.
The Requisition shall be deposited at the head office of the Company in
Hong Kong (namely Unit 5711, 57th Floor, The Center, 99 Queen'’s Road
Cenfral, Hong Kong). The EGM shall be held within two months after the
deposit of the Requisition. In the event that the Board fails to proceed to
convene the EGM within twenty-one days of the deposit of the Requisition,
the Requisitionist(s] may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the Requisitionist(s] as a result of the failure of the
Board shall be reimbursed to the Requisitionist(s) by the Company. The
same procedure also applies fo any proposal fo be tabled at Shareholders’

meetings for approval or adoption.

Shareholders should direct their enquiries about their shareholdings to the
Company's branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services
Limited, at level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen's Road East, Hong
Kong. In respect of other enquiries, shareholders may put forward enquiries
to the Board through Mr. LEI Yu, Secrefary to the Board of the Company,

who will direct the enquiries to the Board for handling.

The contact details are as follows:

Address: No. 193 Xiehe Road, Changning District, Shanghai,
China

Email: rainlei@greenlandhk.com

Tel number: 8621 6135 3777

Fax number: 8621 6135 3732
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INFORMATION ON SHARE CAPITAL
As at 31 December 2018:

Authorised share capital: HK$5,000,000,000.00, comprising
7,000,000,000 Shares of HK$0.50 each and 3,000,000,000 CPS of
HK$0.50 each.

Issued and fully paid-up capital: HK$1,395,942,341.50 comprising
2,791,884,683 Shares.

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN THE ARTICLES

There were no amendments made to the Arficles in the year ending 31
December 2018.

INSIDE INFORMATION

With respect fo the procedures and infernal controls for the handling and
dissemination of price-sensitive information, the Company is aware of
its obligations under Part XIVA of the SFO and the Listing Rules and has
established the inside information/price-sensitive information disclosure
policy in connection with the "Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside

Information” issued by the Securities and Future Commission.
The disclosure policy includes, among other things:

(a) Directors or senior management shall report any potential /suspected
inside information to any of the executive Directors as soon as
practicable for him fo consult (if appropriate) the Board thereafter for
determining the nature of developments, and if required, for making
appropriate disclosure. Every senior management member must
take all reasonable measures from time fo time to ensure that proper
precautions are in place to prevent a breach of the inside information
provisions and the disclosure requirements under the Listing Rules by the

Company;
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INSIDE INFORMATION (Continued)

(b]

(c)

(d]

Officers of the Company shall keep all the inside information strictly
confidential prior to the publication through the HKEXEPS and ensure
that the employees and external advisers of the Company have strictly

complied with the principle of confidentiality;

Any officers or employees of the Company who are in possession of
inside information are prohibited from frading or otherwise dealing

with the securities of the Company; and

The responsibility for communications with regulatory bodies, media,
analysts and the market primarily lies with designated personnel of the
Company. Unless authorized by any of such designated personnel,
any officers or employees of the Company are not allowed to take part
in the aforesaid duties. Enquiries on information which may constitute
inside information of the Company must be handled by the designated

personnel.
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OUR COMMITMENT AND DIRECTION
OF ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE MATTERS

Greenland Hong Kong Holdings limited (the “Company”’| and its
subsidiaries [collectively “Greenland Hong Kong' or "we’)
recognize the importance of effective environmental, social and
governance ("ESG"] initiatives to our operation. The direction of
Greenland Hong Kong's ESG practices are governed by the board
of directors of the Company (the “Board”), ensuring that the ESG
strategy reflects the Company’s core values. While making joint
efforts in improving values and performances, the Board and the
management also assume the responsibilities of assessing and
identifying risks relating to ESG matters of Greenland Hong Kong,
in order fo ensure appropriate and effective implementation of risk

management and internal control system.

REPORTING STANDARDS, PERIOD AND
SCOPE

This ESG Report is prepared according fo the Environmental, Social
and Governance Reporting Guide set out in Appendix 27 to the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong limited (the “Listing Rules”) for the purpose of
providing the relevant parties and stakeholders a comprehensive
overview on our financial results and our ESG policies, initiatives as

well as performance.

This ESG Report ("ESG Report’) is prepared according to the
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide ("ESG
Reporting Guide’) set out in Appendix 27 to the Listing Rules
by the Company, which presents our achievement of ESG matters
during the pericd from 1 January 2018 to 31 December 2018 (the
"Reporting Period’). Disclosures in this report cover principal
business premises, including the headquarters and its project

management companies.

Aspects and key performance indicators which are identified in the
ESG Reporting Guide and considered significant to the operation of
Greenland Hong Kong will be reported in four categories, i.e. “our

environment”, "our employees”, “our services” and “our community”.
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3. STAKEHOLDER AND MATERIALITY = .JiziH&EEEEMTE

Stakeholders

ASSESSMENT

Greenland Hong Kong strives to accept opinions from stakeholders,
including shareholders, customers, employees, suppliers, regulatory
authorities and the public, and safeguard their interests through
effective communication channels, which confributes to defermining
our long-term development direction and maintaining close
relationships with our stakeholders. Management and employees
of each department are required to review the operation of the
Company based on their functions, identify relevant ESG matters and

evaluate the materiality/correlation of those matters fo our business.

Stakeholder groups, their expectations and typical communication

channels with the Company are as follows:

Expectations
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Communication channels

BERE

Government and regulatory authorities e Compliant operations o Financial reports/announcements/
BT K B E R e Observation of laws and regulations notices
] Internal checking o Direct communications through emails
e Occupational health and safety in and phone calls

workplace
s  EHRHARER
o ETERER
i nEbies

e  TiRGMBEHEEZE

o WMBWE B
s  EERRABEFHMMNEFELETER

Cusfomers ®  Quality of products and services e Customer visifs

ey ®  Product safety and responsibility e Customer safisfaction survey
e Technological development e Meefings and communications
° Marketing trends ° 2B

e Appropriafe suppliers
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3. STAKEHOLDER AND MATERIALITY = -JEHEEHEEEMTEG(E)
ASSESSMENT (Continued)

Stakeholders Expectations Communication channels

FlE4ERAE meE BERE

Suppliers/construction contractors

Compliance of regulations

Assessment and investigation

HEr  TIRABRR Environmental standards and Onssite inspections
requirements Supplier reviews
Respeciful and fair purchases EHAE
ER BT B E R
RIRREMER HEREX
BEMATHRE

Employees Trainings and rooms for career Staff activities

8T advancement Employee notice board

Salary and benefits

Working environment

Health and safety

Career development and opportunities

IR R =R

Regular memo fo staff

Collection of opinions through direct
communications with staffs

Staff frainings, seminars and briefings

Cultural activities [such as team building

TERF activities)
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3. STAKEHOLDER AND MATERIALITY =  -FHEEHEEEMTE(E)
ASSESSMENT (Continued)

Stakeholders Expectations Communication channels
FlzztHRAE L BAERE
Shareholders and invesfors . Investment returns o Public information such as financial
RN EE . Disclosures and transparency reports, announcements and nofices
e Safeguarding interests of Shareholders ®  Enquiry though emails and phone
. Disclosure of information in a timely calls
and accurate manner ° Disclosure of information on listed
o Improving corporate governance companies
° Compliance with laws and ° Roadshows,/conference calls/
regulations meetings with investors/Shareholders
e Anficorruption o Enquiry through phone calls/emails
o K& DR o Investor visits
] ZEIFBEMBRE ° Disclosure on websites of the Stock
s RERRER Exchange and the Compony
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3. STAKEHOLDER AND MATERIALITY = FiziEEEEEMTE(E)

ASSESSMENT (Continued)

Stakeholders Expectations

FzsERAE e

Local communities, d Employment opportunities °

non-governmental organizations, J Ecological environment .

potential customers and the public e Community development .

AL - FEBUTAEAL - e Social codlition .

BEEFPMAR e Devotion to charity .
e Charitable donation .
J Emission reduction ]
*  Waste reduction .
s HEME

e ARERE

s HERITRE

s HEHAR

e HRRFENAE
s  KERM

o RDISRMPEK

s RLEY
Media *  Information transparency .
e ®  Positive media relations

. ERENE .
s RIFHVERBERAR

Communication channels

Charitable events

Community investment and services
Stakeholder engagement
Environmental protection activities
BEEY

IR E RARS

FEEEESE

RREE

Disclosures on websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company

Public information such as financial
reports, announcements and nofices
B2 BT R AN B4 UL {E B HE R
MismE - NEMNBESELRER

In order to report issues of great significance in this report, the Company
communicates with major stakeholders, through which the Company will
improve its ESG performance to meet the expectations of our stakeholders.
Details of our ESG practices during the Reporting Period will be presented

in the following sections.
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OUR ENVIRONMENT

Property development is the major element to the Company’s
business. As construction services are outsourced to external
confractors, direct emissions of greenhouse gases and other solid or

liquid emissions by the Company is relatively limited.

Notwithstanding the above, Greenland Hong Kong places significant
importance on environmental protection, energy conservation
and emissions reduction. Emissions of greenhouse gases, dust,
construction waste water and wastes are inevitably generated during
the project construction process by the construction confractors. The
Company supervises our construction contractors, ensuring their strict
implementation of the project development cooperation agreements
enfered into with the Company, which stipulated that our consfruction
confractors shall comply with various rules, laws and regulafions in
respect of environmental profection, workplace safety and labour
profection for the development projects. Please refer to the paragraph
headed "Supply chain management” for more details regarding

supervision on confractors.

Direct emissions of greenhouse gases are only generated from use
of vehicles for internal affairs of the Company in daily course, as
emissions of certain amount of NOx, SO, and greenhouse gases
are produced from fuel consumption. No consumption of packaging
materials is involved during the business operation of Greenland

Hong Kong.

The Company pays close atfention to and strictly comply with the
requirements set out in national laws and regulations regarding
environment, inc|uding but not limited to “Environmental Protection Tax
law of the People’s Republic of China”, “Water Pollution Prevention
and Confrol Law of the People’s Republic of China”, “Atmospheric
Pollution Prevention and Confrol Law of the People’s Republic of
China" and “law of the People’s Republic of China on the Prevention

and Control of Environmental Pollution by Solid Wastes”.
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4. OUR ENVIRONMENT (Confinued) B MOIBIE (1)
Aspect A1: Emissions A15HE - HER4
Air Emissions ERBEY
Air emissions of Greenland Hong Kong are as follows: S EB = REERE R
(Unit: kg) 2018 2017
(Efii : F3%) “F-0\E “E-tE
Emission scope of Source of Emissions  Infensity Nete Emissions Infensity Nee 1
greenhouse gas emissions HHE TEE HHE Bg )
Niogen oxides [NOx] AEMINOK Selfowned vehicles EEEH 563 0.15 302 0.1
Sulphur dioxides (SO 47NN 4 <0.01 2 <001
Particulate Mater (PM) BERAIPM) 51 0.01 27 0.01
Note 1: Infensity is calculated as emissions divided by numbers of employees. T BERUERERIUNEB TASTFH:TE -
Greenhouse Gas Emissions BERERY
During the Reporting Period, CO, equivalent ("CO e"|Nee 2 of MEHATRBERER BRI =&t
greenhouse gas emissions in various types are as follows: e E(1CO,el) H2RHMT
(Unit: tonnes of CO,e) 2018 2017
(EEfi : HECO,e) “B-0\E “TtE
Emission scope of ERE Source of Emissions  Intensity Meie) Emissions
greenhouse gas HReE emissions e EE g
Scope 1 e leadree pefrol ECEL )i
Direct emissions EE consumed by BT
selFowned vehicles 758 0.20 432 0.14
Scope 2 2 Electricity R
Energy indirect emission RERRRHEN consumption 852 0.23 3471 1.10
Scope 3 3 Treatment of paper BRRSKRE
Other indirect emissions EthRaHN waste and sewage 192 0.05 133 0.04
Total st 1,802 4,036
Note 1: Infensity is calculated as emissions divided by numbers of employees. S BERLUERER IS T AT -
Note2: CO,e (fonnes) is a measurement unit based on the greenhouse effect S0 —EriE s ()2 —E el — A
per tonnes of CO,, so as fo measure and compare the greenhouse B Rk E B S TR - L
effect produced by different greenhouse gases, including carbon EERHETRES AR eE — i
dioxides (CO,), methane [CH,) and nitrous oxide [N,O). (CO,) ~ FUR(CH,)  EALEEAIN,O)EHER

A B R ZE -
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4. OUR ENVIRONMENT (Continued) B FIIRR(4E)

Aspect Al: Emissions (Continued)

Greenhouse Gas Emissions (Continued)

Direct carbon emissions of the Greenland Hong Kong is relatively
low, and its indirect emissions during the year amounted to
approximately 758 tonnes, which is generated from lead-free
petrol and diesel consumed by vehicles owned by the Company.
During the year, greenhouse gas emissions of scope 2 amounted fo
approximately 852 fonnes, which is generated from use of electricity
in the headquarters and project management offices. Other indirect
emissions of greenhouse gases scope 3 were indirectly due fo
sewage emissions from freatment of construction waste water and
domestic water of the Company by the govemment sewage freatment
plant, and its emissions during the year amounted to approximately

192 tonnes.

Non-hazardous waste

Certain solid non-hazardous wastes are produced in the course of
property project development, which mainly include construction
disposals like steel bars, concrete and bricks and files. The Company
is basically not involved in the physical construction of projects as
construction is outsourced to professional contractors. Please refer
the paragraph headed “Supply chain management” for more defails
regarding supervision on confractors. In addition, daily-life frash is
produced from the daily office operations of the Company. As such
disposals are handled by municipal environmental authorities, the

relevant amounts cannot be quantified.

There was no significant non-compliance with laws and regulations

regording environment by the Compon\/ during the Reporﬁng Period.
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4. OUR ENVIRONMENT (Continued) MY - FHFIRIIRE (48)

Aspect A2: Use of energy and resources

Greenland Hong Kong has always paid great atfention to energy
conservation, promotion of frugality and green construction as well
as environmental protection, by preventing and controlling pollutions
in compliance with laws and regulations, so as fo achieve energy
conservation and cost reduction. By standardizing engineering

construction, we sirive o achieve sustainable development.

During the year, use of resources by Greenland Hong Kong is as

follows:

(Unit: tonnes of CO,e)
(Efi - HiCO,e)

Energy and resources  REERER

Hlectrcity B2 kWh THE
Pefrol ki liter A
Water KER fonnes i

A25 M : ﬁuﬁ&ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ

BB B BRI 1&.&% HOPSES
BT - FERR - BT /’3;1% S EESFL
BRBEPEAN o RIBIZAE L THh R - BHAE
R R IFE R -

BBEAFEERERBROT -

2018 2017
“¥-0\E =S
Consumption IntensityiNete 1) Consumption InfensifyNee 1
ﬁ g g2 oEe
851,900 228.88 4,292,250 1,361.32
280,000 75.23 159,600 5062
358,000 96.18 325,380 103.20

Note 1: Infensity is calculated as emissions divided by numbers of employees.

Water consumption of all consfruction projects can only be estimated,
as it is not practical to measure due to low cost effectiveness.
During the year, there were approximately 10 additional projects,
representing approximately 10% increase compared to last year.
Therefore, water consumption of the year is estimated to be 358,000

fonnes.

il BEEUFHREBRAB T ABTISFHE -

A AR REEREEAE TIENFEK
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4. OUR ENVIRONMENT (Continued) B FIIRR(4E)

Aspect A3: Environment and Natural Resources

Adhering to the nofion of “Create a better lifestyle” (Blli&ZE4FAETE 7 2,
Greenland Hong Kong proactively promotes and safeguards sustainable
development and advocates green living. The Company is firmly devoted
fo environmental profection and sustainable development. In the design,
development and operation processes at each project, the Company is
proaciive in adopling measures for environmental protection, while energy
saving measures are adopted on a reasonable basis such as sponge city,
intelligent energy use, scattered energy systems and so forth. Gardening
with high greenery rate and rooffop greenery projects are also designed
for the profection and improvement of the ecological environment of cities.

Details regarding our environmental profection measures are as follows:

Environmental protection measures
Our environmental protection measures are mainly categorized into

three aspects, i.e. workplace, project supervision and project design.

Workplace
1. Employees are required to make reasonable use of resources

and conserve energy.

2. We encourage green fravel for our employees, and advocate
taking public transportation for minimizing the emission of

greenhouse gases.

3. The Company advocates paperless offices and has installed
distant conference system in conference rooms fo minimize

unnecessary business frips.

4. In daily management, the Company requires procurement
departments to prioriize the use of energy-saving products in
sourcing electrical appliances for offices, for example energy-
saving light bulbs, energy-saving air conditioners and so forth:
and requires that lights and office equipment such as computers
should be turned off when not in use. Security guards are also

arranged to check against any omissions.

5. Atits headquarters and project sites, labels have been offixed
to remind saving on water, cultivate employees’ awareness
for saving, and require reuse of water in daily life and

construction.
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OUR ENVIRONMENT (Continued)

Aspect A3: Environment and Natural Resources

(Continued)

Environmental protection measures (Continued)

Project Supervision

1. The project management department of the Company
occasionally arranges specific projects to rectify contractors’
problems of dust pollutions at construction sites. By requiring
fencing of construction areas, covering of exposed sails,
fixation of construction pavements, use of closed vehicles
for tfransporting s|ogs, rinsing of vehicles that go in and out
of construction sites, and wet demolition of buildings, the
Company implemented strict control over dusts on property
projects. In addition, the Company requires that waste
water should not be directly drained, but should instead be
emitted affer freatment, to avoid the impact on surrounding

environment.

2. The Company requires contractors fo screen, shatter or reuse.

Project Design

Other than management and control in the course of project
construction, the Company is also aware of environmental protection
in product design. For example, under its residential brands such as
HER, EBERE 'BFE, PR, "R2FR" and so forth,
customized design in green construction systems is available such as
intelligent new ventilation replacement system, ecological 3D green
system, sensation-based humanity-locked system, scaftered energy
and so forth for different residential projects. Meanwhile, regarding
pollution control in completed properties, dedicated water purification

systems are available in some projects, such as:

e Water source purification, whereby unleaded pipes are used
so that thorough purification of water is made possible from the

source fo water faps;

o Muting technology, whereby new kind of noise reduction

plates are used to fully cut off noises;

. |nTeHigenT new ventilation puriﬁcoﬁon system, Whereby air from
outside is purified before channeling to indoor, while polluted

air from indoor is exhausted:;

o Interconnection technology, whereby air quality is monitored
on a reakHime basis, and data from such inferconnection setup
can be shared, so that landlords can be provided with greener

indoor environment of higher quality.
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4.

OUR ENVIRONMENT (Continued)

Aspect A3: Environment and Natural Resources
(Continued)

Environmental protection measures (Continued)

Project Design (Continued)

In designing property projects, the Company takes into account
the specific conditions of the respective projects and constructed
rainwater collection and reuse systems so that rainwater can
be collected, blocked from pollution, filtrated, stored and used
in greenery construction, rinsing, irrigation of landscape, and
supplementing cooling water. For large-scale projects, mid water
freatment stations are also designed for secondary use of water
resources affer construction is completed. The Company encourages
contractors fo reuse domestic water and construction water in the
construction of real estate project. On market side, in the course of
daily office operation, the Company also advocates conservation in

water use fo avoid unnecessary wasfage.

Other than the aforesaid measures on the conservation of energy
and natural resources, the Company conducts overall planning at the
stage of property project design. Based on the specific conditions of
the respective projects, scattered energy sysfem is designed, focusing
on maximizing energy and environmental efficiency in defermining
modes and capacities, and systematically infegrates and optimizes
the various energy needs of users and resources allocation. Demand-
based design and modular configuration are adopted so that energy
ufilization efficiency becomes more reasonable and less dissipation

and pollution is caused.

OUR EMPLOYEES

Aspect B1: Employment

Greenland Hong Kong considers its employees as one of its
most important assefs. Greenland Hong Kong is committed to a
harmonious corporate culture and the concept of sharing under
the Greenland’s umbrella, looking for win-win situation with social
progress, cusfomer satisfaction, corporate development and staff
career growth. In strict compliance with relevant laws and regulations
including the Labor Law of the People's Republic of China, the
labor Confract Law of the People’s Republic of China and so forth,
Greenland Hong Kong protects the legitimate interests of employees
and fairly treats employees of different nationalities, ethnicities,
genders and ages and strictly prohibits discrimination. A series of
management systems and measures are implemented to proactively

prohibit employment discrimination, child labour and forced labour.
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5. OUR EMPLOYEES (Continued) A BAHEI(E)
Aspect B1: Employment (Continued) B1757H : EE(%&)
Staff structure of the Company during the year is set out below: NEIRFEEEREEBEROT
Our labour HIIBIE BN
As at the end of the Reporting Period, Greenland Hong Kong had a HERSHARGHWBEBLEI722HF L
headcount of 3,722, among which approximately 1,929 employees 1. 920ZBENRERMERBEER(ZZ—+
are engaged in the property development business (2017: 3,153). F:3,153)%EE - EEBKERWTRA
Staff structure is set out as below: N

Breakdown of Employees by Gender
MR8l 2

2017
& 1,198
B Male
S
Female
pog 3
2018 1,431
$ ’
| | | | J
0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%
Existing employees by gender HERES R EE
Number and percentage ABRESEH

Male Bt 2,291 (62%) 1,955 (62%)
Female #iE 1,431 (38%) 1,198 (38%)
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5. OUR EMPLOYEES (Continued) A BRHEI(E)
Aspect B1: Employment (Continued) B175H : EE(%&)
Our labour (Continued) HIPIHI%E 8 (48)

Breakdown of Employees by Age

FiRdlD
2017
&
B Aged below 30
30mUT
[l Aged 30-50
30-508%
M Aged over 50
2018 8 508 £
&
1 1 1 1 ]
0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%
Existing employees by age rERESFREE
Number and percentage ABRBESLE

Aged below 30 30B AT 1,416 (38%) 1,482 (47%)
Aged 30-50 30-50%% 2,168 (58%) 1,545 (49%)
Aged over 50 50B%A 138 (4%) 126 (4%)
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OUR EMPLOYEES (Continued)

Aspect B2: Health and Safety

The Company attaches great importance to the protection of
employees’ rights and inferests, a safe working environment and
health protection. Firmly upholding the philosophy of safety first and
prevention prevails, strengthening control over sources of hazards
and relying on standardized, systematic, networked and modernized

management, the Company cares about employees’ life and health.

Workplace safety

At the construction sites of property development projects, the
Company seeks to protect the health and safety of everybody,
irrespective of their roles as the on-site managers of the Company
or staff members of contractors. The Company has put in place a
production safefty work dufies mechanism, with responsibilities to be
taken by the individuals, who take charge of regularly inspecting
production safety for each project; a project manager duties
mechanism regarding on-site safety implementation; and a safety

roster mechanism regarding the safety duties of project department.

During the Reporting Period, the Company had no incidents of work-
related injuries or death, nor were there any material violations of

any health and safety lows and regulations.

Aspect B3: Development and Training

For the ongoing enhancement of the professional knowledge and
skills required for different job functions and to uplift work quality and
efficiency, Greenland Hong Kong provides trainings that cater to the
needs of employees at their respective job functions. Such frainings
are designed and arranged based on the Company’s rules and

sysfems, job duties of employees and the skills required for their work.
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5. OUR EMPLOYEES (Continued) A BRHEI(E)

Aspect B3: Development and Training (Continued)

During the year, the Company arranged training courses that covered
corporate culture, safety spirit, construction management, operation
management, procurement management, cost management,
enhancement of property project quality and so forth. Overall training

of the Company is as follows:

B3 : SERARIEINI(E)
ATRESOEIREBEECEX - R2
X TRER  EEER - REEE X
AEE - WERERERASSENE - &
AREREIERIN B

IR

Numbers of employees trained

Average number of training per employee
Percentage of employees trained by gender

29EE TR B

- Male — 5%

— Female —

Percentage of employees trained by position 23118 & B4R LL 171
— Senior management members —-SRERESR

- MidHevel management members —HRERES

— Other employees —Hftgs

FHERREEYIRE

29,890 28,969
11.00 Q.18
54.00% 53.42%
46.00% 46.58%
0.30% 0.21%
16.70% 16.41%
83.00% 83.38%

Aspect B4: Labour standards

We have esfablished mechanisms and recruitment rules to avoid
illegal employment. All recruitment and employee procedures are in
strict compliance with the Labor Law and the Labor Confract Llaw of

the People’s Republic of China.

Business deparfments of the Company are strictly prohibited from
illegally employing child labor, signing labor contracts in viclation of
the genuine infenfion of the counterparties, or forcing employees to
work overtime. Meanwhile, the Company requests on-site managers
fo regularly check if there is any child labor or forced labor employed
by its general contfractors and sub-contractors during the course of

business operations.

The Company has made reasonable arrangements for the working
hours based on the statutory standard working hours, including the
implementation of 8-hour working days as well as annual leaves.
It provides leave benefits such as paid leave and sick leave in
accordance with the labor low. Forced or compulsory labor in any

form is strictly prohibited.

During the Reporting Period, the Company had no material non-
compliance incidents in relation to the labor guidelines stipulated by
the relevant laws and regulations. No material risks perfaining to the
use of child labor or forced labor by any major sub-contractors or

suppliers have been identified.
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OUR SERVICES

The Company is an integrated conglomerate "focusing on the
development of real estate market and placing equal stress on
emerging sectors like healthcare as well as cultural and commercial
tourism” and ifs principal businesses includes property development
[with outsourced land construction projects), property management

and hotel operation.

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management

The Company places great emphasis on construction contractors’
qudlifications and inspection and management over construction
process by consfruction contfractors on project sites, in order fo
minimize emissions of greenhouse gases and impacts on our
environment. Greenland Hong Kong engages environmentaHriendly
and reputable construction contractors o manage development
projects of the Company. Contracfors are required to sfrictly comply
with laws and regulations of project development locations regarding
environmental protfection and sofefy, and pay attention to details
including construction materials, construction methods and site

environment management.

The Company is committed fo building perfect homes in cities and
is well aware of the importance of selecting sound suppliers to
secure quality of the Company’ projects. To better control the various
segments along its supply chain, the Company has infroduced a
reform of the approach fo tendering for procurement on a holisfic
manner since 2017, adopting a “Party A Supply and Direct
Procurement” approach and vastly implementing standardize cost

management.

As part of the supply chain reform, the Company adopts supplier list
catalogue management, whereby only manufacturers are in principle
accepted as candidates for suppliers, while cooperation with
companies with bulk purchase offers are encouraged. Meanwhile,
the Company also explores channels of resources by making good
use of the online VWeChat public accounts of the Group's suppliers,
arranges business departments for recommendation and arranges
infroduction of high-quality external suppliers, with a view to uplifing

its deployment capability in the competition for resources
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OUR SERVICES (Continued)

Through regular appraisal of the cooperation with suppliers after
confract sefflements, the Company ranks and categorizes suppliers
each year based on the result of appraisal, with suppliers meeting
being held each year to screen and starrate those suppliers on a
meritocratic manner, thereby augmenting the Company's brand effect
and affractiveness of ifs resources. In view of the characteristics of
procurement of major construction materials and recruitment of labor
in the continuance of property development projects, the Company
generally selects qualified suppliers in the locality for the purpose of

energy saving and emission reduction.

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility

While the real estate sector forms the core of its businesses, the
Company offers products of various functionalities including ultra-high-
rise, urban complex, residential and industry property, in ongoing

pursuit of product sophistication in both infrinsic and extrinsic terms.

Attaching great importance to construction management in respect of
its consfruction projects, the Company adopts innovative technology
and uses BIM (Building Information Modeling) system management
platform in many of its projects for managing construction. This
platform enables realime understanding of the progress of projects
and swift Checking of professiono\ information, model information,
photos depicting scenes of construction, and information on on-site
inspection and verification as well as supervision, thereby achieving
infensive management of the whole process of construction, uplifting
construction quality, fostering industrialization of construction and
sustainable development. Meanwhile, the BIM system management
p|oﬁorm can eliminate most floor p|on mistakes, minimize returned
work, speed up constfruction progress and achieve energy saving

and emission reduction.

For product inspection and verification, the Company shall arange
for joint inspection by engineering, property and customer service
departments or third-party inspection three months prior fo the delivery
of the property. Rectification notice will be issued in respect of any
problems identified. Re-inspection will be conducted one month prior

fo product delivery to ensure that all problems have been rectified.
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OUR SERVICES (Continued)

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility (Continued)

Complaint Handling Procedures

Subsequent fo the delivery of the property, customers’ inspections
are facilitated with the Company's mobile building inspection
APP, which enables realtime communication with mobile customer
service personnel for feedbacks on problems raised. Customer
services department of the Company regularly follows up with
problems raised by customers for better customer experience.
Further, a customer services hotline is available to take complaints
from cusfomers and transfer the same to the relevant departments for
further handling. The hotline team will follow up with the progress of
handling complaints at regular infervals and provide feedback to the
customers concered. The Company aftaches great imporfance to
customers’ opinions and conducts satisfaction survey every 6 months
to take opinions from prospective landlords, new landlords and
exisfing landlords, thereby gathering their views and in turn uplifting
service level of the Company. During the Reporting Period, there was

no litigation arising from the quality of our products or services.

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption

The Company strives to comply with the relevant laws and regulations
on anti-corruption and money laundering, including but not limited to
the Criminal Llaw of the PRC and the AntiMoney Laundering Law of
the PRC.

The Company has developed infernal rules on anti-corruption and
anfi-fraudulent behaviors. It has established the audit department
as the standing body for anti-corruption, being responsible for
investigation info issues under whisfleblowing as well as daily audit
items. Whistleblowers may, through letters or by electronic mails or
phone calls, report any misconducts or illegal activities discovered
such as suspected corruption, fraud and so forth. Conducts in
violation of national laws will be referred fo judiciary authorities for

their further actions according to law.
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OUR SERVICES (Continued)

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption (Continued)

The audit department of the Company has always played an acfive
role in performing ifs supervisory function. This year, one independent
and holistic corruption questionnaire was conducted with respect
fo major supplier(s) of the Company, seeking to identify any
impropriefies such as bribe taking or giving by staff members of the

Company in the course of cooperation with suppliers.

During the Reporting Period, there had been no corruption-related
litigation cases raised and completed against the issuer or its

employees.

Our Community

Aspect B8: Community investment

Helping those in danger and difficulties is a traditional virtue of the
Chinese culture. Bearing corporate social responsibilities in mind,
development of Greenland Hong Kong has always been in tandem
with giving back to society. During the Reporting Period, responding
fo the targeted poverty alleviation policy of our nafion, Greenland
Ho|dings Corporoﬁon Limited, the parent company of Greenland
Hong Kong and a company listed in Shanghai, planned fo invest a
fotal amount of RMB3.5 billion in order to help impoverished counties
fo alleviate poverty, by carrying out industrialization of agriculture,

development of themed town and donation.
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Executive Directors

CHEN Jun, 44, is a member of the Communist Party, senior engineer
and the Executive President of Greenland Holdings, Chairman of the Board
and Chief Executive Officer of Greenland Hong Kong. Mr. CHEN Jun is
responsible for the overall planning, formulation of strategies and overall
daily operations of Greenland Hong Kong. Mr. CHEN Jun has more
than 20 years of experience in the real estate and construction industry,
with extensive management experience in the industry. Since he joined
Greenland Holdings in February 2001, Mr. CHEN Jun has served as
project manager, assistant general manager, deputy general manager and
general manager of the Business Divisions of Greenland Holdings and
vice president and executive vice president of Greenland Holdings. Mr.
CHEN Jun also serves as the honorary chairman of The Shanghai Chamber
of Commerce in Shaanxi, vice chairman of the Air City Development
Committee under the China Research Society Of Urban Development and
a member of the 10th standing committee of the Shaanxi Youth Federation.
He has also been elected as a deputy of the 11th and 12th People's
Congress of Shaanxi Province successively. Mr. CHEN Jun obtained a
bachelor's degree in industrial and civil architecture from the College of
Architecture and Engineering of Nanjing Tech University, a master's degree
in architectural and civil engineering from Xi'an University of Architecture
and Technology, an EMBA degree from Tsinghua University School of
Economics and Management and a PhD degree in national economics

from the Chinese Academy of Social Sciences.

WANG Weixian, 55, is the Executive Direcfor, Honorary Chairman and
founder of the Company. Mr. WANG is Chairman of both Cornersfone
Capital and Alpha King Real Estate Development, a Vietnam-based real
esfate company, through which the Company has established partnership
with Ping An Insurance Group. Mr. WANG is also Chairman of the
Peninsula Shanghai Waitan Hotel Company Limited. Mr. Wang has over
20 years of experience in finance, construction, property investment and
development. Mr. WANG graduated from South China University of
Technology with a bachelor's degree in building materials and University of
Technology Sydney (Australia) with a bachelor's degree in commerce. Mr.
WANG is councillor of Shanghai Soong Ching ling Foundation and The
Nature Conservancy (TNC).
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HOU Guangjun, 47, is a member of the Communist Party, the Executive
Director and Chief Operating Officer of the Company. Mr. HOU Guangjun
has over 20 years of experience in the real estate and construction
industry, with extensive management experience in the industry. Since he
joined Greenland Holdings in November 1996, Mr. HOU Guangjun has
held the posts of engineer, project manager, assistant general manager,
deputy general manager and general manager of the Business Divisions of
Greenland Holdings. Before joining Greenland Holdings, he worked for
Shanghai Railway Sub-administration. Mr. HOU Guangjun graduated from
Tongji University with a bachelor’s degree in materials engineering and

from China Europe Infernational Business School with an EMBA degree.

WU Zhengkui, 45, is the Executive Director of the Company. Mr. WU
Zhengkui is also the depufy gener0| manager of the Finance Department of
Greenland Holdings. Mr. WU Zhengkui graduated from Fudan University
with a masfer’s degree in accounting. He also has the professional fitle
of infermediate accountant. Mr. WU Zhengkui has over 15 years of
experience in the real estate and construction industry, with extensive
experience in financial management within the industry. Since he joined
Greenland Holdings in January 2002, Mr. WU Zhengkui has served as
Finance Manager, Director and Supervisor of the subsidiaries of Greenland
Holdings and Assistant General Manager of the Finance Department of

Greenland Holdings.
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WANG Xuling, 58, is the Executive Director of the Company. Ms.
WANG Xuling graduated from Ji'nan University (Guangzhou). Ms.
WANG Xuling has over 30 years of experience in real estate industry and
consfruction industry. Prior fo joining the Company, she was the execufive
director and deputy general manager of Mission Hills Golf Club (Mission
Hills Group), responsible for sales and marketing of properties. Before
joining Mission Hills Group [Mission Hills Golf Club), Ms. WANG Xuling
had around 12 years of experience in the news and media business. Ms.
WANG Xuling joined the Company as Executive Director in 2007 and
was once the Chief Executive Officer of the Company since April 2011.

Independent Non-Executive Directors

CHEONG Ying Chew Henry, 71, has been an Independent Non-
Executive Director of the Company since 2006. Mr. Cheong holds a
Bachelor of Science degree in Mathematics and a Master of Science
degree in Operational Research and Management. Mr. Cheong is also
an Independent Non-executive Director of CK Asset Holdings Limited, CK
Infrastructure Holdings Limited, CNNC International Limited, Hutchison
Telecommunications Hong Kong Holdings Limited, New World Department
Store China Limited, Skyworth Digital Holdings Limited and TOM Group
Limited. Mr. Cheong currently serves as an executive director and the
deputy chairman of Worldsec Limited, a company listed on the Llondon
Stock Exchange. He is also an Independent Director of BTS Group
Holdings Public Company Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange
of Thailand.
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FONG Wo, Felix, BBS, JP, 68, is an Independent Non-Executive
Director of the Company since 2006, a pracficing solicitor in Hong Kong
and is also qualified in Canada and England. He is appointed by the
Ministry of Justice of China as one of the China-Appointed Attesting Officers
in Hong Kong. Mr. FONG is a consultant and the founding pariner of the
Hong Kong law firm, King & Wood (formerly known as Arculli Fong & Ng),
and has practiced law for over 30 years, including eight years in Toronto.
Mr. FONG is an independent non-executive director of a number of listed
companies, namely Guangdong land Holdings Limited (formerly known
as Kingway Brewery Holdings Limited), Evergreen International Holdings
Limited, Sheen Tai Holdings Group Company Limited, and Xinming China
Holdings Limited and WuXi Biologics (Cayman) Inc., whose shares are
listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. Mr. Fong is also an independent
non-execufive direcfor of Bank of Shanghai (Hong Kong) Limited. From May
2010 to May 2016, Mr. Fong was an independent non-executive director
of China Oilfield Services Limited, whose shares are listed on the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange and the Shanghai Stock Exchange. From April 2011
to July 2018, Mr. Fong was an independent non-executive director of
China Investment Development limited, a company listed on the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange. Mr. FONG is a member of the Guangdong Provincial
Committee of Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference (9th and
10th Sessions), a director of the China Overseas Friendship Association,
a director of the Shanghai Chinese Overseas Friendship Association and
an executive director of the Guangdong Overseas Friendship Association.
He is a director of the Hong Kong Basic law Institute and also the former
chairman of the Advisory Council on Food and Environmental Hygiene and
a former member of the Hong Kong Communications Authority. Mr. FONG
is a member of the first Selection Committee for the purposes of electing the
Chief Executive for Hong Kong Special Administrative Region, a founding
member of the Canadian International School of Hong Kong, a member of
the Board of Advisers for the Faculty of Business of the University of Victoria,
British Columbia, Canada and a visiting professor of the School of Law of

Sun Yatsen University, China.
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KWAN Kai Cheong, 69, is an Independent Non-Executive Director
of the Company since 20006, holds a Bachelor of Accountancy [Honors)
degree from the University of Singapore and is a member of the Institute of
Chartered Accountants in Australia. He is also a fellow of the Hong Kong
Institute of Directors. Mr. KWAN is presently Chairman of the Board of
Utopa Limited, a commercial property operating company in China and the

president of Morrison & Company Limited, a business consultancy firm.

Company Secretary

Ms. FUNG Wai Sum, 36, is a Senior Manager of Corporate Services
of Tricor Services Limited (“Tricor”), a global professional services provider
specializing in infegrated Business, Corporate and Investor Services. Ms.
FUNG has over 10 vyears of experience in the corporate secretarial field.
She has been providing professional corporate services to Hong Kong listed
companies as well as multinational, private and offshore companies. Ms.
FUNG is a Chartered Secretary and an Associate of both The Hong Kong
Institute of Chartered Secretaries and The Institute of Chartered Secretaries
and Administrators in the United Kingdom. [Note: The Company has
engaged Tricor Services Limited as external service provider and appointed

Ms. FUNG as the Company's Company Secretary since May 2018.]
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Senior Management

GU Mingqi, 43, is a member of the Communist Party, the Vice President of
the Company, General Manager of the Guangxi Company and Generdl
Manager of the Hainan Company. Mr. GU Mingi obtained a bachelor's
degree in industrial and civil architecture from Zhengzhou University. He is
a senior engineer with the qualifications of National First Class Registered
Architect and National Supervision Engineer. With more than 20 years of
experience in the real esfafe industry and excellent management capability
in real estate companies, he held senior management positions with several
renowned property developers in Henan and Shanghai for a long period
of time. Mr. GU Mingji joined Greenland Hong Kong at the end of 2013
and was recognized as the "Model Staff of Greenland Group for 2014,
"Outstanding Manager of Greenland Hong Kong for 2016", “Person of
the Year of Greenland Group for 2016", “Merit Prize for Fifth Anniversary
of Greenland Hong Kong”, “Outstanding Contribution Prize in Greenland
Hong Kong for 2017"and "Person of the Year of Greenland Group for
2018".

JIANG Zhongmin, 50, is a member of the Communist Party, the Assistant
President of the Company. Mr. JIANG Zhongmin obtained a bachelor’s
degree in Economics and Management from China Agricultural University.
With 30 years of experience in the real estate industry, Mr. JIANG
Zhongmin held senior management positions for a long period of time with
extensive experience in invesiment and development of real estate projects.
Mr. JJANG Zhongmin joined Greenland Holdings at the end of 1993 and
was previously the chief officer of Jinlu Company, assistant to the general
manager of the ancillary Department and assistant fo the general manager
of the Property Business Division Il of Greenland Holdings. He previously
worked in Shanghai Electronic Instruments Bureau Real Estate Company (_E
M EEEBEHE R A [formerly known as Electronic Instruments Housing
OfficefEtRBEEH). Mr. JJANG Zhongmin joined Greenland Hong Kong
af the end of 2017.
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CHEN Zengli, 42, is the Assistant President of the Company. Mr. CHEN
Zengli obtained his bachelor’'s degree in Economics from Shanghai
University of Finance and Economics and master’'s degree in Global
Economics from Jilin University. Mr. CHEN Zengli has 20 years of relevant
experiences in China’s four largest banks, and his highest position was the
deputy branch Manager of China's four largest banks and a member of
the CPC Committee. After that, he worked as the assistant president (M7)
in Zhonghong Ho\dings Group responsib|e for finance, investment and
financing, and as the General Manger of Zhejiang Branch of Southwest
Securities, specialised in interbank borrowings, investment banking,
investment and financing business. With years of experiences as senior
management, he has extensive experiences in analyzing the overall situation
and coordination with abundant resources in political and business fields.
Mr. CHEN Zengli joined Greenland Hong Kong af the end of 2018.

LI Peng, 36, is a member of the Communist Party, the Assistant President
of the Company and the General Manager of Jiangsu Company. Mr.
Ll Peng graduated from Shaanxi Normal University with a bachelor's
degree in Education. He also obtained his master’s degree in Business
Administration from China Europe Infernational Business School. Mr. LI Peng
joined the Northwest Business Division of Greenland Holdings in 2007
and has more than 10 years of experience in real estate marketing. He
was awarded the “Business Role Model” of 2012 of Greenland Group,
"Outstanding Manager of Greenland Hong Kong for 2016, "Model Staff
of Greenland Group for the Year”, "Outstanding Manager of Greenland
Hong Kong for 2017", "Merit Prize for the Fifth Anniversary of Greenland
Hong Kong"” for 2018, "Outstanding Manager of Greenland Hong Kong
for TH 2018 and 2018", "Model Staff of Greenland Group for 2018"
and “Three-Star Marketing Prize of Greenland Group for 2018".
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LEl Yu, 46, is the Secretary fo the Board and General Manager of legal
and Risk Control Center of the Company. Af the same time, he is in charge
of Capital Market Department and Internal Audit Department. Mr. LEI Yu
graduated from Fudan University with a bachelor’s degree in law and
a master's degree in public administration. He also obfained a master's
degree in business administration of senior management from China Europe
Infernational Business School. Mr. LEI Yu is o qualified lawyer in the PRC
and has nearly 20 years of extensive experience in compliance and infernal
risk control of listed companies, mergers, acquisitions and reorganization of
companies, project investment and financing and contract negotiation, efc.
Prior fo joining the Company in May 2003, Mr. LEl Yu worked at Grandall
Llaw Firm (Shanghai), where he was mainly engaged in corporate mergers
and acquisitions and IPO projects. Mr. LEl Yu was recognized as the
2014 Industrial Honorary Role Model of Greenland Group”, “Outstanding
Manager of Greenland Hong Kong for 2015", "Outstanding Manager of
Greenland Hong Kong for 2016", “Model Staff of the Group for 2016,
"Outstanding Manager of Greenland Hong Kong for 2017", "Merit Prize
for the Fifth Anniversary of Greenland Hong Kong”, "Outstanding Manager
of Greenland Hong Kong for 2018" and “"Advanced Staff of Greenland
Group for 2018".

Ll Qiang, 44, is a member of the Communist Party and the General
Manager of Cost Management Department of the Company and the
General Manager of Material Company. As a fellow member of The
Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors, Mr. LI Qiang graduated from
Tongji University with a bachelor's degree in project management and
is an intermediate engineer. With over 20 years of experience in cost
and budget management, Mr. LI Qiang is seasoned in dynamic cost
calculation and control throughout the entire process of a project. After
joining Greenland Holdings in 2006, he has served as the Deputy Cost
Manager of the Commercial Group, Deputy Cost Manager of the Property
Business Division Il and Cost Director of the Shandong Business Divsion.
Previously, he worked at Shimao Group and Widnell ltd. He was awarded
"Outstanding Manager of Greenland Hong Kong for 2017”, “Outstanding
Manager of Greenland Hong Kong for 2018 and “Advanced Staff of
Greenland Group for 2018".
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SUN Yu, 43, is the General Manager of Technology Research and
Development Department of the Company. Mr. SUN Yu graduated from
Dalian University of Technology with a master’s degree in architecture. He
is a Class | registered architect and intermediate engineer. He has nearly
20 years of experience in architectural design. Prior to joining Greenland
Holdings in 2010, Mr. SUN Yu worked in East China Architectural Design
& Research Institute and was responsible for the management of various
ultra-high-rise and urban largescale complex projects, such as Changsha
Greenland Center, Wuhan Greenland Center, Greenland AD 1860,
Greenland Gu Cun Park Business Plaza, Nanning Greenland Center,

Greenland Huangpu Centfer.

WU Zhiqiang, 44, is a member of the Communist Party and the General
Manager of Investment and Development Department of the Company. Mr.
WU Zhigiang graduated from Shanghai Jiao Tong University with an EMBA
degree. As an intermediate engineer, he has nearly 20 years of experience
in real estate industry. Prior to joining Greenland Holdings in 2003, Mr.
WU Zhigiang was the project manager of Property Business Division I,
assistant fo general manager and vice general manager of Northwest

Business Division, and joined Greenland Hong Kong in March 2016.

JIA Shunfei, 41, is the General Manager of Operation Development
Department. Mr. JIA Shunfei graduated from Cheung Kong Graduate
School of Business with a master's degree in business administration. Prior
fo joining Greenland Hong Kong in February 2018, Mr. JIA Shunfei was
the genero| manager of Investment Expansion Division of White Peak, vice
general manager of Guangxi Company of Greenland Hong Kong and

assisfant o president of SPG.

YANG Xiaoli, 53, is the General Manager of the Commercial
Management Department of the Company. She graduated from Jiangnan
University and Shanghai Jiao Tong University with an EMBA agree. With
over 20 years of business operation and management, she was responsible
for and coordinated construction, opening, improvement and overall
operoﬁono| management for many well-known deporfmem sTores/shopping
malls. Prior to joining Greenland Hong Kong in January 2015, Ms.
YANG Xiaoli worked at several listed companies such as New World
Development Company Limited, Golden Eagle Retail Group Lid. and Red

Star Commercial.
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SUN Guangzheng, 42, is a member of the Communist Party and
the General Manager of the Markefing Management Department of the
Company. Mr. SUN Guangzheng graduated from Xi‘an Jiaotong University
majoring in marketing and has nearly 20 years of experiences in real estate
indusfry. Mr. SUN Guangzheng joined Greenland Holdings in June 2005,
and worked as urban marketing director of Northwest Business Division,
marketing director of Beijing and Tianjin Business Division, marketing
director of Property Business Division |. Prior to joining Greenland Hong
Kong in February 2019, he was the vice general president of Ronshine

Group.

ZHOU Tian, 48, is a member of the Communist Party, the General
Manager of Human Resources Department of the Company and a member
of the Society for Human Resources Management (SHRM|. Mr. ZHOU
Tian graduated from Shanghai University with a bachelor's degree and
obtained a MPA degree from Fudan University and has nearly 20 years
of experiences in real estate industry. Mr. ZHOU Tian joined Greenland
Holdings in December 1999, and worked for Communist Party Affairs
Department, General Office of the Group and served as the officer of
Property Business Division I, director of American Company of Greenland
Holdings and director of Human Resources Department. Before that, he
worked for Polar Research Institute of China and Shanghai Pudong New
District Meilongzhen (Group) Co., ltd. Mr. Zhou Tian joined Greenland
Hong Kong in February 2019.

JIANG Hualian, 47, is a member of the Communist Party, the director
of general office of the Company. Ms. JIANG Hualian graduated from Si
Tanka University in USA with a MBA degree and an intermediate title. Prior
fo joining Greenland Hong Kong in May 2018, Ms. JIANG Hualian was
Deputy Director of Shanghai Jingan Special Education Guidance Center
and Vice Principal of Nanyang School, assistant to director and head of
Business Development Department of Shanghai Youth Activity Center of
Shanghai Communist Youth league Committee, a Party Committee member
of Shanghai Youth Activity Center and secretary of the party branch of
Shanghai Youth Culture Center. Since March 2016, she has been a

Committee Member of the Jingan Committee of Shanghai.
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GAO Xiang, 38, is the assistant fo the President of Shanghai Greenland
Financial Information Services Co., ltd, a company under Greenland
Hong Kong, and the General Manager of Daokun Assets Management
Company limited. He graduated from Xiangtan University and Tongji
University with a masfer’s degree in engineering management. With more
than 10 years of experience in the real estate investment and real estate
fund, Mr. GAO Xiang held senior management positions such as the vice
president of Jindi Wins Investment, and the executive vice general manager
of Ping An Industrial Fund in Ping An Securities. He was the one of the first
players and management personnel of real estate fund. Mr. GAO Xiang
joined Greenland Hong Kong in March 2016, and was recognized
as the "Outstanding Manager of Greenland Hong Kong for 2016". He
manages several investment management companies under Greenland
Hong Kong, of which Daokun Assets Management Company Limited was
awarded the “TOP 10 China Real Estate Fund for 2017" by Zero2IPO,

with accumulated scope of asset management of over RMB 10 billion.

LU Weiping, 39, is the General Manager of Property Company of the
Company. He joined Greenland Hong Kong in September 2018. Mr. LU
Weiping graduated from Fudan University with a bachelor's degree in real
esfate economic management, an intermediate title and National Certified
Property Manager's Qualification Certificate. Prior to joining the Company,
he was senior manager of Colliers International, director of Property
Management Division of Forte (Group) Co., ltd. and the General Manager
of Property Business Division | of Shanghai Vanke Property Services

Company Limited.

B8 385% 0 BAKMEBIE N LSS e RE
BEIREBRARIBHNE - BREEEBERAR
MBI - ABRBERIRERS  RERZIREE
CIETEN - AL ERTOmBRIEERS
CFRBS T LEXESHTRIAKEBESSER
BEETHRTNEHEREEEERLS TIEL
CRBARE-HAREFEHER R EER
ERE -mALERZE—NFZAMAGZHE
B WERE G BEB2016FEEESFEEE ] - jE
TEBFMBEBSRIREEENR] - HRBHMEE
ERARARLESH2017FEFEAEHERS
TOP10  RETEEBEMEHEE -

PEMEE - 305 - MEARAMEARLLE ¥
“E- \FNAAMBAEE - EETEERER
EEXE FHELHAEERE AR BEE
B HAEEEMYEERMES - MBEARE
Al BELERNBEENERBER AT RE
2 B (RE)RNARARMEEEMEE - L
BERMMERBERARE —FXEIRKE -



ZE-N\FFR

REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
A

BEEERERAA

DEFINITIONS

In this report, unless the confext otherwise requires, the following terms shall

have the meaning set out below:

“Audit Committee”

Es
RABREN - BXEZBEIN - THFAEETS
HE

the audit committee of the Company

[ERERES] RRAREZZEE

"Board” the board of Directors

[EEg] ey

"Company” Greenland Hong Kong Holdings Limited (#%3th &R AR A7), o company incorporated
in the Cayman Islands with limited liability, whose ordinary shares are listed on the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 0337

[AR2xa]] SMEBERERAT  RASBESTMRIHNERLRE - K BB AT L ()
5% - 0337)

“Director(s)" the directorls) of the Company

[E%] RABES

"Greenland Holdings”

LRI BRI B R A A) (Greenland Holdings Corporation Limited*), a company
established in the PRC and listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 600606.SH)

[ AR %A | o EBROARAR - —HERPEKIZAAR - W EEEFRZSH BT (R
5% : 600606.5H)

"Group” the Company and ifs subsidiaries

[AR&HE ] AR KREFRAE

"HK$” Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

iyl BT BEEAEEHK

“Hong Kong” the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC

[&%] HEFEBSRITTHE

“Listing Rules” the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange

[ E#RAl 22 Prag 2 E AR Al

"Model Code” the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix

10 fo the Listing Rules
AR RIS FE E T BEITAE RETES R ZHIEESTA

the People’s Republic of China
[FE i A RHAAE
"RMB” Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC
[AR¥] AR REEEE
"SFO” Securities and Futures Ordinance [Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong)

[ 5 K EAE 5G]
"Sharels)"

BREDIES7 1 BEH MR
ordinary share(s) of the Company

[ B 17 ] VNN ST
“"Shareholder(s)” holder(s) of the Sharel(s)
[ A% 2R ESGESZ=DN

“Stock Exchange”
[ Bk =2 P )

"USD" or "US$”
e

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
EEBMAERZMBRAR
United States dollar, the lawful currency of the United States of America

£ EREEEE

IS
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company are pleased to present their annual report
together with the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2018.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. lts subsidiaries are
principally engaged in property development, property and hotel investment

and property management.

An analysis of the Group's sales and operating results for the year by
principal activities is set out in note 5 to the consolidated financial

statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group during the year ended 31 December
2018 and a discussion on the Group's future business development, key
risks and uncerfainties that the Group may be facing are provided in the
"Chairman’s Statement” section and the “Management Discussion and

Analysis” secfion of this annual report.

An analysis of the Group's performance during the year ended 31
December 2018 using financial key performance indicators is provided in
the “Financial Highlights” section and the “Management Discussion and

Analysis” section of this annual report.

Discussions on the Group's environmental policies, relationships with its
key stakeholders (including our employees, customers and suppliers and
others that have a significant impact on the Company) and compliance with
relevant laws and regulations which have a significant impact on the Group
are contained in the "Environmental, Social and Governance Report”

section of this annual report.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Directors believe that the five largest customers of the Group accounted
for about 24.14% of the Group's sales in the year while the five largest
suppliers of the Group accounted for about 23.36% of the Group's total

purchase in the year.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2018 are set out
on page 148.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in this annual report, there was no fransaction,
arrangement or confract of significance to which the Company or any of
its subsidiary was a party, and in which a director of the Company or an
entity connected with such director had a material interest, either directly
or indirectly, subsisted during or at the end of the financial year ended 31
December 2018.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles, the Company will indemnify its directors out of its
own assets against any liabilities incurred by them in the execution of their
duties or respective offices, provided that such indemnity shall not extend fo
any matter in respect of any fraud or dishonesty which may attach to any of
said directors. The relevant provision of the Arficles was in force during the
financial year ended 31 December 2018 and as of the date of this annual
report. The Company has maintained appropriate directors and officers

liability insurance policy in respect of such indemnity.
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DIVIDENDS

The Directors recommend the payment of a final dividend of HK$0.2 per
Ordinary Share for the year ended 31 December 2018.

There is no arrangement pursuant to which a Shareholder has waived or

agreed fo waive any dividends.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The AGM will be held on Friday, 28 June 2019. A notice convening the
AGM will be published and despatched in due course to the shareholders
of the Company in the manner required by the Lisfing Rules.

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Tuesday,
25 June 2019 to Friday, 28 June 2019 (both days inclusive) during
which period no transfer of shares will be effected. In order to defermine
the entitlement to attend and vote at the AGM, all transfer documents
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the
Company's branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services
Limited, at level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen's Road East, Hong
Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 24 June 2019.

Subject to the approval of the shareholders at the AGM, the proposed final
dividend will be payable to shareholders whose names appear on the
register of members of the Company on Tuesday, @ July 2019. In order fo
determine the identity of the shareholders who are qualified fo receive the
proposed final dividend, the register of members will be closed on Friday,
5 July 2019 to Tuesday, 9 July 2019 (both days inclusive), during which
period no transfer of shares will be effected. To quality for the proposed
final dividend, all duly completed transfer documents accompanied by
the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s branch
share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited, af level 22,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong not later than 4:30
p.m. on Thursday, 4 July 2019.
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FIXED ASSETS

Defails of the movements in fixed assets during the year are set ouf in nofe

18 1o the consolidated financial statements.

BORROWINGS AND INTEREST CAPITALISED

Borrowings repayable on demand or within one year are classified under
current liabilities. Details of the long-term borrowings are sef out in note
34 to the consolidated financial statements. Interest and other borrowing
costs capitalised by the Group during the year are sef out in note 10 fo the

consolidated financial statements.

MOVEMENTS OF SHARE CAPITAL

Defails of movements in the Company's share capital during the year are

set out in note 40 to the consolidated financial statements.

SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OBLIGATIONS OF
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

On 25 July 2014, the Company established the US$2,000,000,000
medium term note programme (the "Programme’) established by
the Company under which it may issue medium term notes that may
be issued from time fo time (the "Nlotes”) by the Company under the
Programme in series or tranches of aggregate nominal amount of up fo
US$2,000,000,000 (or its equivalent in other currencies) outside the
United States in reliance on Regulation S under the U.S. Securities Act. The
Notes will be issued in series with different issue dates and terms and may
be denominated in any currency subject to compliance with all relevant
laws, regulations and directives. To assist the Company in meeting its
obligations under the Notes and the frust deed dated 25 July 2014 entered
into between the Company, Greenland Holding Group Company Limited
and the Trustee, Greenland Holding Group Company Limited enfered info
a keepwell deed with the Company and The Hongkong and Shanghai
Banking Corporation Limited (as frusfee of the Notes; hereinafter "HSBC" or
"Trustee’) and the deed of equity inferest purchase undertaking between
Greenland Holding Group Company Limited and the Trustee dated 25
July 2014 in relation to the Notes. For further details, please refer to the

Company's announcements dated 28 July 2014.
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ISSUE OF DEBT SECURITIES

Save as disclosed below, the Company did not issue any debt securities for
the year ended 31 December 2018

(i)

(i)

On 19 June 2018, the Company entered into a subscription
agreement with Credit Suisse, HSBC, CEB International, China
Industrial Securities International, Essence International, Guotai Junan
International, Haitong International, Morgan Stanley and Orient
Securities (Hong Kong] in connection with the issue of 7.875% bonds
due 2019 in the aggregate principal amount of US$200,000,000
[the "7.875% Bonds"). Credit Suisse and HSBC, as joint global
coordinators, and Credit Suisse, HSBC, CEB International, China
Industrial Securities International, Essence International, Guotai
Junan International, Haitong International, Morgan Stanley and
Orient Securifies [Hong Kong), as joint bookrunners and joint lead
managers were managing the issue of the 7.875% Bonds. For
details of the 7.875% Bonds, please refer to the announcements of
the Company dafed 19, 20 and 26 June 2018. Terms defined in
the said announcements shall have the same meanings when used in

this paragraph unless the context otherwise requires.

On 12 December 2018, the Company entered info a subscription
agreement with Credit Suisse, Guotai Junan International, BOC
International, CEB International, China CITIC Bank International,
Haitong International and HSBC in connection with the issue of
9.875 per cent. bonds due 2020 in the aggregate principal
amount of US$200,000,000 (the “9.875% Bonds”’). Credit
Suisse, Guotai Junan International, BOC International and CEB
Infernational, as joint global coordinators, and Credit Suisse, Guotai
Junan International, BOC International, CEB International, China
CITIC Bank Infernational, Haitong International and HSBC, as joint
bookrunners and joint lead managers were managing the issue of the
9.875% Bonds. For details of the 9.875% Bonds, please refer to the
announcements of the Company dafted 12, 13 and 17 December
2018. Terms defined in the said announcements shall have the same
meanings when used in this paragraph unless the confext otherwise

requires.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in reserves during the year are set out in note 53

to the consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 December 2018

, the aggregate amount of reserves

available for distribution to equity shareholders of the Company was

RMB2,212,657,000 (2017: RMB2,5606,486,000).
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DONATIONS

The donations made by the Group during the year amounted to
RMB497,000 (2017: RMB320,000).

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A five-year financial summary of the Group is set out on pages 326 to

328.

DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE
CONTRACTS

The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this

report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. CHEN Jun (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. WANG Weixian (Honorary Chairman)

Mr. HOU Guangijun (Chief Operation Officer)

Mr. WU Zhengkui

Ms. WANG Xuling

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. CHEONG Ying Chew, Henry

Mr. FONG Wo, Felix, JP

Mr. KWAN Kai Cheong

In accordance with the Articles, Mr. CHEN Jun, Mr. HOU Guangjun and
Ms. Wang Xuling will refire from the Board af the forthcoming AGM. Being

eligible, they have offered themselves for re-election.

None of the Directors has a service contract with the Company or any of
its subsidiaries which is not terminable within one year without payment of

compensation other than statutory compensation.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTOR’S CONFIRMATION OF
INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received independence confirmations from each of the

independent non-executive Directors and considers them to be independent.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

As at the date of this annual report, none of the Directors of the Company
is considered fo have interests in businesses which compete or are likely to

compete, either directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group.

SHARE OPTIONS

Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme was expired on 18 September 2016. There
were no options oufstanding, granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed
during the year ended 31 December 2018.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES ESREHFNER

Save as disclosed below, as at 31 December 2018, none of the Directors BT EEEIN RE—NE+_HA=+—
and chief executives of the Company had any inferests or short positions B ARRIESE RITBAEED AN 73 E AR
in the Ordinary Shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company EE(ERREBRRBAEGROIEXVED) BT @R -
or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of AT ERSES P EREEERIRE SRS
the SFO)) as recorded in the registered required to be kept under section B2 35 2UE BN Z G BIFT I 2 B - SRR
352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock SEFRIC S ARNA T R FTE AR TR A
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code:

Aggregate long position in the Ordinary Shares: REERBREHES -

Approximately
percentage of
shareholding in
the Company’s
issued share

Name of Director Capacity/Nature of interest Number of Shares capital (Note 6)
REATEET
BARF iR E
BEatt
B/ e (Pi=x6)
Mr. WANG Weixian Inferest of controlled corporation [Note 1) 38,804,571 1.39%
IRELAE SEHIAAERCREET)
Founder of discretionary trust (Note 2) 367,254,133 13.15%
BEEEREACPHEE2)
Ms. WANG Xuling Beneficial owner (Note 3] 7,390,000 0.26%
FhaEz+ Emia APHEES)
Interest of controlled corporation (Nofe 3) 7,010,448 0.25%
G AERPREES)
Beneficiary of discrefionary frust [Noe 2) 367,254,133 13.15%
BiEEEXEARE2)
Mr. CHEONG Ying Chew, Henry Beneficial owner 500,000 0.02%
REEE A EREAA
Mr. FONG Wo, Felix, JP Beneficial owner 500,000 0.02%
FREE(KFMT) EREAA
Mr. KWAN Kai Cheong Beneficial owner 500,000 0.02%
BRE LA ERBEAA
Mr. CHEN Jun Beneficial owner (Note 4] 3,500,000 0.13%
RELE EmiAa AHT4)
Mr. HOU Guangjun Beneficial owner (Note 5) 2,700,000 0.10%

EAELRE BB AMES)




124 GREENLAND HONG KONG HOLDINGS LIMITED

Annual Report 2018

REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Confinved)
EEERE @)

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES
(Continued)
Aggregate long position in the Ordinary Shares: (Continued)

Notes:

1. Mr. WANG Weixian was deemed fo be inferested in 38,804,571 Shares
which were held by Prestige Glory Enterprises Limited. The entire issued share

capital of Prestige Glory Enterprises Limited was beneficially owned by Mr.
WANG Weixian.

2. Each of Mr. WANG Weixian and Ms. WANG Xuling was deemed to be
interested in an aggregate of 367,254,133 Shares, which were held by The

Duanyuan Trust.

3. Ms. WANG Xuling was deemed to be interested in 7,010,448 Shares,
which were held by Boom Rich Investments Limited which was in turn entirely
beneficially owned by Ms. WANG Xuling. Ms. WANG Xuling beneficially
owned 7,390,000 Shares, 3,390,000 Shares of which were deemed to
be interested by her under the subscription agreement between her and the
Company dated 23 January 2018 under the SFO.

4. Mr. CHEN Jun was deemed to be interested in 3,500,000 Shares under the
subscription agreement between him and the Company dated 23 January
2018 under the SFO.

5. Mr. HOU Guangjun was deemed fo be interested in 2,700,000 Shares
under the subscription agreement between him and the Company dated 23

January 2018 under SFO.

o. Representing the issued and fully paid-up capital of the Company as at the
Latest Practicable Date comprising 2,791,884,683 Shares.

Apart from the foregoing, at no time during the year was the Company or
any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements fo enable the Direcfors
or any of their spouses or children under 18 years of age to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the
Company or any other body corporate, and no Directors or chief executives
or their respective spouses or children under 18 vyears of age had been
granted any right to subscribe for equity or debt securities of the Company

nor exercised any such right.

EENEFIERE)
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS FERE

As at 31 December 2018, there were no persons [other than Directors and RZFB-—NF+ZA=1+—8 ' BRTIXAHELHER
chief executive of the Company) having any inferests or short positions in the AATHREEE LB EEGIEIZCIREFTENEE
Shares and underlying shares of the Company, other than those recorded in MrERSOAEIN - BEA L (RRRIESE RITH
the register required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of the BHBRIN RAR B G RAABEAR (D R A Ems
SFO as set out below: KA

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding in
the Company’s

issued share

Name of shareholder Capacity/Nature of interest Number of Shares capital (Note 6)
REATEHT
BAR iR E
BEatt
53 HiatE (PFx6)
Gluon Xima International Limited Beneficial owner [Note 1) 1,650,244,409 59.11%
BEFBERERAR Eaia AHEE)
Hong Kong Vee Eight Limited Inferest of controlled corporation [Nofe 1) 1,650,244,409 59.11%
BEABEERAR St A AlEs (M)
Creenland Group Inferest of controlled corporation (Note 1) 1,650,244,409 59.11%
giEE SR A ()
Creenland Holdings Interest of controlled corporation (Nofe 1) 1,650,244,409 59.11%
SRR R DA ()
SPG Investment Holdings Lid. Beneficial owner [Note 2) 256,741,641 9.20%
ExERAME2)
SPG Asset Management Lid. Inferest of controlled corporation (Note 2) 256,741,641 9.20%
SRR (EE2)
Brilliant Bright Investment Limited Beneficial owner [Note 3] 110,512,492 3.96%
Enla AMES)
Interest of controlled corporation [Nofe 2) 256,741,641 9.20%
SN Al (H2)
HSBC International Trustee Limited Trustee (Note 4) 367,254,133 13.15%
FEA(MEE4)
Reach Top Holding limited Interest of controlled corporation (Notes 2 and 3) 367,254,133 13.15%
SR AR (2 R3)
New China OCT Fund SPC for and Person having a security inferest in shares (Nofe 5] 279,260,808 10.00%

on behalf of New China OCT Fund
2 Segregated Porffolio

New China OCT Fund SPC (BRAFENew HARMDREERMA (PES5)
China OCT Fund 2 Segregated Portfolio)
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS (Continued)

Name of shareholder

China Urbanization Investment Ltd

New China Asset Management
[Hong Kong) Limited

HEBEERE(BR)ARRAF

New China Capital Infernational

Management Limited

Overseas Chinese Town (Asia)
Holdings Limited

EBH(EM)ZRER R

Overseas Chinese Town (HK] Company
Limited

EREEBWMAR LR

Pacific Climax Limited

FINEBRBRNBRAE
[Shenzhen Overseas Chinese Town Joint
Stock Company Limited*)
EEHEBARLT
[Overseas Chinese Town
Holdings Limited*|

Capacity/Nature of interest

S Eing
Inferest of controlled corporation [Note 5)
et R AR (HRES)

Interest of controlled corporation (Note 5)

SR F) s (BES)

Inferest of controlled corporation (Note 5)

SR A Al (EES)

Interest of controlled corporation (Note 5)

XA AR (EES)
Inferest of controlled corporation (Noe 5)

REEHIA R R (EES)
Inferest of controlled corporation (Note 5)
R D A (EES)
Inferest of controlled corporation (Noe 5)

REmnmEs (D)

Inferest of controlled corporation [Note 5)

RIEBIA AR (HEES)

FERR(ER)

Number of Shares

279,260,808

279,260,808

279,260,808

279,260,808

279,260,808

279,260,808

279,260,808

279,260,808

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding in
the Company’s
issued share
capital (Note 6)
REATEHT
RAMFFRE
BHESEE
(BizE6)

10.00%

10.00%

10.00%

10.00%

10.00%

10.00%

10.00%

10.00%
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS (Continued) FER5E(4E)

Notes: B

Rt

1,650,244,409 Shares were held by Gluon Xima International Limited
("Gluon Xima") which was a wholly-owned subsidiary of Hong Kong Vee
Eight Limited. The entire issued share capital of Hong Kong Vee Eight Limited
was held by Greenland Group. The entire issued share capital of Greenland
Group was held by Greenland Holdings. Each of Hong Kong Vee Eight
Limited, Greenland Group and Greenland Holdings was deemed to be
interested in 1,650,244,409 Shares under the SFO.

256,741,641 Shares were beneficially held by SPG Investment Holdings Lid.
("SPG Investment’), which was a wholly-owned subsidiary of SPG Asset
Management Limited ("SPG Asset’). The entire issued share capital of SPG
Asset was held by Brilliant Bright Investment Limited (“Brilliant Bright'). The
entire issued share capital of Brilliant Bright was held by Reach Top Holding
Limited ("Reach Top”). Each of SPG Asset, Brilliant Bright and Reach Top
was deemed to be interested in 256,741,641 Shares under the SFO.

(a) 110,512,492 Shares were beneficially held by Brilliant Bright which
was a wholly-owned subsidiary of Reach Top. Reach Top was deemed
to be inferested in 110,512,492 Shares under the SFO.

(b) On 18 September 2017, all the 110,512,492 Shares were pledged
to an independent third party.

The entfire issued share capital of Reach Top was held by HSBC International
Trustee Limited which was the trustee of a trust, namely The Duanyuan Trust,
of which Mr. Wang Weixian was the founder and his the family members
(including Ms. WANG Xuling) were discretionary objects in respect of
367,254,133 Shares indirectly inferested by Reach Top.

RE,650,244, 409887 Ty 182 A ISR A
RARBEREHHE  BEFSBEATERE
ERRABZE2EFRAA - BBREERRBZMHA
BERTRARGIEERE - AbEBRZME
BEITRABAMZERSE - REESRBE K
Bl - BEREBEARQT - ARMEERAMZRE
BHRBHE 1,650,244, A0 2 e as ©

B B256,741,641 & B 15 T5 B SPG Investment
Holdings Lid.(TSPG Investment))E #5154 - SPG
InvestmentASPG Asset Management Limited ([ SPG
Asset]) 2 2ETR7] o SPG AssetZ FTAE 1T
&< e Brilliant Bright Investment Limited([ Brilliant
Bright )56 © Brilliant BrightZ FiB 2 31T
Reach Top Holding limited([Reach Top |) #54 °
IRIEFFH R HIEEAI - SPG Asset » Brilliant Bright &2
Reach Top#® B R AHEA 256,741,641 RAR % 2
A o

(a) RE110,512,49288 47 Th HBrilliant Bright
T A - Brilliant Bright/&Reach Topz &
BFRA - BEEFLHAE KD Reach
Top# AR A¥EH 110,512,492 B 15 2 ¢

=

I

o

E

b) RZTT—tFnA+NAHE - FH
110,512,492t BB F— 2B E
=K

Reach TopZ FiE BB TRAAHSBC International
Trustee limited¥$48 + MHSBC International Trustee
LimitedBumREEE (B TR B SR ERBEIAME
KRB (BREEMELZL) AMBEREGER)ID
367,254,133/ 15 (Reach TopHEH Mtz iEz) &Y
BREZEFA ©
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

*

279,260,808 Shares were pledged to New China OCT Fund SPC for
and on behalf of New China OCT Fund 2 Segregated Portfolio, which was
indirectly wholly owned by China Urbanization Investment Ltd (“CUI"), which
was owned as fo 35% by New China Capital International Management
Limited ("NCCIM"). NCCIM was owned as fo 40% by New China Assef
Management (Hong Kong) Limited ("NCAM"). Hence, each of CUI, NCCIM
and NCAM was deemed to have interest in the 279,260,808 Shares
interested by New China OCT Fund SPC for and on behalf of New China
OCT Fund 2 Segregated Portfolio under the SFO.

CUI was also indirectly owned as to 35% by Overseas Chinese Town [Asia)
Holdings Limited ("OCTA"). COTA was owned as to 70.94% by Pacific
Climax Limited ("P€L"), which was wholly owned by Overseas Chinese Town
[HK) Company Limited ("OCTHKC"). OCTHKC was wholly owned by iz 31|
B AR AR (Shenzhen Overseas Chinese Town Joint Stock Company
Limited*) ("SOCT"). SOCT was owned as to 46.99% by EEHEELQ
7] [Overseas Chinese Town Holdings Limited*) ("OCTH"). Hence, each of
OCTA, PCL, OCTHKC, SOCT and OCTH was deemed to have interest under
the SFO in the 279,260,808 Shares which were deemed to be inferested by
CUI as aforesaid under the SFO.

Representing the issued and fully paid-up capital of the Company as at 31
December 2018 in 2,791,884,683 Shares.

for identification purposes only
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND
CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group entered info the
following transactions and arrangements with certain connected persons,
which constituted “connected transactions” and “continuing
connected transactions’, which were required fo be disclosed for the

purposes of the Listing Rules.

On 12 December 2018, the purchaser, namely B4 ZH B EAR A
7] (Guangxi Greenland Xintie Real Property Limited*, an indirect subsidiary
of the Company, had won the bid submitted by it through an auction for the
acquisition of the land parcels and property development projects situated
ol MEMRERERGEFEEREBILEMCRDMIE (land parcels C
& D, located at the north side of Qingxiv Wanda Plaza, Dongge Road
135.5 million.
As the seller of the said land parcels and development projects, namely &
ot E (£E) BR2AF] (Guangxi Property (Group) Limited*), holds a 40%

inferest in the said purchaser, the said seller was a connected person of the

extension, Nanning, the PRC*) at a consideration of RMBT,

Company under the Llisting Rules, and the aforesaid transaction constituted
a connected transaction for the Company. Please refer to the announcement
of the Company dated 12 December 2018 for details.

On 13 November 2018, the seller, namely True Crown Holdings Limited
(Group) Co., lid.* (HZIZREBBRAF]), a wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company, entered into the agreement to sell to the purchaser, namely &
ELEREZE AR AR (Nanchang Shenfei Real Property Limited*),
the 100% of the equity interest in A REEEABR AT [Nanchang
Shenyang Real Properties Limited*) at a consideration of US$283 million.
Greenland Holdings is the controlling shareholder of the Company. As
Greenland Holdings and its subsidiaries (excluding the Group) held a
100% of the equity inferest in the said purchaser, the said purchaser was
a connected person of the Company under the Listing Rules, and the
aforesaid transaction constituted a connected transaction for the Company.
Please refer to the announcement and circular of the Company dated 13

and 30 November 2018 respectively for defails.

FEX B RIFEFEXD
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND
CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

On 5 July 2018, A4 ARBEZBR AR (Haikou Wuyuan Property
Co., id.*) ["Haikou Project Company’|, a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, enfered info a confracfor agreement with _E/S4xHb 2R
TAMR AT (Shanghai Greenland Constfruction Engineering Co., ltd.*)
("Contractor A") to appoint Contractor A as the contractor in relation to
the construction works for the sport centre project of the redeveloped project
fo be constructed on land parcel situated in eastern side of Changbin Road,
Xinying District, Haikou City, Hainan Province of the PRC (R El/8RI & &
OmFHEEEKRERKEA) for an estimated tofal confract sum of RMB451.3
million subject to adjustment. As it was a wholly owned subsidiary of
Greenland Holdings, Contractor A was a connected person of the
Company under the listing Rules, and the aforesaid fransaction constituted
a connected transaction for the Company. Please refer to the announcement
and circular of the Company dated 5 July and & August 2018 respectively

for details.

On 5 July 2018, Haikou Project Company entered into a contractor
agreement with EMET EEHFR A7) (Guizhou Construction Engineering
Group Co., lid.*) ["Contractor B") to appoint Contractor B as the
confractor in relation to the surveying, design, procurement and consfruction
works for the ancillary projects relating to Haikou Sport Centre for an
estimated fotal contract sum of RMB209.9 million subject to adjustment.
As it was owned as to 51% by Greenland Holdings, Contractor B was
a connected person of the Company under the Listing Rules, and the
aforesaid transaction constituted a connected transaction for the Company.
Please refer fo the announcement and circular of the Company dated 5 July

and 6 August 2018 respectively for details.

FAEX S RFFEMEX S (8)
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND
CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

On 5July 2018, EBR&IEME 2GR A A (Kunming Greenland
Dianchi Property Co., Lid.*), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
entered info a contractor agreement with Contractor A to appoint
Contractor A as the contfractor in relation to the construction works for SE
EIBX 18 B (Dianchi infernational project*) to be developed on a land parcel
situated in the intersection of Yuyang Road and Gudian Road, Chenggong
District, Kunming City, Yunnan Province of the PRC (FREIERI & ERA™
ZERAGEKELTERZ X A) for an estimated total contract sum of
RMB263.3 million subject to adjustment. As mentioned above, Contractor
A was a connected person of the Company under the Listing Rules, and the
aforesaid transaction constituted a connected transaction for the Company.
Please refer to the announcement and circular of the Company dated 5 July

and 6 August 2018 respectively for details.

On 5]July 2018, &M mEfEH E 2 F R A7) (Xuzhou Southern
Development Property Development Co., lid.*), a 100%owned subsidiary
of the Company, entered info a contracior agreement with FAZZ T #EEE T
2482 7] (Xi'an Consfruction Engineering Head Office Co.*) ("Contractor
C’) to appoint Contractor C as the contractor in relation fo the construction
works for the Xuzhou Tongshan Greenland Lakeside Villa property
development project (#RINEAILAZH#FEEF A E) to be constructed on
land parcel situated in the northem side of Huashan Road and the southern
side of Qianjiang Road, Tongshan District, Xuzhou City, Jiangsu Province
of the PRC (R BIT#E &M M IHILREITIEIAR - FEILFELAL) for an
estimated total contract sum of RMB197.3 million subject to adjustment.
As it was owned as to 51% by Greenland Holdings, Contractor C was
a connected person of the Company under the Listing Rules, and the
aforesaid transaction constituted a connected transaction for the Company.
Please refer to the announcement and circular of the Company dated 5 July

and 6 August 2018 respectively for details.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND
CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

On5July2018, EEMTETEEREEFR QA (Zhaoging City
Hengchang Industrial Investment Lid.*], a 70%-owned subsidiary of the
Company, entered info a contractor agreement with JTERERETIEE
EHBR A7 (iangsu Consfruction Engineering Co., Lid.*) ("Contractor
D’} to appoint Contractor D as the confractor in relation fo the consfruction
works for the phase 1 of the property development project fo be constructed
on land parcel situated in Songlong Town, Gaoyao District, Zhaoging City,
Guangdong Province of the PRC (REIEREEET = 2 & RFE/)E) for
an estimated fotal contract sum of RMB148.8 million subject to adjustment.
As it was owned as to 55% by Greenland Holdings, Contractor D was
a connected person of the Company under the Listing Rules, and the
aforesaid transaction constituted a connected fransaction for the Company.
Please refer o the announcement and circular of the Company dated 5 July

and 6 August 2018 respectively for details.

On 5 July 2018, the Company entered info a cooperation framework
agreement (the “2018 Framework Agreement”] with Greenland Group
Senmao landscape Engineering Co., lid. (£xiti & EFREE B R AR
("Senmao’) in relation fo landscape consfruction and greening works for
cerfain property development projects of the Group in the PRC. As it was
owned as to 60% by Greenland Holdings, Senmao was a connected
person of the Company under the listing Rules, and the transactions
contemplated under the 2018 Framework Agreement constituted a
continuing connected fransactions for the Company. Please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 5 July 2018 for details. The annual
confracted amount payable for the transactions contemplated under the
2018 Framework Agreement for the following years shall not exceed the

amounts set out below:
For the year ending 31 December 2018: RMB131.80 million;

For the year ending 31 December 2019: RMB61.78 million; and

For the year ending 31 December 2020: RMB4.08 million.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND
CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

On 31 May 2018, the Company entered into a hotel management and
statistic corporation framework agreement with /& 4&xi)HE 1% & 2R
BMRA7A] (Shanghai Greenland Hotel Investment and Development Co.,
ltd.) the "Hotel Manager’), pursuant to which the Hotel Manager, its
holding company and subsidiaries of such holding company shall provide
the pre-opening consultancy services, hotel management and operation
services, reservation system service and a license to use their brand names
to such hotel projects as may be specified by the Company from time fo
fime. As it was a wholly owned subsidiary of Greenland Holdings, the
Hotel Manager was a connected person of the Company under the Listing
Rules, and the transaction contemplated under the aforesaid framework
agreement constituted a continuing connected fransaction for the Company.
The maximum aggregate annual fee for the aforesaid transaction for each
of the financial years ending 31 December 2035 shall be not more than

RMB100 million. Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated
31 May 2018 for defails.

On 29 May 2018, mEHBEZE AR AF (Nanchang Shenyang Real
Estate Co., ltd.*) ('Nanchang Shenyang Real Estate’), o wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a parinership agreement
with 84k R IE R ERIE£4E G R A 7] (Shanghai Greenland Shenhua
Football Club Co., ltd.*) ("Shanghai Greenland Shenhua FC
Company’) for the appoiniment of Nanchang Shenyang Real Estate as
the official cooperation partner of Shanghai Greenland Shenhua Football
Club in respect of B R EKABHEEE (China Football Association Super
league*) for the period commencing on 1 July 2018 to 30 June 2019 at
a consideration of RMB30 million. As it was a wholly owned subsidiary of
Greenland Holdings, Shanghai Greenland Shenhua FC Company was a
connected person of the Company under the Lisfing Rules, and the aforesaid
fransaction consfituted a confinuing connected fransaction for the Company.
Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 29 May 2018 for

details.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND
CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

On 23 January 2018, the Company and each of Mr. Chen Jun, Mr.
Hou Guangjun, Ms. Wang Xuling and Mr. Gu Mingi (the “Connected
Subscribers’) entered info a subscription agreement, pursuant to which
each of the Connected Subscribers conditionally agreed fo subscribe for an
aggregate of 13,590,000 Shares for an aggregate subscription price of
approximately HK$51,370,200 in cash in accordance with the employee
share ownership and incentive plan of the Company. As they were directors
of the Company and/or its subsidiaries, the Connected Subscribers
were connected persons of the Company under the Listing Rules, and the
aforesaid transactions constituted connected transactions for the Company.
Please refer fo the announcement and circular of the Company dated 23

January and 14 February 2018 respectively for details.

On 9 May 2017, the Company entered into a cooperation framework
agreement (the 2017 Framework Agreement’) with Senmao to
engage Senmao fo undertake the landscape construction and greening
works for cerfain the real estate development projects of the Group in
the PRC. The aforesaid transaction constituted a continuing connected
transaction for the Company and was still subsisting in 2018. Please refer
to the announcement of the Company dated 9 May 2017 for details.
The annual aggregate contracted amount payable for the transactions
contemplated under the 2017 Framework Agreement for the following

years shall not exceed the amounts set out below:
For the year ended 31 December 2017: RMB110.53 million;

For the year ended 31 December 2018: RMB41.22 million; and

For the year ending 31 December 2019: RMB13.12 million.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND
CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

On 29 June 2017, T B ZEABRAR) (Hangzhou Tuojiang Zhiye
Co., lid.) ("Hangzhou Tuojiang’), an indirectly wholly-owned
company of JEEHBRZAF] (Xu Bao Co. lid.) ("JV Company’), enfered
info a credit facility agreement with SPG Investment XVII (BVI) Limited
("Borrower A’ (a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company which holds
50% of the entire issued share capital of the ]V Company) and JEE BR
AE] (Xu Fu Co. Llimited) ("Borrower B’) (which holds 50% of the entire
issued share capital of the )V Company and is a connected person of the
Company), pursuant fo which Hangzhou Tuojiang has agreed to provide
an unsecured revolving credit facilities (the “Credit Facilities”) in the sum
of RMB125,000,000 fo each of Borrower A and Borrower B respectively
for a term (the "Term”) of 36 months from the date of the facility
agreement. The cap for the Credit Facilities to be granted to Borrower
B by Hangzhou Tuojiang under the facility agreement during the Term is
RMB125,000,000. The aforesaid fransaction constituted a continuing
connected fransaction for the Company and was sfill subsisting in 2018.

Please refer to announcement of the Company dated 29 June 2017.

On 21 April 2016, the Company entered info a cooperation framework
agreement (the 2016 Framework Agreement’) with Senmao
tfo engage Senmao fo undertake certain landscape construction and
greening works for certain real estate development projects of the Group
in the PRC. The aforesaid transaction constituted a continuing connected
transaction for the Company and was still subsisting in 2018. Please refer
to the announcement of the Company dated 21 April 2016 for details.
The annual aggregate contracted amount payable for the transactions
contemplated under the 2016 Framework Agreement for the following

years shall not exceed the amounts set out below:

For the year ended 31 December 2016: RMBQ0.07 million;

For the year ended 31 December 2017: RMB45.75 million; and

For the year ending 31 December 2018: RMB?.24 million.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND
CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

The Independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the above
continuing connected transactions and confirmed that such transactions
carried out for the year ended 31 December 2018 have been entered
into {a) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group; (b) on
normal commercial terms or better; and (c) in accordance with the relevant
agreements governing them on terms that are fair and reasonable and in

the interests of the Shareholders as a whole.

The Audifor has performed procedures on the above continuing connected
transactions for the financial year ended 31 December 2018, and issued
a letter to the Board to confirm that nothing has come to its attention that

causes if fo believe that the said confinuing connected transactions:
i) had not been approved by the Board;

i) were not entered into, in all material respects, in accordance with the

relevant agreements goveming such fransactions; and
i) had exceeded their respective caps.

Save as disclosed above, related-party transactions disclosed in the
Company's financial statements either did not constitute connected
fransactions/continuing connected fransactions or constituted connected
fransactions/continuing connected transactions but were exempted from
all disclosure and independent shareholders’ approval requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any subsfantial part of the business of the Company was entered info or

existed during the year.

REMUNERATION POLICY

The remuneration policy of the employees of the Group is formulated by the
remunerafion commifee which fakes into account individual performance,

qualifications and competence.

The remuneration of the Directors (including the independent non-executive
Direcfors) are recommended by the remuneration committee, having regard
to their duties and responsibilities, experience, qualification and prevailing
market conditions. Please see note 14 1o the financial statements for details

of the Directors’ emoluments.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, there was no expense in
relation to share-based payments recognised in the Company'’s financial
statements, and no arrangement under which a Director or the chief

executive waived or agreed to waive any emoluments.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

Save for the repurchases of Shares set out below, neither the Company
nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the

Company's listed securities during the year ended 31 December 2018:

Number
of shares

repurchased

RBEimEE

565,000
1,227,000

June 7~H

July +A

BRE - HENBEA AT LhESs
BRBE ARG - RRE=F—N\F+=7
=+—BIEFER - AR TSRER TR TR
B S E AR A L

Repurchase price

FEE(E

Highest Lowest
price per price per Aggregate
share share consideration

Tz =140
REE RIEE BRE
(HK$) (HK$) (HK$)
(%B7T) (&7T) (%B7T)
2.98 2.91 1,664,200
2.94 2.74 3,562,820

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

No pre-emptive rights exist in the Cayman Islands [being the jurisdiction in

which the Company is incorporated).

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Principal corporate governance practices adopted by the Company are set

out in the Corporate Governance Report.

CHANGES IN DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION

Save as disclosed in the “Directors and Senior Management Profiles” of this
annual report, there were no change in the Direcfors information subsequent
fo the publication of the interim report of the Company for the six months

ended 30 June 2018.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors as at the latest practicable date prior
to issue of this annual report, the Directors confirm that the Company has
maintained throughout the year of 2018 the amount of public float as

required under the Listing Rules.

DISCLOSURE UNDER RULE 13.20 OF THE
LISTING RULES

The Directors were not aware of any circumstances resulting in the
responsibility of disclosure under Rule 13.20 of the Listing Rules regarding

the provision of advances by the Company to an entity.

EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE
On 26 January 2019, the Group distributed the dividend of Perpetual
Securities issued on 27 July 2016. The amount is USD3,375,000
[approximately RMB22,940,000).

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year have been audited by
Deloitte. There have been no changes of auditor of the Company in the

preceding three years.

On behalf of the Board
CHEN Jun

Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 March 2019
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

VR R (RS

Deloitte.
=2

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF GREENLAND HONG KONG
HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Greenland
Hong Kong Holdings Limited (the “Company”| and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the "Group”| set out on pages 148 to 325,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2018, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes
to the consolidated financial statements, mc|udmg a summary of sigmficonf

accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December
2018, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies

Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAS") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants ["HKICPA"). Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a

basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these

matters.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (Continued)
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Key audit matters

[GE S AL

Valuation of investment properties

REMEMLE

We identified the valuation of investment properties as a key
audit matter due fo the key management judgment is required
in defermining the fair value and also the significance of

investment properties fo the financial statements as a whole.

Management has estimated the fair value of investment
properties to be at approximately RMB 13,083 million at 31
December 2018, with a revaluation gain of approximately
RMB1,227 million recorded in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the year

ended 31 December 2018.
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

H A EH IR R = EE

Our procedures in relation to the valuation of investment

properties among others:

o Understanding the management's process for reviewing

the work of the Valuer;

o Evaluating the design and implementation of confrols in
respect of the management's process for reviewing the
work of the Valuer;

e Evaluating the appropriateness of the Valuer's scope and

assessing whether the Valuer had sufficient expertise and

resource;
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (Continued)
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Key audit matters

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

[GEE R A

Valuation of investment properties (Continued)

REMEMGEE)

The Group has hired the independent external valuer,
Debenham Tie leung Llimited ("DTZ") (the "Valuer’), in
assisting the management’s estimation of the fair value of

investment properties.

As disclosed in note 22 to the consolidated financial
statements, fair value of investment properties under
development are determined using direct comparison
approach and fair value of completed investment properties
are defermined using income capitalisation approach. The
revaluations are dependent on certain key input that require
significant management judgement, including capitalisation

rates, average unit market rent and average market unit price.
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TIRAREENMEEERE © (AETIBURARE T REIEEE
HEBRAENEERABE - BREEMOLLE - FHEMH
BiEe R FHEMTIHER

B E IR EARE A

Obtaining the valuation report issued by the Valuer for
all investment properties and interviewing the Valuver
to evaluate valuation approach appropriate for use
in determining the fair value of investment properties.
Discussing with the Valuer on the key assumptions and
evaluating the appropriateness of the key assumptions
included within the valuations, the namely reversionary
yield, including market unit rent rate, market unit price
and the rationale behind all significant movement during

the year on a property by property basis; and

Assessing the reasonableness of estimated costs to
complefion of investment properties under development
by comparing, on a sample basis, the previous
budgeted costs to actual development costs incurred,
and checking to supporting documentation such as

quantity surveyors reports and signed confracts.

REHEMEMEERENELBNGEERS - WG
EMEENFHESANETREAMERA R BENMG
BF% - BEEMTHREERS  HEBERENE
ERZEEGAE  AERBEREER  BEBEMTIESHE
& BUMBERLFNTEVENTEEAZHNH
B R

BB IR AL ST AT AR B A AR B B IR A A RO B 3
FRAEITIL R - AAHEBERPYFEE T TR
ARBARE  REFAXMLH M THAERERD
BERK) -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (Continued)
BB ERE ()

Key audit matters

[GE S AL

Land appreciation tax provision

T EBIEE

We identified the Land Appreciation Tax ("LAT") provision as a
key audit matter due to the significant management judgement
exercised by the Group in respect its provision in accordance
with the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC") tax laws and

regulations.

As disclosed in note 4 to the consolidated financial statements,
the Group is subject to LAT in the PRC. The calculation of
LAT are highly dependent on the appropriateness of the rafes
used, which are determined by the appreciation of land value.
The appreciation of land value is defermined with reference
to proceeds of the properties less the estimated deductible
expenditures, including the cost of land use rights and all
property development expenditures. The Group estimated the
deductible expenditures according tfo the understanding of the
relevant PRC tax laws and regulations. The final tax outcome
could be different from the amounts that were initially recorded,
and these differences will impact the income tax expense and
the related income tax provisions in the periods in which such

tax is finalised with local tax authorities.

As at 31 December 2018, the LAT payable amounted to
approximately RMBQ49 million and the LAT recognised in the
consolidated profit and loss and other comprehensive income

statement amounted fo approximately RMB668 million for the
year ended 31 December 2018.

HAIRR LB R ([ L3I {ER ) BB RRAR = F8 -
RERESEERBEDEARLMNE([PE ) REERRER
TEHLEE - EPPREREBFRLNERAE -

AR E M MRM AP E - EREAHRTE L ig
B - THRERNAE ORI AALEXREEE - M
LR TE T B ENEINETE - TIEENIENZ2EY)
EAEFRERMEFT AR ETE - BT InERENK
AEMRBYMFERERY - ERERENERBREEARER
BETAIRFAX - ZERBRBERA RV T LENBRT
[l - MERBTELEMT DT TIRE BAMEHR &
TREAPT ST -

RZE-N\F+ZA=1T—08 ENIHEEROSARYE
949,000,0007T * MEZE —T—NF+-_HA=+—HILF
EHnAEa kAt ENERAERN DRERORAR
#668,000,0007T °

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

H A EH IR R = EE

Our procedures in relation to the provision for LAT included,

among others:

o Understanding the design and implementation of controls
in respect of the principal assumptions and judgements

made in arriving at the provision for LAT;

o Engaging fax specialist fo evaluate LAT provision and

potential exposures as at 31 December 2018;

e Assessing the Group’s assumptions and judgements
through our knowledge of the tax circumstances and tax
regulation in the PRC and by examining tax filing records

and review of correspondence with the fax authorities;

e Checking the relevant financial information, such
as proceeds from sales of properties, land costs,
borrowing cosfs and the relevant property development
expenditures, used in the calculation of provision for LAT

fo the Group's historical financial data; and

e Assessing the adequacy and appropriateness of the

disclosures in respect fo the provision for LAT.
BB LIS ERREOEF (Hhe4E)

o HAELMRENBEMAIZMREAEIE - T
fif B PR B RO RRAT AN B

s ZRERKERFE_FT-/N\F+-A=T—BML1i
RETBME BRI -

o EBRMYEPENBRBIR MR EROBE - AR
RELSRANBER ZMOBHRLERER  FEE
L NG

s REMARAELHMBERBEOHBYEEN - 0
EMEMSHREA - LKA - BERARBEMER
B EAREBEMBEE &

o FPELHMEERBEIEELNRENTRERAE
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the annual report,
but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s

report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion

thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. WWe have nothing to report

in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the directors of the Company determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concem, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concemn
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or fo cease operations, or have no realistic

alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group's

financial reporting process.

Hith &
ERFEFALRMANAR - HILARBETR
RFTEEER - BT RIS A MBRERATHR
HA AT -
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BRIANTERNBRTAANENEAEEFES
AEERE UFEBRERRL - BERAITERT
T WMATTRREMERFEEAHERRL -
AIRBREZFE - ATRUL I BT FIHAR

=
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our obijectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due fo fraud or error, and fo issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with
our agreed terms of engagement and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility fowards or accept liability to any other person for the
confents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance,
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always defect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated

financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We

also:

o) Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not defecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulfing from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, infenfional omissions,

misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

[b)  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on

the effectiveness of the Group's infernal control.

[c)  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made

by the directors of the Company.

BB R EMBRRA
MEE
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AT BRHEAVHRRBEEBR S MrEAR
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ZEBGFERRE T (ERBEB)|RE - BRI IR
ERIEEM B A o AT AR E AT EERA
EMJ\iEE&%?ﬁ‘EE * AEREFERBKFHR

- BRREREIRIRE BT EAEITRET B8R
?’EEEEK Eﬁﬁ%m° B RR IR AT LA B ERFE Sk #H R B

i RS IETEHE B E AR A RER B AR
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(d)

(e]

(f)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors of the Company's
use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related 1o events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that
a material uncerfainty exists, we are required fo draw affention in our
auditor’s report fo the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Qur conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up fo the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group fo cease fo confinue as a going

concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying

fransactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group fo
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We
are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the

group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among

other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant

audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that

we identify during our audit.

(d)

()

(f)

HERREERABECE ST ERNEE
R AR - WIRBPIERMEERE © #
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (Continued)
BB ERE ()

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where

applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the
key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless
law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumsfances, we defermine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of

such communication.

The engagement pariner on the audit resulting in the independent auditor’s

report is Wong Tin Chak, Samuel.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

28 March 2019
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
meBmRAMEEANER

For the year ended 31 December 2018
B2 —F—\F+-A=+—HIFE

2018 2017
—B—N\E —F—tF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AREFxT ARETTT
Revenue W
— Goods and services —Em R 5 15,392,793 14,582,551
— Rental —MHs 51,453 36,321
Total revenue Fellog=s 15,444,246 14,618,872
Cost of sales S E AN (11,306,122) (11,027,571)
Gross profit EFH 4,138,124 3,591,301
Other income Hapdg A 7 29,346 25,416
Other gains and losses Hib iz R ER 8 (659,896) 273,185
Selling and marketing costs SEE N T EA AN (811,226) (587,187)
Administrafive expenses THER (529,847) (437,517)
Other operating expenses Hih e fsxe (47,817) (13,403)
Writedown of complefed properties ERFEME 2 HOR
held for sale - (7.746)
Impairment loss of financial assets and TRMEENAREBEEZ
contract assets EEE (133,529) -
Net gain on disposal of interests in a subsidiary H&E—RFRAIEZEZ
W e F 78 487,691 72,063
Results from operating activities REEEFHEE 2,472,846 2,916,112
Finance income REE WA Q 73,195 95,619
Finance costs L& R 10 (187,488) (224,191)
Net finance costs SR AFE (114,293) (128,572)
Share of losses of associates FE(LBEE AR EE (15,354) (@99
Share of profits of joint ventures EREEDERT 161,431 139,496
Gains on the change in fair value of KREMEANLBEE
investment properties U zs 22 1,226,688 329,268
Profit before income tax BREREHi g FI 3,731,318 3,255,305
Income fax expenses s> 11 (1,750,378) (1,419,687)
Profit for the year F Nz A 1,980,940 1,835,618
Attributable to: AT ALRELS :
Owners of the Company NATES AN 1,736,288 1,319,308
Non-controlling inferests eI o 244,652 516,310
1,980,940 1,835,618




ZE-N\FFR

BMEEERERAA

CONSOLUDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (Confinued)

GEBRENHEMZEABERE)

For the year ended 31 December 2018
BE—E—\F+-HA=1+—HIFEF

Other comprehensive income

ltlems that will not be reclassified to
profit or loss:
Fair value gain on investments in equity

instruments at fair value through other

Hit 2EA

T EEF ZEE Bz A
EEA

BRARBEIENEMEZE
WA BBt T B R A

2018
—B—N\E

RMB’000
ARBTR

2017
—E—tF
RMB'O00
ARET T

comprehensive income NREERE 112,340 -
Other comprehensive income for the year, FAREMEEKA
net of income tax MERATSH 84,255 -
Total comprehensive income for the year FAREBAEEE 2,065,195 1,835,618
Tofal comprehensive income attributable fo: IATATREEEERALR
Owners of the Company ViN/NSIEZEUN 1,820,543 1,319,308
Non-controlling inferests JEFE A Z 244,652 516,310
2,065,195 1,835,618

Earnings per share:

Basic and diluted

BiREF :

EARREE

0.61

0.46
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AR BRI
As at 31 December 2018
R-E-NF+=ZHA=+—H

2018 2017
—E-N\EF —T—+tF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT ARBTFT
ASSETS &E
Non-Current Assets FEREEE
Property, plant and equipment W - BB REE 18 1,208,629 1,228,459
Infangible assets WA E 19 1,251 1,296
Land use rights b {5E P AEE 20 69,315 24,042
Equity instruments at fair value through ZAnBEYIRNEM
other comprehensive income ("FVTOCI") 2EWA(TRAREE
SRR H At 2T 1)
BT A 21 294,340 -
Other financial assets Hibem&EeE - 174,567
Investment properties EYE 22 13,083,000 9,082,000
Properties under development BRAYE 23 13,194,256 14,976,268
Interests in associates B2 N\ BIMERS 25 206,554 6,084
Interests in joint ventures SEDERERS 26 619,344 686,413
Deferred tax assets IRIERIBEE 33 644,169 817,628
Total non-current assets FEFRENE R 29,320,858 26,996,757
Current Assets mENEE
Properties under development BRERAYE 23 25,083,825 8,945,329
Completed properties held for sale BEKFEYE 24 10,170,401 11,669,969
Trade, other receivables and advance deposits — FEURBRFR + E b fEUFIE
RIERHES 27 17,538,455 12,568,170
Tax recoverable G {EEs 28 944,494 712,849
Contract assets AREE 29 839,997 -
Contract costs A RKA 30 54,962 -
Restricted bank deposits SRR HISRITFR 31 2,217,430 2,401,495
Bank balance and cash RITEBR MBS 32 4,059,778 5,455,227
Total current assets FENEEEEE 60,909,342 41,753,039
Total assets BEEHE 90,230,200 68,749,796
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES MR B
Capital And Reserves BARGEE
Share capital [N 40 1,132,097 1,132,855
Share premium f& 19 & (8 41 3,412,872 3,416,546
Reserves & 41 1,138,759 Q61,894
Perpetual securities KAFE S 42 787,823 /87,823
Retained earmings IREE & A 4,778,667 3,560,011
Total equity affributable fo owners of RABIER AEL
the Company AR 11,250,218 9,859,129
Non-controlling inferests eI IR e 2,694,520 1,725,761
Total equity R 4mEE 13,944,738 11,584,890
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CONSOLUDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION  (Continved)

BRI T ()

As at 31 December 2018
R-FE-NFFZA=+—H

2018 2017

—B—N\E —T—+F

RMB’000 RMB'O00

AREFx ARET T
LIABILITIES =1
Non-Current Liabilities EREBERE
Interestbearing loans EER 34 9,475,268 9,081,312
Bonds (Ees 37 1,367,416 2,919,171
Deferred tax liabilities EEFIEEE 33 1,822,577 957,999
Total non-current liabilities FEREEEEEE 12,665,261 12,958,482
Current Liabilities REEE
Interestbearing loans SEEW 34 3,209,345 1,480,500
Trade and other payables JE AT BR 3R S At AT IR 35 29,485,687 16,948,717
Contract liabilities ARAaE 36 24,511,228 -
Pre-sale deposits EEEE - 19,782,530
Other financial liabilities Efemad - ©8,178
Tax payable FERIA 33 1,963,342 1,787,012
Bonds B+ 37 4,450,599 4,109,487
Total current liabilities mENE ERAREE 63,620,201 44,206,424
Total liabilities BB 76,285,462 57,164,906
Total equity and liabilities HERRAEEE 90,230,200 68,749,796
Net current liabilities mEEETE (2,710,859) (2,453,385)
Total assets less current liabilities BEERRHEE 26,609,999 24,543,372

FIA8EI2SBEMRAMEHRER=_ZE—NF=A
—tN\BEEESHERBEETE  WYAUTRE

The consolidated financial statements on page 148 to 325 were approved
and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 28 March 2019 and

are signed on ifs behalf by: %we .
Chen Jun Hou Guangjun

BRE ZAE
Chairman of the Board of Directors and Chief Executive Officer Chief Operation Officer

EFETEARITIARE, BEZER
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
GEBHERER

For the year ended 31 December 2018
B2 —F—\F+-A=+—HIFE

2018 2017
—T-N\E —T—tF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETTT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES BEES
Profit for the year F Ak ) 1,980,940 1,835,618
Adijustments for: SHEIER
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ME  BEREEITE 89,003 97,514
Amortisation of infangible assets | A ERH 45 45
Amortisation of land use rights + Hh (e PR 5 1,395 566
Gains on the change in fair value of REMENABEZS WS
investment properties (1,226,688) (329,268)
Losses from financial assets/liabilities carried BARBEERERER ([HRAR
at fair value through profit or loss ["FVTPL’) EETERRERS s rEE,
BE/EE 15,247 335,812
Foreign exchange loss (gain) i 5 &5 18 (has) 655,459 [607,869)
Writedown of completed properties B AT S W 2 R
held for sale - 7,746
Impairment loss of contract assets EREERERE 1,403 -
Impairment loss of trade and other receivables JE LT B R e EL Ath FE LW 50 0B 2 R (B S 18 132,126 -
Net finance costs RO P A EE 114,293 128,572
Share of profifs of joint ventures JEIHAERERF (161,431) [139,4906]
Share of losses of associates FE(E B AR &R 15,354 999
Net gain on disposal of interesfs in a subsidiary ~ H&—RF R Al 2 Wi F 8 (487,691) [72,063)
Net gain on disposal of property, HEWE - RE REEH 2 W= FEE
plant and equipment (10,810) (1,128)
Income fax expense FrisfiAx 1,750,378 1,419,687
Operating cash flows before LESSEHANEERERE
movements in working capital 2,869,023 2,676,735
Increase in trade, other receivables and FEUBRTER « E4th FEUEUIE K
advance deposits FEHZ SN (525,066) (1,214,334
Increase in confract assets ERIEELM (841,400) -
Increase in confract costs & Bk A1 A0 (30,552) -
Increase in properties under development BERPYERDERGE
and completed properties held for sale LI ES=) (11,747,784) (1,573,735)
Increase in confract liabilities ARAEEM 8,059,477 -
Increase in frade and other payables JE AT BR 3% B2 EL A JE A< SRIEAE N 4,997,257 12,001,035
Income tax paid BEATATIER (1,624,854) (1,709,283)
Net cash from operating activities BEEHAEHSTE 1,156,101 10,180,418
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BMEEERERAA

CONSOUDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continved)

RERERER®)

For the year ended 31 December 2018
B FE- N\ FF A= —HIFE

2018 2017
—T-)N\E —ET—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT ARBTFTT
INVESTING ACTIVITIES & ES
Interest received B U F B 86,315 95,619
Proceeds from disposal of inferests in HE—RF AR ERTEHIE
a subsidiary 925,807 106,715
Proceeds from sale of investment properties HEREYEURYE BER
and property, plant and equipment S FTIS 36,803 3,519
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets HESREEMSTIE - 298,882
Decrease in restricted cash ZREIR SRS 4,222,001 576,826
Increase in restricted cash PR IR S LN (4,037,936) (1,541,337)
Payment for settlement of financial liabilities BEZ AR EEYIERNEED
carried at FVTPL TRBENR (113,425) -
Amounts advance fo related parties TE A EEEs 75 RIR (10,031,473) (4,294,004)
Repayment from related parties AR 77 R 1,770,287 760,753
Acquisition of a subsidiary WHE—RF AT (1,626,521) (2,262,530)
Capital contribution to a joint venture A—ReECEHE = (5,714)
Withdrawal of capital contribution from BER—-—KEEREHE
a joinf venture 228,500 -
Capifal contribution to associates mEEE AR HE (228,944) 7,721)
Acquisition of investment properties W B3 (1,281,181) (1,214,471)
Acquisition of land use rights e + b {6 AR A (2,067) -
Acquisition of properly, plant and equipment g% - BE MG (71,221) (42,651)
Net cash used in investing activities REEESARESE (10,123,055) (7,526,114
FINANCING ACTIVITIES Bl iEED
Proceeds from inferestbearing loans TR ERFTEHIE 4,856,634 9,118,862
Proceeds from issuance of bonds BITEFMETOR 2,684,863 2,705,740
Expenses on issue of bonds BITESFRX (9,631) (8,117)
Capital contribution from non-controlling JEERE R R E
shareholders 225,218 214,343
Advance from related parties 2R B B 7 AR 9,181,246 728,902
Repayment to related parties [ RS 75 B R (1,578,075) (1,930,141)
Repayment of bonds BERS (4,146,640) (3,360,550)
Repayment of interestbearing loans BB EER (2,224,955) (7,788,220)
Dividend paid BAIE (342,114) [250,944)
Perpetual securities dividend paid K ATEZKE (42,716) (45,838)
Dividend paid to a non-controlling shareholder BE RGN (88,000) -
Interest paid EASFLE (1,017,040) (207,743)
Payment on repurchase of shares BRI K (4,432) -
Net cash from (used) in RIEEEAE (A REFE
financing activities 7,494,358 (1,523,7006)
Net (decrease) increase in cash and RERFLEBEYWORD ) EBMFE
cash equivalents (1,472,596) 1,130,598
Cash and cash equivalents at R—A—BMRE&RIREZEEY
1 January 5,455,227 4,358,259
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes EREFEHNTE 77,147 (33,630]
Cash and cash equivalents at REXR+-ZA=+—B0EER
31 December the end of the year HEZEY 4,059,778 5,455,227
Represented by HTIIEB 4R
Bank balance and cash SRITHEEE RIS 4,059,778 5,455,227
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

TR MR

el

For the year ended 31 December 2018
BE_FT—)\FFT-A=1—HILFE

1. GENERAL INFORMATION AND BASIS
OF PREPARATION

1.1

1.2

General information

Greenland Hong Kong Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 13 April 2006
as an exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies law, Cap 22 (law 3 of 2007, as consolidated
and revised) of the Cayman Islands. The address of the
Company's registered office is Century Yard, Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681 GT, George Town, Grand
Cayman, British West Indies. In 20006, the companies
comprising the Group underwent a reorganisation (the
"Reorganisation’) fo rafionalise the Group's structure in
preparation for the listing of the Company’s shares on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
"Hong Kong Stock Exchange’). On 30 June 20006, the
Company became the holding company of the subsidiaries
now comprising the Group. The Company’s shares are listed
on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange since 10 October 2006.

Greenland Holdings Corporation Limited ("Greenland
Holdings’| is the ultimate controlling shareholder of the
Group.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Renminbi ("RMB”), which is also the functional currency of the
Company.

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activity of its subsidiaries (together with the Company referred
fo as the "Group”) is the development for sale and rental of
residential properties in the People’s Republic of China (the
"PRC") and the operation of hotels.

Basis of preparation

As at 31 December 2018, the consolidated statement
of financial position reflected an net current liabilities of
RMB2,710,859,000. In addition, as at 31 December
2018, the Group had capital commitments, property under
development and investment properties under development
contracted but not provided in the consolidated financial
statements, amounting to RMB13,487,602,000 as
disclosed in note 47 to the consolidated financial statements.
The working capital deficit was primarily caused by
RMB24,633,855,000 contract liabilities. The directors of the
Company have taken info account the amount of properties
under development that would become available for sale in
the next twelve months, which would allow the Group to have
sufficient working capital to satisfy its present requirement for
the next twelve months from 31 December 2018. Accordingly,
the consolidated financial statements is prepared on a going
concern basis.

1. —REARGHREE

1.1

1.2

—ix &
FMEBERERAR([EAT RN
—EEREMAT=AREHEHS
NEEBNE(ZZEZLFEEHR
BRI R 3EEN) EFH S ST
M BZEHRRBRAR o AR M
PR R Century Yard, Cricket
Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681
GT, George Town, Grand Cayman,
British West Indies e ZZEZTREF - &
EHEARABROREBBERSME
BRAR([EBBERZRDERED &
BERSBRARETT —HEM
(TE@H]) MERAEENEESRE
bt RZZEZERFAA=+TH ' A2
AN AAEERREE TS FARIAE
[RAaE e AARIRMBEZZTZF+
AT BRERBERM LT -

AR R SR B AR ) A R A R ([ St i
B ) RAS B SAIERACR -

pily
#

o

RARRIREZER AR EFRE(GE
RIARR G A RE ) EBEBES
EREARAMB([PER)FAREE
W)FEAGEEHE S AR A R A B

RTEE
R-ZE-NF+-HA=+—B  &&
MBRARRBABHEEFE/AR
¥ 2,710,859,000 7T ° 4N - R =
E-NE+ZA=+—H Xx5EHA
BAAFZARBITHERRGE %
BRPTIEREBENERTORRER
FIREME ARY13,487,602,000
T EEERGE P BHRME47 -
LEETBM I IZHNAREEA
R #24,633,855,000 T FTEL © AN A
AESFCF R TARRT @A H
HENBRDWENESHE HBSR
SEBEERMEEETUENA T
—NEFET A=t —HERR+ @
HAHBRIHE - Bt - A ME®mR
TR B EEEMRE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLUDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continved)
REPBRRME @)

AN =Pz

For the year ended 31 December 2018

B2 —ZE—\F+A=+—HIFE

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“IFRSs")

New and Amendments to IFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year

The Group has applied the following new and amendments fo IFRSs
issued by the Infernational Accounting Standards Board ("IASB”) for

the first time in the current year.

IFRS @ Financial Instruments

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers and the related
Amendments

IFRICnt 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and

Advance Consideration
Amendments fo IFRS 2 Classification and Measurement of
Share-based Payment Transactions
Amendments fo IFRS 4 Applying IFRS 9 Financial
Instruments with IFRS 4 Insurance

Confracts

Amendments fo IAS 28 As part of the Annual Improvements

fo IFRSs 2014-2016 Cycle

Amendments to IAS 40

Transfers of Investment Property

Except as described below, the application of the new and
amendments fo IFRSs in the current year has had no material
impact on the Group’s financial performance and positions for the
current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these

consolidated financial statements.

FE FA 5T B BR BA 5 4R & 2 A
([ PRI F R & 2R ) R A
&l

FF R AN TE PRI R E
QIR HAERT
AEBENAFRERERA T HBEER S
FAPERE ((EPRETRRIBEE ) 8
HYFTR] BRI R T R R R BLAEAT o

RS HREEREON SRTA

BB B 75 3R 5 AE R RERP AN

F155 Yok R HARRE
5

BB TSR s 212 INEZ B R

ZEE-REFF EARE

B R B 75 ¥R 5 2E A RiAZNRZ 52

F2R2IERT HERTE

B R B 75 ¥R 5 2E A TEBIRR B B 5 2 A

BAR BT FARMRBRAK]
IS
HELERAIFE
[T A]

Bl &R BURR B 75 3R 5 AE R

F285% 2 1ER] —TNERE
T NFREN
FERE—DD

B & st ER BRICEME

BAOKR 2 B3]

Br R SZATa A SN - AN [ FE P R B R B

BomEEAREETUEERNEERFE R
BEFEMBRARMRAR,LZEEEH
MR BEELEATE

1157



158

GREENLAND HONG KONG HOLDINGS LIMITED

Annual Report 2018

NOTES TO THE CONSOLUDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continved)
e p ST ELNEEAE )

For the year ended 31 December 2018
BE-F—/\F+_A=+—HIFE

2, APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“IFRSs”) (Continued)

2.1

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

The Group has applied IFRS 15 for the first time in the current
year. IFRS 15 superseded IAS 18 Revenue and the relafed

interprefations.

The Group has applied IFRS 15 retrospectively with the
cumulative effect of initially applying this Standard recognised
at the date of initial application, 1 January 2018. Any
difference at the date of initial application is recognised
in the opening retained profits (or other components of
equity, as appropriate] and comparative information has
not been restated. Furthermore, in accordance with the
fransition provisions in IFRS 15, the Group has elected
to apply the Standard retrospectively only to contracts
that are not completed at 1 January 2018. Accordingly,
cerfain comparative information may not be comparable as
comparative information was prepared under IAS 18 Revenue

and the related inferprefations.

The Group recognises revenue from the following major

sources which arise from contracts with customers:

e Sale of properties and construction management service
o Hotel and related services
®  Property management and other services

Information about the Group's performance obligations and
the accounting policies resulting from application of IFRS 15

are disclosed in nofes 5 and 3 respectively.

FE F # 51 B PR B %5 3R &5 2 Bl
([ EIPRRA 4R & 2 Al |) R HAE

51 (&)
2.1 BIRRMBHRERERIE1SRKREE

BB
AEBEERAFEHRERABBRM T
WELERNE 155 - BRI IRELER]
£ 15K BEFR &R RS 1 85k Mar
RAERERE -

REE B 6 e A B IR B 7 s s 22 Y
1558 - MYIFEAZENNRETF
EER_Z-N\F—A—BULER
ERER - NP ERBHN—YZE
EERHRE R (SR H A ED
o (nEm)) R - BEWEESILERE
¥t BE  REERMEHREENE
15SRA BRI - REBEZERR
TE-NF-A-BHHEARTEHED
EWERZER - ARLELBRER TR
BEERSEERIZE 85 e MR
BRE - Hit - ETHRERAIEE
SERELLRR -

AEEETIEBRR(RETFPEL
s ) R MRS -

o MEMENEEERRG

o JEEREERK

o MEEEREMRE

B A 52 [ R e 1 B8 B 75 i o 2R )

FISRMEBMBHOEER S EE
EE R Rl R MRS &3 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLUDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continved)
REPBRRME @)

For the year ended 31 December 2018
B2 —ZE—\F+A=+—HIFE

2, APPLICATION OF NEW AND 2.
AMENDMENTS TO INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“IFRSs”) (Continued)

2.1 IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
(Continued)
Summary of effects arising from initial application of
IFRS 15
The following table summarises the impact of transition to IFRS

15 on refained eamings at 1 January 2018:

Retained earnings RE A
Recognifion of significant financing component  #7R 2 A g & 25
Recognition of contract costs R A R A

Tax effect M2

FE& FA # 2] B B B %5 3R & 2 A
(I'I%Eﬁ%iﬁ%iﬁﬁlu)&#ﬁ%
&l (48

2.1 ERMBREERESSRER
FE &k (4)
LSRR B R R 1 55
Btz
TREBAR-ZB—N\F—A—BBE
EERBRE LS | SHELRE
RS

Impact of

adopting
IFRS 15 at

1 January
2018
RZT—N\E
—A—H

F& FERBR AL 5
mEAEL
$E155RIRE
RMB’000
ARBTR

(b) (55,483)
(a) 22,004
8,370

Impact af 1 January 2018 R-ZEBE—)\F— A —HBHHZFZE (25,109)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continved)
A VBRRWE @

For the year ended 31 December 2018
BE-FT—)\F+-A=+—HIFE

2, APPLICATION OF NEW AND 2. &/ #Ha] PR H

AMENDMENTS TO INTERNATIONAL (T &

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS a] (#8)

(“IFRSs”) (Continued)

2.1 IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 2.1 EIRMBBREELEISTHKEE
(Continued) E&#alss(48)
Summary of effects arising from initial application of X e BB 75 3R & 2E R 155
IFRS 15 (Continued) BEEZ AR ()
The following adjustments were made fo the amounts H_Z-N\F—A-BHEAEVBEIR
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position REANCHELNTARE - FI#
at 1 January 2018. line items that were not affected by the BB ZIERWETIA -

changes have not been included.

Carrying Carrying
amounts amounts
previously under IFRS
reported at 15 at
31 December 1 January
2017  Reclassification  Remeasurement 2018
FA
8-t REEERTES
+ZA=+-H BEEAIE155
iz RENREE ENNE EffitE ETHREE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
\ T ARETTL T
Non-current Assets FhEEE
Deferred fox asses BRHEEE b) 817,628 - 13,871 831499
Current Assets HBEE
Properiies under development LEmNE (o] 8,045,329 - 904,567 9,849 89
Confract costs ARKAE [a) 24,410 24,410

Capital and Reserves BXRGHE

Refained eamings Eel] (o] and (o] 3,560,011 - 25,109) 3,534,002
Nonconfroling inferesis iy (o) 1,725,761 - 1,804 1,727,565
Non-current Liabilities FrBaR

Deferred fox liabilities BUHEEE [a 957,999 - 6,103 964,102
Current Liabilities hHaR

Persale deposis BERE ) 19.782,530 (19,782,530) - -
Contract fiabiliies sRER (b} and [c] - 19,782,530 960,050 20,742,580

Notes: B 5 -

{a]  The Group incurred incremental commission paid/payable o) AEERESEFUEHESHM
fo intermediaries/employees in connection with obtaining EEBREEN AR NAEE
properties sales contracts with customers. These amounts e ZESeHBERNELARX
were previously expensed as incurred. At the date of initial 3 o P A7 e R B B 7 e s E R
application of IFRS 15, incremental costs of obtaining FISHEH » SREEKEARK
contracts of RMB24,410,000 were recognised with 24,410,000 0B EMHER © (RE )& F
corresponding adjustments RMB16,503,000 to retained RIEERERD RIEERRARK
profits, RMB 1,804,000 to non-controlling interests. The 16,503,0007t 2 A R # 1,804,000
Group recognised related deferred tax liabilities amounting to T AEEERAWHELEREAE

RMB6, 103,000. AR¥6,103,0007T °
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REPBRRME @)

For the year ended 31 December 2018
B2 —ZE—\F+A=+—HIFE

2, APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“IFRSs”) (Continued)

2.1

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
(Continued)
Summary of effects arising from initial application of

IFRS 15 (Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

[b)  In respective of sales of properties, the Group concluded that
there was a significant financing component for those contracts
where the period between the customer’s payment and the
fransfer of properties o the customer exceeds one year. Upon
adoption of IFRS 15, the Group recognised contract liabilities
amounting to RMB960,050,000 for the interest on the
advances received from customers with a significant financing
component, with RMB41,612,000 and RMB904,567,000
charged fo refained earnings and properties under development
respectively. The Group recognised related deferred tax assets
amounting to RMB13,871,000.

(c) Advances from customers of RMB19,782,530,000 in respect
of sales of properties and properties management previously
included in pre-sale deposits were reclassified to contract

liabilities.

The following tables summarise the impacts of applying IFRS
15 on the Group's consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 December 2018 and its consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the current
year for each of the line items affected. line items that were

not affected by the changes have not been included.

FE FA 5T B BR BA 5 4R & 2 A
([ PRI F 4R & 2R ) RE A

=] (48)

2.1 BIRMBRERREISHREE
BE&#rm(48)
WS ERR T 3 2RI 155
B2 AR ()
GERNC)

b) VEEETH AKERREFLH
RERTFEREY X M
B—FNENFEEARERD -
TA BR A0 B % B 75 3R 5 E R 28 1558
% AEBEREHREAREX
BELDNEFHERBRFES
A& &R AR%960,050,0007T
NEERBENRERTYEFD
RIFBR AR EE41,612,000T R AR
#904,567,0007T ° AN & E iR AE
RIEIERIRE EARYK 13,871,000

al

) BEFABREZESNHEDER
MEERBREFPREARE
19,782,530,000E EF D ERE
RIBIME -

TREERBB SRS ERE | SHLA
EER-T—\F+-A=T—BREAH
AR RAE R AR R T
R EEEVQEAOYE - TEEDYE
ZEEBMIIA -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continved)

A VBRRWE @

For the year ended 31 December 2018
BE-FT—)\F+-A=+—HIFE

2, APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“IFRSs”) (Continued)

2.1 IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
(Continued)
Summary of effects arising from initial application of
IFRS 15 (Continued)
Impact on the consolidated statement of financial
position

Non-current Assets ERBEE
Deferred tax assets RIERTHEE
Current Assets REEE

Properties under development BRAYE
Trade, other receivables and JEURBRERR ~ EfbEW 1A

advance deposits KIERRE
Contract assefs ERERE
Contract costs ERKA
Capital and reserves EARRfEE
Retained earnings RE RN
Non-controlling interests FEERR R
Non-current Liabilities kRBERE
Deferred tax liabilities RERIEEE
Current Liabilities wREERE
Per-sale deposits BEES

Contract liabilities ARAE

2. &R ERT EBR BB 4R & 2 A
([ EIPRRA 4R & 2 Al |) R HAE
51 (&)

2.1 BB HRELEREISSREE
FEE&#ms: (&)
2 S EIPR R 75 3 R 15905
EL 22 (F)
HEaMBRIRNTZE

Amounts
without

application
As reported Adjustment of IFRS 15

SR FE P EIRR

MR & A

W05 & AT 51 HE BISHZLH
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARBETE ARETT

644,169 (15,279 628,890

25,083,825 (549,178) 24,534,647
17,538,455 839,997 18,378,452

839,997 (839,997) -

54,962 [54,962) -
4,778,667 6,361 4,785,028
2,694,520 (1,743) 2,692,777
1,822,577 (13,741) 1,808,836

23,900,932 23,900,932
24,511,228 (24,511,228) -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLUDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continved)

REPBRRME @)

For the year ended 31 December 2018
B2 —ZE—\F+A=+—HIFE

2, APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“IFRSs”) (Continued)

2.1 IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
(Continued)
Summary of effects arising from initial application of
IFRS 15 (Continued)
Impact on the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income

Revenue Y

Cost of sales SHEM A

Selling and markefing expenses S5 RIS HEEE A

Finance costs A KA

Profit before income tax  BRFTEHiAIEEFI

Income tax expense PSR

Profit for the year ERiTF

Attributable fo: ATAT RN

Owners of the Company KRREAA

Non-controlling inferests FEE AR A

Total comprehensive ERZEBNEE
income for the year

Attributable fo: ATAL RN

Owners of the Company KRFREAA

Non-controlling inferests FEE R A

2. FE R #a]BIRR R 55 R & 2 A
(FI’%Eﬁ%#E%iEﬁUJ)&Eﬁ%
&l (48

2.1 BEPRMARBRERREISSREE
FEE&HmE (&)
A2 BRI 3 & BRI 1555
B2 ()
HEGRHEAAMEEFEARNTE

Amounts
without

application
As reported Adjustment of IFRS 15

I FE PR B

AR & A

i HE EISMZEH
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT AR®TE ARETET

15,444,246 [500,869) 14,943,377
11,306,122 [467,315) 10,838,807

811,226 30,552 841,778
187,488 (39,189 148,299
3,731,318 (24,917) 3,706,401
1,750,378 (6,230) 1,744,148
1,980,940 (18,687) 1,962,253
1,736,288 (18,748) 1,717,540
244,652 6l 244,713
2,065,195 (18,687] 2,046,508
1,820,543 (18,748] 1,801,795
244,652 6l 244,713
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A VBRRWE @

For the year ended 31 December 2018
BE-FT—)\F+-A=+—HIFE

2, APPLICATION OF NEW AND 2.
AMENDMENTS TO INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“IFRSs”) (Continued)

2.1 IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
(Continued)
Summary of effects arising from initial application of
IFRS 15 (Continued)
Impact on the consolidated statement of cash
flows

Operating activities )

Profit for the year FNE

Income tax expense RS AR

Increase in contract costs & RKAEM

Increase in properties under BRAMER
development and completed ERKAE
properties held for sale ESEI

Increase in contract assets BREELM

Increase in frode and other receivables U ER 2R I HAtb B UL FRIB 18 A1

Increase in trade, other payables JERTBRER - HMERFRIA
and pre-sale deposifs RigEReEn

Increase in contract liabilities aREEEM

Net cash from BEEHRERLSFHE

operating activities

FE FA 5] B B B 5 4R & 2 Al
([ EIPRRA 4R & 2 Al |) R HAE
51 (&)

2.1 BISMARRERASEISHREE
FEE&#ms: (&)
2 S EIPR R 75 3 R 15905
EL 22 (F)
HEARSRERNTE

Amounts
without

application
As reported Adjustment of IFRS 15

SR FE P EIRR

MR & A

W05 & AT 51 HE BISHZLH
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARBETE ARETT

1,980,940 (18,687) 1,962,253
1,750,378 [6,230) 1,744,148
(30,552 30,552 -
(11,747,784) 14,763 (11,733,021)

(841,400) 841,400 -
[525,0606) (841,400  (1,366,466)

4,997,257 8,039,079 13,036,336
8,059,477  (8,059,477) -

1,156,101 - 1,156,101
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
B2 —ZE—\F+A=+—HIFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“IFRSs”) (Continued)

2.2 IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

In the current year, the Group has applied IFRS @ Financial
Instruments and the related consequential amendments to
other IFRSs. IFRS @ introduces new requirements for 1) the
classification and measurement of financial assets and financial
liabilities, 2] expected credit losses ("ECL") for financial
assets, other items (for example, contract assets and financial

guarantee contracts) and 3) general hedge accounting.

The Group has applied IFRS 9 in accordance with the
fransition provisions sef out in IFRS 9. i.e. applied the
classification and measurement requirements [including
impairment under ECL model) retrospectively to instruments
that have not been derecognised as at 1 January 2018 (date
of initial application) and has not applied the requirements
fo instruments that have already been derecognised as af |
January 2018. The difference between carrying amounts as
at 31 December 2017 and the carrying amounts as af |
January 2018 are recognised in the opening retained profits
and other components of equity, without resfating comparative

information.

Accordingly, certain comparative information may not be
comparable as comparative information was prepared under

IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement.

Accounting policies resulting from application of IFRS 9 are

disclosed in note 3.

FE FA 5T B BR BA 5 4R & 2 A
([ PRI F 4R & 2R ) RE A

=] (48)

2.2 EFRRMBHRERAFENEMT
£
RAFEE - ANEED R RRA SR
EERIEOS A TR R H MBS
e AR ABEEET - BIRATIS
RERAFORR ) SHMEERSH
BENSENFE  2)SMEE K
BB (WE FREERMEERELD)
TS B IR ([TERIEEASE )
R3)—RRYLRRET S AFTHIE -

REBEREBEEEMBREERES
SI% FIT S0 A 38 R 16 S E R B R B s T o
HBIEO - A —F—NEFE—F—
B(EXERBAE) MARBUERERN T
BBMERDE R EER(BEER
EEBEBENETRRE) - Mgy
ERZZE—N\F—A—BEUEERD
R TEEMAMBBRER  —T—+F
TZA=+T—HMNEEBERE-_ZT N
F-A—ANEEEZEANZEREH
AR B 5 F Jk 4 2 ) H At 3B > P
R WEBS|AELEER -

BN BRE R DRIEER &5 £]F
SR BT A - BRI ERE
It BT HERER AR ERELE -

A e P B R B 75 ¥ o R R SE QS M S B
VERTEREREENIES -
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
BE—F—/\F+_A=+—HUFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“IFRSs”) (Continued)

2.2 IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (Continued)

Summary of effects arising from initial application of
IFRS @

The table below illustrates the classification and measurement
of financial assets and financial liabilities and other items
subject to ECL under IFRS @ and IAS 39 at the dafe of initial
application, 1 January 2018.

Equity  Financiol

instruments  assets at

atfair value  amortised

through cost

other  (previously

Available- comprehensive ~ classified as
for-sale income loans and

investments  (“FVTOCI”) ~receivables)

Financial
liabilities at
fair value
through
profit or
loss
("FVPL)

BARGESE  HEENE RARREDR

REM2EKRN  HENER

(RAARESR  EECEH

REMZENA])  HERER

THhERE  BREIR  REKRR)

Notes:  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB’000
Mg ARBTT  AR®TR  ARETR

PER( %
ARREIR
51
Heuak
RMB'000
AREFR

FE F # 51 B PR B %5 3R &5 2 Bl
([ EIPRRA 4R & 2 Al |) R HAE
5] (48)

2.2 EIFRMBHREERFHEMT
")
P2 P B R 35 3 25 2B R 2 O3 Y
EZ 70
TRIUASHEERSHABBRL M
W RBBEEBRERRSERMA
B2 N\F—A—B)REERH
RS LA BN R & 28 E
BOEITH D BT E -

Other Deferred
financial ~ Deferred tax  FVIOCl  Retained

liobilites ~ tax assets  liabilities  reserve  earnings

BALRE

SRR

2EkA
RUSHAR WEWEAE BEAERR  HER  REE
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
AEBTR  ARRFR  ARMTR ARETR ARETR

Closing balonce ot 31 K-E-+&E+2f 174,567 - 9,059,063 - 98,178 817,628 957,999 - 3,560,011
December 2017-14539  =+-BHEK
Eh—Emet
EYE08
Eect arising from il A1 E B BB
opplicaton of RS 9 HEERIE0%R
mEe:
Reclassificofion i - - " - :
From ovailablefor RETHLERE [l (174,567) 174,567 - = o - - - -
sale investmens
From other financiol P EE T = o - 98,178 (98,178 - - - ;
libilties
Remeasurement Biiitg
Fomcosiofoirvlee — #HAZALER (ol - 7433 - - 1,858 5,575 -
Impaiment under ECL -~ BHEEEEES (o - - (27,544) - " 6,386 - - (20658)
model ETHBE
Opening balonce of R=F-\E-A - 182,000 9,031,519 98,178 - 824514 959,857 5575 3,539,353

1 Jonuary 2018 ~RtEES
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“IFRSs”) (Continued)

2.2 IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (Continued)

Summary of effects arising from initial application of

IFRS 9 (Continued)

(a)

Available-forsale ("AFS”) investments

The Group elected to present in other comprehensive
income ("OCI") for the fair value changes of all its
equity investments previously classified as availablefor-
sale, all of them related fo unquoted equity investments
previously measured at cost less impairment under IAS
39. These investments are not held for trading and nof
expected fo be sold in the foreseeable future. At the
date of initial application of IFRS @, RMB174,567,000
were reclassified from available-for-sale invesiments
fo equity instruments at FVTOCI. The fair value gains
of RMB7,433,000 relating to those unquoted equity
investments previously carried at cost less impairment
were adjusted fo equity instruments at FVTOCI, with
corresponding adjustments RMB5,575,000 to FVTOC]
reserve and RMB1,858,000 fo deferred tax liability as
at 1 January 2018.

Impairment under ECL model

The Group applies the IFRS @ simplified approach to
measure ECL which uses a lifetime ECL for all trade
receivables and confract assets. Except for those
which had been determined as credit impaired under
IAS 39, trade receivables and contract assets have
been assessed individually for debtors with significant
balances, the remaining balances are grouped
based on debtors’ aging. To measure the ECL, trade
receivables and contfract assefs have been grouped

based on shared credit risk characteristics.

FE FA 5T B BR BA 5 4R & 2 A
([ PRI F 4R & 2R ) RE A

5 (48)

22 ERMBHRERESHEMT

16 )
A2 FEFEEIR R B 3 & 2 R E 995 49
AR ()

o) AHLEE(AHGE)RE
REEEEREAM DB SAHD
EZABREREN AR BEZ
BREMEEEA(EbEE
AN - 202N EATR
BB & 5T R 5 395K IRAL A
MERER B R ERERER
B ZEREWFFFHEEE - B
BT ERABERKHE - 1
e RBR MR EERIEO
2B AR¥174,567,000
TEHAIHEEREEHVES
BAREEIIBRNEM2ERA
BT A o SERTIRA AR SR,
B ENEREREREAAE
Bl s AREE7,433,0007tE2
EER T \F—A— B8R
DA EESIBRREAM 2 E KA
BRETR  WHEFABARK
5,575,000t =R A 1t BETIE
REMEEBANRKERARE
1,858 OO0 EEERAAE -

b) FEREEERRAE TAIBE
ARER B e R B B 7% R £ )
FORBLEKBFEREE R B
B HlFrBRUIES R ERE
ELATFENBREERE -
BRIR IR BIER & 5t RIS 395k &
ERCHERESN  HAFEX
R EERR R REED &
TTIERIRHE - fRERIR AR R UBRSK
HFRERER AR - RETEEMEEES
B RUER A REEDRE
KAGERRSHIHE -

167



168

GREENLAND HONG KONG HOLDINGS LIMITED

Annual Report 2018

NOTES TO THE CONSOLDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continved)

e p ST ELNEEAE )

For the year ended 31 December 2018
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“IFRSs”) (Continued)

2.2 IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (Continued)

Summary of effects arising from initial application of

IFRS 9 (Continued)

(b)

Impairment under ECL model (Continued)

ECL for other financial assets at amortised cost,
including bank balance and cash and other nontrade
receivables, are assessed on 12-month ECL (“12m
ECL’) basis and there had been no significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition, except for the other
nonrade receivables amounting to RMB573,720,000
which are assessed and measured on lifetime ECL basis
as those credit risk had increased significantly since

initial recognition.

For outstanding financial guarantees, the Group
considers there has been no significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition and hence the loss

allowance is assessed on 12m ECL basis.

As at 1 January 2018, the additional credit loss
allowance of RMB27,544,000 has been recognised
against refained eamings. The additional loss allowance

is charged against the respective asset.

2.2 ERMBREERESREMT

(&)

2 FE B PR R 75 3 2 2 R 3 O3 1Y

STERLIL ()

(6] FEREEERKRE T AR E
(&)

RESHR AT ENE MBS REE
(BRERITAER NI AR EAM
FEZRUEF)MFEREEE
BIRRI2EAABPEEERE
(M2EREMEEBIR]) £
5t - B RERAREE
R EAIRIE N - AR
573,720,000 Ly K b 3E & 5
PR i BRI E BB
BEEFERIE - RAZEE
[\ B G FERR LA TR ERZ SR AN ©

AAEEMBEFRTS - AEE
RBBE IR AREER R
ARG - %1218 AR
EERIREET LB -

RZZ—N\F—A—H  AR¥
27,544,000t W REIME B BB
BEBERMRE BNHER - BINE
BREESENEETR
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
B2 —ZE—\F+A=+—HIFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND 2.
AMENDMENTS TO INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“IFRSs”) (Continued)

2.2 IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (Continued)

Summary of effects arising from initial application of

IFRS 9 (Continued)
(b}  Impairment under ECL model (Continued)

All loss allowances including trade receivables and
other nontrade receivables as at 31 December 2017
reconcile to the opening loss allowance as at 1 January
2018 is as follows:

ﬁ?;ﬁﬁ%ﬁ%'fﬂ?%ﬂﬁ%#ﬁ%ﬁﬂu
igﬂ’;’-‘ﬂﬁ%i HEADREE

2.2 EIRMBREENEWRERMT

R(#&)

2 FE A B R B 7 3 2 2E R B 05 1Y

B ()

(b) R EEEEE T 6 E
(#&)
RZZE—+F+=A=1+—HH
Fi BB A (RIS EUR R &
HiIEE 5 EKERR) BN =T
—\F— B —BNBEEEE
HERIAT -

Other non-
Trade trade

receivables receivables Total

HibFkES
FEWIRRR FEWIRRR st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT

At 31 December 2017 - IAS 39 R-E—+FE+-A=+—H 25,735 43,400 69,135
— BB ER|E 395
Amounts remeasured through B IBEIVIR 5 10,758 16,786 27 544
opening retained eamings B ENCE
At 1 January 2018 RZE—N\F—H—H 36,493 60,186 96,679

2.3 Amendments to IAS 40 Transfers of Investment
Property
The amendments clarify that a fransfer to, or from, investment
property necessitates an assessment of whether a property
meets, or has ceased to meet, the definition of investment
property, supported by evidence that a change in use has
occurred. The amendments further clarify that situations other
than the ones listed in IAS 40 may evidence a change in
use, and that a change in use is possible for properties under
construction (i.e. a change in use is not limited to completed

properties).

At the date of initial application, the Group assessed the
classification of certain properties based on conditions existed
at that date, there is no impact fo the classification af 1 January

2018.

2.3 EIFREGHEERISE405R 2 18T ER
REME
ZEERE  MREMEBRENR
RENFBRREZFEVERENA
BREMENEZXLE THTAREY
TR WARBBHCDEERE
BE - REE—TERE  RERE
FHERIF 405 2 ERT FRFIRIE I -
HAb1E /R—ﬁ%%‘.ﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁ %ﬁFﬁEﬁz“ :
EEYF A ERAg (ke

?T[‘EK‘E@EXW%)

RUIFEBEH  AEBRENZA
FEORAFES TOERIE - HR
T \F—A—- B0 BBEEK

By 488
?ég;: °
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
BE-FT—)\F+-A=+—HIFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND

AMENDMENTS TO INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(“IFRSs”) (Continued)

2.4 Impacts on opening consolidated statement of
financial position arising from the application of all

new standards

As a result of the changes in the entity’s accounting policies

above, the opening consolidated statement of financial

position had fo be restated. The following table show the

adjustments recognised for each of the line items affected.

31 December
2017
—E-tf
+=A=+-H

RMB'000

ARBFT

[Audited)
(4===247)

FE A 2] B B B 5 4R & 2 Al
(T EEPREA TSR 25 2 Al |) R 2L 48
5 (&)

2.4 FERFAHREHNNGEESME

MR LA EESABRNES - 1)
RAEMBMAKRATED - TRIIR
A EBTE R ERNREE -

1 January
2018
B-0\fF
—A-H
RMB'000
ARBTT
[Restated)
(E3))

IFRS 15
ERRMBRE
ERIE155
RMB'000
ARETT

IFRS 9
BT
#AIEOM
RMB'000
ARBFT

Non-current Assets ERENEE
Equity insiruments at FVTOC BAREBESIRAEMEE - - 182,000 182,000
AR REET A

Other financial asses Hibem&eE 174,567 - (174,567) -

Deferred fax assefs IREFIEE E 817,628 13,871 6,886 838,385

Others with no adjustments AR E IR R 26,004,562 - - 26,004,562
26,996,757 13,871 14,319 27,024,947

Current Assets RENEE

Properiies under development EEDYE 8,045,329 904,567 - 9,849,896

Confract costs & RIS 24,410 24,410

Trade, other receivables and FEURERFR ~ Hitb 12,568,170 - (27 544 12,540,626

advance deposits FEWRIE RIE RS

Others with no adjusiments I R B IE B 20,239,540 - - 20,239,540
41,753,039 928,977 (27 544) 42,654,472

Total assets EERE 68,749,796 042,848 (13,225) 69,679,419

Equity T

Reserves & 961,894 - 5,575 Q67 469

Refained eamings 1REB =7 3,560,011 (25,109 (20,658 3,514,244

Non-controlling interests I 2R 1,725,761 1,804 - 1,727,565

Others with no adjusiments A7 AR B IE B 5,337,224 - - 5,337.224
11,584,890 (23,305 (15,083) 11,546,502
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
B2 —ZE—\F+A=+—HIFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND 2.
AMENDMENTS TO INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(“IFRSs”) (Continued)

2.4 Impacts on opening consolidated statement of
financial position arising from the application of all
new standards (Continued)

31 December
2017
—B—tE
+ZA=+-H
RMB'000
ARETT

(Audited|
(fB2=1%)

2.4 FERFAHENHPNESHT
KRR E(E)

1 January
2018
—E-\E
—A—-H
RMB'000
ARETT

IFRS 15
ERMBRE
EAIE155
RMB'000
ARETT

IFRS 9
BRI EE
#RIE9%
RMB'000
ARBTTE

[Restated|
(g =51)

Non-current Liabilities ExEFEE
Deferred tax liabilities FELERIEEE 957,999 6,103 1,858 965,960
Others with no adjusiments WEFAENEMIER 12,000,483 - - 12,000,483
12,958,482 6,103 1,858 12,966,443
Current Liabilities REERE
Pre-sale deposits JEEEE 19,782,530 (19,782,530) - -
Contract liabilities ARAEE - 20,742,580 - 20,742,580
Financial liabilities ot FVTPL BARBEYER - - 08,178 08,178
EamerasE
Other financial liabilities HibeahBaE 98,178 - (98,178) -
Others with no adjusiments WEFAERHEMIER 24,325,716 - - 24325716
44,206,424 960,050 - 45,166,474
Total liabilities R 57,164,906 966,153 1,858 58,132,917
Total equity and liabilities  #£35 & & &4858 68,749,796 042 848 (13,225) 69,679,419
Net current liabilities REBEFE (2,453,385) (31,073 (27,544) (2,512,002
Total assets exceed BEEBERDAER 24,543,372 (17,202) (13,225 24,512,945

current liabilities
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
BE-F—/\F+_A=+—HIFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND 2.
AMENDMENTS TO INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“IFRSs”) (Continued)

2.5 New and amendments to IFRSs in issue but not yet
effective:
The Group has not early applied the following new and

amendments to IFRSs that have been issued but are not yet

effective:
IFRS 16 leases!
IFRS 17 Insurance Confracts?
IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments!
Amendments fo [FRS 3 Definition of a Business*
Amendments fo [FRS 9 Prepayment Features with
Negative Compensation’
Amendments fo Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor
IFRS 10 and IAS 28 and ifs Associate or Joint Venture?
Amendments fo Definition of Material®
IAS 1 and IAS 8
Amendments fo IAS 19 Plan Amendment, Curtailment and Setflement!
Amendments fo [AS 28 longrferm Inferests in
Associates and Joint Ventures!
Amendments fo [FRSs Annual Improvements fo

IFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle!

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or affer 1 January

2019.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or affer a date to be
determined.

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or affer 1 January
2021.

4 Effective for business combinations and asset acquisitions for

which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the
first annual period beginning on or affer 1 January 2020.

5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or affer 1 January
2020.

Except for the new and amendments to IFRSs mentioned
below, the directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of all other new and amendments to IFRSs will
have no material impact on the consolidated financial

statements in the foreseeable future.

E AR 8 K 4 3 2 e T B PR A
BHEREAREIET

AR B R IR T B T EBAGE
RAE 2 AT BB BT S R A A R
3T -

ERBEEENRI0%  HE

ERIBREEANR7R  RRaw

ARMBREREREE  HEREEOTETL
3%

Gl K AN 3 i

g7

B RS REETHHER
R BT BB

ARMBREENZI0RR REFEABENTN
EREENEEy  AELRIMHER
g EABRE?

AREHERE I NRER EELER
S RAIESR 2 BF

BIREERIZ 1028 FHEIEAT - R

BREHERENSEr  RBERARRAELE

4 RS

BRGEREENZET BEHEREEN-F
—RFE-T—+tF
BENERYE!

i RIE-NAF-—A—Hkz2%RH

RS HARI AR o
2 MFFE B Hisk 2 & F i R E B
8 RZTEZ—F—A—Hxk2&RHA
R E HARI AR 2R -

4 MWERBHA-_T_TF—HA—H
2 %A B EF R
N2 EMEBETREEREE -

8 MZT=—ZTF—A—HxzEHA
RIS E HAR A 2R -

B T Bt 2 ¥ AT BB B 75 3R 5 £ A
REERTIN  RRAREEFRRAEAM
BEMHFTERPBEREER R EE
AR AR ARRE T & HER S MR
RELEAZE -
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2, APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“IFRSs”) (Continued)

2.5 New and amendments to IFRSs in issue but not yet
effective: (Continued)
IFRS 16 Leases
IFRS 16 introduces a comprehensive model for the
identification of lease arrangements and accounting freatments
for both lessors and lessees. IFRS 16 will supersede IAS
17 leases and the related interpretations when it becomes

effective.

IFRS 16 distinguishes lease and service contracts on the basis
of whether an identified asset is controlled by a customer. In
addition, IFRS 16 requires sales and leaseback transactions
fo be determined based on the requirements of IFRS 15 as fo
whether the fransfer of the relevant asset should be accounted as
a sale. IFRS 16 also includes requirements relafing to subleases

and lease modifications.

Distinctions of operating leases and finance leases are
removed for lessee accounting, and is replaced by a model
where a rightof-use asset and a corresponding liability have
fo be recognised for all leases by lessees, except for shortterm

leases and leases of low value assets.

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost and
subsequently measured at cost (subject to certain exceptions)
less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, adjusted
for any remeasurement of the lease liability. The lease liability
is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments
that are not paid at that date. Subsequently, the lease liability
is adjusted for inferest and lease payments, as well as the
impact of lease modifications, amongst others. Furthermore, the
classification of cash flows will also be affected as operating
lease payments under IAS 17 are presented as operating
cash flows. Upon application of IFRS 16, the lease payments
in relation to lease liability will be split into a principal and
an interest portion which will be presented as financing cash
flows by the group. Upfront prepaid lease payments will
confinue to be presented as investing or operating cash flows

in accordance fo the nature, as appropriate.

ﬁ%lW%ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬂ

(I'l *BRE RN ) REE
ST(4&)

2.5 CiEfhE R RAER Z HE] IR

BHERRIREET - ()
EIRRRI T 3R 5 R 1 63 E

BIRR B SRS 2B 5 1 O A B AR
ARFBRANBER R & EES
A—(BFEER - HEEHBERE %
RIS OFRAIRES - AR ERR & 5%
RIS 750 B RARRIRTE -

BIBR B 15 3R 5 2RISR 1 OFRAR IR P 8B
BESTATPEFNRERDHEE R
BAK - ths BRI EHREERE
1657 3R TE B 12 10 1 2 S AR 45 B R B 7
BEEANELSHERERABEER
BERERHEARNREMETE - B
B BREERIE 1R TEREED
HEEEEHHRE o

REHMHERKELEERSEI) - £%
HERREHENEZEZRABRASE
BIEBR - WARABEANMEHEE
REAREERMESBENEXE
Ko

EREEEVTIRRAE - WHEER
ARG (MR T HISMBRER SN B R 5
FEMBEREFE  YHEEAE
EREHMAEMELRER - HEAE
TRMENFRGEE B ) MR EL]
FEE - Bk HERGER(ETE
BN B RBENFTIARBEETTHNF
EEHHRE - 1IN ARBEEREEE
AF17RBATHREEEMNFARLE
RERELY] BERENDEITE
X8  BRRARBRYBHREERE
165520 SREERESAGENES
NRDERAE RF B - WK A
MERSRERS - FIABNESER
PR EBREMNE 20 RIRE S K
Reng(wEs) -
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2, APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“IFRSs”) (Continued)

2.5 New and amendments to IFRSs in issue but not yet

effective: (Continued)
IFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

Under IAS 17, the Group has already recognised an asset and
a related finance lease liability for finance lease arrangement
and prepaid lease payments for leasehold lands where the
Group is a lessee. The application of IFRS 16 may result in
potential changes in classification of these assets depending
on whether the Group presents right-of-use assets separately
or within the same line item at which the corresponding

underlying assets would be presented if they were owned.

Other than certain requirements which are also applicable
fo lessor, IFRS 16 substantially carries forward the lessor
accounting requirements in IAS 17, and continues to require

a lessor fo classify a lease either as an operating lease or a

finance lease.

Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by IFRS 16.

As at 31 December 2018, the Group has non-cancellable
operating lease commitments of RMB57,970,000 as
disclosed in note 46. A preliminary assessment indicates that
these arrangements will meet the definition of a lease. Upon
application of IFRS 16, the Group will recognise a rightof-use
asset and a corresponding liability in respect of all these leases

unless they qualify for low value or shortferm leases.

In addition, the Group currently considers refundable rental
deposits paid of RMB2,308,000 and refundable rental
deposits received of RMB21,362,000 as rights and
obligations under leases to which IAS 17 applies. Based on
the definition of lease payments under IFRS 16, such deposits
are not payments relating to the right to use the underlying
assefs, accordingly, the carrying amounts of such deposits
may be adjusted to amortised cost. Adjustments to refundable
rental deposits paid would be considered as additional lease
payments and included in the carrying amount of right-of-
use assets. Adjustments fo refundable rental deposits received

would be considered as advance lease payments.
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2, APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“IFRSs”) (Continued)

2.5

New and amendments to IFRSs in issue but not yet
effective: (Continued)

IFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

The application of new requirements may result in changes
in measurement, presentation and disclosure as indicated
above. The Group infends to elect the practical expedient to
apply IFRS 16 to contracts that were previously identified as
leases applying IAS 17 and IFRIC-nt 4 Defermining whether
an Arrangement contains a lease and not apply this standard
to confracts that were not previously identified as containing a
lease applying IAS 17 and IFRIC-Int 4. Therefore, the Group
will not reassess whether the contracts are, or contain a lease
which already existed prior to the date of initial application.
Furthermore, the Group intends to elect the modified
refrospective approach for the application of IFRS 16 as lessee
and will recognise the cumulative effect of initial application
fo opening refained profits without restating comparative

information.

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

3.1

3.2

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with IFRSs issued by IASB. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Goveming the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing Rules’) and
by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Fair value and historical cost

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis except for cerfain financial instruments
and investment properties that are measured at fair values at
the end of reporting period, as explained in the accounting

policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the

consideration given in exchange for goods and services.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EXE:TEHR(E)
(Continued)
3.2 Fair value and historical cost (Continued) 3.2 ARBEREERE(E)

Fair value is the price that would be received fo sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value
of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing
the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for
measurement and disclosure purposes in these consolidated
financial statements is determined on such a basis, except
for leasing transactions that are within the scope of IAS 17
leases, and measurements that have some similarities to fair
value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in IAS

2 Inventories or value in use in IAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in ifs highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset

in its highest and best use.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised info level 1, 2 or 3 based on
the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements
are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair
value measurement in ifs entirety, which are described as

follows:

o level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity

can access at the measurement date;
o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices

included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset

or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

o level 3 inpufs are unobservable inputs for the asset or

liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
3.3 Basis of consolidation

3. EXEBRE

3.3 EiHEE

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the

Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the

Company:
e has power over the investee;
e s exposed, or has rights, fo variable returns from its

involvement with the investee; and
e  has the ability to use its power fo affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it confrols an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one

or more of the three elements of control listed above.

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting rights
of an investee, it has power over the investee when the voting
rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct
the relevant activities of the investee unilaterally. The Group
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing
whether or not the Group's voting rights in an investee are

sufficient fo give it power, including:

e the size of the Group's holding of voting rights relative
fo the size and dispersion of holdings of the other vote
holders;

o potential voting rights held by the Group, other vote

holders or other parties;
° rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

®  any additional facts and circumstances that indicate
that the Group has, or does not have, the current ability
fo direct the relevant activities at the time that decisions
need fo be made, including voling patterns at previous

shareholders’ meetings.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
3.3 Basis of consolidation (Continued)
Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control the

subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-

confrolling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries fo bring their accounting policies info

line with the Group's accounting policies.

All infragroup assefs and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating fo transactions between members of

the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group's equity therein, which represent
present ownership interests entitling their holders to a
proportionate share of net assefs of the relevant subsidiaries

upon liquidation.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EXE:THE(E
(Continued)
3.3 Basis of consolidation (Continued)

3.3 SHEEER)

Changes in the Group's inferests in subsidiaries that do not
result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries are
accounted for as equity tfransactions. The carrying amounts
of the Group's relevant components of equity and the non-
controlling interests are adjusted fo reflect the changes in their
relative interests in the subsidiaries, including re-aftribution of
relevant reserves between the Group and the non-controlling
interests according to the Group's and the non-controlling

interests’ proportionate inferests.

Any difference between the amount by which the non-
controlling interests are adjusted, and the fair value of the
consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity

and attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets
and liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling interests
[if any) are derecognised. A gain or loss is recognised in
profit or loss and is calculated as the difference between |i
the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received
and the fair value of any retained interest and (i) the carrying
amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of
the subsidiary attributable to the owners of the Company. All
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income
in relation fo that subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group
had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities of the
subsidiary [i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred directly
fo retained eamings as specified by applicable IFRSs). The
fair value of any investment retained in the former subsidiary
at the date when control is lost is regarded as the fair value
on initial recognition for subsequent accounting under IFRS 9/
IAS 39 when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an

investment in a joint venture or an associate.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EXE:TEHR(E)
(Continued)
3.4 Business combinations 3.4 X(BEH

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration fransferred in a business
combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated
as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of the assets
fransferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group
fo the former owners of the acquiree and the equity inferesfs
issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree.
Acquisition-related cosfs are generally recognised in profit or

loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except
that:

e deferred tax assets or liabilities and liabilities or
assets related to employee benefit arrangements are
recognised and measured in accordance with IAS
12 Income Taxes and IAS 19 Employee Benefits

respectively;

e liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based
payment arrangements of the Group entered into fo
replace share-based payment arrangements of the
acquiree are measured in accordance with IFRS 2
Share-based Payment at the acquisition date (see the

accounting policy below); and

e assefs (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for
sale in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held
for Sale and Discontinued Operations are measured in

accordance with that Standard.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
3.4 Business combinations (Continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration fransferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity inferest in the acquiree (if any) over the
net amount of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable
assets acquired and the liabilities assumed. If, after re-
assessment, the net amount of the identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the
acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer's previously held
interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised

immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

Non-confrolling inferests that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the relevant
subsidiary’s net assefs in the event of liquidation are inifially
measured at the non-controlling inferests’ proportionate share of

the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable nef assets.

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a business
combination includes a contingent consideration arrangement,
the confingent consideration is measured at its acquisition-date
fair value and included as part of the consideration transferred
in a business combination. Changes in the fair value of the
contingent consideration that qualify as measurement period
adjustments are adjusted retrospectively. Measurement
period adjustments are adjustments that arise from additional
information obtained during the “measurement period” (which
cannot exceed one year from the acquisition date] about facts

and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date.

The subsequent accounting for the contingent consideration that
do not qualify as measurement period adjustments depends
on how the contingent consideration is classified. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured at
subsequent reporfing dates and its subsequent setflement is
accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration that is
classified as an asset or a liability is remeasured fo fair value
at subsequent reporting dates, with the corresponding gain or

loss being recognised in profit or loss.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EXE:TEHR(E)
(Continued)
3.4 Business combinations (Continued)

3.4 EBEHER)

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the
Group's previously held equity interest in the acquire is
remeasured fo fair volue at the acquisition date [i.e. the date
when the Group obtains control), and the resulting gain or loss,
if any, is recognised in profit or loss or other comprehensive
income, as appropriate. Amounts arising from interests in the
acquiree prior fo the acquisition date that have previously been
recognised in other comprehensive income and measured
under IFRS 9/IAS 39 would be accounted for on the same
basis as would be required if the Group had disposed directly
of the previously held equity interest.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete
by the end of the reporting period in which the combination
occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for
which the accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts
are adjusted refrospectively during the measurement period (see
above), and additional assets or liabilities are recognised, to
reflect new information obtained about facts and circumsfances
that existed as of the acquisition date that, if known, would

have affected the amounts recognised at that date.

3.5 Acquisition of a subsidiary not constituting a

business

When the Group acquires a group of assefs and liabilities
that do not constitute a business, the Group identifies and
recognises the individual identifiable assefs acquired and
liabilities assumed by allocating the purchase price first to
investment properties which are subsequently measured under
fair value model and financial assets/financial liabilities at the
respective fair values, the remaining balance of the purchase
price is then allocated to the other identifiable assets and
liabilities on the basis of their relative fair values at the date of
purchase. Such a fransaction does not give rise to goodwill or

bargain purchase gain.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
3.6 Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at
cost as established at the date of acquisition of the business
[see the accounting policy above| less accumulated impairment

losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment festing, goodwill is allocated to
each of the Group's cash-generating units (or groups of cash-
generating units) that is expected to benefit from the synergies
of the combination, which represent the lowest level at which
the goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes

and not larger than an operating segment.

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash generating unites) to
which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
annually or more frequently when there is indication that the
unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition
in a reporting period, the cash-generating unit (or group of
cash generating unifes] to which goodwill has been allocated
is fested for impairment before the end of that reporting period.
If the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less
than ifs carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated first
to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the
unit and then fo the other assets of the unit on a proata basis
based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit (or the

group of cash generating unites).

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit or any of
the cash-generating unit within the group of cash-generating
units, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the
determination of the amount of profit or loss on disposal.
When the Group disposes of an operation within the cash-
generating unit (or a cash-generating unit within a group of
cash-generating units], the amount of goodwill disposed of is
measured on the basis of the relative values of the operation
lor the cash-generating unit) disposed of and the portion of
the cash-generating unit (or the group of cash-generating units)

retained.

The Group's policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition of

an associate and a joint venture is described below.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EXS:HHR(4E)
(Continued)

3.7 Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associafe is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in
the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but

is not control or joint confrol over those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that
have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net
assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually
agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only
when decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous

consent of the parties sharing control.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates and joint
ventures are incorporated in these consolidated financial
statements using the equity method of accounting. The
financial statements of associates and joint ventures used
for equity accounting purposes are prepared using uniform
accounting policies as those of the Group for like fransactions
and events in similar circumstances. Under the equity method,
an investment in an associate or a joint venture is initially
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position
at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group's
share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income
of the associate or joint venture. Changes in nef assets of
the associate/joint venture other than profit or loss and other
comprehensive income are not accounted for unless such
changes resulted in changes in ownership interest held by the
Group. When the Group's share of losses of an associate
or joinf venture exceeds the Group's inferest in that associate
or joint venture (which includes any long-ferm inferests that,
in substance, form part of the Group's net investment in the
associate or joint venture|, the Group discontinues recognising
its share of further losses. Additional losses are recognised only
fo the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate or

joint venture.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLUDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continved)
REPBRRME @)

For the year ended 31 December 2018
B F— N\ A=t —HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EXEBUIR(E
(Continued)
3.7 Investments in associates and joint ventures

37 REEATREERERE(E)

(Continued)

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted
for using the equity method from the dafe on which the investee
becomes an associate or a joint venture. On acquisition of
the investment in an associate or a joint venture, any excess of
the cost of the investment over the Group's share of the net fair
value of the identifiable assefs and liabilities of the investee is
recognised as goodwill, which is included within the carrying
amount of the investment. Any excess of the Group's share of
the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over
the cost of the investment, after reassessment, is recognised
immediately in profit or loss in the period in which the

investment is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence
that the interest in an associate or a joint venture may be
impaired. When any objective evidence exisfs, the entire
carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill) is tested
for impairment in accordance with IAS 36 as a single asset
by comparing ifs recoverable amount (higher of value in use
and fair value less costs of disposal] with its carrying amount.
Any impairment loss recognised forms part of the carrying
amount of the invesiment. Any reversal of that impairment loss
is recognised in accordance with IAS 36 fo the extent that the

recoverable amount of the investment subsequently increases.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLUDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continved)
e p ST ELNEEAE )

For the year ended 31 December 2018
BE-F—/\F+_A=+—HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EXEBIR(E)

(Continued)
3.7 Investments in associates and joint ventures 3.7 REBEATREELEREE)
(Continued)

When the Group ceases fo have significant influence over an
associate or joint control over a joint venture, it is accounted
for as a disposal of the entire inferest in the investee with a
resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. When
the Group retains an inferest in the former associate or joint
venture and the refained interest is a financial asset within the
scope of IFRSQ/IAS 39, the Group measures the retained
inferest at fair value at that date and the fair value is regarded as
its fair value on initial recognition. The difference between the
carrying amount of the associate or joint venture and the fair
value of any retained interest and any proceeds from disposing
of the relevant interest in the associate or joint venture is
included in the determination of the gain or loss on disposal of
the associate or joint venture. In addition, the Group accounts
for all amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in relation to that associate or joint venture on the
same basis as would be required if that associate or joint
venture had directly disposed of the related assefs or liabilities.
Therefore, if a gain or loss previously recognised in other
comprehensive income by that associate or joint venture would
be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related
assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or loss from
equity fo profit or loss (as a reclassification adjustment] upon
disposal/partial disposal of the relevant associate or joint

venture.

EAKETHBEBENRREED
BEEBATEN HEARRHEE
KRBT 2B ERS - TEE RSN
ERENBRER - WMARBERERA
BEQRHAELENER AZRE
g R BRI SRS RO, B
BT ERIEORBEANSREE -
AEFBERZARAABENERE
s Mz AR EERESN & RE
RENAREE BEARHALED
ENRAERDERE ARG ED
XS T ARE S R ERPT
BREAABEZENEZE X E
EHEMERRREEEEN KRN
EREFEEEENA - 1o AEEEH
SERTEEMEE WAL LB 2 R Ak
BECEERNMELBEAR &%
HEZBENRRAEECEEREER
MEEXBEMFTEEMER - Bt -
ZBERANEELRENERE M
E2HRAFERH RS REE - 81X
EHHEEEXBERENIHEER
& o AEBEENHE D HEHE
B NRg A B EER R EREER
mESEN N EERGE(FREF DR
HE)

ES
i

Q



ZE-N\EER BEBERERAR 187

NOTES TO THE CONSOLUDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continved)
REPBRRME @)

For the year ended 31 December 2018
E_F-N\FTZ A= —HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EXETIBR(E)
(Continued)
3.7 Investments in associates and joint ventures 3.7 RBEATREELEREE)
(Continued)
The Group continues fo use the equity method when an NERERREED
EREER ??%.‘*’Aj&;ﬁ RN
5 o
Ny

L

investment in an associate becomes an investment in a a&h
SEeREFRERE -

1

g

joint venture or an investment in a joinf venture becomes an

)Tma
<
i

=E2FE - TEY

investment in an associate. There is no remeasurement to fair B

value upon such changes in ownership interests. s

HAKBEHRERBEARRAED

When the Group reduces ifs ownership interest in an associafe

or a joint venture but the Group continues to use the equity
method, the Group reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion of
the gain or loss that had previously been recognised in other
comprehensive income relafing to that reduction in ownership
interest if that gain or loss would be reclassified fo profit or loss

on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint
venture of the Group, profits and losses resulting from the
fransactions with the associate or joint venture are recognised
in the Group's consolidated financial statfements only fo the
extent of interests in the associate or joint venture that are not

related to the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOUDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continved)
mEVBRERME@E

For the year ended 31 December 2018
—E-\FEFZA=1—HIFFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EXEBIR(E)
(Continued)
3.8 Revenue from contracts with customers (upon

3.8 REEFRSHEE (RIFMEE2

application of IFRS 15 in accordance with
transitions in note 2)

Under IFRS 15, the Group recognises revenue when (or as)
a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of
the goods or services underlying the particular performance

obligation is transferred to the cusfomer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of

distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over
time by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction
of the relevant performance obligation if one of the following

criteria is met:

®  the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group's performance as the

Group performs;

e the Group's performance creafes and enhances an asset

that the customer controls as the Group performs; or

e the Group's performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed

to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in fime when the

cusfomer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract asset represents the Group's right to consideration in
exchange for goods or services that the Group has transferred
fo a customer that is not yet unconditional. It is assessed
for impairment in accordance with IFRS 9. In contrast, a
receivable represents the Group’s unconditional right to
consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required before

payment of that consideration is due.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
3.8 Revenue from contracts with customers (upon

application of IFRS 15 in accordance with
transitions in note 2) (Continued)

A contract liability represents the Group's obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has
received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due)

from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relafing fo the same

contract are accounted for and presented on a net basis.

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of
progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation

The progress fowards complete satisfaction of a performonce
obligation is measured based on output method, which is
fo recognise revenue on the basis of direct measurements of
the value of the goods or services transferred to the customer
to date relative to the remaining goods or services promised
under the confract, that best depict the Group's performance in

fransferring control of goods or services.

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation is measured based on input method, which is to
recognise revenue on the basis of the Group's efforts or inputs
fo the safisfaction of a performance obligation relative to the
total expected inputs to the satisfaction of that performance
obligation, that best depict the Group's performance in

transferring control of goods or services.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLUDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continved)
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EXEBIR(E)
(Continued)
3.8 Revenue from contracts with customers (upon

3.8 REEFRSHEE (RIFMEE2

application of IFRS 15 in accordance with
transitions in note 2) (Continued)

Existence of significant financing component

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts the
promised amount of consideration for the effects of the time
value of money if the timing of payments agreed (either
explicitly or implicitly) provides the customer or the Group
with a significant benefit of financing the transfer of goods or
services to the customer. In those circumstances, the contract
contfains a significant financing component. A significant
financing component may exist regardless of whether the
promise of financing is explicitly stated in the contract or
implied by the payment terms agreed fo by the parties to the

contract.

For contracts where the period between payment and transfer
of the associated goods or services is less than one year, the
Group applies the practical expedient of not adjusting the

fransaction price for any significant financing component.

For advance payments received from customers before the
transfer of the associated goods or services in which the
Group adjusts for the promised amount of consideration for a
significant financing component, the Group applies a discount
rate that would be reflected in a separate financing fransaction
between the Group and the customer at contract inception.
The relevant interest expenses during the period between
the advance payments were received and the transfer of the
associated goods and services are accounted for on the same

basis as other borrowing cosfs.

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods or services
fo a cusfomer, the Group defermines whether the nature of ifs
promise is a performance obligation to provide the specified
goods or services itself [i.e. the Group is a principal) or to
arrange for those goods or services to be provided by the

other party [i.e. the Group is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good or

service before that good or service is fransferred to a customer.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
3.8 Revenue from contracts with customers (upon

application of IFRS 15 in accordance with
transitions in note 2) (Continued)

Principal versus agent (Continued)

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is to
arrange for the provision of the specified good or service by
another party. In this case, the Group does not control the
specified good or service provided by another party before
that good or service is transferred to the customer. When the
Group acts as an agent, it recognises revenue in the amount
of any fee or commission to which it expects to be enfifled in
exchange for arranging for the specified goods or services to

be provided by the other party.

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract
Incremental costs of obfaining a contract are those costs that
the Group incurs to obtain a contract with a customer that it

would not have incurred if the contract had not been obtained.

The Group recognises sales commissions as an asset if it
expects fo recover these costs. The assef so recognised is
subsequently amortised to profit or loss on a systematic basis
that is consistent with the transfer fo the customer of the goods

or services to which the assets relate.

The Group applies the practical expedient of expensing all
incremental costs to obtain a contract if these costs would
otherwise have been fully amortised to profit or loss within one

year.
Revenue recognition (prior to 1 January 2018)

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable. Revenue is reduced for estimated

customer returns, rebates and other similar allowances.

Revenue is recognised when the amount of revenue can be
reliably measured; when it is probable that future economic
benefits will flow to the Group and when specific criteria have
been met for each of the Group's activities, as described

below.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

3.8 Revenue from contracts with customers (upon
application of IFRS 15 in accordance with
transitions in note 2) (Continued)

Goods, services and interests
Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the goods

are delivered and fitles have passed.

Revenue from sale of properties in the ordinary course of
business is recognised when the respective properties have
been completed and delivered to the buyers. Deposits and
instalments received from purchasers prior to meeting the
above criteria for revenue recognition are included in the
consolidated statement of financial position under current

liabilities.

Revenue from a contract to provide services is recognised by
reference to the stage of completion of the confract. The stage

of completion of the contract is determined as follows:

o installation fees are recognised by reference to the stage
of completion of the installation, determined as the
proportion of the total fime expected fo install that has

elapsed at the end of the reporting period;

*  servicing fees are recognised by reference to the
proportion of the total cost of providing the servicing for

the product sold; and

o revenue from time and material contfracts is recognised
at the contractual rates as labour hours and direct

expenses are incurred.
Service income is recognised when services are provided.

Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to
the principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate
applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated
future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial

asset fo that asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLUDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continved)
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EXE:THBR(E
(Continued)
3.9 Foreign currencies 3.9 HhE

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, fransactions in currencies other than the entity's
functional currency [foreign currencies| are recognised at the
rates of exchange prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At
the end of each reporting period, monetary ifems denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing af
that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined.
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical

cost in a foreign currency are not refranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the setflement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
arise, except for exchange differences on foreign currency
borrowings relating to assets under construction for future
productive use, which are included in the cost of those assets
when they are regarded as an adjusiment fo inferest cosfs on

those foreign currency borrowings.

3.10 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly atiributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assefs, which are assets
that necessarily take a subsfantial period of time to get ready
for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those
assefs until such time as the assets are substantially ready for

their infended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for

capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the

year in which they are incurred.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EXE:TEHR(E)
(Continued)
3.11 Taxation 3.11 $IE

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently

payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit/loss before tax because
of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other
years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group's liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the

reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for
all deductable temporary differences to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets
and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than
in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in
a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial

recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, and interests in joint ventures, except where
the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will
nof reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising
from deductible temporary differences associated with such
investments and inferests are only recognised fo the extent that
it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against
which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and

they are expected fo reverse in the foreseeable future.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
3.11 Taxation (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be

available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assefs and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability
is setfled or the asset is realised, based on tax rates (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the

end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to

recover or seffle the carrying amount of its assefs and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities or
deferred tax assets for investment properties that are measured
using the fair value model, the carrying amounts of such
properties are presumed to be recovered entfirely through sale,
unless the presumption is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted
when the investment property is depreciable and is held within
a business model whose objective is to consume substantially
all of the economic benefits embodied in the investment

property over fime, rather than through sale.

Deferred tax assefs and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority and the Group infends to

seffle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate fo items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. VWhere
current fax or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting
for a business combination, the tax effect is included in the

accounting for the business combination.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EXS:HHR(4E)
(Continued)
3.12 Government grants 3.12 BAFHHED

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions

aftaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profi'r or loss on
a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the grants

are infended fo compensate.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of
giving immediate financial support to the Group with no future
related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in

which they become receivable.

3.13 Leases

leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms
of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as

operating leases.

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit
or loss on a straightline basis over the term of the relevant
lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging
an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the
leased asset. Other than invesiment properties measured under
fair value model, such costs are recognised as an expense on

a straightline basis over the lease term.

Rental income which is derived from the Group's ordinary

course of business is presenfed as revenue.

The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense
on a straightline basis over the term of the relevant lease.
Benefits received and receivable as an incentive to enter info
an operating lease are recognised as a reduction of rental

expense over the lease term on a straightine basis.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
3.14 Employee benefits

Retirement benefit costs and termination benefits

The Group participates in state-managed retirement benefit
schemes, which are defined contribution schemes, pursuant
to which the Group pays a fixed percentage of ifs qualifying
staff’s wages as contributions to the plans. Payments fo
such refirement benefit schemes are charged as an expense
when employees have rendered service entitling them to the

contributions.

A liability for a fermination benefit is recognised at the earlier
of when the entity can no longer withdraw the offer of the
termination benefit and when the entity recognises any related

restructuring cosfs.

Shortterm employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid
as and when employees rendered the services. All short-
ferm employee benefits are recognised as an expense unless
another IFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit in

the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees [such
as wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave) after

deducting any amount already paid.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EXE:TBR(E)
(Continued)

3.14 Employee benefits (Continued) 3. 14 EEEFI(E)

Share options granted to employees
Equity-setiled share-based payments to employees and others
providing similar services are measured at the fair value of the

equity insfruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-seftled share-based payments
determined at the grant date without taking info consideration
all non-market vesting conditions is expensed on a straight-
line basis over the vesting period, based on the Group's
esfimate of equity instruments that will eventually vest, with a
corresponding increase in equity (share opfions reserve). At the
end of each reporting period, the Group revises its estimate
of the number of equity instruments expected to vest based
on assessment of all relevant non-market vesting conditions.
The impact of the revision of the original estimates, if any, is
recognised in profit or loss such that the cumulative expense
reflects the revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment

fo the share options reserve.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share options reserve will be transferred fo share
premium. When the share options are forfeited affer the vesting
date or are sfill not exercised at the expiry date, the amount
previously recognised in share options reserve will continue fo

be held in share options reserve.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EXE:tHHR(E
(Continued)

3.15 Property, plant and equipment 3.15 % - BMEREE

Property, plant and equipment, including land and buildings
held for use in the production or supply of goods or services, or
for administrative purposes other than construction in progress,
are stafed in the consolidated statement of financial position
at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated

impairment losses, if any.

Properties in the course of construction for production, supply or
adminisfrative purposes are carried at cost less any recognised
impairment loss. Costs include professional fees and, for
qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in accordance
with the Group’s accounting policy. Such properties are
classified to the appropriate category of property, plant and
equipment when completed and ready for intended use.
Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other
property assets, commences when the assets are ready for their

infended use.

If an item of property, plant and equipment becomes an
investment property because its use has changed as evidenced
by end of owner-occupation, any difference between the
carrying amount and the fair value of that item (including the
relevant prepaid lease payments) at the date of transfer is
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in property revaluation reserve. On the subsequent sale or
retirement of the asset, the relevant revaluation reserve will be

transferred directly fo refained profifs.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of items
of property, plant and equipment other than construction in
progress less their residual values over their estimated useful
lives, using the straightline method. The estimated useful lives,
residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the
end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in

estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EXEBIR(E)

(Continued)

3.15 Property, plant and equipment (Continued)
An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected fo arise from the continued use of the assef. Any
gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of
property, plant and equipment is defermined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the

asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

3.16 Investment properties
Investment properties are properties held fo earn renfals and/
or for capital appreciation (including and properties under

construction for such purposes).

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including
any directly aftributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are measured at their
fair values. All of the Group's property interests held under
operating leases to eam rentals or for capital appreciation
purposes are classified and accounted for as investment
properties and are measured using the fair value model. Gains
or losses arising from changes in the fair value of investment
property are included in profit or loss for the period in which

they arise.

Construction costs incurred for investment properties under
construction are capitalised as part of the camying amount of

the investment properties under construction.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or
when the invesiment property is permanently withdrawn from
use or no future economic benefits are expected from its
disposals. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the
asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in

profit or loss in the year in which the item is derecognised.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
3.17 Intangible assets

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired
separately are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation
and accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation is recognised
on a straightline basis over their estimated useful lives. The
estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed at
the end of each reporfing period, with effect of any changes in

estimate being accounted for a prospective basis.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposals, or when
no future economic benefits are expected from use. Gains
or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset,
measured as the difference between the net disposal proceeds
and the carrying amount of the assets, are recognised in profit

or loss when the asset is derecognised.

3.18 Impairment of tangible, intangible assets and

contract costs other than goodwill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its tangible, infangible assets with finite
useful lives and contract costs to determine whether there is any
indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If
any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset
is estimated in order to defermine the extent of the impairment
loss (if any). Intangible assets not yet available for use are
tested for impairment at least annually, and whenever there is

an indication that the assefs may be impaired.

The recoverable amount of tangible and intangible assets are
estimated individually, when it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group esfimates
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which
the asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent basis
of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also
allocated fo individual cash-generating unifs, or otherwise they
are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for

which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be

identified.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EXE:TBR(E)
(Continued)
3.18 Impairment of tangible, intangible assets and

SIS HAHMREREEURERAMKEK

contract costs other than goodwill (Continued)

Before the Group recognises an impairment loss for assets
capitalised as contract costs under IFRS 15, the Group
assesses and recognises any impairment loss on other assefs
related fo the relevant contracts in accordance with applicable
standards. Then, impairment loss, if any, for assets capitalised
as confract costs is recognised fo the extent the carrying
amounts exceeds the remaining amount of consideration that
the Group expecis fo receive in exchange for related goods or
services less the cosfs which relate directly to providing those
goods or services that have not been recognised as expenses.
The assets capitalised as contract costs are then included in
the carrying amount of the cash-generating unit fo which they
belong for the purpose of evaluating impairment of that cash-

generating unit.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pretax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the assef for which the esfimates of future cash flows have not

been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating
unit] is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
reduced fo its recoverable amount. In allocating the impairment
loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other
assefs on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of
each asset in the unit. The carrying amount of an asset is not
reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal
(if measurable), its value in use (if determinable] and zero. The
amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise have been
allocated to the asset is allocated pro rafa to the other assefs
of the unit. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in

profit or loss.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EXEBUIR(E

(Continued)

3.18 Impairment of tangible, intangible assets and
contract costs other than goodwill (Continued)
Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset is increased fo the revised estimate of
its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have
been defermined had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is

recognised immediately in profit or loss.

3.19 Properties under development
Properties under development, representing leasehold land
and buildings located in the PRC under development for future
sale in the ordinary course of business, are sfated at the lower
of cost and net realisable value. Cost comprises the costs of
land use rights, construction costs, borrowing costs capitalised
and other direct development expenditure. Net realisable
value represents the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business less estimated cosfs of completion and the
estimated costs necessary to make the sale. Properties under
development are transferred to completed properties for sale

upon completion of development.

3.20 Completed properties for sale
Completed properties for sale are stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value. Cost comprises the costs of land
use rights, construction costs, borrowing costs capifalised and
other direct development expenditure. Net realisable value
represents the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of

business less the estimated cosfs necessary to make the sale.

The Group transfers a property from completed properties
for sale to investment property when there is a change in
use fo hold the property to earn rentals or/and for capital
appreciation rather than for sale in the ordinary course of
business, which is evidenced by the commencement of an
operafing lease to another party. Any difference between the
fair value of the property at the date of transfer and its previous

carrying amount is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLUDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continved)
e p ST ELNEEAE )

For the year ended 31 December 2018
BE—F—/\F+_A=+—HUFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EXE:TEHR(E)
(Continued)
3.21 Provisions 3.21 &

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation as a result of a past event, and it is probable that
the Group will be required to settle that obligation and a

reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of
the consideration required fo seftle the present obligation at the
end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and
uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a provision is
measured using the cash flows estimated fo sefile the present
obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those
cash flows (where the effect of the time value of money is

material).

Present obligations arising under onerous contracts are
recognised and measured as provisions. An onerous confract
is considered tfo exist where the Group has a confract under
which the unavoidable costs of meeting the obligations under
the contract exceed the economic benefits expected to be

received from the contract.

3.22 Financial instruments

Financial assefs and financial liabilities are recognised when
a group entity becomes a party fo the contractual provisions of
the instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial
assets are recognised and derecognised on a frade date
basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales
of financial assets that require delivery of assefs within the time
frame established by regulation or convention in the market

place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers which are initially measured in accordance
with IFRS 15 since 1 January 2018. Transaction costs that are
directly atiributable fo the acquisition or issue of financial assets
and financial liabilities (other than financial assets or financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial
liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets
or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are

recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLUDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continved)
REPBRRME @)

For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE—T— )\ FEF+ - H=+—HIFFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EXE:HBR(E
(Continued)
3.22 Financial instruments (Continued)

3.22 &MTR(&)

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and
of allocating inferest income and interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments
lincluding all fees and points paid or received that form an
intfegral part of the effective interest rate, fransaction costs and
other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a

shorter period, fo the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Financial assets
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(upon application of IFRS 9 in accordance with fransitions in

note 2)

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are

subsequently measured at amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a business model whose

objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

e the confractual ferms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and inferest

on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are

subsequently measured at FVTOCI:

o the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash

flows and selling; and

e the confractual ferms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest

on the principal amount outstanding.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLUDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continved)
e p ST ELNEEAE )

For the year ended 31 December 2018
BE-F—/\F+_A=+—HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EXE:TBR(E)
(Continued)

3.22 Financial instruments (Continued) 3.22 &RITHE(4E)
Financial assets (Continued) THEE ()

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
[upon application of IFRS 9 in accordance with transitions in
note 2/ (Continued)

All other financial assefs are subsequently measured at FVTPL,
except that at the date of initial application/initial recognition
of a financial asset the Group may irrevocably elect fo present
subsequent changes in fair value of an equity investment in
OCl if that equity investment is neither held for trading nor
contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer in a

business combination to which IFRS 3 Business Combinations

applies.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

® it has been acquired principally for the purpose of

selling in the near term; or

®  oninitial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group manages
together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term

profittaking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and effectfive as a

hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irevocably designate a financial
asset that are required to be measured at the amortised cost
or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or

significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLUDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continved)

RERERM T )

For
Az

the year ended 31 December 2018
ECE-N\FF A=+ —HAUFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
3.22 Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

(upon application of IFRS @ in accordance with fransitions in

note 2J (Continued)

(i) Amortised cost and interest income
Inferest income s recognised using the effective inferest
method for financial assets measured subsequently
at amortised cost and debt instruments/receivables
subsequently measured at FVTOCI. Interest income is
calculated by applying the effective interest rafe to the
gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired (see below). For financial assets that have
subsequently become creditimpaired, inferest income
is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to
the amortised cost of the financial asset from the next
reporting period. If the credit risk on the creditimpaired
financial instrument improves so that the financial asset is
no longer creditimpaired, inferest income is recognised
by applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset from the beginning
of the reporting period following the determination that

the asset is no longer credit impaired.
[i)  Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are
subsequently measured af fair value with gains and
losses arising from changes in fair value recognised in
OCl and accumulated in the FVTOCI reserve; and are
not subject fo impairment assessment. The cumulative
gain or loss will not be reclassified to profit or loss
on disposal of the equity investments, and will be

transferred fo retained profits.

Dividends from these investments in equity instruments
are recognised in profit or loss when the Group's
right fo receive the dividends is established, unless the
dividends clearly represent a recovery of part of the cost
of the investment. Dividends are included in the "Other

income” line item in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLUDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continved)
e p ST ELNEEAE )

For the year ended 31 December 2018
BE—F—/\F+_A=+—HUFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EXS:HHR(4E)
(Continued)

3.22 Financial instruments (Continued) 3.22 &RITHE(4E)
Financial assets (Continued) THEE ()

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
[upon application of IFRS 9 in accordance with transitions in
note 2/ (Continued)

(i) Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assefs that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as
FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at
the end of each reporting period, with any fair value
gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net gain
or loss recognised in profit or loss excludes any dividend
or interest eamned on the financial asset and is included

in the “other gains and losses” line item.

Impairment of financial assets (upon application of IFRS 9 in
accordance with transitions in note 2)

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on financial
assefs which are subject to impairment under IFRS @ (including
trade receivables, other nontrade receivables, bank balance
and cash), contract assets and financial guarantee contracts.
The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect

changes in credit risk since inifial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument.
In contrast, 12m ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL
that is expected fo result from default events that are possible
within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessment are
done based on the Group's historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general
economic conditions and an assessment of both the current
condifions at the reporting date as well as the forecast of future

conditions.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
3.22 Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application of IFRS 9 in

accordance with transitions in note 2) (Continued)

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables and contract assets. The ECL on these assets are

assessed collectively using a provision matrix with appropriafe

groupings.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the
Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether
lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on significant

increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since

initial recognition.

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as af the
date of initial recognition. In making this assessment,
the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-looking

information that is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into

account when assessing whether credit risk has

increased significantly:

®  an actual or expected significant deferioration in

the financial instrument's external (if available) or

internal credit rating;

e significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase

in the credit spread, the credit default swap prices

for the debtor;
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
BE—F—/\F+_A=+—HUFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
3.22 Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (upon application of IFRS 9 in
accordance with transitions in note 2) (Continued)
(i) Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)
o existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are
expected fo cause a significant decrease in the

debtor’s ability fo meet its debt obligations;

e an acfual or expected significant deferioration in

the operating results of the debtor;

e an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet

its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that

demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the
credit risk on a debt instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the debt instrument
is determined to have low credit risk at the reporting
date. A debt instrument is determined to have low credit
risk if i) it has a low risk of default, ii) the borrower
has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow
obligations in the near term and iii] adverse changes
in economic and business conditions in the longer term
may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability of the
borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.
The Group considers a debt instrument to have low
credit risk when it has an internal or external credit
rafing of ‘investment grade’ as per globally understood

definitions.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE—T— )\ FEF+ - H=+—HIFFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
3.22 Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application of IFRS @ in

accordance with transitions in note 2) (Continued)

(i

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (Contfinued)

For financial guarantee contracts, the date that the
Group becomes a party fo the irrevocable commitment
is considered to be the date of initial recognition for
the purposes of assessing the financial instrument
for impairment. In assessing whether there has been
a significant increase in the credit risk since initial
recognition of a financial guarantee contracts, the
Group considers the changes in the risk that the

specified debtor will default on the contract.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the
criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the

amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For infernal credit risk management, the Group considers
an event of default occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates that
the debtor is unlikely to pay ifs creditors, including the
Group, in full (without faking info account any collaterals
held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than
Q0 days past due unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information to demonstrate that a more

lagging default criferion is more appropriate.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
3.22 Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application of IFRS 9 in

accordance with transitions in note 2) (Continued)

(i)

(iv)

Creditimpaired financial assets

A financial asset is creditimpaired when one or more
events of default that have a defrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows of that financial asset
have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit
impaired includes observable data about the following

events:

[a)  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the

borrower;

[b) @ breach of contract, such as a default or past

due event;

[c)  the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
confractual reasons relating fo the borrower's
financial difficulty, having granted 1o the borrower
a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not

otherwise consider; or

[d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will

enfer bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect
of recovery, for example, when the counterparty has
been placed under liquidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets written off
may still be subject to enforcement activities under
the Group's recovery procedures, taking info account
legal advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes
a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are

recognised in profit or loss.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
3.22 Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application of IFRS 9 in

accordance with transitions in note 2) (Continued)

v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default] and the exposure at default.
The assessment of the probability of default and loss
given default is based on historical data adjusted by
forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects
an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is
determined with the respective risks of default occurring

as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contfractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that
the Group expects fo receive, discounted at the effective

interest rate determined at initial recognition.

For a financial guarantee contract, the Group is required
fo make payments only in the event of a default by the
debtor in accordance with the terms of the instrument
that is guaranteed. Accordingly, the expected losses is
the present value of the expected payments to reimburse
the holder for a credit loss that it incurs less any amounts
that the Group expecis fo receive from the holder, the

debtor or any other party.

For ECL on financial guarantee contracts for which the
effective inferest rate cannot be determined, the Group
will apply a discount rate that reflects the current market
assessment of the time value of money and the risks
that are specific o the cash flows but only if, and to the
extent that, the risks are taken info account by adjusting
the discount rate instead of adjusting the cash shorifalls

being discounted.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
3.22 Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application of IFRS 9 in

accordance with transitions in note 2) (Continued)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Confinued)

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or cater
for cases where evidence at the individual instrument
level may not yet be available, the financial instruments

are grouped on the following basis:

o Nature of financial instruments (i.e. the Group's
trade and other receivables, finance lease
receivables and amounts due from cusfomers are
each assessed as a separate group. loans fo
related parties are assessed for expected credit

losses on an individual basis);

° Past-due status;
. Nature, size and industry of debtors; and
o External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to
ensure the constituents of each group continue to share

similar credit risk characteristics.

Inferest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset
is credit impaired, in which case interest income is

calculated based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

For financial guarantee contracts, the loss allowances
are recognised at the higher of the amount of the loss
allowance determined in accordance with IFRS 9; and
the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate,
cumulative amount of income recognised over the

guarantee period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLUDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continved)
REPBRRME @)

For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE—T— )\ FEF+ - H=+—HIFFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EXE:HBR(E
(Continued)
3.22 Financial instruments (Continued)

3.22 &MTR(&)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application of IFRS @ in

accordance with transitions in note 2) (Continued)

v} Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)
The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in
profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting
their carrying amount, with the exception of trade
receivables and other nonrade receivables where the
corresponding adjustment is recognised through a loss

allowance account.

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(before application of IFRS @ on 1 January 2018)

Financial assets are classified into the following specified
categories: financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
["FVTPL"), held-to-maturity investments, Available-for-sale
financial assefs and loans and receivables. The classification
depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets
and is determined at the time of initial recognition. All regular
way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and
derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that
require delivery of assets within the time frame established by

regulation or convention in the markefplace.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
BE—F—/\F+_A=+—HUFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
3.22 Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(before application of IFRS @ on 1 January 2018 (Continued)

(i

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets are classified as at FVTPL when the
financial asset is (i) held for trading or (ii] it is designated
as at FVTPL.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the near term; or

e on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages fogether and has a recent actual pattern
of shortterm profittaking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and
effective as a hedging insfrument.

A financial asset other than a financial asset held
for trading (or contingent consideration that may
be received by an acquirer as part of a business
combination) may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial
recognition if:

e such designation eliminates or significantly
reduces a measurement or recognition
inconsistency that would otherwise arise; or

e the financial asset forms part of a group of
financial assets or financial liabilities or both,
which is managed and its performance is
evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance
with the Group's documented risk management
or investment sfrategy, and information about the
grouping is provided infernally on that basis; or

4 it forms part of a contract confaining one or more
embedded derivatives, and IAS 39 permits the
enfire combined confract (asset or liability) to be
designated as at FVTPL.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
BE—F—\F+-_A=+—HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
3.22 Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
[before application of IFRS 9 on 1 January 2018) (Continued)

(i

(i)

Financial assets at FVTPL (Continued)

Financial assets at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with
any gains or losses arising on remeasurement recognised
in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit
or loss excludes any dividend or interest earned on the
financial assets and is included in the “other gains and

losses” line item. Fair value is determined in the manner
described in note 43.

AFS financial assets

AFS financial assets are non-derivatives that are either
designated as availablefor-sale or not classified as
financial assets at FVTPL, loans and receivables or held-

tfo-maturity investments.

Equity and debt securities held by the Group that are
classified as availableforsale are measured at fair value
at the end of each reporting period except for unquoted
equity investments whose fair value cannot be reliably
measured. Changes in the carrying amount of AFS debt
instruments relating fo interest income calculated using
the effective interest method are recognised in profit or
loss. Dividends on AFS equity instruments are recognised
in profit or loss when the Group's right to receive the
dividends is established. Other changes in the carrying
amount of AFS financial assets are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated. When
the investment is disposed of or is determined to be
impaired, the cumulative gain or loss is reclassified to

profit or loss.

AFS equity investments that do not have a quoted market
price in an active market and whose fair value cannot
be reliably measured are measured at cost less any
identified impairment losses at the end of each reporting

period.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
BE-F—/\F+_A=+—HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
3.22 Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(before application of IFRS 9 on T January 2018) (Continued)

liii)  Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assefs
with fixed or deferminable payments that are not quoted
in an active market. Subsequent to initial recognition,
loans and receivables (including trade and other
receivables, restricted bank deposits and bank balance
and cash) are measured at amortised cost using the

effective interest method, less any impairment.

Inferest income is recognised by applying the effective
inferest rafe, except for shortferm receivables where the

recognition of interest would be immaterial.

Impairment of financial assets (before application of IFRS 9 on
I January 2018)

Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed for
indicafors of impairment at the end of the reporting period.
Financial assets are considered to be impaired where there is
objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that
occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the
estimated future cash flows of the financial assets have been

affected.

For AFS equity investment, a significant or prolonged decline
in the fair value of that invesiment below cost is considered fo

be objective evidence of impairment.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE—T— )\ FEF+ - H=+—HIFFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
3.22 Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (before application of IFRS 9 on
I January 2018 (Continued)
For all other financial assets, objective evidence of impairment

could include:

e significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty;
or
o breach of contract, such as default or delinquency in

inferest or principal payments; or

o it becoming probable that the borrower will enter

bankruptey or financial re-organisation.

For cerfain cafegories of financial assefs, such as frade and
other receivables, assefs that are assessed not to be impaired
individually are, in addition, assessed for impairment on
a collective basis. Objective evidence of impairment for
a portfolio of receivables could include the Group's past
experience of collecting payments, an increase in the number
of delayed payments in the portfolio, observable changes
in national or local economic conditions that correlate with

default on receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the
impairment loss recognised is the difference between the asset's
carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future
cash flows discounted at the financial asset's original effective

interest rate.

For financial assets carried at cost, the amount of the
impairment loss is measured as the difference between the
asset's carrying amount and the present value of the estimated
future cash flows discounted at the current market rate of return
for a similar financial asset. Such impairment loss will not be

reversed in subsequent periods.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
T—\F+—A=1T—HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
3.22 Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (before application of IFRS @ on
I January 2018) (Continued)

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by
the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the
exception of frade and other receivables, where the carrying
amount is reduced through the use of an allowance account.
Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account are
recognised in profit or loss. When a trade or other receivable is
considered uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance
account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written

off are credited to profit or loss.

When an AFS asset is considered to be impaired, cumulative
gains or losses previously recognised in other comprehensive

income are reclassified to profit or loss in the period.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a
subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss decreases
and the decrease can be related objectively to an event
occurring after the impairment loss was recognised, the
previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through profit
or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the asset at
the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the
amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been

recognised.

In respect of availableforsale equity investments, impairment
losses previously recognised in profit or loss are not reversed
through profit or loss. Any increase in fair value subsequent
fo an impairment loss is recognised in other comprehensive
income. In respect of available-for-sale debt investments,
impairment losses are subsequently reversed through profit or
loss if an increase in the fair value of the investiment can be
objectively related to an event occurring after the recognition

of the impairment loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLUDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continved)
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE—T— )\ FEF+ - H=+—HIFFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EXEHE(E)
(Continued)
3.22 Financial instruments (Continued)

3.22 &MTR(&)

Financial assets (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the assef to another entity.
If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership and continues fo control the
transferred asset, the Group recognises ifs refained inferest in
the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to
pay. If the Group refains substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group
confinues fo recognise the financial asset and also recognises

a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is

recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument which
the Group has elected on initial recognition to measure at
FVTOCI upon application of IFRS 9, the cumulative gain or loss
previously accumulated in the investments revaluation reserve
is not reclassified to profit or loss, but is transferred to refained

profits.

On derecognition of an AFS financial asset, the cumulative
gain or loss previously accumulated in the AFS revaluation

reserve is reclassified fo profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

3.22 Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity
Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity
are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in
accordance with substance of the contractual arrangements
entered info and the definitions of a financial liability and an

equity insfrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of
its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group are

recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue cosfs.

Repurchase of the Company's own equity instruments is
recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss
is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or

cancellation of the Company’s own equity instruments.

Financial liabilities
All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised

cost using the effective inferest method or at FVTPL.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Financial liabilities including interestbearing loan, frade and
other payables and bonds are subsequently measured at

amortised cost, using the effective interest method.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EXEBUIR(E
(Continued)
3.22 Financial instruments (Continued) 3.2 &RTHR(E)
Financial liabilities and equity (Continued) THEERKA (&)
Financial guarantee contracts BB HERE AT

A financial guarantee confract is a contract that requires the
issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the holder
for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make
payments when due in accordance with the terms of a debt
instrument. Financial guarantee contract liabilities are measured
initially at their fair values. It is subsequently measured at the

higher of:

° the amount of the loss allowance determined in
accordance with IFRS 9 (since 1 January 2018)/IAS 37
Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets

(before application of IFRS @ on 1 January 2018); and

e the amount inifially recognised less, where appropriate,
cumulative amortisation recognised over the guarantee

period.

Derecognition/non-substantial modification of financial
liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled or
they have expired. The difference between the carrying amount
of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration

paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EXS:HHR(4E)
(Continued)

3.22 Financial instruments (Continued) 3.22 &RITHE(4E)
Financial liabilities and equity (Continued) ZHEERKA (&)

Derecognition/non-substantial modification of financial
liabilities (Continued)

The Group accounts for an exchange with a lender of
a financial liability with substantially different terms as
an extinguishment of the original financial liability and
the recognition of a new financial liability. A substantial
modification of the terms of an existing financial liability
or a part of it [whether or not attributable to the financial
difficulty of the Group) is accounted for as an extinguishment
of the original financial liability and the recognition of a
new financial liability. The Group considers that the terms
are substantially different if the discounted present value of
the cash flows under the new terms, including any fees paid
net of any fees received and discounted using the original
effective interest rate, is af least 10 per cent different from the
discounted present value of the remaining cash flows of the
original financial liability. Accordingly, such exchange of debt
instruments or modification of terms is accounted for as an
extinguishment, any costs or fees incurred are recognised as
part of the gain or loss on the extinguishment. The exchange
or modification is considered as non-substantial modification

when such difference is less than 10 per cent.

Non-substantial modifications of financial liabilities (under IFRS
@ since 1 January 2018)

For non-substantial modifications of financial liabilities that
do not result in derecognition, the carrying amount of the
relevant financial liabilities will be calculated at the present
value of the modified contractual cash flows discounted at the
financial liabilities” original effective interest rate. Transaction
costs or fees incurred are adjusted fo the carrying amount of
the modified financial liabilities and are amortised over the
remaining term. Any adjustment to the carrying amount of the
financial liability is recognised in profit or loss at the date of

modification.
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REMBHRERME @)
For the year ended 31 December 2018
A2 —T—)\F+—A=1—HIFE
3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EXEBUIR(E
(Continued)
3.22 Financial instruments (Continued) 3.2 &RTHR(E)
Financial liabilities and equity (Continued) THEERKA (&)

Non-substantial modifications of financial liabilities (before
application of IFRS 9 on 1 January 2018) (Continued)

For non-substantial modifications of financial liabilities that do
not result in derecognition, at the point of modification, the
carrying amount of the relevant financial liabilities is revised
for directly attributable transaction costs and any consideration
paid fo or received from the counterparty. The effective interest
rate is then adjusted to amortise the difference between the
revised carrying amount and the expected cash flows over the

life of the modified instrument.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value af the
date when derivative contracts are entered into and are
subsequently remeasured to their fair value at the end of the
reporting period. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in

profit or loss.

Generally, multiple embedded derivatives in a single instrument
that are separated from the host contracts are treated as a
single compound embedded derivative unless those derivatives
relate to different risk exposures and are readily separable and

independent of each other.
Embedded derivatives under IFRS 9 since 1 January 2018)

Derivatives embedded in hybrid contracts that contain financial
asset hosts within the scope of IFRS 9 are not separated.
The entire hybrid contract is classified and subsequently
measured in its entirety as either amortised cost or fair value as

appropriate.

Derivatives embedded in non-derivative host contracts that
are not financial assets within the scope of IFRS 9 are freated
as separate derivatives when they meet the definition of a
derivative, their risks and characteristics are not closely related
to those of the host contracts and the host contracts are not
measured at FVTPL.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

3.22 Financial instruments (Continued)
Derivative financial instruments (Continued)
Embedded derivatives (before application of IFRS @ on 1
January 2018)
Derivatives embedded in non-derivative host contracts are
treated as separate derivatives when they meet the definition
of a derivative, their risks and characteristics are not closely
related fo those of the host contracts and the host contracts are
not measured at FVTPL.

Offsetting a financial asset and a financial liability

A financial asset and a financial liability are offset and the net
amount presented in the sfafement of financial position when,
and only when, the Group currently has a legally enforceable
right fo set off the recognised amounts; and intends either
to setfle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the

liability simulianeously.

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

The following critical accounting judgement and key sources of
esfimation unceriainty are used in the preparation of the consolidated

financial statements.

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies
Deferred taxation on investment properties

The Group recognises deferred tax in respect of the changes in fair
value of the investment properties based on directors’ best estimate
assuming future tax consequences through usage of such properties
for rental purpose, rather than through sale. The final tax outcome
could be different from the deferred tax liabilities recognised in the
consolidated financial statements should the investment properties
are subsequently disposed by the Group, rather than consumed
substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the investment
properties by leasing over time. In the event the investment properties
are being disposed, the Group may be liable to higher tax upon

disposal considering the impact of land appreciation tax.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
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4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Valuation of investment properties

Debenham Tie Leung Limited ("DTZ"), having appropriate recognised
professional qualifications and recent experience in the location and
category of property being valued, values the Group's investment
property portfolio every six months. The fair values are based on
market values, being the estimated amount for which a property
could be exchanged on the date of the valuation between a willing

buyer and a willing seller in arms’ length transaction.

In the absence of current prices in an active market, the valuations
are prepared by direct comparison approach for investment
properties under development and income capitalisation approach
for complefed investment properties, considering the capitalisation
rates, average unit market rent, average market unit price and the

remaining economic life of the property.

Investment property under construction or development is valued by
estimating the fair value of the completed investment property and
then deducting from that amount the estimated costs to complete
construction or development, financing costs and a reasonable profit

margin.

PRC land appreciation taxes

The Group is subject to land appreciation taxes in the PRC.
However, the implementation and setflement of these taxes varies
among various fax jurisdictions in cities of the PRC, and the Group
has not finalised its PRC land appreciation taxes calculation and
payments with most of local tax authorities in the PRC. The calculation
of LAT are highly dependent on the appropriateness of the rates
used, which are defermined by the appreciation of land value. The
appreciation of land value is determined with reference to proceeds
of the properties less the estimated deductible expenditures, including
the cost of land use rights and all property development expenditures.
The Group estimated the deductible expenditures according fo the
understanding of the relevant PRC tax laws and regulations. The final
fax outcome could be different from the amounts that were initially
recorded, and these differences will impact the income tax expense
and the related income tax provisions in the periods in which such

tax is finalised with local tax authorities.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 4. EXE:HERFHTAEER

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Recognition of deferred tax assets

At 31 December 2018, the Group has recognised deferred tax
assefs as set out in note 33. The ability fo realise the deferred tax
assets mainly depends on whether it is probable that future taxable
profits will be available against which related tax benefits under
the deferred tax assefs can be utilised. In cases where the actual
future taxable profits generated are less than expected, a reversal of
deferred tax assets may arise, which will be recognised in profit or

loss for the period in which such a reversal takes place.

Impairment of non-financial long-lived assets

If circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts of non-financial
long-lived assets (other than investment properties, properties under
development, completed properties held for sale and deferred tax
assets) may not be recoverable, the assets may be considered
impaired and are tested for impairment. An impairment loss is
recognised when the asset’s recoverable amount has declined below
its carrying amount. The recoverable amount is the greater of the
fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In determining the
recoverable amount, the Group estimates the future cash flows fo be
derived from continuing use and ultimate disposal of the asset and

applies an appropriate discount rafe fo these future cash flows.

Write-down of properties under development and completed
properties held for sale

Management performs a regular review on the carrying amounts
of properties under development and complefed properties held for
sale. Based on management's review, write-down of properties under
development and completed properties held for sale will be made
when the estimated net realisable value has declined below the

carrying amount.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 4. EXE:H¥EREGsIAEER

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Write-down of properties under development and completed
properties held for sale (Continued)

In determining the net realisable value of completed properties held
for sale, management refers to prevailing market data such as recent
sales transactions, market survey reports available from independent
property valuers and infernally available information, as basis for
evaluation. As of 31 December 2018, the amount of the write-down
of completed properties held for sale was RMB19,542,000 (As of
31 December 2017: RMB25,908,000).

In respect of properties under development, the estimate of net
realisable value requires the application of a risk-adjusted discount
rafe to the estimated future cash flows to be derived from these
properties. These esfimates require judgement as fo the anticipated
sale prices by reference fo recent sales transactions in nearby
locations, marketing costs [including price discounts required to
stimulate sales) and the estimated costs to completion of properties,

the legal and regulatory framework and general market conditions.

ECL allowance

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on financial assets
including trade receivables and other non-rade receivables, contract
assets and financial guarantee which are subject fo impairment
under IFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date
to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition. Significant
judgements and estimations are required in defermining the
impairment assessment including the judgements on grouping basis
for the provision matrix and the estimations on the expected loss rates
used to calculate the ECL allowance. As at 31 December 2018,
the carrying amount of frade receivables, confract assets and other
non-trade receivables are RMB242,489,000, RMB839,997,000
and RMB14,005,702,000 respectively, net of accumulated
ECL impairment loss of RMB4 1,405,000, RMB1,403,000 and
RMB 187,400,000 respectively.
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5. REVENUE 5. W
() Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with i) REBEREMMWKZSE
customers

For the year ended
31 December 2018
BE—FE-—N\F+-A=1+—HILEE

Revenue

recognised Revenue

at a point  recognised
in time over time Total
EREFES P
TERZ s iapd g a5
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AR®TT ARETT

Type of goods and BIPREA TSR 5 2 RISE 1557

service under IFRS 15 ETERRRBEES
Sales of properties and VI HE RERETE RS

construction management service 13,029,929 1,801,400 14,831,329
Hotel and related services B REEER = 134,541 134,541
Property management and VI E IR R EM AR

other services - 426,923 426,923

13,029,929 2,362,864 15,392,793

For the
year ended

RMB'000
AR¥ETT

Sales of properties and construction YIEHE REREERG
management service 14,101,515
Hotel and related services BIE R ELE RS 137,361
Property management and other services YEER R EAMRTS 343,675

14,582,551
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5. REVENUE (Continued)

i)

Performance obligations for contracts with
customers

Sales of properties

For contracts entered info with customers on sales of
properties, the relevant properties specified in the contracts
are based on customer's specifications with no alternative use.
Taking into consideration of the relevant contract terms, the
legal environment and relevant legal precedent, the Group
concluded that the Group does not have an enforceable
right to payment prior to transfer of the relevant properties
fo customers. Revenue from sales of residential properties is
therefore recognised at a point in time when the completed
property is transferred to customers, being at the point that the
customer obtains the control of the completed property and
the Group has present right to payment and collection of the

consideration is probable.

The Group receives 30%-70% of the contract value as
deposits from customers when they sign the sale and purchase
agreement. Such advance payment schemes result in confract
liabilities being recognised throughout the property construction

period.

The Group considers the advance payment schemes contain
significant financing component and accordingly the amount
of consideration is adjusted for the effects of the time value of
money taking info consideration the credit characteristics of the
Group. As this accrual increases the amount of the contract
liability during the period of construction, it increases the
amount of revenue recognised when control of the completed

property is transferred to the customer.
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5. REVENUE (Continued)

(i)

Performance obligations for contracts with
customers (Continued)

Construction management service

Conslruction management service is recognised over time on
input method based on the proportion of construction costs
incurred for work performed to date relative fo the estimated
fotal construction cost. The construction management service
fees are billed to the clients periodically on an agreed-upon
payment schedule and/or milestone between the customers
and the Group. The Group recognised a confract asset over
the period in which construction management service are
performed representing the Group's right to consideration for
the services performed. Any amount previously recognised
as a confract asset is reclassified fo trade receivables when
the rights become unconditional, which is at the point when

billings are issued to the customer.

Construction contract contain variable consideration as
the consideration is calculated based on construction costs
incurred plus a mark-up and subject to a maximum ceiling. The
Group only include the estimated total construction cost that
had been reviewed and approved by the clients as basis for
progress measurement, as cosfs not reviewed and approved
by the clients could be disputed as non-reimbursable under the

terms of the contract.
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5. REVENUE (Continued) 5. WiaR(48)

(i) Performance obligations for contracts with i) ERSYMEBHEEE)
customers (Continued)
At the end of each reporting period, the Group updates the REREHR  AEBEHGHTEE
estimated total construction cost, which in turn would affect the HRRA  HSREZTSER(BEEN
fransaction price (including updating ifs assessment of whether HY [ #REGFES LB R AT
an estimate of variable consideration is constrained), to &) MEEZJRMERRNERE
represent faithfully the circumstances present at the end of the AR ERRNERES -

reporting period and the changes in circumstances during the

reporting period.

Hotel and related services B JE R B E R

The Group's performance obligation from hotel and related REBNBEERRERBNBENOSE
services is mainly fo provide accommodation services fo FTERMETREEERS - REE
guests. Revenue from accommodation service is recognised BRI EREREER - BEED
overtime and the progress measured using the output method REHENAEEEFE AR A ®
during the period when the rooms for accommodation are R oo RNIERRKE - BRI EEE &
occupied. The hotel and related services fees are billed fo the BEERSATPEARE -

clients after the services are provided.

Property management services W FE EERE

Revenue from property management services is recognised KB YT IR RS A Uk 2 BE B ] T
over fime, and the progress measured using the output method. R BEEDNERBLETE - AR
The property management service fees are billed to the clients AIEEH(FARETEHER) ARES

periodically (either monthly or quarterly billing period). A= .

288
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5. REVENUE (Continued) 5.
(i) Transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligation for contracts with
customers
The transaction price allocated fo the remaining performance
obligations [unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) as at 31
December 2018 and the expected timing of recognising

revenue are as follows:

Within one year —ER

More than one year but not more than two years

More than two years BB EFIA

BB —FERFA

Wrgs (48)
i) SEEFEFRSHPRBHFMEN
X 5 fEHE

RZZE-—N\F+ZA=+—8 " SEEFE

BRHOBE(HARBITHEA REIT) WX HE
1% R IBET R R M BRR AT

Sales of

properties

MEHE
RMB'000
ARET T

17,887,377
11,855,971
2,620,105

32,363,453

These amounts disclosed above do not include fransaction
price allocated to performance obligations which have been
satisfied but not yet recognised due to variable consideration

constraint.

All hotel and related services and property management and
other services are for periods of one year or less. As permitted
under IFRS 15, the transaction price allocated to these

unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.
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6. SEGMENT REPORTING 6. SEBERE

The Group has four reportable segments, as described below, which
are the Group's sfrategic business unifs. The strategic business unifs
offer different products and services, and are managed separately
because they require different technology and marketing strategies.
For each of the strategic business units, the chief operating decision
maker (the "CODM"), Group's senior executive management,
reviews infernal management reports af least on a monthly basis. The
following summary describes the operations in each of the Group's

reportable segments.

Sales of properties and construction management service: this
segment includes development and sales of residential properties and
provision of construction management service. Currently the Group's
activities in this unit are carried out in Shanghai, Kunming, Changshu,
Wuxi, Suzhou, Haikou, Nanchang, Taiyuan, Ningbo, Huangshan,
Hangzhou, Zhaoging, Xuzhou and Nanning.

Hotel and related service: this segment operates hotels and service
apartments to generate accommodation service and related
income. Currently the Group's activities in this unit are carried out in

Shanghai, Suzhou and Huangshan.

Property management and other services: this segment provides
property management and other services fo external customers and
group companies. Currently the Group's activities in this unit are
carried out in Shanghai, Kunming, Changshu, Huangshan, Wuxi,

Nanning, Suzhou, Haikou, Taiyuan and Xi'an.

lease of properties: this segment leases commercial and residential
properties fo generate rental income and gain from the appreciation
in the properties’ values in the long term. Currently the Group’s
investment property portfolio is located in Shanghai, Suzhou,

Nanning and Wuxi.

XAt - AEEA AR AR E - B
AEB R RBSE RIS o RAK MRS BEAL
RETENERRRY - ARFEETRNK
MR SRS - EULBI B IR - SR RESIE
EBBAME  TELEARE(EXEEE
REE | ~EECSETREEAR)RD
FARMARERRSE - ATHZHALE
% AT R R0 RV EE o

MEHENEEEERY - A0 HMEBRER
REHEEEMEARBEHREZEEERY -
BRIAKERLE EBH B3 8-
M BO - BE KR ER B M
M BE - RN REERELEMRER -

BERRERS : A0 AL E RARB
NE - AEEERERE MARERA - BATA
SEREE  #HMRE LSS LBERME
75 o

MEEIEREMRY : RS ERIMERS Kk
SEARERHEYEEEREMBRE - BAIA
SERLE EH - -BH AL -EH &
- HM B0 KRRAREELELD
ESi

MERE A BHEREREEMEAE
EHSWARRERMEERN YR - BAT
AEBWBREMFEALN LG - &M - &
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For the y:

HE—FT—

6.

ear ended 31 December 2018
NEF=ZF=+—HIFE

SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

For the purposes of assessing segment performance and allocating
resources between segments, the Group’s CODM monitors the
results, assets and liabilities aftributable to each reportable segment

on the following basis:

Segment assets include all current and non-current assetfs with the
exception of interests in associates and interests in joint ventures.
Segment liabilities include all current and non-current liabilities except

for bonds managed at corporate level.

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable segments
with reference fo the revenue generated and the expenses incurred
by those segments or which otherwise arise from the depreciation or
amortisation of assefs attributable to those segments. Segment results
do not include share-based payments, net gain on disposal of equity
inferests in subsidiaries, share of profits (losses) of associates, share

of profits of joint ventures and any other transactions managed at the

corporate level.

6.

SEpERE (48)

REHEDBRRENE D AR ETEIRA
E C AEEZ EBEERRERATERER

B ERmOMFESE EERAE

N

NEEERREMARE MIFREE E (FRH
LRAEDERAEELEREDIN) c DEEE
BEMERDRIERBDEBECRADEREE
BIRZEHIN) -

Yo K FISc TH 2 IR AT R ¥Ry BREE A 2 et e
MR BEG cEERTES#IEMmESL
EF OEREZEDE - DHXELTEIER
X WEFATREZ KT - B
LR (1R - A**fﬁ%mﬂ
EMEMHEEREERE 2R

pos
Ben

For the year ended 31 December 2018 BE—_T-/N\F+-"HA=+—HLHE
E
Sales of
propetties
and Property
construction Hotel and management
management Lease of related and other
service properties services services Total
WEHER EER PEEER
BREBRE WEHE BEERT Rt AR st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETR ARETR ARBTT ARETT
Revenue from external customers SSRGS 14,831,329 51,453 134,541 426,923 15,444,246
Intersegment revenue IR - - - 589,498 589,498
Reportable segment revenue PEE: G e 14,831,329 51,453 134,541 1,016,421 16,033,744
Reporiable segment profit AR R 461,071 920,016 1,035 6,293 1,388,415
Inferest income FEUA 69,088 274 244 3,589 73,195
Interest expenses FIEEBH (168,243) (664) (18,522) (59) (187,488)
Revaluation gains on investment RENEERE
properies - 1,226,688 - - 1,226,688
Depreciation and amorisation EREE 9,045 - 77,780 3,618 90,443
Reportable segment assefs MHEATEE 78,424,276 13,083,000 1,738,365 2,112,126 95,357,767
Additions fo noncurrent segment  FREMAHBIEREDEE
assets during the year 50,135 4,001,000 642 21,536 4,073,313
Reportable segment licbilifies BEEGEL 65,940,180 6,934,324 1,317,193 1,233,679 75,425,376
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
B2 —ZE—\F+A=+—HIFE

6. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 6. PEBERE(E)
For the year ended 31 December 2017 BE—_F—+t&+_-A=+—HIE
B
Sales of
propeties and Property
construcfion Hotel and management
management lease of related and ofher
service properties services services
BER MEERR
NEHRE e AR Hit R
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETFT ARETT ARETT
Revenue from external customers IR B UEE 14,101,515 36,321 137,361 343,675 14,618,872
Inter-segment revenue DEE - - - 110,561 110,561
Reportable segment revenue A RHH U 14,101,515 36,321 137,361 454,236 14,729,433
Reportable segment profit BEEE Gy 1,240,463 330,281 14,772 88,726 1,674,242
Interest income NN 85,073 219 181 10,146 95,619
Interest expenses FIEEBH (210,393 (542) (12,372) (884) (224.191)
Revaluation gains on investment REMEBHRE
properies - 329,268 - - 329,268
Depreciation and amorfisation HERBE 9,621 - 84,751 3,753 98,125
Reporiable segment assefs RRSHEE 61,028,600 9,082,000 839,087 1,824,027 72,774,614
Additions fo non-current segment RN BIEREEE
assets during the year 32,004 866,000 410 13,747 912,161

Reporiable segment liabilities BEEGEEY 47 661,577 4,813,692 410,840 071,918 53,858,027
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
BE2—FE—\F+A=+—HIEFE

6. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 6. HEHEE)
Reconciliation of reportable segment revenue, profit, TR ERUL S © iHH) c BERAR
assets and liabilities B4 BR

2018 2017
—B—N\EF —F—tF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AREFxT ARETTT
Revenue Wris
Reportable segment revenue ElEE e 16,033,744 14,729,433
Elimination of inter-segment revenue 2B W R 3 8 (589,498) (110,561)
Consolidated revenue RE W 15,444,246 14,618,872
Profit i
Reportable segment profit AJ B3R 5 2B 355 ) 1,388,415 1,674,242
Elimination of infersegment profits 25 SRR 5 A B 8 (41,243) (49,184
Net gain on disposal of interesfs HEF QB 2 Was F 58
in subsidiaries 487,691 72,063
Share of losses of associates JE(RE N R EE (15,354) (999)
Share of profits of joinf ventures JE(LEEEET 161,431 139,496
Consolidated profit affer income tax TSR B4R A A 1,980,940 1,835,618
Assets BE
Reportable segment assets ARESLEE 95,357,767 72,774,614
Elimination of infersegment receivables 2> S FE U R IE S 8 (4,957,929) (3,721,779)
Elimination of infersegment investments D ERER A E (995,536) (995,5306)
Interests in associates il/NEI - T 206,554 6,084
Interests in joint ventures BEDERER 619,344 686,413
Consolidated total assets A BEER 90,230,200 68,749,796
Liabilities I=1E
Reportable segment liabilities TR HEE 75,425,376 53,858,027
Elimination of infersegment payables 43 20 ) FE A~ R TE T 3 (4,957,929) (3,721,779)
Bonds &% 5,818,015 7,028,658
Consolidated total liabilities e aEERE 76,285,462 57,164,906
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
B2 —ZE—\F+A=+—HIFE

6. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

Geographical information

6.

In view of the fact that the Group mainly operates in the PRC, no

geographical segment information is presented.

Information about major customers

For the year ended 31 December 2018, except that a customer
confributes approximately RMB1,776,506,000 to the revenue of
the Group in respect of the sales of a property (for the year ended
31 December 2017: Nil) and a customer confributes approximately
RMB1,801,400,000 fo the revenue of the Group in respect of the
construction management service (for the year ended 31 December
2017: Nil), no other single customer confributes 10% or more of the

fotal sales of the Group.

7. OTHER INCOME 7.

SEpERE ()
mAAEEEEEPELE - SRR
RAER o

AHEEEFNEH
BE_Z—)/\F+_A=t—RHLFE " &
—REFRYMRHEERAEERRK S
AR#1,776,506,000TL (BE-E—+F
TZA=+—HLFE : B)R—BEFH
BREEERGAAKERRMEROARE
1,801,400,0007(BE=F—+F+=f
=+T—HLFE: B) BEE-FFR
BAKEBHER10%A L

HUA

2018
—F—/\¥

2017
—E—tF
RMB'000
ARETTT

RMB’000
ARBTR

Forfeited deposits from customers KERFPHRIELN S 17,135 13,894
Government grants (note] U4 B (B =E) 8,099 1,746
Others Hib 4,112 9,776

29,346 25416

Note: The amount of government grants represents the incentive subsidies
received from the PRC local district authorities for the business activifies
carried out by the Group in the disfrict. There are no specific conditions

attached fo the grants.

fiEE : BB e EERAAEERNENETER
R A P EE 0 % i B B R0 B
Bh o XS BN SR E M A AT -
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
BE-FT—)\F+-A=+—HIFE

8. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES 8. Hiblras REstE
2018 2017
—B-N\EF —E—tF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®ETT ARETT
Losses from financial assets/liabilities KARAABEYENEBSZSH
carried at FVTPL BE/ABEEE
— unrealised —RER - [254,464)
— realised —B#R (15,247) (81,348)
Foreign exchange (loss) gain FE H, (E38 ) s (655,459) 607,869
Net gain on disposal of property, plont and  HE¥E « RE K& E A KL
equipment and investment properties WEYEZ W F58 10,810 1,128
Total HBE (659,896) 273,185
9. FINANCE INCOME 9. RLEUWA
2018 2017
—E—N\EF Bt
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT AREFT
Inferest income on bank deposits and BITFRRZFEER
entrusted loans F 2 WA 73,195 95,619
10. FINANCE COSTS 10. &R A
2018 2017
—E-N\fE —T—tF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETFT
Inferest expenses on bonds BEBHENEER 263,424 375,792
Interest expenses on inferestbearing loans BB 2B A 651,393 596,952
Inferest expenses on contract liabilities ARABEMNSER 521,267 -
Less: interest of bonds capitalised o B ESFLE (194,247) (299,985
inferest of loans capitalised B ERTE (572,271) [448,568)
interest of contract liabilities capitalised B ERBENER (482,078) -

Net interest expenses MEBRFE 187,488 224,191
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
B2 —ZE—\F+A=+—HIFE

11.INCOME TAX EXPENSES

(i)

Income tax in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and comprehensive income represents:

11. FiRHEX
) SEEEREEFEARABME
Bl -

2018
—B—N\E

2017
—E—tF
RMB'O00
ARET T

RMB’000
ARBTR

Current tax (note 33(i)) BPEAFIE (PEE33(i))
— in respect of current year —RFEE 754,927 1,345,185
— in respect of prior years —BEFE 20,147 43,458
— provision for land appreciation — NS+ I E R
fax for current year 667,969 629,475
1,443,043 2,018,118
Deferred tax BIEHIE
(note 33(ii) and (iii)) (PrEE33 (i) R (iii))
— charge (credit) for current year —REEHT(E%) 307,335 (598,431)
Total income tax expenses PrSTiR s 1,750,378 1,419,687

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made as the
Group did not eamn any income subject fo Hong Kong Profits

Tax during both years.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands
and the Brifish Virgin Islands, the Group is not subject to any

income tfax in the Cayman Islands and the British Virgin Islands.

H T 7S 5 B 74 7 {81 4F [ 29 B ] ZR A A
FARMEHRABA - B EELFENEH
B -

RERSHSREBREZESHNA MR
Bl - REEBAGREMNRSHS RRBRE
LEESH -
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or the year ended 31 December 2018
E? —E-NEFELF A= —HILEFE

11.INCOME TAX EXPENSES (Continued)

()  Income tax in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and comprehensive income represents:
(Continued)

Enterprise Income Tax

Pursuant to the Enterprise Income Tax Law of the PRC, the
Group's main operating companies were subject to PRC
Enterprise Income Tax ("EIT’) at a rate of 25% (2017: 25%).

In addition, the EIT law provides that qualified dividend
income between two “resident enterprises” that have a
direct investment relationship is exempted from income fax.
Otherwise, such dividends will be subject to a 5% or 10%
withholding tax under the EIT Law. A 10% withholding tax rate
is applicable to the Group.

Land Appreciation Tax

According to the requirements of the Provisional Regulations
of the PRC on AT effective from 1 January 1994, and the
Detailed Implementation Rules on the Provisional Regulations
of the PRC on LAT effective from 27 January 1995, all income
from the sale or transfer of state-owned land use rights,
buildings and their attached facilities in the PRC is subject
to LAT at progressive rafes ranging from 30% to 60% of the
appreciation value, with an exemption provided for property
sales of ordinary residential properties if their appreciation
values do not exceed 20% of the sum of the tofal deductible
items. Land appreciation tax of RMB667,969,000 (2017
RMB629,475,000) has been included in profit or loss during
the year.

(i)

11. FiieHEZ (&)

FEHEBREEANERAORE
BiE - (&)

LA

RBPBECEMFTE  AEENE
LB RN A EL25% BT R BN

FEMEMGE ([ REREHRD (=

—4F 1 25%) o

AN - BEREREREMEEEE
BERERENIEROE | EHRR2HRA
BREBMABMMEH - B/ - &
R B ARBEEMESTEBMASEHL

10%F8305  AAEBIER 10%FEHTH -

T HIZEF

BER—AAME—A—B4£82(F
AR ILAE L 308 E R E T IEGI A
ER—ANAFE—A=Z+tRERZ
(R EE A RN A 8 E R 1T 1645
EHMAADOER - B E RN E
ZBEETHERE EFREMBR
M2 BT YA B st 1 B BB R - 30%
BO60% 2 REEF RGN+ ILER
HEWERTERE 2 WELE 2 IGERE
B HFIE B 8% 2 8 F20% -
AT ER % - FNFTABERH T
BER A AR 667,069,000 (=
T—+F : AR¥629,475,0007T) °
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
B2 —ZE—\F+A=+—HIFE

11.INCOME TAX EXPENSES (Continued)

i)

The income tax expense for the year can be
reconciled to the accounting profit as follows:

i)

11. FiRHmARZ (&)

F B R EETiRF R

W -

2018 2017
—BT-N\E —E—+F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETTT
Profit before income tax B BT 1S 7 & A 3,731,318 3,255,305
Tax at the applicable PRC RABEBEEMAERHE25%
EIT rate of 25% (2017: 25%) (ZZT—+5F : 25%)5tE 2 B8 932,830 813,826
Tax effect of income nof taxable BRI E TR TSR AT 5
for tax purposes 2 (12,045) (78,885)
Tax effect of share of results of i EEAYNEIE S
associates BT E 3,838 250
Tax effect of share of results of JEEEEREXEEN
joint ventures B2 (40,358) (34,874
Tax effect of expenses not deductible e[ #EFNHIFEIB E A A
for tax purposes RS2 272,899 183,800
Under-provision in respect of BEFERETR
prior years 42,729 43,458
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised  ARFERMIGE BRI IS E 130,004 128,003
Tax effect of impairment losses REBREEEN
nof realised BT E - (20,767)
Utilisation of tax losses previously PR BERERD
not recognised BirsE1E (33,977) (87,230)
Tax effect on disposal of a subsidiary — H&E—RFR AR B E
(note) (B=E) (46,519) -
LAT provision for the year FALHIBEN AR 667,969 629,475
Tax effect of LAT THIRERN G E (166,992) (157,369
Tax charge for the year FERBER 1,750,378 1,419,687

Note: EIT on disposals of subsidiaries is calculated at 10% of the

difference between consideration and the registered capital of

the relevant subsidiary incorporated in the PRC.

et - HEFARMEEMEHIRAEEN D

BT M AR S 898 R F A B M AR A 2 2R

BV10%AtH ©
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
BE-FT—)\F+-A=+—HIFE

12. PERSONNEL EXPENSES

12. ETRX

2018 2017
—T—N\E —T—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETTT
Staff costs (including directors’ emoluments) B TR A(BFEEEHE) 656,386 482,718

less: capitalised in properties under B BERPYMERERT

development and investment A ER
properties under development ¥ N(d (171,269) (97,459)
Total st 485,117 385,259
13. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 13. SRS F

2018
—B—N\F

RMB’000
ARBTR

2017
—T—tF
RMB'000
AREETTT

The following expenses (income) are ATERUA)EETA
included in results for the year FEEED
Cost of properties sold B EMERAR 10,836,197 10,478,611
Auditors’ remuneration ZEGD B &
— audit services — BT 2,380 2,110
— auditrelated services — B AR IR 1,000 505
Depreciation of property, plant and LE Y
equipment E 89,003 Q7 514
Amortisation of land use rights b fE AR AR 8 1,395 566
Amortisation of intangible assets mEESH 45 45
Amortisation of contract costs & R A 59,441 -
Write-down of complefed properties BRKFENE L
held for sale HOR - 7,746
Operating lease charges KEEER 27,717 24,410
Gross rental income from investment REFREDFENHSBUA
properties 51,453 36,321
less: direct operafing expenses incurred for 8l : AFRELHASWANILEE
investment properties that generated FHREERLERX
renfal income during the year (30,604) [22,397)
direct operating expenses incurred for EE A EEEESBANIRE
investment properties that did nof MEHREREERE
generate rental income during the year (7,064) [4,359)
13,785 Q,565
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
B F— N\ A=t —HIFE

14. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Directors’ Fee

L
RMB'000
ARBFR

14. EEiM&

Basic salaries,

allowances
and other
benefits
B5Eg
ERREMERN
RMB’000
ARETR

Contributions
to retirement
benefit
schemes
BIER
AT
RMB’000
ARETR

Bonus

Ttdl
RMB'000

ARBFR

Total

&t
RMB’000
ARBFR

For the year ended BE-¥-\E+ZRA=t-H

31 December 2018 LEE
Executive Directors yiEs
Mr. Chen Jun BE &4 - 4,742 95 2,023 6,860
Mr. Hou Guangjun FRERE - 2,797 95 859 3,751
Mr. Wy Znenghui REERS - - - - -
Mr. Wang Weixian TRERS o 323 30 - 353
Ms. Wang Xuling IhERt = 1,991 17 785 2,793
Independent Non-Executive Directors B3IFEH{TES
Mr. Cheong Ying Chew, Henry REALE 323 - - - kyk}
Mr. Fong Wo, Felix, JP FMEE(KT4L) 323 - - - 323
M. Kwon Kai Cheong BREEE 323 - - - 323
Total ait 969 9,853 237 3,667 14,726
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
BE-FT—)\F+-A=+—HIFE

14. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 14. M2 (8)
(Continued)
Basic salaries, Contributions
allowances fo refirement
and oher benefit
Directors' Fee benefits schemes Bonus Total
. gy
EE0E  RRRAMET HE5 TEAL At
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT AREFT ARETT ARETT
For the year ended BE-F-tEt-A=t-B
31 December 2017 L5
Executive Directors BiTEE
Mr. Chen Jun BELE - 3,071 88 296 3,455
Mr. Hou Guangjun BRXERLE - 2,204 88 519 2811
Mr. Wu Zhengkui REEEE - - - - B
Mr. You Defeng s S - 660 35 458 1,153
Mr. Wang Weixion IRERE - 338 3 - 370
Ms. Wang Xuling Ihgnt - 1,622 16 448 2,086

Independent Non-Executive Directors BiFH{TEE

Mr. Cheong Ying Chew, Henry RERLE 338 - - - 338
Mr. Fong Wo, Felix, FREA (A TET) 338 - . - 138
Mr. Kwon Kai Cheong BREtE 338 - - - 338
Totol At 1014 7895 259 1721 10,889
The Executive Director Mr. You Defeng resigned in 2017. ITEE BB AENR T —HFF(T -
The emolument of the Executive Director Mr. Wu Zhengkui was WITES R FEXENN S B AR IZ IR
borne by Greenland Holdings. e
The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their EXFIRMITESEN G EEMBHFREARD
services in connection with the management of the affairs of the FIRANEBEREIBRE ML

Company and the Group.

The independent non-executive directors’” emoluments shown above EXARBYIEMITERNME R SR
were for their services as directors of the Company. ERRBEFMAT ©

There was no arrangement under which a director or the chief RREFE  SMEESHEBITRABRE
execufive waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during both KRB NE A E A= HE

years.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
B2 —ZE—\F+A=+—HIFE

15. EMPLOYEES’ REMUNERATION 15. ESM&

The five highest paid individuals of the Group during the year ended
31 December 2018 comprise three directors of the Company
(2017: four), whose remuneration is disclosed in note 14. Details of

remuneration paid to the remaining highest paid two individuals of

the Group are as follows:

AERBE—T-/\F+-_A=t—HLF
ENRAERSHFMALBEARR=4(=
T—LF:NR)EF HMESCRME4
BKE - IAKREESRE RS HMHA TN
MMEFHRAT -

2018 2017

—BT-N\E —E—+F

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARETT ARETTT

Basic salary, allowances and other benefits — ZEA ¥ & ~ 285 R EAEF 5,826 2,472
Contributions to retirement benefit schemes  RIKEFIFTEIHE K 179 88
Bonus TE4T 1,327 442
7,332 3,002

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the emolument of above
two individuals are within the band form Hong Kong Dollar ("HKD’)
4,500,001 to 5,000,000 and 3,500,001 to 4,000,000 (2017:
3,000,001 to 3,500,000).

16. DIVIDENDS

Dividends recognised as distribution

during the year

2017 Final: HKDO.15 per share
(2016 Final: HKDO.1 per share)

FANERRDIKAIBLE

BE T \F+-_A=+—HILFE " t
AR A AT EBHES B 74,500,001 # 7T ([ #
5T )% 5,000,000/ 7T K 3,500,001 BT E
4,000,000 7T (= F—+ 4% : 3,000,001
#ILE 3,500,000 T ) I EE -

1 6. Hal%\

2018 2017
—B—N\E

—E 4
RMB'000
ARET T

RMB’000
AREBTR

—F—LFRY 8ROI5SET
(ZF—RERY - SR0.1ET)

342,114 244,139

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, a final dividend
in respect of the year ended 31 December 2018 of HKDO.20
(2017: final dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December
2017 of HKDO.15) per ordinary share, in an aggregafe amount
of HKD558,377,000 (2017: HKD419,052,000), has been
proposed by the directors of the Company and is subject to approval

by the shareholders in the forthcoming annual general meeting.

RBERIRE  ARAREZREREBEE=T
—N\F+Z A=+ A LEFEERNRPKRE
FREBRO0BIL(ZE—LF : ESE
—Z—+tF+ - A=+—RALEERMNKBE
R EER0. 158 T) - #F /558,377,000

T(ZF—+%F : 419,052,000567T) * I
BEBRRRERERRBE RS HERITAIE

o

o

i

\r
I
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
BE-FT—)\F+-A=+—HIFE

17.EARNINGS PER SHARE 17. B8R &7
The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share AAREEANEBEERERNMEERFIZT
affributable to the owners of the Company is based on the following Y EUEETE
data:

2018 2017
= A

RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR®ETT ARBTFT

Earnings used in the calculation of basic FTESRERREEATF

and diluted eamings per share Fr R E &2 R 1,736,288 1,319,308
Disfribution related fo perpefual securities KAFEF DI (44,778) [45,575)
Earnings used in the calculation of basic FTEERER RS R FIFT A& T

and diluted eamings per share 1,691,510 1,273,733

Number of shares Ikt 2

Weighted average number of ordinary RERERLEERNME

shares for the purpose of basic and LM e T 9 88
diluted eamings per share 2,770,145 2,770,980
Earnings =2

Earnings for the purpose of basic and MERERLEERNME
diluted eamings per share & F) 0.61 0.46
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLUDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continved)
REPBRRME @)

For the year ended 31 December 2018
B2 —ZE—\F+A=+—HIFE

18. %  BERRE

Motor
vehicles

Fixtures,
fittings &
equipment
KE R

Construction
in progress

Cost A
Bolance of 1 Jonuary 2017 RZE—+E-f-BEER 1,277 221 77 360 47146 337,852 231 1739810
Addition RE - 1882 1,273 13,395 26,101 42651
Tronsfer & - 11,650 - - (11,650) -
Acaistion o subsidiories WEFRE - 677 - 2,833 - 3510
Disposal of a subsidiary HE-FFAT - - - (03] - (03]
Disposals g2 - - 745) (12712 - (13,457)
Bolance at 31 December 2017 W-EF—+E+-A=1-H

igf 1,277,201 91569 147,674 341,303 14,682 1,772,449
Addiion HE 1559 29,080 2,547 34,365 3670 71,221
Transfer ek 18,352 - - - (18,352 -
Acquisiion of o subsidiory [note 49)  WE—FFAR(H349) 672 - 78 757 - 1507
Disposal of a subsidiary [noe 50) HE-ZFAF(HiEE50) - - - 492) - 492)
Disposals &3 [672) 32,439) (3,020] 24,000) - [60,131)
Bolance ot 31 December 2018 RZE-\$+-p=1-H

ighetd 1,297 132 88,210 47279 351,933 - 1,784,554
Depreciation il
Balonce of T January 2017 RoB—t5-f-BHEs 177 479 52,350 38,99 188,744 - 457 569
Chorge for the year ERfE 71,356 2829 1470 21,859 - 97514
Disposal of a subsidiary HE-FTA7) - - - 27) - (27)
Disposals gz - - (342) (10,724) - (11,066]
Balonce at 31 December 2017 R-Z—+E+-F=1-A

igfa 248 835 55,179 40,124 199,852 - 543990
Chorge for the year Frirg 49,561 13,391 2,653 23,398 - 89.003
Disposal of a subsidiary [nofe 50| HE-FFARHES0) - - - [201) - (201)
Disposals &3 (114) (32,439 (2746) 21,508 - (56,807)
Balance af 31 December 2018 W_E2-\E+-A=1-H

igfsd 298,282 36,131 40,031 201,481 - 575,925
Carrying amounts FEE
At 31 December 2017 RZE-+F+A=+-H 1,028,386 36,390 7550 141,451 14,682 1,228,459
At 31 December 2018 RZE-\E+ZB=+-H 098,850 52079 7248 150,452 - 1,208,629

All buildings owned by the Group are located in the PRC.

As at 31 December 2018, property, plant and equipment with
a total carrying value of RMB462,552,000(as at 31 December
2017: RMB522,476,000) were pledged as collateral for the

Group's borrowings.

AREREOMEETHMNFTE -

RZE-—NF+-_A=1+—H K&H
EHEMREAE AR 462,552,000 7T
(RZE—+tF+ZA=+—8: AR¥
522,476,0007T) % - BB RREIER

AEERENERS -
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A VBRRWE @

For the year ended 31 December 2018
BE-FT—)\F+-A=+—HIFE

19.INTANGIBLE ASSETS 19. B EE
2018 2017
—B-N\EF —E—+F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®ETT ARBTFT
Cost jo%.3
Balance at 1 January R—A—H/EH 1,700 1,700
Amortisation HHen
Balance at 1 January K—A— B8 404 359
Amortisation charge for the year FNEEER X 45 45
Balance at 31 December Rt-—A=1+—HO%&s 449 404
Carrying amounts FREE
Balance at 31 December Rt A=1+—Hr&&% 1,251 1,296
Useful life for amortisation B 5Hn]F AR 38 years 38 years
384 384
Infangible assets represent contractor qualification in PRC, for own use R A At B R BR R A o

purpose.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLUDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continved)
REPBRRME @)

For the year ended 31 December 2018
B2 —ZE—\F+A=+—HIFE

20.LAND USE RIGHTS 20. i fE A
2018 2017
—T—N\E —E—+F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®ETT ARETTT
Cost D%
Balance at 1 January R—A—H&&EH 30,850 30,850
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 49) W —RF R (M7E49) 44,601 -
Addition NE 2,067 -
Balance at 31 December RN+ A=1+—BW&e 77,518 30,850
Amortisation ey
Balance at 1 January W— B — A4 6,808 6,242
Amortisation charge for the year FRFHEFT 1,395 566
Balance at 31 December N+ A=+—HB8&E% 8,203 6,808
Carrying amounts IREE
Balance at 31 December R+ A=1+—B84&% 69,315 24,042
Useful life for amortisation B SH T F A HA 39-50 years 39-42 years
39-50% 39-424F
Land use rights represent lease prepayments for acquiring rights to use 3 PR R U R PR L b AR R O A E TR
land, which is all located in the PRC, for own use properties. FIE - REMUARE - REERAYE -

21.EQUITY INSTRUMENTS AT FAIR VALUE 21.BAREBEIKRNREGZEE

THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE ABRETA
INCOME
2018
it A
RMB’000
ARETR
Unlisted equity investments SELEMRARE 294,340
The above unlisted equity investments represent the Group's equity i3k FRRANIS A e A E BN R MK
inferest in a private entity established in the PRC. These invesiments STEIFAA T L HOBRAE o B W IR IES
are not held for trading, instead, they are held for longferm strategic = HRAERERENTES - ALTE
purposes. The directors of the Company have elected to designate ORI T ERET AR EARAR(E
these investments in equity instruments as at FVTOCI as they believe EIEREMEERASE  BEEARER
that recognising shortterm fluctuations in these investments fair value ARNERNERZEINE AL EENE RS
in profit or loss would not be consisfent with the Group's strategy of UGN E RS R I A R Y E
holding these investments for longterm purposes and realising their BHERBILEETG o

performance potential in the long run.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
BE-FT—)\F+-A=+—HIFE

22.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 22, HEYE
Investment
Completed properties
investment under
properties development Total
E&mM RS
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBFT ARBFTT ARETFT
FAIR VALUE NR(EE
As at 1 January 2017 R-ZE—+F—HA—H 3,246,000 4,970,000 8,216,000
Additions NE - 1,235,707 1,235,707
Disposal B (408,975) - 408,975)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—XFAH (20,000) - (290,000)
Net increase in fair value EERBRNAREE
recognised in profit or loss HANEEA 98,975 230,293 329,268
As at 31 December 2017 RZE—+F
+=—A=+—8 2,646,000 6,436,000 9,082,000
Additions NE - 1,310,438 1,310,438
Transfer from completed properties 8% 5 B 2K FFE W%
held for sale (nofe 24) (PfizE24) 1,486,543 - 1,486,543
Disposal R [22,609) - (22,669
Transfer [ 406,978 (406,978) -
Net increase in fair value EERRRNAREE
recognised in profit or loss [note) & ANFEE (FFE) 560,513 066,175 1,226,688
As at 31 December 2018 RZZT—N\F
+=—A=+—H 5,077,365 8,005,635 13,083,000
Note: During the year ended 31 December 2018, certain properties held Wi RN zZ2—T—NEF+=-_A=+—81#F
for sale with carrying amount of RMB1,486,543,000 (2017:Nil) was B BREMEARAR 486,543,000 7T
transferred fo completed investment properties upon the change in use (ZZE—+F: ENETEEWERZSE
of the properties evidenced by commencement of leasing agreement MENREHIRSFAHEREDZRIR
for the properties to generate rental income. At the date of transfer, BYE P AMZEYWEEERE RS
the gain on revaluation of properties transferred from properties held UEERSWA - RERBH - AEEY
for sale to investment properties amounting to RMB375,457,000 XEBEREMENEHEMFREARE
(2017:Nil) was recognised in profit or loss. 375,457, 0007t (Z B —+ 4 : @)A1z

B -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLUDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continved)

VePN:

e ERRM &)

F

r the year ended 31 December 2018

A2 —T—)\F+—A=1—HIFE

22.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

All of the Group's property interests held under operating leases
fo earn rentals or for capital appreciation purposes are measured
using the fair value model and are classified and accounted for as

investment properties.

The fair value of the Group's investment properties as at 31
December 2018 and 2017 has been arrived at on the basis of a
valuation carried out on the respective dates by DTZ, an independent

valuer not related to the Group.

For completed investment properties, the valuations have been arrived
at using income capitalisation approach, where appropriate, by
capitalising the net rental income derived from the existing tenancies
with due allowance for the reversionary income potential of the

respective properties.

For investment properties under construction or development, the
valuations have been arrived at assuming that the investment
properties will be completed in accordance with the development
proposals and the relevant approvals for the proposals have been
obtained. The key inputs in the valuations include the market value
of the completed investment properties, which are estimated with
reference fo sales evidence of similar properties in the nearest
locality, with adjustments made to account for is differences in
locations and other factors specific to the respective properties based
on the valuer's judgement. Costs of development are also taken into
account including construction costs, finance costs and professional
fees, as well as developer's profit margin which reflects the
remaining risks associated with the development of the properties at
the valuation date and the return that the developer would require for
bringing them to complefion status, which is defermined by the valuer
based on its analyses of recent land transactions and market value of

similar completed properties in the respective locations.

There has been no change to the valuation technique during the

year.

In estimating the fair value of the investment properties, the highest

and best use of the investment properties is their current use.

22, EME(R)

AEBEMFREREBELEEEHBFARRES K
ARBERNEEN Y E R SIR AR BERAG
2 IDBRARAREYE

REBREDER _Z—N\FR-Z—1F
T-A=T—BNAREBEDREBZEE
A 380 A 21T (CHL B A 52 [ 30 4% gt ) 04
HBEITR R EMZE -

HREZRREMENS  EEEEBR TR
RRABRNOEETTHE - TARBRRE
HPWEZ B2 WA FRETENERLE
MEEFEEERRAELEE HREE -

REZHBRTREVEMS - [AEDHER
BRZEFREVFEFHREZRAEREIE
MEERENIEETT - MENFEBAE
BREOERKREMENTE(ISZMITN
AR R ERRE AT - R - REMA
BB TRERNZR AR S MENHE
AR EETRE) - ZAELEYER
REBERAAAZE - BEERNAE U8
AMEXER  ARFEZEEOMEER(RE
BRRRYEFRZENRGE R MR EEED
XABRTIRHMPFNER)  ZFRERIR
SR E R AT B £ 30 32 5 A0 B R I AR 1B
ERIYMETSEENDN -

FA - HERMTEZEE -

RAHEREYMELABENS  KEWER
BRZENEKERRE °
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
BE-FT—)\F+-A=+—HIFE

22, INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 22. &Y (48)

The following table presents the fair value of the Group's investment TREVNAEBERNME PRIRE T IR LSS
properties measured at the end of the reporting period on a recurring ENREVEAAEBE BEAABENE
basis, categorised info the level 3 fair value hierarchy as defined BB mEERIE 1 3R BEASHAAT
in IFRS 13, fair value measurement. The level into which a fair ZANBEHE=ZRBXIXTETHE AREE
value measurement is classified is defermined with reference fo the Frss M BRI 2 Z A T ERM TR
observability and significance of the inputs used in the valuation BASENBREREZEMET

technique as follows:

“E-)N\FF+ZA=T—H rEEHNEKR

BYER AR BEFEENINE=BRG
CBE_ZE- N\FTZR=+—HIF
C BRI A o

At 31 December 2018, the Group's investment properties are
measured at level 3 category of fair value measurement and during

the year ended 31 December 2018, there were no transfers into or

WWIWWX%

out of Level 3.

Valuation
Techniques Key input
fh{EH EEHANBIR
Complefed investment Income capitalisation Capitalisation rates 3.5%-8.5% (i)
properies located in approach BAREE
Mainland China WAEAR X
[P B b Y B AR Average unit markef rent RMB39 - RMB277
=L/ES B TISES per sg.m per month
BABFIIAAREIOLE i)
ARBEE277 T
Investment properties under  Direct comparison Average market unit price RMB8,000 — RMB85,000 (ii)
development located in approach BRI TIHER per sq.m
Mainland China HELEE FFHARARES 0002
IR B A3 ) 3R 4% AR#85,0007T
Notes: Descriptions of the sensitivity in key inputs and interrelationship: Mt : =28 ABRGURE RARE BRI -
(i) The fair value measurement is negatively correlated fo the key (i) ARBEFEETEGABEZE
input that a lower factor will result in a higher fair value. 18RS BNREIE - RAEEBS -
[i)  The fair value measurement is positively correlated fo the key i) 2AREEFEATIZEGHAZBEZE
input that a higher factor will result in a higher fair value. 18RE - BNREES - A EEES -
As at 31 December 2018, the Group has not obtained the Stafe- 3A_ Z-N\F+ZA=+—B  KEELR
owned Lland Use Rights Certificate for certain investment properties, SEELIHEREENE TRENERE
which are amounted to RMB133,000,000(as at 31 December /\Eﬁg 133,000,0007c(RA—E—+t&F+ =
2017: RMB131,000,000). RA=+—8: AR¥131,000,0007T) °
As at 31 December 2018, investment properties with a total RZE—NF+=-A=+—H ~&£EH
carrying value of RMB578,000,000 (as at 31 December 2017: B RmAE AR 578000000 T
RMB571,000,000) were pledged as collateral for the Group's (R-ZZE—tF+-A=+—H: AR¥
borrowings. 571,000,0007T ) B & W) SR ARIE R A S

ﬁélt E’]J{fﬁﬁuu °
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REPBRRME @)

For the year ended 31 December 2018
B2 —ZE—\F+A=+—HIFE

23.PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT

23. ERPYE

2018 2017
—B—N\E —E—tF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARE TR ARET T
Cost [B#N
Balance at 1 January R—A—BWEE 23,921,597 19,010,732
Cost capitalised AR E AL 24,783,376 12,779,663
Acquisition of a subsidiary (nofe 49) I —R 7 AR (KIEE49) 3,083,526 4,361,407
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 50) HE—RF AR (HFES50) (2,687,246) -
Transfer to completed properties EREEERNFEDE
held for sale (note 24) (FfsE24) (10,823,172) (12,230,205)
Balance at 31 December Rt A=1+—H8&& 38,278,081 23,921,597
Classified as current assets DEAEREEE 25,083,825 8,945,329
Classified as non-current assets DEAIEREEE 13,194,256 14,976,268
Inferest capitalisation included in the above: BT A_E#llI8 B M EAEF B ¢
Balance af 1 January R—A—HB&ER 1,329,769 1,085,724
Cost capitalised KAE AL 837,817 647 441
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—RFRA (57,914) -
Transfer to completed properties ERFOENFEDE
held for sale (212,789) 403,3906)
Balance at 31 December R+ A=+—HBH%&% 1,896,883 1,329,769

All the properties under development are located in the PRC.

The weighted average interest rate of capitalised interest of

borrowings and bonds is 5.57% (2017: 4.80%).

FRBBRRPYEDLNFE -

& & REFNEAREF RN HEFHFIR S
5.57%(ZF—+4F : 4.80%) °
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
BE-FT—)\F+-A=+—HIFE

24.COMPLETED PROPERTIES HELD FOR 24.EEBRFEYE

SALE
2018 2017
—T—\E T4
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT AREET T
Cost B
Balance af 1 January R— A —HE&EHS 11,695,877 9,808,674
Transfer from properties under EREBRRPME
development (note 23] (P5E23) 10,823,172 12,230,205
Transfer fo investment properties (note 22) ER R EYE(ME22) (1,486,543) -
Disposal of a subsidiary HeE—KRFAF - (190,295)
Transfer to cost of sales TR Z S E P R (10,842,563) (10,152,707)
Balance at 31 December P+ A=+—H&EH 10,189,943 11,695,877
Writedown of completed properties HORE X FEE
held for sale:
Balance af 1 January n— B — A4S (25,908) (101,233)
Additions NE = (7,746)
Transfer to cost of sales RS HER AR 6,366 83,071
Balance at 31 December Rt A=1+—HO4&s (19,542) (25,908)
10,170,401 11,669,069

All the completed properties held for sale are located in the PRC.

B EERFENERIOMLNPE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
B2 —ZE—\F+A=+—HIFE

25.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

25. BE A

2018 2017

—B—N\E —E—tF

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARE TR AREET T

Cost of unlisted investments in associates Bt N B IE ETHIRE KA 236,915 7,971

Share of postacquisition profifs, FEIEH B RSN - IR E WS

net of dividends received (30,361) (1,887)
206,554 6,084

period are as follows:

Name of associate

BEATER

Shanghai Yingkun Investment Limited
Partnership Corporation
("Shanghai Yingkun") (note i)
HEERREAR R (BERER)
(I iR |) (Pisti)
Guangxi Greenland Jinyao Property
Co., Ltd ("Guangxi Jinyao") (note ii)
ER 2 REXERAR ([ EESE])
(Bttin)
Guangxi Jiuguwan Automobile Industry
Investment Limited
("Guangxi Jiuquwan") (note iii)
BRENAMEE N EXREBE AR
([ AL B |) (Pl sEi)
Guangxi Yulin Tongzhou Logistics
Co., Ltd. ("Yulin Tongzhou") (note iv)
BEREMENDRERAR ([ EHEMN])
(FitzEiv)
Guangxi Yulin Tonghe Investment
Co., Ltd. ("Yulin Tonghe") (note iv)
EREMENRERRAR ([ EHER])
(BrzEiv)
Guangxi Yulin Tongxing Investment
Co., Ltd. ("Yulin Tongxing") (note iv)
ERFMERRERRAR(EHER])
(BrzEiv)

No associate was individually material fo the Group for both years.

Details of each of the Group's associates at the end of the reporting

Principal activity

TEEH

Investing and consulfing

REREN
Property development

NEBRRS

Property development

NEBRRS

Property development

NEBRRS

Property development

NEBRRS

Property development

NEBRRS

Place of incorporation
and principal place
of business

MR R
TEEEWE

Shanghai, the PRC

HELE
Guangxi, the PRC
HEER

Guangxi, the PRC

HEER
Guangxi, the PRC
HEER
Guangxi, the PRC
HEER
Guangxi, the PRC

PEER

AEEZBERRR

MR EFE B AR EAEE =8 E
RIEXK o

WEHROFELT

Proportion of ownership
interest and voting power

held by the Group
as at 31 December
®+=A=+-H
FEEREEERRATERAELH
2018 2017
—E-0\E S o3
23% 23%
18% 18%
15% 15%
42.5% -
42.5% -
42.5% -
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
BE2—FE—\F+A=+—HIEFE

25.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 25.BrE AT (4])

(i

(i)

(i)

(iv)

Shanghai Yingkun is a limited partnership corporation. Shanghai
Daokun Investment Management Co., Lid, the subsidiary of the Group, is
the general partner of Shanghai Yingkun. The Group is one of the four
partners (including general and limited partners), while resolution about
any partnership-related events is made in an one partner one vote
approach, and must be approved by more than half of all pariners.
Profits and losses of Shanghai Yingkun are distributed in accordance
with the subscripfion capital shares of the partners. Therefore, Shanghai

Yingkun was recognised as an associate.

In March 2017, Guangxi Jinyao was established by the Group and
other two shareholders. The Group occupied 18% equity interests.
According fo the Articles of Association of Guangxi Jinyao, only one
out of six directors of Guangxi Jinyao is appointed by the Group, while
a valid board resolution requires half of the total votes. The Group thus
does not have the power fo control or jointly confrol Guangxi Jinyao.

Therefore, Guangxi Jinyao was recognised as an associate.

In December 2017, the Group acquired 15% equity interests of
Guangxi Jiuguwan. According to the Arficles of Association of Guangxi
Jiuquwan, only one out of five directors of Guangxi Jiuquwan is
appointed by the Group, while a valid board resolution requires half

of the total votes. The Group thus does not have the power to control

(i

(i)

(i)

btEERL—RERABEE - AREW
FRRILBBREEAEERAERARR/LE
BENEBEBA - ARERENZEBA
(BE-—REEREBA) 22— MAR
HEEHORBRIAEZEEA—A—
ENHAEL - YARSRFHBABAL
%o LIBEENEREABANREER
R AEC - Bt - LA BB AN

2 -

R-B—LtF=F AREERIIMEK
RAZER SR - AEEE 8% - Rig
ERSRNASERAR - BESBAA
EEhEF-EHAKEZE MEXEE
RERFEBYERETRER - A&H
R iy 458 5 7 T R M 42 ) A R K R4
HlHE - FHitt - BEESRERAM AT

RZZ—tF+h  REEREERAN

B 5% - RIBFEP N EEMAMEIZ
MR ERAHMERRERDER —EH
ARERE MEFTRERFTEBYH
BETRBY - AEBEMYESEER

or jointly confrol Guangxi Jiuguwan. Therefore Guangxi Jiuguwan was SUBhE R il s SR IR - UL - E
recognised as an associate. SRR RME AT

In February 2018, the Group contributed 42.5% equity interests of
Yulin Tongzhou, Yulin Tonghe and Yulin Tongxing. According fo the
Atticles of Association of these companies, the Group appointed only
one out of six directors of these three companies, while a valid board
resolution requires half of the fotal votes. The Group thus does not have
the power to control or jointly control these three companies. Therefore,

these three companies were recognised as associates.

Aggregate information of associates that are not individually material:

(iv)

RZFE-N\FZA AEEHEEMNB
M~ BB EAEEA2 SUATHE - RIE
ZERAMBMERMAY > Z=KAAN
REETEELRAKERE MES
ERBRFBELBLBERENREY - A%
9 A i 3 S SR R = R AR R s
EEGIE - Bt - Z=R 2 AER RS

NGRS

WIHERIE AR 2 A BNELER -

2018 2017
—E—N\EF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AREFx AREETTT
Group's share of total losses for the year NEEELEEEBARE (15,354) (999)
Aggregate carrying amount of the Group's ~ REBERZEEZE A
interests in these associates EmRmEBE 206,554 6,084
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B2 —ZE—\F+A=+—HIFE

25.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 25.BrE AT ER(4E)

The Group has discontinued recognition of ifs share of losses of AEEDEUSEREELE THEQARNE
certain associates as its share of losses of those associates equals or B HEREREZEEE AR EIERE
exceeds ifs inferesfs in the associafe. The amounts of unrecognised REBBERZEE & A RMRELR o BIhZ
share of losses of these associates, both for the year and FEE N BEENFAR R RER SN
cumulatively, are as follows: Ik

2018 2017
—T-N\F —T 4

RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBT T

Unrecognised share of losses of associates  JEAGHE A B1F WA MEREE

for the year 4,886 600
Accumulated unrecognised share of losses B Ef & A 7] 25t A HEREE
of associates 5,486 600
26.INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES 26. EEE#ER

2018 2017

—B-N\E —E—+F

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARETTT

Cost of unlisted investments in joint veniures & & ¥ IE ETTIRER AR 133,307 361,807
Share of postacquisition profifs, FEIEU B RSN - IR EHEE

net of dividends received 486,037 324,606

619,344 686,413
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26.INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES 26. SELEER(E)
(Continued)
Details of the Group's joint ventures at the end of reporting period is as AEBRNBRERRONSLEDEFBOT ¢
follows:

Proportion of ownership

Place of incorporation interest and voting power
and principal place held by the Group
Name of joint venture Principal activity of business as at 31 December
Rk R ®R+=RA=+-H
BEEEER : TEEEWE ARERHAEED R FRRREL S
2018 2017
—B-0\%F
Forever Rich Enterprise Limited Property development Suzhou, Jiangsu Province, 50% 50%
("Forever Rich") the PRC
Forever Rich Enterprise Limited NELERB RETEEFMT
(TForever Rich))
Haikou Chengjian Green Island landscape engineering Haikou, Hainan Province, 32.5% 32.5%
Landscape Engineering Co., Ltd the PRC
("Haikou Chengjian”) (note)
BONBZERER(I TRERLNA B LT hEEREENT
(IBO%wE ) ()

Note: In March 2016, Haikou Chengjian was established by the Group Mz : RZT—RF=A - BAREHEAEER
and other two shareholders. The Group occupied 32.5% equity FINRHBIERAIL o AREEE32.5%AHE
inferesfs. According to the Articles of Association of Haikou Chengiian, RIBE O ENASERMA - NEE R
the Group and other shareholders jointly control Haikou Chengjian. H R A REGEORE - Bt - &0
Therefore, Haikou Chengjian is recognised as a joint venture. PIRERRAE LR -

Summarised financial information of a material joint EXEEREUHERME

venture

Summarised financial information in respect of each of the Group's TXEHINAEBEERGERENTFER

material joinf ventures is set out below. The summarised financial BE - TXAHMBERRERSLLER

information below represents amounts shown in the joint venture's RIB BRI 5 S R R I SRR AR
financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRSs. BHE ©

The joint venture is accounted for using the equity method in these EECERERENZEREUBBRERA

consolidated financial statements. R o
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REPBRRME @)

For the year ended 31 December 2018
B2 —ZE—\F+A=+—HIFE

26.INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES

(Continued)
Forever Rich

Forever Rich

26. 8E L FHER(F)

2018 2017

—B—N\E —E—+F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AREFx ARET T

Current assets RENEE 3,465,555 1,747,608
Non-current assets FEREEE 413,525 233,235
Current liabilities mEIRE 2,748,910 V777

The above amounts of assets and liabilities include the following: FEERBESERE

2018 2017
—T-0\E —E—tF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR AREFT
Bank balance and cash RITEBREE S 1,269,942 160,788
2018 2017
—E—N\E —E—tF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR AREETTT
Revenue g 1,041,975 894,636
Profit and total comprehensive income FEHMNREARA
for the year FEkE] 323,505 280,286
The above profit for the year includes P ERE R
the following: B -
Depreciation and amortisation PrEE R 309 315
Finance income BE A 33,469 26,233
Income fax expense FRSRF 108,214 93,503

261



262 GREENLAND HONG KONG HOLDINGS LIMITED

Annual Report 2018

NOTES TO THE CONSOLDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continved)
A VBRRWE @

For the year ended 31 December 2018
BE-FT—)\F+-A=+—HIFE

26.INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES
(Continued)
Forever Rich (Continued)
Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the

carrying amount of the inferest in the joint venture recognised in the

consolidated financial statements:

26. SE R FER(R)

Forever Rich(#4&)

A EM AR BN RS M RAERA

BECEESRAENER

2018 2017

—B—N\E —E—+F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AREFT ARETTT

Net assets of Forever Rich Forever Rich/ & & & 1,130,170 1,263,666
Proportion of the Group's ownership AEE B A Forever Rich#y ¥ A

interest in Forever Rich S 50% 50%

Carrying amount of the Group's REEWForever RichiE A
interest in Forever Rich BRTEE 565,085 631,833
Aggregate information of the joint venture that is not individually WIERERE 2 hERELER

material:

2018
—B—N\F

RMB’000
ARBTR

2017
—T—tF
RMB'000
AREETTT

Group's share of total losses for the year REEE(HFEEEIBA%E (321) 647)
Aggregate carrying amount of the Group's ~ ANEBRZA A XML AAE
inferest in the joint venture 54,259 54,580
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B2 —ZE—\F+A=+—HIFE

27.TRADE, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND 27.fEUgBR®: + HibEURIE R TE

ADVANCE DEPOSITS VDR %
2018 2017
—T—\EF —F—tF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETX AREET T
Trade receivables FEURER K
— due from related parties (note i) — PR 5 (P 5Ei) 5,522 3,869
— due from non-related parties — FEM I RA 278,372 169,584
283,894 173,453
Less: allowance for doubtful debts B REREME (41,405) (25,735)
Trade receivables, net off allowance EBRRR » NG REREE
for doubtful debts 242,489 147,718
Other nonrade receivables HAIEE SRR
— due from related parties (note i — PR AR 5 (P i) 10,688,157 6,463,627
— due from non-elated parties [note i) — YRR 77 (PR &) 2,601,032 1,977,481
— consideration receivable due from a — e RARE 5 R (E
related party 903,913 -
14,193,102 8,441,108
Less: allowance for doubtful debts o REREE (187,400) (43,400]
Other nontrade receivables, net off HiIEE S EWIER - NG RIREE
allowance for doubtful debts 14,005,702 8,397,708
Advance payments fo contractors B A P RIE 894,739 1,603,102
Advance to related parties SEURIEE) e 138,319 513,637
Advance deposits for acquisition of land WBE 3 R TR R &
use rights 1,119,312 1,120,000
Other tax prepayments [note iiil H b FEEE R (P 7Liin) 1,137,894 786,005
Totd @it 17,538,455 12,568,170
Notes: Bk

(i) The receivables due from related parties are unsecured and repayable (i)

on demand.

(i) Non-rade receivable balances, deposits and advances to third parties (i)

are expected to be settled or recovered within one year.

(i) Other tax prepayments mainly represent prepayment of value-added (iii)

tax, tax surcharge during the pre-sale stage of cerfain properties.

FEW B T RIB R EE R R ER ERRE

FEBESERYERER  ReERBENE=S
HFIRTREN —F B E IR -

Htp B R EBERERBEES TYWEME
RSB (AR 2 MY 0%
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BE-FT—)\F+-A=+—HIFE

27.TRADE, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND 27.FEWgBRF - HihEWIRIE X TE

ADVANCE DEPOSITS (Continued) fH&&(48)
The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables, net of UTABREBEREAH2 M EKER(HR
allowance for credit losses, presented based on the invoice dates: EEBEERE) R
2018 2017
—B-N\E —E—+F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®ETT ARBTFT
0-90 days 0-Q0H 169,739 138,287
91-180 days Q1-180H 6,673 622
181-365 days 181-365H 5,747 3,656
Over 365 days BiE365H 60,330 5,153
242,489 147,718
In general, the Group provides no credit term fo its customers. AEE—RIGRZTFEMAEER -
In general, the Group provides no credit term to its customers. AEE—RIERNECREEEH - R
As at 31 December 2018, included in the Group's trade —\F+ZRA=+—H FEABLEAARK
receivables balance are debtors with aggregate carrying amount of 242,489,0007TH) W AR ¥R s B iR 8
RMB242,489,000 which are past due as af the reporting date. Out B Wit AREER YRR - RZE
of the past due balances, RMB72,750,000 has been past due 90 B - ARM72,750,0007T 2 #1 HA
days or more and is not considered as in default since the directors QOB L  BEXREEEERR - ANZE
of the Group consider that there is no indicators of default risk from FEUBR R P IR B LRI R - & E
the debtors. Other than bills received, the Group does not hold any TR EAER EL o REWIRESN - K&
collateral over these balances. )30 8 A % B A AR (R (AR o
Aging of trade receivables which are past due but no impaired: EEMERRENEYRTIRERNAT
2017
=T e
RMB'000
AR¥ETT
0-90 days 0-90H 138,287
91-180 days 91-180H 622
181-365 days 181-365H 3,656
Over 365 days HBiE365H 5,153

147,718
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
B2 —ZE—\F+A=+—HIFE

27.TRADE, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND

27. FEUARSR « H B RIE R R

ADVANCE DEPOSITS (Continued) HR&(48)
Movement in the allowance for doubtful debts FRRIBEEE)
2017
—E—tF
RMB'O00
AREETTT
At 1 January n—A—H 69,265
Amounts written off as uncollectible MEHE 5 AT e (130]
At 31 December Rt+—_A=+—8 69,135

Defails of impairment assessment of frade and other receivables for

the year ended 31 December 2018 are sef out in note 43.

28.TAX RECOVERABLE

HE_Z-/\F+-A=+—RHIFE &
W Bk e EL At R MCRIR YR B RS R B R
BiE43 -

28. AT EHIE

2018 2017
—B—N\E —E—tF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETR ARET T
Enterprise Income Tax TEMSH 306,870 259,848
Land Appreciation Tax T ER 637,624 453,001
944,494 /12,849
29. CONTRACT ASSETS 29. SA&E

Construction management service BB IR IRTS

2018
—T—N\E

RMB’000
ARETR

839,997

The contract assets primarily relate to the Group's right to
consideration for work completed and not billed because the rights
are conditioned on the Group's future performance in achieving
specified milestones stipulated in the relevant contracts at the
reporting date on consfruction management service. The confract
assefs are transferred fo trade receivables when the rights become

unconditional.

Details of impairment assessment of contract asses for the year ended
31 December 2018 are set out in nofe 43.

EREETEEMAKEMCRT BMARL
ARZNTRRUMKRENENER - RER
BRENM R RAKBEREE AR EE
BRI HI AR KR IVEBARR S KRR
EBEE - EEMENKSEENE - AR
BEBBEERBIER

HE-_ZT—)/\F+-_A=+—HLFE " &
BEERE G F BN 43 -
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BE-FT—)\F+-A=+—HIFE

30. CONTRACT COSTS 30. ERAAF
2018
—F-0\F
RMB’000
AREFT
Costs for obtaining property sale confracts BISYFHESRMKAR 54,962
Management expects the incremental costs, primarily sale commission SR EIEL AT O B EE S B
paid/payable, as a result of obtaining the property sale contracts are EERA(TEADN,EMNEERE) -
recoverable. The Group has capifalised the amounts and amortised AEBDEAMLEBELEE  WHEZMEK
when the related revenue are recognised. SRS TTIRSY o
31.RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS 31. SRR
2018 2017
—B-0\E ZE—tF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETT
Deposits for consfruction and BEREERVELRS
development of properties 657,384 637,669
Deposits for mortgage loans BERERIES 1,085,257 1,342,601
Deposits pledged for interestbearing loans it B B MIKIFAHIZ S 422,205 400,000
Others Hi 52,584 21,225
2,217,430 2,401,495
Pledged bank deposits carry interest af fixed rates which range from BRI RIRE T EFEN T0.35%%E

0.35% to 2.75% (2017: 0.30% to 2.00%) per annum. 275%(=F—+% :0.30%F2.00%)t & -
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B2 —ZE—\F+A=+—HIFE

32.BANK BALANCE AND CASH 32. RITHER RIS
2018 2017
—B—N\E —E—+tF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETTT ARET T
Bank balance and cash IRITEB MRS 6,277,208 7,856,722
less: restricted cash deposits (note 31) B ZIREIRSFER(MIEEST) (2,217,430) (2,401,495)
4,059,778 5,455,227
Bank balance and cash is denominated in AT S EEIRTTAB LIRS
RMB ARB 4,738,234 6,954,102
usbD e 1,519,221 /33,481
HKD BT 19,753 169,139
6,277,208 7,856,722
Bank balances carry inferest ot market rates which range from 0.35% RITEBRIET IS EFENT0.35%E2.75%
to 2.75% (31 December 2017: 0.30% to 2.00%) per annum. (ZE—+E+=-_A=+—8 :030%=%

2.00%)5t 8 °

RMB is not a freely convertible currency and the remitiance of funds ARBWIEEREIBEE  RPRELAR
out of the PRC is subject to exchange restrictions imposed by the PRC 3% o7 b R B SIS T O B S PR 4 o
government.

As of 31 December 2018, the carry amount of advance from R NE+-_A=+—H1 ZEZHE
customers under supervision is RMB619,769,000 (as of 31 WEEREREEASARKO619,769,000
December 2017: RMB524,631,000). T(R—Z—+tF+-_A=+—08: ARK

524,631,0007T) °
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BE2—FE—\F+A=+—HIEFE

33.TAX PAYABLE/DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/ 33.FE{{HilE EEFIESE (B

(LIABILITIES) &)
(i)  Current taxation in the consolidated statement of (i) “ZEMFERRTRENIIBIE :

financial position represents:

2018 2017
—T—N\E —T—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETFTT
PRC Enterprise Income Tax hE S EFREH
Balance brought forward AR 45 1,047,969 586,537
Provision for the year [nofe 11{i)) FREEFEREG) 754,927 1,345,185
Under provision in prior years [note 11(i)] BFFERE R (M 1() 20,147 43,458
Payment during the year FRRH (808,518) [927,1906]
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—XKF QT - (15)
Balance carried forward sEphated 1,014,525 1,047,969
PRC Land Appreciation Tax chE i B
Balance brought forward AR AR 739,043 644,885
Provision for the year (nofe 11(i]) FREEEEREN) 667,969 629,475
Payment during the year FERFT (458,195) (535,317)
Balance carried forward iERhsEE 948,817 739,043
Total A&t 1,963,342 1,787,012
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RERERM T )

For the year ended 31 December 2018
B2 —ZE—\F+A=+—HIFE

33.TAX PAYABLE/DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/
(LIABILITIES) (Continued)
(i) Deferred tax assets recognised:
The components of deferred tax assets recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position and the movements
during the year were as follows:

33. B BRI BERIREE (8

Temporary Temporary

difference difference

on revenue

on land

recognition  appreciation

ond related  tax and other

cost of sales accruals
kE®DR  THEERR
FREERE  RHEHEE
WERER WERER

f7) (&
)

Tax losses

o=} )

ERZBRERIESE
BAELRA M BRRREROELEBIR
AESHRERFBOT :

Contract

ECL provision liabilities

FlieR
Eﬂai{éﬁ aRER
RMB000

At T Jonuery 2017 R-5-tF-A-H 100,925 116,991 74000 - - 291516
(Charge) creitfo profit o loss (ke ER 599790 30,853 (58,251) - - 572,392
At 31 Decerber 2017 R-E—+F+-A=1-H 700315 147 844 15749 - 863,908
Adjustment [nole 2| BRI - - - 0,886 13871 20757
At T Jonuery 2018 R=%-\E-A-H 700315 147 844 15,749 6,886 13871 884,005
(Charge] creditfo proft orloss (MR ES (137,839) 81,606 (6,886) 33,382 1,408 28,329]
Disposal of o subsidiary (note 50 HE-FTAR(HEE0) 124 464) (6,805) - - - [131,269)
At 31 December 2018 RZE-\E+ZA=1-H 438012 222645 8,863 40,268 15,279 725,067

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had unused tax
losses of RMB2,482,403,000 (as at 31 December 2017
RMB2,499,758,000) available fo offset against future profits.
Deferred tax assets have been recognised in respect of the
tax losses of RMB35,452,000 (as at 31 December 2017
RMB62,996,000) af the applicable income tax rafes of the
respective subsidiaries as at 31 December 2018. No deferred
tax assefs have been recognised in respect of the remaining
tax losses of RMB2,446,951,000 (as at 31 December
2017: RMB2,436,762,000) because the management is of
the view that it is not probable that the individual subsidiaries
concerned can generafe profifs fo utilise the tax losses before
the tax losses become expired. The unrecognised tax losses
for the year ended 31 December 2018 will expire in the

following years ending 31 December.

R=ZF-—N\E+=ZA=+—8 %£&
% ] A SR 3K 8 o 2R B 9 R ) B R 75
BB A AR 2,482, 403,000 7T (A
—tF+-A=+—H8: ARK
2,499,758,0007L) - R=ZE—\F
+-A=+—8  ®HEBEEERE
BlFARBAZIEHEERNIE
ERMIBEERARE354520007T
(RZE—tF+=ZA=+—H8: A
R #62,0060007T) - HRERE
RAEABERT AR TAAEAIELS
wFARF B BRI a8 A EE
B AT ARERTHEBARE
2,446,951,000c(R=F—+tF+=
A=+—8: AR¥2436,762,000
T BERELCEHBEE - REZE=
—NE+-_A=1t—BLEEHK
ERREBESRERBEE+ A
=t+—RLEEER-
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BE-FT—)\F+-A=+—HIFE

33.TAX PAYABLE/DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/ 33.FE{{HilE EEFIESE (B

(LIABILITIES) (Continued) &) (&)
(i) Deferred tax assets recognised: (Continued) (i) CHEPDEEBIEEE: (&)
At the end of the reporting period, the Group has deductible REEHR - NEBH AN
temporary differences of RMB18,165,000 (31 December =B A AR 18165000 7w (=
2017: RMB18,165,000). No deferred tax asset has been Z—+H&+-_HA=+—H8: AR¥%
recognised in relation fo such deductible temporary difference 18,165,0007T) - AN KA BEE
as it is not probable that taxable profit will be available A AT IR B R R A AR S PR R TR A
against which the deductible temporary differences can be Ao R ER LS AT B RS = R
utilised. RIEEHIREFE °
2018 2017
—B-N\EF —E—+F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®ETT ARETT
2018 —E-NF = 373,921
2019 —E-NF 435,435 441,071
2020 —E-TF 629,688 708,539
2021 T 360,673 401,221
2022 - —F 501,138 512,010
2023 —E-=F 520,017 -

2,446,951 2,436,762
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REPBRRME @)

For the year ended 31 December 2018
B2 —ZE—\F+A=+—HIFE

33.TAX PAYABLE/DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/ 33./EfHiE BREHBIESE (&

(LIABILITIES) (Continued) &) (&)

(i) Deferred tax liabilities recognised: (i) ESHEPELEHESE :
The components of deferred tax liabilities recognised in the EERE VBN RER RS IR
consolidated statement of financial position and the movements BERHREREHAT

during the year were as follows:

Revaluation
of investment Fair value Contract
properties adjustments costs Total
BREYEE AREERE BRBE a5
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT AREFT AREFT
At T January 2017 RZZE—+F—F—H 686,067 204,661 - 980,728
Acquisition of subsidiaries WA - 67,824 - 67,824
Charge (credif] fo profit or loss 0B & (5F\) 183 8,642 (34,681 - [26,039)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—FRTRA (18,234) - - (18,234)
At 31 December 2017 NZE—+F
+-RA=1+—H 676,475 327,804 - 1,004,279
Adjustment (note 2] BE(M2) - 1,858 6,103 7,961
At T January 2018 RZE-N\F—F—H 676,475 329,662 6,103 1,012,240
Acquisition of a subsidiary WE—x AR
[note 49) (PBH7E49) - 584,144 - 584,144
Charge [credi) o profit or loss  $0BR B (R A) B2 315,551 (44,183 7,638 279,006
Charge to OCI MREEMZERA - 28,085 - 28,085
At 31 December 2018 W-Z—-N\E+=A
=f+-A 992,026 897,708 13,741 1,903,475
(i) Net-off of deferred tax assets and liabilities: (iv) HEHBEBIESERAR :
2018 2017
—B—N\E —E—tF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARE T AREET T
Deferred tax assets recognised EHRIBLEIEEE 725,067 863,908
Netoff with deferred tax liabilities BRERIE B I E (80,898) (46,280)
Deferred tax assets RIETRIBEE 644,169 817,628
Deferred tax liabilities recognised EHRAREHIEAE 1,903,475 1,004,279
Netoff with deferred tax assets BRI R TE A A 8 (80,898) (46,280)

Deferred tax liabilities FEEFTBEE 1,822,577 Q57,999
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BE2—FE—\F+A=+—HIEFE

34.INTEREST-BEARING LOANS 34.5TEER
2018 2017
—E—N\EF —E—+F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT ARBTFT
Current b5
Current portion of non-current BEAFITRAERD
secured bank loans BNEREE 7 3,037,909 1,361,500
Current portion of non-current I RIPETN
unsecured loans BNHEAER 2> 171,436 119,000
3,209,345 1,480,500
Non-current RH
Secured bank loans [note i and ii) BIEMEITE (BT i) 7,038,729 5,839,967
Equity pledged loans [nofe iii) PR AR AR & R (B aiin) 3,730,000 2,970,000
Unsecured loans EEFER 1,915,884 1,751,845
less: current portion of non-current R BERRITREE SRS
secured bank loans BIERER (3,037,909) (1,361,500)
current portion of non-current ERBRIERN
unsecured loans BEAER 5> (171,436) [119,000)
9,475,268 9,081,312
As at 31 December 2018, the Group's secured loans and equity R-E—NFE+-—A=1+—H K&
pledged loans were secured by the following: ENEEBREREBRERFEERAT
HFIEVERIER
) Properties with a total carrying amount of () B mM # @ A B ¥
RMB12,653,263,000 (as at 31 December 2017: 12,653,263,000 T (A = &
RMB8,205,056,000) (notes 18, 22 and 23); —tF+-—A=1+—H: @ AR¥
8,205,056,0007T ) & 4 % (Bt
FE18 - 22K23)
li)  Pledged time deposits of RMB422,205,000 (as at 31 i) AT AR®A22,2050007T
December 2017: RMB400,000,000); and (RZE—+tF+=_A=+—

H : AR¥400,000,0007T) &
BEMEMER &

[iii)  Equity interests of certain subsidiaries of the Company. i) AREETFTFARMRAER
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34.INTEREST-BEARING LOANS (Continued) 34.:EE(E)

The Group’s non-current loans were repayable based on repayment AREENEHERBIZBEBE R GEAEYN
schedule set out in relevant loan agreements as follows: THBRER(EE

2018 2017
—E-)\E —+F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETTT
Over 1 year but less than 2 years BB —FEREA 7,905,768 3,607,871
Over 2 years but less than 5 years BEMEBRRER 1,285,500 116,441
Over 5 years BBAEFMN 284,000 357,000
9,475,268 Q9,081,312

The effective interest rates of the interest-bearing loans were as HEEZWERFMZRNT

follows:

2018
—T—\§
Per annum Per annum
FH= FHI=
Effective interest rate BEEFlE=
Variable-ate borrowings AENEREE 2.47%-6.08% 2.47%5.46%
The Group's borrowings that are denominated in currencies other AREERHBEEERZONEEEUINE
than functional currency of the relevant group entities are set out ML E BTN T
below:

HKD

BIT

RMB’000
AR¥ETTT

As at 31 December 2018 R \F+ZA=+—H 543,244
As at 31 December 2017 R-E—+F+_A=+—H 326,001

usb

E v
RMB'000
AREETTT
1,804,824

718,307
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
BE-FT—)\F+-A=+—HIFE

35.TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

35. R AR R H A FE (T FRIF

2018 2017
—B-N\E —T—tF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARKTR ARMET T
Payables due fo related parties FEASTRAESE 75 3E

— trade related —HE5HH 744,750 64,817
— nontrade related —3JEEB 5 12,963,598 4,966,070
13,708,348 5,030,887
Trade payables FERTAR K 11,177,086 9,361,992
Payable on purchase of land use rights M8 b b A FE T FRIE 620,555 620,555

Consideration payable on acquisition of Wi F R R I AE
subsidiaries - 274,484
Other faxes payable HAth R 1 18 209,390 173,190
Inferest payable FESF &, 96,579 161,951
Dividends payable FERTAR S 240 234
Other payables and accrued expenses Hib N FIAMIARE A 3,673,489 1,325,424
15,777,339 11,917,830
Total CEil 29,485,687 16,948,717

The aged analysis of frade payables due fo related parties and the

& A BB 75 K% 58 =05 WO e AN RR R Rk e D AT 40

third parties is stated as follows: T :
2018 2017
—B-N\EF —E—t5F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETT
0-90 days 0-Q0H 9,312,288 7,074,106
91-180 days Q1-180H 637,596 290,866
181-365 days 181-365H 462,261 881,354
Over 365 days HBm36SHMN £ 1,509,691 1,180,483
11,921,836 Q,426,809
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36.

37.

CONTRACT LIABILITIES

ES S

Sales of properties

6. 5AAMK

As at As at
31 December

2018

1 January
2018
—N\&F
—A—H
RMB’000
RETT
20,742,580

R=T—)\F i

+=A=+—H
RMB’000
ARETT

24,511,228

Revenue of RMB10,627,231,000 was recognised during the
year ended 31 December 2018 that was included in the contract

liabilities at the beginning of the year of 2018

Contract liabilities RMB13,923,400,000 are expected to be
recognised after more than 12 months from the end of the reporting

period.

The Group receives 30%-70% of the contract value as deposits
from customers upon signing the sale and purchase agreement.
Such advance payment schemes (include value-added tax with
applicable tax rates from 5% to 10%) result in contract liabilities

being recognised until the customer obtains control of the completed

property.

BONDS

On 23 January 2014, the Company issued 5.50% bonds due
2018 (the "A Bond") with an aggregated nominal value of
RMB1,500,000,000 at a value equal to 99% of the face value. The
A Bond is listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. The Bond carries
interest at the rate of 5.50% per annum, payable semi-annually on

23 January and 23 July in arrears. The A Bond matured and repaid
on 23 January 2018.

On 28 July 2016, the Company issued 3.875% bonds due
2019 (the "B Bond"] with an aggregated nominal value of
USD450,000,000 at a value equal to 99.301% of the face value.
The B Bond is listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. The B Bond
carries interest af the rafe of 3.875% per annum, payable semi-
annually on 28 January and 28 July in arrears and will mature on
28 July 2019. The nef proceeds after deducting the direct issuance
costs, amounted fo approximately USD443,986,000 [equivalent to
RMB2,956,815,000).

37.

BE_Z-/\F+-A=t—HLFE B
7 Hﬁl s AR#10,627,231,0007T5F A=
T \FEINERAME -

TEEERAEARK3,923,400,0007T #
KB REPERETEE T B AR T AE

27
o

NEBREI EERBERAZSREARE
BERN30%E70%ERET® - BRBETENKIER
E(BERERMENFOSLE 0% EHYIE
BER)EYRREEAEE  EEFFPIEE
R RLE

&%

RZE—ME—A=Z+=8 ' ARFAKRSE
RIFECOUHEEETHR =T —/\F 5| H@
H1E AR ¥ 1,500,000,0007TH15.50E &
H([REH]) - FEFREBHA LT -
FEFEFEMNERS S0EE  REFE—A
Z+ZBRtAZTZBEFFHRNE -
REFNR-_ZE—N\F-—A-T=RIHRE
}% o

RIB-—RELA-+NA  FRAESE
FAEE?.301XMEEETR T —hF
I HA 42T {5 450,000,000 % JT #9 3.875 2
B ([ TEH]) - ZEFRERE ?&ﬁ)ﬂ:
e ZEFEFNERIG/SENE - BT
F—A-FTNBREtAZTNBREFXFH
RAE - AR ZT—-AFLAZTN\HR
A KUK ERBITRAROMERIE
SFREX) F443,986,000E T (HHER AR
2,956,815,0007T) °
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BONDS (Continued)

On 7 July 2017, the Company issued 4.50% bonds due 2018 (the
"C Bond’) with an aggregated nominal value of USD400,000,000
at a value equal to 100% of the face value. The C Bond is listed on
the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. The C Bond carries interest at the
rate of 4.50% per annum, payable semi-annually on 7 January and
7 July in arrears. The C Bond matured and repaid on 5 July 2018.

On 27 June 2018, the Company issued 7.875% bonds due
2019 (the "D Bond") with an aggregated nominal value of
USD200,000,000 at a value equal to 100% of the face value. The
D Bond is listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. The D Bond
carries interest af the rate of 7.875% per annum, payable semi-
annually on 27 December and 27 June in arrears and will mature
on 27 June 2019, unless redeemed earlier. The net proceeds after
deducting the direct issuance costs, amounted to approximately
USD199,347,000(equivalent to RMB1,299,346,000).

On 17 December 2018, the Company issued 9.875% bonds
due 2020 (the “E Bond") with an aggregated nominal value of
USD200,000,000 at a value equal to 100% of the face value.
The E Bond is listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. The E Bond
carries interest af the rate of 9.875% per annum, payable semi-
annually on 26 December and 25 June in arrears and will mature
on 17 June 2020, unless redeemed earlier. The net proceeds after
deducting the direct issuance costs, amounted to approximately

USD199,219,000(equivalent to RMB1,375,886,000).

The A Bond and B Bond have the benefit of a keepwell deed from
Greenland Holdings Group Company Limited, the intermediate

controlling shareholder of the Company.

The C Bond have an embedded issuer’s redemption option, the
Company may, by giving not less than 15 nor more than 30 days'
nofice fo the trustee in writing and to the bondholders, redeem the
bond, in whole or in part, at a redemption price equal to 101
percent of their principal amount, together with accrued and unpaid
interest. The redemption option of the C bond was not realised

before the repayment date.

The D Bond have an embedded issuer’s redemption option, the
Company may, by giving not more than 30 days’ nofice fo the
trustee in writing and to the bondholders, redeem the bond, in whole
or in part, at a redemption price equal to 100 percent of their

principal amount, fogether with accrued and unpaid inferest.

37. &% (&)

R-ZE—tFEtALH ARAREERE
BE100%BEETR _E—N\FIHEE
8400,000,000% 7L #94.50 2 & % ([ P f&
1)  REFRBEBBIA LT - AEFE
FHMEAS0EFE - REF—HERAREHR
TEBXFHRHEE - REFR T —/\F
T ARASIHRERE -

RZZE—N\FRAAZ+TER  AQFKRSE
FIEE100%MEEETR T —NF2H
#2 M {8 200,000,000 JT 8 7.875 [E & 7
(ITHEHD - TEFREBBRM LT - T
BFRFNE7 875EHE REF+ A
“t+ERRANAZTEREESFFHRNAE
YR —BE—NFRA LRI (RIE
ERREED) - KNBRERBITRARBMR
1FFRIBFFA/R199,347,000% T (HHER
ARHET,299,346,0007T) ©

RZB-NF+-A++tH TRAEE
FIEEI100%MEEETR - _FF 2|4
42 TH {8 200,000,000 2 JT #99.875 [E & %
(T%fE% ) - KEFNBEBBRXALET < X
BRIRFENEOB7SEFRE  RBF+ A
“HREERANAZTERBFFHREE
YR —F_FTFNA+EBIHERIEE
REED) - KMBRERBITRARNAE
RILFFEA /199,219,000 7T (FHER A
K¥1,375,886,0007T) °

FEZ R LEFHEARR R MEBR R
IR A R A R A RIT R IFRIBH

Flas -

AEFEBRANETABDE - NAR]H
BEAXFEARBSFHAEAZBLTDRISH
BETZRI0BMEMRA - WBEERESFAE
R0 %HELEER R AN ED
2RO ES - REFNBEEENEERR
HARTIL & 5638 -

TEFEERAABTABEDE - ARFH
BBAXTEARBFHAEAZLTZRNI0A
MEMBME  RESNESFASE100%
) 8 [0 (B 32 A R AT R ) B B 2 B s /f 0
(EEa
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37.BONDS (Continued) 37. &% (&)

The E Bond have an embedded issuer’s redemption option, the
Company may, by giving not less than 15 nor more than 30 days'
notice to the frustee in writing and fo the bondholders, redeem the
bond, in whole or in part, af a redemption price equal to 100
percent of their principal amount, together with accrued and unpaid

interest.
The directors consider the fair value of the issuer's redemption options
of the D Bond and E Bond are immaterial to the Group as at 31

December 2018.

The movements of different components of Bonds are set out below:

REFEABRANBTABEE - KAFA
BBAZTEARBEFREAZELTIRNISH
BTZRI0BNEMRANE - MBAFRES
A2 78 100%H0 i @ B2 7 R 5K F S8
Bl 2 FR o ES o

EFRA R-F-\F+-A=t-8
T (5 RIES %17 AMEEO AL BE
HARET S LTEA -

BRI B EFTIET

Total

A
(=]

RMB’000
ARBTR

As at 31 December 2017 R-E—+F+_A=+—H 7,028,658
Net proceeds from bonds issued BITESFMEER 2,675,232
Inferests charged MEFX 263,424
Inferests paid/payable B FERFE (243,254)
Repayment of bonds EEES (4,146,640
Exchange realignment FEE 35 g ax 240,595
As at 31 December 2018 R-Z—\F+-_A=+—H 5,818,015

The Bonds represent the contractually defermined stream of future
cash flows discounted at the rate of interest determined by the
market instruments of comparable credit status taken into account
the business risk and financial risk of the Company. The effective
inferest rate is 4.355%10.162% per annum for the year ended 31
December 2018.

BHFRENEFRNOERRRERE ©
REERANRINEHRR KM BRRRK -
BREEMREENTS TAEE - 8E—
B N\F+A=+—HILFE  BEBFH
E/4.355%%210.162% °
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37.BONDS (Continued) 37. &% (&)
The Bonds was repayable as follows: BEHBRIA T FEEE
At 31 December 2017
BR+=-A=+—H —B-N\EF —T—tF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETR ARKETFT
Represented by B T 5ITE B 4R
Bonds within one year —FRNEIHNES 4,450,599 4,109,487
Bonds (EE2
After one year but within two years —FREMEA 1,367,416 2,919,171
38.EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT SCHEME 38. SR kstEl
The employees of the Group are members of a state-managed REBEZEEHATEBNER 2 BHREE
refirement benefit scheme operated by the PRC government. The RAENEEIZKE - ZFFRAIRERR
subsidiaries are required to contribute 20%-22% of payroll costs to BEEH < BRAMN20%-22%MEREFFHEI
the refirement benefit scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation ;o A BREN - sRREN B
of the Group with respect to the retirement benefit scheme is to make T REE B ERIELAETRMER

the specified confributions.

The fofal expense recognised in profit or loss of RMB5 1,556,000 Bt BRI AEARKS] 556,000
[2017: RMB38,407,000) represents contributions payable to these T(ZE—+F : AR 38,407,0007T)
plans by the Group at rafes specified in the rule of the plans. As TR EEEZEAERAEFTRANE R ER
at 31 December 2018, contributions of RMB256,000 (as at 31 ZEFENER - RZFE—NF+ZA
December 2017: RMB840,000) due in respect of the year had not =+—H  RFERNEHHZIAREI56,000
been paid over to the plans. The amounts were paid subsequent fo TRZB—tF+-HA=+—0H: AR¥
the end of the year. 840,0007C) ARt F AR E] - ZE K

HEREFERESAT
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39. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT

Share award scheme

The Company adopted the Share Award Scheme on 3 December
2010. The purpose of the Share Award Scheme is to recognise and
reward the confribution of the executives and employees (whether
serving fulltime or parttime) and directors of the Group to the growth
and development of the Group through an award of the shares of the
Company. Details of the Share Award Scheme were sef out in the

Company's 2012 annual report.

On 2 April 2013, the Board of Directors approved to grant
16,103,000 shares of the Company to the eligible participants, of
which 400,000 shares were granted to a director and 2,000,000
shares were granted to four independent non-executive directors
(500,000 shares each) respectively. The shares granted to the
independent non-executive directors were vested immediately. The

vesting date of the remaining granted shares is 31 March 2015.

Movements in the number of shares held for the Share Award

Scheme is as follows:

Outstanding as of 31 December 2018
and 31 December 2017

39. iz {3z {4

B f53 B€ Bt &1
ARARR-B—BF+ = A= BRARID R
bt Bl - A1 SERH Bl B &9 BB T A
REBS  AEREHAEEHEEA
B RE(THEBIRB) LEERLEE
ISR R BRAIEL O ERE o 1D 18 M=t 8l
HBEBRAAR T —4F4RK -

RZE—=FNMA-H BFFHEM
SEBRBEERE 16,103,000 4 1 A
Pefn » H A 400,000 F—2EE R
2,000,0008 73 B & TR BIIERITES
(£500,0008%) - MBILIFMITEERHZ
RO ENRRE - A TR ERD Z5FE RS
RIZB-—HF=HA=t+—H-

R in B2 RDET &I PrRT AR (D VBB I T

Shares

held for

the Share
Award Scheme

Awarded
shares

I 22 EhETEl
PR i
(thousand)

(FA%)

HEENR 5
(thousand)

(TR0

22,697 -

As at 31 December 2018, the carrying amount of shares held for the
Share Award Scheme was RMB49,279,000 (as at 31 December
2017: RMB49,279,000).

During the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017, no
expenses in relation to share-based payments is charged to

administrative expenses in profit or loss.

RZBE-N\F+ZA=+—08 ' RiH @
ZIPrHE AR (7 B BRI (B 8 A R # 49,279,000
TR-ZE—tF+-A=+t—H:' AR¥
49,279,0007T) °

HE-_ZT—-\FER_ZF—+tF+=-A=+—
A FE W ENBRNITIRE B RN 2
MR -
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40. SHARE CAPITAL 40. IE=&

The Group and the Company

as at 31 December
2018 and 2017

EEEREAT
R-TB—N\ER_F—tF
+=H=+—H
No. of shares Amount
B8R 8
(thousand) HKD'000
(A=) FAT
Authorised: VETE
Ordinary shares of HKDO.5 each FIEEO. 5B TH T @A 7,000,000 3,500,000
Convertible preferred shares of GXEEO. 5 T R B ST iR
HKDO.5 each 3,000,000 1,500,000
Total a5t 10,000,000 5,000,000

The Group and the Company

FREREAT
2018 2017
—E-0\E —E-tf
No. of shares Amount | No. of shares Amount
idnE L] &8 KHEE &8
(thousand) RMB’000 (thousand) RMB'000
(Fh) ARETR (Fi&) UNE S
Ordinary shares, issued and TRR - DEORER
fully paid:
At T January ®—A—A 2,793,677 1,132,855 2,793,677 1,132,855
Repurchase and logout shares B0 T Rm (1,792) (758) - -

At 31 December W+ZA=+—8 2,791,885 1,132,097 2,793,677 1,132,855
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40. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued) 40. 7 ()

Authorised and issued share capital EE n:_& CE TR A

(i) Ordinary shares (i) ﬁﬂf

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled fo receive dividends B AF HEWER R B R AR

(ii)

as declared from time fo time and are entifled to one vote per
share at any general meetings of the Company. All ordinary
shares rank equally with regard to the Company's residual
assets. In 2018, the Company repurchased and logout
1,792,000 shares amounting to approximately RMB7 58,000
[2017: Nil).

Convertible preference shares (“CPS”)

The holders of CPS will not have the right to attend and
vofe at a general meeting (except for the winding up of the
Company or for any resolution to vary or abrogate the rights
or privileges of such holder or vary the restrictions to which
the CPS are subject). The conversion period is any fime dfter
issue, provided that the conversion right will be suspended to
the extent that it would result in the Company failing to comply
with the public float requirement. Each CPS (at the option
of the holder) will be convertible at any time (and without
payment of any additional consideration) to ordinary shares
on a one fo one basis. Each CPS will confer on the holder
thereof the right to receive dividend pari passu with holders
of ordinary shares on the basis of the number of ordinary
shares info which each CPS may be converted and on an as
converted basis. On a disfribution of assets on liquidation,
winding up or a dissolution of the Company, the assets and
funds of the Company available for distribution: (a] will first be
paid fo the holders of CPS pari passu among themselves in
respect of the aggregate nominal amounts paid up on the CPS
held by them; and (b) the remaining assets will be distributed
pari passu fo the holders of any class of shares (including the
CPS). The CPS will be transferable without any restriction by
the holders thereof. The CPS will be non-redeemable. No
application will be made for the listing of the CPS on the Stock

Exchange or any other stock exchange.

(ii)

% WERERRBEMBEERERRE &
RRERE BN ER —ZA L)

SEER - A EREARARBR
HREEFZHAERSEMN R-_F—-N\

FARABENFHEBRORAR
758000 (ZE—tF : #)H
1,792,000/ 7

AR ESLIR ([ TBRETK )

A E R B SR AR A A A X
RRGENE ERAERRRRER
K E N BERARBEITE A Z R
R 4 B S DR R B SR BT R 2 IR
ZEfIRESRRIBRSN) © L}ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁéﬁ
BREOEAER  EHEEHAR
FETEMNRRFRERE E'Jﬁ%?ﬁ
BT EP L - SRATSRELR(Z
FAANEERE) SRR (B BASN
EMEIME) R —H—EEEBR AT
B o SRR E A T R
BAZEEEBERA AREZWKER
RBRERN  BRELRERAEBHRESR
AR RI 8B HR MAK 2 E BB B AT B A K

WWNE FLAER - EARRF)EE B
BB IREE - ARFAHES

REEERES © (o) B L ATER
BERFEE APTHEA P ERE KRN
EHEEHBEAGERATERELRSE
AZ - MEEZHEAREMA : &
(bR N EE B mEMERIRD (BE
AHERELER)FIFEADIK - MEE
ZEERSEMAL o ATERELERZF
BAEZEEREERETZEMR
fll o ATERELRTAIER - BITE
Bt AT 82 428 5 AR 72 Bk 22 P S (R fr] Ho At
RS EMRREERE -
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41.SHARE PREMIUM AND RESERVES 41. i EREE

(a) Share premium (a) BEiRitR(E
The application of the share premium account is governed by B REENESESNEATE
the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands. 485 o
(b) Merger reserves (b) SEHREE
(=]

The merger reserves represent the difference between the

AU REERA QR EEHKREF AR
B RRATERARRETHNE R

Company's share of the nominal value of the paid-up capital

of the subsidiaries acquired over the nominal value of the

ordinary shares issued by the Company. REBOES -

(c) Capital redemption reserve () BEXEOMFE
Capital redemption reserve represents the nominal value BN [0l i 18 AR 2 ] AT (R 0 K fe
of the shares repurchased which has been paid out of the HXNZBERMHDEE -
Company's distributable reserves.

(d) PRC statutory reserves (d)  PEEEEE
Transfers from refained eamings to PRC statutory reserves E B 33 88 43 25 o S T R4 T AR
were made in accordance with the relevant PRC rules and 128 75 B o R 45 81 J% 48 | A A =] 7 b

regulations and the articles of association of the Company's

BIE MRS 2 F X R B A2 40 A1)
T URBZEEZTSHE - XEFHE

subsidiaries incorporated in the PRC and were approved by

the respective boards of directors. The statutory reserves consist

o B

(i) General reserve fund () ZEBBAEE
Transfers from refained earnings to the general reserve AREafER AT BB AR
fund were made in accordance with the articles of ERBEARRFARNERMA
association of the Company's subsidiaries and were AT WERBEESE -
approved by the respective boards of directors.
For the enfity concerned, the general reserve fund can SREENATIS  ETRSEA
be used to cover previous years' losses, if any, and may BOAAKRER FEEER(m
be converted into capital in proportion fo equity holders’ ) - AR AR

existing equity holdings, provided that the balance affer FE G L 35 AR BR300
T ES YA, <

BRI E LR EMEARN25%

such conversion is not less than 25% of their registered

capital.

(ii] EFREEZD
HRBENERECEERES

(i) Enterprise expansion fund

Transfers from retained earnings to the enterprise

expansion fund were made in accordance with the IREAR R AT AR R ERR A
articles of association of the Company's subsidiaries and T WEEEESSHE -

were approved by the respective boards of directors.

For the entity concerned, the enterprise expansion fund HEBHATINS  CXRREE
can be used for business development purposes and for S ELBRRRLESS o
working capital purpose. This fund is non-distributable BESRH  ZESTASE o B
other than upon liquidation. Transfers to this fund must o (0 0 S i 7 S 1

be made before distribution of dividends to the equity

RBRAERFE ADIKIE °
holders.
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the

42.PERPETUAL SECURITIES 42, X X 8%

On 27 July 2016 (the “Issue Date’), the Group issued USD ZE-RFEAZTtRA(BTEH)) -
denominated senior perpetual capital securities ("Perpetual REEBEITAS %A 120,000,000% T
Securities”) with an aggregate principal amount of B AETTEHEN B AR A B ARE 75 ([ K X8
USD120,000,000. The Perpetual Securities confer the holders a %) c KAEFHE TIHEAEN - BEITH
right to receive distributions at the applicable distribution rate from the BRI DR R FEFHRKEUAZETT
Issue Date payable semi-annually in arrears in USD. SRBDIR ©

The principal terms of the Perpetual Securities were disclosed in the KABENETERINAER —T—NFH
Group's 2016 consolidated financial statements. A BRRTIRE

As the Perpetual Securities only impose contractual obligations on the HRKA B EHAEEEIMNEREERE
Group to repay principal or to pay any distributions under certain TMMENARE AR THER T E[ D IKE
circumstances which are at the Group's discretion, they have in SHREME  EER T AREE#EHBR
substance confer the Group an unconditional right to avoid delivering SHREMERMEEUNBITEOETNEKS
cash or other financial asset fo setfle contractual obligations, therefore R B ESTRE BB 2RI 325
they do not meet the definition for classification as financial liabilities [¢RITA: 2RIBBIzZoEASRARBY
under IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation. As a result, the T o Bt - BIBT BEHEEREZ - SiHE
whole insfrument is classified as equity, and distributions if and when FRAESREEEERRE

declared are treated as equity dividends.

Disfribution of USD6,750,000 (equivalent to RMB42,716,000) has AREBFHEEZMFERADIKS,750,000%
been provided and paid by the Company for the year. THEERAREE42,716,0007T) °

43.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 43. £FITH

The Group conducts its operations in the PRC and accordingly is AEBEPBLELER  WASBERAER
subject to special considerations and significant risks. These include BERERZE  HEREBREBUG - LHEREH
risks associated with, among others, the political, economic and RIE  BIXMESHEREHNTENITHE
legal environment, influence of national authorities over pricing mEERE -

regulation and competition in the industry.

The Group has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial AEEFEANeMIAAEFUATER
instruments:

° market risk (including currency risk and interest rafe risk| ° SRR (B IEINEE S EF R ERK)
e credif risk . =EERE

e liquidity risk o RENERKR

This note presents information about the Group's exposure to each of A2 EBEAER S R it gERE
the above risks, and the Group's objectives, policies and processes AEBAEERARN AR - BERMEFH

for measuring and managing risk. BHl o
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43.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Management has overall responsibility for the establishment and

43. £ T H(E)
EREIRARRYYEEASENARE
BRE BEEEEYRRERTHANDN
AREBEHBRNRERE - IR EEE RS
MIE IR AR R TR ERBILER -
R E IR R N R A BT E R A R R
MERERAKERQEEHNE(\ - EEE
BBEBYIMERREREF  EHERIA
AR FERMERENIRE - RSFREETD

oversight of the Group's risk management framework. Management
establishes policies to identify and analyse the risks faced by the
Group, fo sef up appropriate risk limits and confrols, and fo monitor
risks and adherence fo limits. Risk management policies and systems
are reviewed regularly fo reflect changes in market conditions and
the Group's activities. Through fraining and management standards

and procedures, management aims fo develop a disciplined and

constructive control environment in which all employees understand METEREMABINACBKET
their roles and obligations.
43.1 Categories of financial instruments 43.1E£R T AR5

2018 2017
—T—N\E —T—+F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AREFT ARETTT
Financial assets SRS E
Loans and receivables (including BN el s
bank balance and cash) (BIERITHSRIRS) N/A FiEH 16,402,148
AFS investments AP ERE N/A FiEHH 174,567
Amortised cost SRR R 20,525,399 N/A i
Equity instruments at FVTOC] BARBEIERHEMEZEIA
RIS ET A 294,340 N/A TEH
Total &5t 20,819,739 16,576,715
Financial liabilities LEEE
Amortised cost RN 47,778,685 34,365,763
Financial liabilities carried at FVTPL BARBEIERNEZNSHAE - 08,178
Total A5 47,778,685 34,463,941
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43.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

43.2 Foreign currency risk management

43. R TR (&)
43.2 VSRR ER
AEBIZEHARKESET, ET

The Group is mainly exposed fo the fluctuations in exchange

rates between RMB and HKD/USD. The exposure in HKD/
USD arises mainly from the Group'’s bank balance and cash,
trade and other receivables, trade and other payables, Inferest-

bearing loans, and Bonds.

In respect of the monefary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies, the Group ensures manages the net
exposures to this risk by ufilizing forward foreign exchange

confracts.

The management closely monitors foreign currency exposure
and will consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure

should the need arise.

The carrying amounts of the Group's foreign currency

denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities af the

end of the reporting period are as follows.

ZREXRBEER - BT, ETH
BEEEEREAEBERITERRE
& BUERR MR YGRIR - A
AR EMEMNFIR - ST EERRE

BRAINEFENEREERAE -
AEEBBEANES WERFRL -

EREROBEERRLBNEE
BB EASNERR

RIBERR - AEEUAEREERE
¥R ERHEMNINERREEDT

Denominated in HKD 2018 2017
LI TTEHE —EB—N\EFE —T—+tF

RMB’000 RMB'O00

AREFX AREET T
Trade and other receivables R MR B % B EL A JE LK R TE 423,132 73,769
Bank balance and cash RITEBR MRS 19,753 169,139
Trade and other payables A R R e LAt FE AN 5RIR (742,556) (953,698
Inferestbearing loans FEER (543,244) (326,001)
Overall exposure 1A e (842,915) (1,036,791)
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43.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

43. £ T H(E)

43.2 Foreign currency risk management (Continued) 43.2 SV EBREE (48)
Denominated in USD 2018 2017
LIETTEHE —T—\EF T4

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARETT AREET T
Trade and other receivables U AR TR E i UL R IR 1,060,995 2,356
Bank balance and cash RITHEBR RIS 1,519,221 733,481
Bonds a5 (5,818,015) (5,528,808
Trade and other payables FEASTBR AR I HoAth FE A~ 508 (7,703,472) (1,687,053
Inferestbearing loans STEER (1,804,824) (1,718,307)
Overall exposure FalElo (12,746,095) (8,198,331)

Foreign currency sensitivity analysis

The following table details the Group's sensitivity to a 5%
(2017: 5%) increase and decrease in RMB against the relevant
foreign currencies. 5% represents management’s assessment of
the reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates. The
sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency
denominated monetary items and adjusts their tfranslation at
the year end for a 5% change in foreign currency rates. A
positive number below indicates an increase in posttax profit
where RMB strengthens 5% against the relevant currency. For
a 5% weakening of RMB against the relevant currency, there

would be an equal and opposite impact on the profit and the

amounts below would be negative.

INEGRE LT

TRETR  EARELATINETE
REESH ZFB—+5F - 5SH)HERT
REBNGRE - SLTERELH SR
AT RER SIS [E R E B AT - BURE
DITEBRRE NS EZEHIR
B WIRINEERBIRSUBCHBE
REFB 2B - THERKRT
AR SRR M THE S%EF AR B &
AL - AR ZARREINERZE
5% HEMERRERARNZE -

2018 2017
—E-N\EF —T—+tF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AREBTRT ARBFIT
Profit or loss i Mg R
HKD BT 31,609 51,840
usb ETT 477,979 409,917
Equity G
HKD BT 31,609 51,840
usb xT7T 477,979 409,917
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43.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 43. RIT A (4E)
43.3 Interest rate risk management 43.3 FIEEREE

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation
to fixed-rate bank deposits and bonds (see notes 31, 32 and
37 for details).

The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in
relation to variablerate bank balance (see notes 31 and 32

for details) and variable-rate interestbearing loans (see note

34 for details).

The Group manages the net exposure to inferest rafe risks
by maintaining sufficient lines of credit to obtain acceptable
lending costs and by monitoring the exposure to such risks on
an ongoing basis. VWWhen appropriate and af times of inferest
rafe uncertainty or volatility, inferest rate swaps may be used to

assist in the Group's management of interest rafe exposure.

Interest rate sensitivity analysis

AEBEE YA BEENXRITHERR
EH(FFERMEI - 32R37)MA
REEFERE

R B IR E S B T IR R A
(B8 SHIEE31 R 32) R AT FIE:T &
BB R34 E S R BRI

AEEBBERRRNEERENUE
fEE KRR AT RKT R BB &
EEZERRRERNZFER - £
EE R R AW A KBRS E) - AT IA
150 PR 1) 2= 42 Hf3 44 B 7S 2 [ 5 32 1) 2

B -

TR E 5 AT T ARAR ¥R S AR IEDT
AT ANXRERMERE - gt #5)%
at the end of the reporting period. For variable rate liabilities, BEMs @ HEZOTEIRRNIER
the analysis is prepared assuming the amount of the liabilities LHRAEEEBELSRERFH AR

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based

on the exposure to interest rafes for non-derivative instruments

=]
outstanding at the end of the reporting period was outstanding B -
for the whole year.
(a) Interest rate profile (a) FIEEL

TRFMRTHE PR KB
BEERESNEBR -

The following table defails the interest rate profile of the
Group's inferestbearing borrowings and bonds by the
end of reporting period.

2018 2017
—B-0\E S 2

Effective Effective
interest rate RMB’000 inferest rate RMB'000
BRfE ARETR BEA% ARBFL

Fixed rate borrowings EENEEE
Bonds &% 6.63% 5,818,015 4.81% 7,028,658
5,818,015 7,028,658

Variable rate borrowings MERNREE
Secured interest bearing loans BEEE:EER 4.86% 10,768,729 4.70% 8,809,967
Unsecured inferest bearing loans BRI EET 4.08% 1,915,884 4.08% 1,751,845
12,684,613 10,561,812
Tofal borrowings EEB% 18,502,628 17,590,470

EEFEEEGEERE
percentage of fofal borrowings Btk 31% 40%

Fixed rate borrowings as a
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43.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 43. €T R(E)

43.3 Interest rate risk management (Continued) 43.3 FIEFEPEEIE(E)
(b)  Sensitivity analysis (b) BUREEDH

The sensitivity analyses below have been defermined T BURE DT IR IR S HAR
based on the exposure to interest rates for interest- FFRERFERERMERE - stA
bearing loans at the end of the reporting period. For FHEBEMS  BEZSM
floating rate liabilities, the analysis is prepared assuming BLERENRSREHREKEEZER
the amount of the liability outstanding at the end of the BLBERFEHAREE - N
reporting period was outstanding for the whole year. MEZERA S BRI EREBREER
A 100 basis point increase or decrease is used when FA 1 OO EZ IR TR SRR » J0E
reporting inferest rafe risk infernally to key management BEHA B e T RKEFH T
personnel and represents management's assessment of fig o

the reasonably possible change in interest rafes.

If the market lending inferest rates had been 100 basis s e BRI, %4100
points higher/lower and all other variables were held EELSE - BPrE Hih Al S E 4+
constant, the Group's posttax profit for the year ended N AEEHE_ZT—/\F
31 December 2018 would have decreased/increased +ZA=+—HLEFENIKRM
by RMB95,135,000 (2017: decreased/increased BEFBERL A RK
by RMB79,261,000). This is mainly atiributable to the 05,135,000 (= FE —+F :
Group's exposure to interest rafes on its variable-rate A EIAR79,261,000
bank balance and cash and interestbearing loans. L) FEARAEEEmYA#

FRBTERRR AR EE
HEFIRES o

43.4 Credit risk and impairment assessment 43.4 1SR B B iR EHRE 0

As at 31 December 2018, the Group's maximum exposure to R-ZZE—-NE+=—_A=1+—8 &R
credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group due HFEAREBITEERAREEIRER
to failure to discharge an obligation by the counterparties and I ERESAEBEMEEEBMER
financial guarantees provided by the Group is arising from the EEATHNRSEERRIKASGE
carrying amount of the respective recognised financial assefs BA TSR R P 1) B AR S FE R B 2 R
as stated in the consolidated statement of financial position BEMERMELMNFASHEENERALR
and the amount of contingent liabilities in relation to financial SEELTBERNSIABESE

guarantee issued by the Group as disclosed in note 45.

The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable to trade AEEMEERARIEREEBKE
receivable, contract assets, other nontrade receivables, bank RAREE - HMIEBSERE
balance and cash and amount of contingent liabilities in o RITHESB IR REEAEER
relation to the financial guarantees provided by the Group. HPHEERAOSIABEDRE ©

The Group has concentration of credit risk as 35.43% (31 REBEFMEHEREEEERSEH
December 2017: 27.68%) and 59.27% (31 December HEKAEBSATERARNEFLH
2017: 63.65%) of the total trade receivables was due from ERBRBENEERREFED A
the Group's largest customer and the five largest customers 3543%(R=F—+tF+=_A=+—
respectively within the sales of properties and construction H: 27.68%) ®R59.27%(=ZF—t4F

management service segment. +=ZRA=+—8 : 63.65%) °
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43.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

43.4 Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets arising from
contracts with customers

In order to minimise the credit risk, The Group has policies
in place to ensure that sales are made to customers with an
appropriate financial strength and/or appropriate percentage
of down payments. It also has other monitoring procedures to
ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts.
In addition, the Group performs impairment assessment under
ECL model upon application of IFRS @ (2017: incurred loss
model) on frade balances individually or based on provision
matrix. In this regard, the directors of the Company consider

that the Group's credit risk is significantly reduced.

Other non-rade receivables

The credit risk of other non-trade receivables is managed
through an internal process. The credit quality of each
counterparty is investigated before an advance is made. The
Group also actively monitors the outstanding amounts owed
by each debtor and uses information developed internally
or external resources to assess whether credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition. The Group has
concentration of credit risk from amounts due from Greenland
Holdings of RMB4,591,508,000 (2017: RMB10,000).

Bank balance and cash

Cash deposits are mainly placed with state-owned financial
institutions and reputable banks which are all high-creditquality
financial insfitutions, therefore the Group's credit risk on liquid

funds is limited.

Contingent liabilities in relation to the financial
guarantees

For properties that are still under construction, the Group
typically provides guarantees to banks in connection with
the customers’ borrowing of mortgage loans fo finance their
purchase of the properties. If a customer defaults on the
payment of its mortgage during the term of the guarantee,
the bank holding the mortgage may demand the Group to
repay the outstanding amount under the loan and any accrued
interest thereon. Under such circumstances, the Group is
able fo refain the customer’s deposits and sell the property to
recover any amounts paid by the Group to the bank. Unless
the selling price drop significantly, which the probability is
remote, the Group would not be in a loss position in selling
those properties out. In this regard, the directors of the
Company consider that the Group's credit risk in relation to

financial guarantees from mortgage loans is largely mitigated.

43. £ T R(E)
43.4 S5 R BT (4])

KEEFEHNHIERIRFREEE
E

REBREGERR  AEECDHIE
BR - BEREEDAEEVHES
/S ERNROBEEBA MRS
fEh o AEREEHEMEIRRER - 1
REREURE T B W E A EET © it
S ANEERRE R BRI RS 2R
FOREKRBERPEEBERA(=F
—tF EABBERENX) B HER
EITER IR BB G REETREN
e Bk s » ARAFEFRR - A
SEOEERBREARERE -

Rt 5 WS

Hin3EE ZRKERNEERR TIE
BABRFHETER - SHFHMNGE
EmE T REH BN FORATETR
B - AEETMEBEEREB AR K
BENTE  LERREHINETER
R E R FHEE R R B i FER A
REBHIAEIEI o 7K H B AR
Hh PR RIR A R #4,591,508,0007T
(ZZ—tF : ARK10,000T)EE
ERBERIER -

RITHEREE
ReFREBEHNEE ¢ /S &
EEREVBT(ZHRSEERERN
TRIEE)  AEAKERBESNE
ERBAR -

BRI BERGEAEE

INERYMEMS  ARE—RRE
FRFABZEBEMENZBEKR
RITRMHER - HEPRERBARKR
REEEERZE  BERBMRTARE
ERAEEBEEEFETHREES
BREMBUETFE - REKBR
T AEERHREXEFIRELHE
BERWE  AREAREERERTIN
MEM S - FRIFEEARMEE(ATEE
HEROSN  AEEH I EEHEZS
WMEMEREBEMR - W E - &
RAEERR  AEEAUEMIZRRE
FEERMBEROEERRE KRR

Do
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43. £MTR(E)
43.4 (SEER R A E G (8)
A S5 B Y PO 15 LR ST AR A 24
UTFH%E -

43.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
43.4 Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

The Group’s infernal credit risk grading assessment comprises

the following categories:

Internal Trade receivables/ Other finance assets/
credit rating  Description contract assets other items
PR EERRR WY AREE HibemEE  HAHEHE
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default Lifefime ECL 12m ECL
and a sfrong capacity fo meet confractual cash flows - not creditimpaired
(R HFRNENERE  UREBEREANRERE FESEAEEER 12EAEREEER
EEYNCA ~BEEERE
Waitch st The counterparty has a low risk of default, but there is sign Lifetime ECL 12m ECL
of possible increase in credit risk since inifial recognition - not creditimpaired
through information developed internally or extenal resources
inE HFANBHERE - EEBNFINBERFAELEY -  FEERBEESE 12EAEREEFR
BRSBERMEERR B MR AR LR EEIE ~PEEERE
Doubiful There have been significant increases in credit risk since inifial -~ Lifefime ECL Lifetime ECL
recognition through information developed internally - not creditimpaired - not creditimpaired
or external resources
AR BEATIITERMSHER  FERREVNGRAAR  FEIRHEEEE FESEAEEER
BB AL ~PEEERE ~YEEERE
Loss There is evidence indicafing the asset is creditimpaired Lifetime ECL - creditimpaired  Lifefime ECL - creditimpaired
B FRBBTAELRERRE FEIRHEERR FEYRHEERR
—FEHE —fEERME
Wirite-off There is evidence indicating that the debitor is in severe financial  Amount is writien-off Amount is writien-off
difficult and the Group has no redlistic prospect of recovery
HisA BEBETEBABRENRAE - HAKEEDTATE  MHEHLE HEEEE

Y
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43.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

43.4 Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the Group's

financial assets and financial guarantee contracts which are

subject fo ECL assessment:

Financial assets at amortised cost

Notes

Pt

External
credit rating

SMERIEEERTAR

Internal
credit rating

MEB SRR

43. SR TR(E)

43.4 {SE AR R B EFE (4])

TRFRAETRBERBRNGN
rEBESREERVMFERAOME

FREEERKR -

12-month or

Gross carrying

lifetime ECL
12{E B FETER S SR8

amount
AR
RMB'000
ARBEFT

BREHR AT ENEREE
Trade receivables 27 N/A note 3 Lifetime ECL (provision matrix) 115,620
FEMER SR TEA N ] TFERTE B B IR (R IR )
Low risk Lifetime ECL 142,539
EE R FEREHEEEE
Loss Creditimpaired 25,735
BB FERE
283,894
Other nonrade 27 N/A Low risk 12m ECL 5,094,621
receivables (note 1) N EEp 128 A EEEEREE
HihIEE FREW Watch list 12m ECL 8,481,376
R (D) HinE 12[EAEEEEEE
Doubiful Lifetime ECL - not creditimpaired 578,720
RER FERERCEERE-UEEE
RE
Loss Lifetime ECL - creditimpaired 43,385
B8 FENEHEERE-FERNE
14,193,102
Bank balance and cash 32 A3 - Aaa N/A 12m ECL 6,277,208
RITEBREAE A3-Aaa NEA 12 AEEEEEE
Other items
HipIEE
Confract assets (note 4) 20 N/A N/A Lifetime ECL 841,400
BREE(K4) TEA NEA FEPEHEERE
Financial guarantee 45  N/A N/A 12m ECL 11,561,273
contracts (nofe 2)
BB EREH(HEE2) TEA TEA 1218 REIEEEE
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43.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 43. &R T H(4E)
43.4 Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) A3.4 SE R B R B ERE & (48)

Notes: BSE -

1. As part of the Group's credit risk management, the Group
applies internal credit rating for other nonrade receivables. The
following table provides information about the exposure fo credit
risk for other nontrade receivables which are assessed based
on provision matrix as at 31 December 2018 within 12m
ECL and lifefime ECL (not credit impaired). Debtors with credit-
impaired with gross carrying amounts of RMB43,385,000 as
at 31 December 2018 were assessed individually.

ERASEFEERRERN — &
o AEEBEAMIEER 5 R KRR
ERABEEFR - TREHRSA
BB 5 & YR 5 E e 10 5 B R
BEER  HR-_Z—NF+=A
=t+—RAJMREBR 218 A EME
EEBREFEBENEEER(LE
EERME) B EREE - R=F
—NEFE+-A=+—H8 c8kE
BER/ARKEALS,385000THEE
TREFE MR R 1T B B AT A

Average Other non-trade

loss rate receivables

HihIEES

Internal credit rating R EBISERER Eo] ook FEWARRR
RMB’'000

ARETT

Low risk KRB 0.31% 5,094,621
Watch list BEEE 0.53%-3.21% 8,481,376
Doubitful RER 6.28% 573,720
14,149,717

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group
provided RMB127,214,000 impairment allowance for other

non-rade receivables, based on the internal credif rafing.

2. For financial guarantee contracts, the gross carrying amount
represents the maximum amount the Group has guaranteed
under the respective contracts. The maximum amount that the
Group has guaranteed under the respective contracts was
RMB11,561,273,000 as at 31 December 2018. At the
end of the year, the directors of the Company have performed
impairment assessment, and concluded that there has been no
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition of the
financial guarantee contracts. Accordingly, the loss allowance
for financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group is
measured af an amount equal to 12m ECL. The directors of
the Company considered that the 12m ECL allowance is
insignificant at 1 January 2018 and 31 December 2018.

3. For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified
approach in IFRS @ to measure the loss allowance at lifetime
ECL. Except for debtors with significant outstanding balances or
creditimpaired, the Group defermines the expected credit losses

on these items by using a provision matrix.

BE_Z-N\Ft+-_A=+—HL
FE - AKERBEABEEFRIL
H A 3EE 5 AR KRR E R 6
AER#127,214,0007T °

REBRERREHME - RELAE
EASERERESORMER
WE=eE RZTE-—NF+=
A=+—H8 A&EEREHEES
HWRHEERNERSESER/ARK
11,561,273,0007C ° RER + &
RAEREETHENG - XRR
BRYBREREONERERRED
PATE R DA SR S ARG A0 o Btk
REBELMBRERE O EBER
BIEEER 1 2EAFEREERRE
WL E - ARAEERE B
B \F—A-BR-_F-NF
TZRA=+—H " 12EAEHREE
BEREEHELTTERX -

REURERME  ARECHEAR
ISR ELRIE O ELATE
FEMBEREEBRNEBERRE
BREAABERAEEERILREE
IREREUERFRID - AERERA AR
PR SR A B ERER -
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43.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
43.4 Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

3.

(Continued)

As part of the Group's credit risk management, the Group
uses debtors’ aging to assess the impairment for its customers
in relation to its property sales, hotel and related services
and property management and other services because these
customers consist of a large number of small customers with
common risk characteristics that are representative of the
customers’ abilities to pay all amounts due in accordance with
the contractual terms. The following table provides information
about the exposure to credit risk for trade receivables which
are assessed based on provision matrix as at 31 December
2018 within lifetime ECL (not credit impaired). Debtors with
significant outstanding balances or creditimpaired with gross
carrying amounts of RMB142,539,000 and RMB25,735,000
respectively as at 31 December 2018 were assessed
individually using internal credit rating.

43. &R TR (&)
43.4 {EE RIS R iR T (48)
BT+ (A0

3.

(&)

EREAKSERERERREEN — 7
D RMEHE  EEREERS
NEMEEEREMRBEMNE - A
SEERERKERROREFEES
MWRE REAZEEFAAER
BEREXRERBASNEIZNAE
BIH AR N KRR B SES
NEIRPHERK o TRIBREE BRI
REERNEERRBER AR
Z-NF+_A=+—BRER
REERERERER(LEEER
B)WBEEEALTHGE N =F
—\E+-A=+—H BEHAF
BEARERERIHREERER
ERES R/ ARE142,539,000
TTRARM25,735,0007TH) F& W BR
HE RS ERTARETTE RS -

Trade
receivables
FENSRRR
RMB'000
ARBFTT

Average
loss rate

FHR5iRE

Gross carrying amount AR E4E

0-90 days 0-90H 7% 70,121

91-180 days Q1-180H 9% 7,671

181-365 days 181-365H 10% 4,642

Over 365 days HHim365H 13% 33,186
115,620

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on historical
observed default rates over the expected life of the debtors and
are adjusted for forwardHooking information that is available
without undue cost or effort.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group
provided RMB89,000 and RMB4,823,000 impairment
allowance for trade receivables based on the provision matrix
and individual assessment respectively.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group
assessed the impairment for the contract assefs in relation fo its
consfruction management service with a significant outstanding
balance amounting to approximately RMB841,400,000
individually and provided RMB 1,403,000 impairment
allowance for confract asses.

EEHEBEE DR ERRRERSF
HNZBEBRRENTETMEE
I 3t HAIEE B EKARFE N
AESHATIEIEERRETHE -

BHE_Z-N\F+-_A=+—H1Lt
FE  AEREREBREEEMNEE
AR ERER S REHREREAR
89,0007t & A #E4,823,0007T °

BE-_ZT—N\F+=-_A=+—HL
FE  AEBEBRABEARE
BEBODEEEERBENEREE
#) N R # 841,400,000 7T 5F 1 I8
B YA REEHEREREA
R#1,403,0007T °
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43.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 43. €T R(E)

43.4 Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) A3.4 SE R B R B ERE & (48)
The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL that TR EBEERERERRE
has been recognised for frade receivables and contfract assets REEEANFENEREEBEY
and under the simplified approach. 2y o

Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL

(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired)
HFRNES HRNEY
=858 =ER5E
(LEEERE) (E&iR(E) &i
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT
As at 31 December 2017 N=T—+t&E+=H
under IAS 39 =+—BREERELt
ERIZE3I9H - 25735 25,735
Adjustment upon application of IFRS 9 A JE R R B 7S 3R 45 S
FO I TR 10,758 - 10,758
As at 1 January 2018 nw=F—-/N\%E—H—H
- As restated —4EET 10,758 25,735 36,493
Changes due fo financial instruments N—HA—BHECEZSR
recognised as at 1 January: TEBEm )
~ Impaiment losses recognized — B RZREEE 2,934 - 2,934
New financial assefs originated or EERETNTLREE
purchased 3,381 - 3,381
As at 31 December 2018 NoT—)\%E
+=-A=+—H 17,073 25,735 42,808
Changes in the loss allowance for frade receivables are mainly YR EEBEES I EEMHN
due fo:

31/12/2018
—E2-)\E+=-H=+—H
Increase in lifetime ECL

HFEYEYEEEEEM
Not credit- Credit

impaired impaired
L EEERHE EERE
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETTT

Trade debtors with significant gross carrying = ZE—N\F+—-F=+—H
amounts of RMB142,539,000 defaulted BAEAEEAEARE
as at 31 December 2018 142 539 0007T #7340 fiE iy
BR3K 4,823 -
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43.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 43. £RAT AR ()

43.4 Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) A3.4 SE R R B EFE (B])
The following tables show reconciliation of loss allowances TREJREMIEE ZERKERNE
that has been recognised for other non-trade receivables. TR ET IR B R EIER

Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
(not credit- (credit-

12m ECL impaired) impaired)
FENEN FENEY
1218 A 74 {=&isia =
f=EfsE (LREEEE) (fE&infE) &%
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARBETT

As at 31 December 2017 #=F—t&+=H

under IAS 39 =+-BREERE
ERIHEI9% - 15 43,385 43,400

Adjustment upon application B A BB B 75 R o 2
of RS 9 BORLAE 194 16,592 - 16786

As at 1 January 2018 - WH=F—-N\F—H—-H-
as restated HE ] 194 16,607 43,385 60,186

Changes due fo financial R—A—BRE®RLRE
instruments recognised as ot T EIBHHIEE) :

1 January:
— Impaiment losses recognised  —E B IREEE 40,640 19,420 - 60,060
New financial assefs originated JRE B E N EREE

or purchased 67,154 - - 67,154

As at 31 December 2018 R=F— )\
+=A=+-H 107,088 36,027 43,385 187,400
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43.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
43.5 Liquidity risk management

43. 2RITR (&)
43.5 mENEE PR EE

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet
its financial obligations as they fall due. The Group's policy is
to regularly monitor its liquidity requirements and its compliance
with lending covenants, to ensure that it maintains sufficient
reserves of cash and adequate committed lines of funding from
banks fo meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer

term.

Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with
the board of directors, which has established an oppropriate
liquidity risk management framework for the management of
the Group's short—, medium — and long — term funding and
liquidity management requirements. The Group manages
liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves, banking
facilities and reserve borrowing facilities, by continuously

moniforing forecast and actual cash flows, and by matching

the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities.

43.5.1 liquidity and interest risk tables

The following tables detail the Group's remaining

contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial

liabilities with agreed repayment periods. The tables

have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash

flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date

on which the Group can be required to pay.

mEtRR AAEEEDHAEEE
TEMBEHHNRR - AEEEKE
RERERERDESHTERETE
RENBER  BRESTENHAS
BEIMBTRSEHNDITORE
BE - AERMASEEHRERE
MBERHK

mBERREENRRETERES
g HERIAENRDERRER
BER UEERAKENE -+ - 28
BBt ERERE - AREAEB
R EAREE  RITBERFREE
BE URBEERRAREERRS
mE MEKEREERABNIH
BERETER - AEERRSEER -

43.5.1 FEMER F L E S 7
TR LA B A 35 &K
RHITESRABEATEH
AENEBRIEBER - TR
BAKEN BT ENKNZE
BHAEE  RESRAEN
AUEBRSREETE -

Weighted
average Within 1 Within 2 Within 5
effective  yearoron  yearshut  years but Carrying
interestrate demand  over 1 year over 2 years amount
i —£h MEM &R
ERiE E-FNE  ERENL FRE(E
9 B! X 0
31 December 2018 —®¥-\§t+zR=t-8
Trade ond ofher payables ENST A ENE - 29,276,057 - - - 29,276,057 29,276,057
Voriable inferest rote loons nEfEES 474% 3,351,821 8527543 1,541,121 392,609 13,813,094 12,684,613
Bonds &5 6.63% 4,770,353 1440414 - - 6210767 5818015
Financiol uaraniees issued: BHENBHBER -
Maximum omount guaronieed BEERE - 11,561,273 - - - 11,561,273 -
48,959,504 9967957 1,541,121 392,609 60,861,191 47,778,685
31 December 2017 S o
Trade ond ofher payables ERETREMENTE - 16775293 - - - 16775293 16775293
Varicble inferest rfe loans AEFIRER 450% 1554012 386402 5947369 493484 11861267 10,561,812
Bonds &3 481% 4327678 3,054,330 - - 7382008 7028658
Financial quarantes issued: BHENBHER -
Meximum omount guaranieed BoERE - 9022333 - - - 0922333 -
32579316 6920732 5947369 493484 45040901 34,365,763
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43.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 43. £RIT R (4§)

43.5 Liquidity risk management (Continued) 43.5 FiEnt bR EE (8)
43.5.1liquidity and interest risk tables (Continued) 4351 EIMERFIE R RS ()

The amounts included above for financial guarantee B BSERE NS I EE

contracts are the maximum amounts the Group could
be forced to setile under the arrangement for the full
guaranteed amount if that amount is claimed by the
counterparty to the guarantee. Based on expectations
at the end of the reporting period, the Group
considers that such an amount will not be payable
under the arrangement. However, this estimate is
subject to change depending on the probability of the
counterparty claiming under the guarantee which is a
function of the likelihood that the financial receivables

held by the counterparty which are guaranteed suffer

credit losses.

43.6 Fair value measurements

This note provides information about how the Group

determines fair values of various financial assets and financial

liabilities.

43.6.1Fair value of the Group’s financial asset and

financial liability that is measured at fair value on

a recurring basis

A cerfain financial asset is measured at fair value af
the end of each reporting period. The following table
gives information about how the fair values of these
financial assets and financial liabilities are determined,
as well as the level of the fair value hierarchy into
which the fair value measurements are categorised

based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair

value measurements is observable.

REFEMEHPRRE - A%
EREA AL HEBE 2 BUE
EROZRSETHE - RERRE
HIRONEH - AEERAER
ML TERERRETEX
- A - BRBERIEHETF
BB ERERFLHERANN
AERMEF) - MazxHAKTIE
RINEZBROBEFENTE
MEREBRFEARZEREER

BT AEE -

43.6 AR EHETE

SRR A A K B EE 2R

TREENERBENAA

* o

BENE

43.6.1 FEFUEE M REZ IR
EETENEHEERLH

EENAAEE

REBEHR - BRESRE
ERAAEBEFE - TREH

WEFR - TIB#EZ

TREE

RemABEAABENAE

E o ARRERR

EEESH

ABBER ABENREMDE

AR BETER

AREEE
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43.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
43.6 Fair value measurements (Continued)

43.6.1Fair value of the Group’s financial asset and

43.6

financial liability that is measured at fair value on
a recurring basis (Continued)

Fair values

Financial assets as at 31 December

SHEE RtzA=t-AHALEE
2018
“§-\E
Forsign curency stuced forvord ——— HEBRL 1 BEGIS - liabilty -
contracls clossfied o financial MESHARERD RMBO8, 178,000
liabiffes caried of FVTPL RS 8E-AR%
08,178,0007
Equity instument caried of VIOCI R EEFIRR L Asset - -
2EWADHEELE  RMB294,340,000
HE-\RE
294,340,0007

The Group's unlisted equity investments is classified as
investment at FVTOCI (2017: AFS investments) and is
measured af fair value at each reporting date. The fair
value changes RMB84,255,000 are recognized in

other comprehensive income in the current year.

43. £ T H(E)

AREEEER)

43.6.1 FEBLUEEMEER AL

EEFTENETHEERTH
EBENAAEEE

Fair value

Valuation techniques

hierarchy
MREER

and key inputs
BERDREERALS

level 2 Discounted cash flow.

A

E-E  Fulure cash flows are esfimated bosed on
forward exchange rafes [from obsenvable
forward exchange rates af the end of the
reporting perod| and conracted forword rafes
discounted of a rte fhot reflecs he credf sk

of various counterparfes

ik
FELRENREEMIRER (Ra%
ERRIERNEENNES) RAtES
EXG FRTREDRRSBETEL
hiEEER

level 3

r—

FE

Income approach - in this approach, the
discounted cosh flow method was used to
caplure the present value of the expected
future economic benefis to be derived from
the owneship of fis invesiee, bosed on an

approprias discount rafe.

WNE-REES - REERATRE - &
R RE A R IRRADARRE
N REAREEEARE

AEENIEETRERE DD ERIE
AR EEIEREM2ERANKRE
(Z2—F : IHHEERE)IRNE
BEBMEAABENE - AAEE
FEAREB4,255 000TTRAFEER
Hib 2 E WA FER
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43. &RT R (&)
43.6 AREETE(R)

43.6 2 F N AR BB BH2H
HEREAABHALEE
BRRAELSN - EFRBE
AMBREAFMEBHSBE
ERSHABNEEERAL
{EEEE -

43.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
43.6 Fair value measurements (Continued)
43.6.2 Fair value of financial assets and financial
liabilities that are not measured at fair value
Except as defailed in the following table, the directors
consider that the carrying amounts of financial assets
and financial liabilities recognised in the consolidated

financial statements approximate their fair values.

2018 2017
—B-0\E
Carrying

—T—+F
Carrying

amount Fair value

FREE ARfEE
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT
7,028,658 7,004,283

Fair value
AREE
RMB’000
ARETR

5,817,193

amount

RRE{E
RMB’000

AREFR
5,818,015

Bonds &%

44, CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 44, EFXREE

The Group manages its capital fo ensure that enfities in the Group
will be able to continue as going concerns while maximising the
retum to stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity
balance. The Group's overall strategy remains unchanged from prior

year.

Consistent with industry practice, the Group monitors its capital
structure on the basis of a net gearing ratio (total inferest-bearing
loans and bonds less cash and cash equivalents (including restricted
cash) over total equity). Therefore, the Group defined debts as

interestbearing loans and bonds.

The Group is not subject to any exfternally imposed capital

requirements.

The Group's risk management committee reviews the capital structure
of the Group on a semi-annual basis. As part of this review, the
commifiee considers the cost of capital and the risks associated with

each class of capital.

AREBEEERARRAEERARRER
BERBHELEEELE  RFEERE
REREBETE  BERRAERADE - A%
EREREEEIFREIE -

RIBITERER  NEB AR EL EFFE(GE
BERLEFRBERERERREEEY
(BREXRHRE) REAERAR)IERE
EEARBOEE - Hilt - AEERERR
Rt BERRMES

AR B EZSNER BN E R IREPTIRR

AEENRREREZESGLFUAEEN

BARBETES - ZESFRBEY &
ZEESRARSRFIESHENER
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44.CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (Continued)

44. SXEE(E)

The gearing ratio af end of the reporting period was as follows.

BEMRNBELXMOT -

2018 2017

—E—\F —E—tF

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARETT AREET T

Debts EI8 18,502,628 17,590,470
Bank balance and cash RITEB IR (6,277,208) (7,856,722)
Net debts SFEIR 12,225,420 Q733,748
Equity s 13,944,738 11,584,890
Net debts to equity ratio SFEE(E SR 88% 84%

45.FINANCIAL GUARANTEES

As at the reporting date, the Group has issued the following

guarantees:

The Group has arranged mortgage loan facilities for certain
purchasers of property units and provided financial guarantees to
secure obligations of such purchasers for repayments. The outstanding
guarantees amounted to RMB11,561,273,000 as at 31 December
2018 (as at 31 December 2017: RMB9,922,333,000). Such
guarantees terminafe upon the earlier of (i) the issuance of the real
esfate ownership certificate which will generally be available within
six months after the buyer takes possession of the relevant properties;
and [ii) the safisfaction of the mortgaged loan by the buyer of the

properties.

In the opinion of directors of the Company, the fair values of the
financial guarantee contracts of the Group are insignificant at initial
recognition and the directors consider the possibility of default by
the parties involved fo be remote. Accordingly, no value has been
recognised in the statement of financial position as at 31 December

2018 and 2017.

45. A F5iER

RRERH - AEFEDZEHUTHER

REBEEABSMEEMNE FIREKRB
BEX YHZEEIMERETRENS
BER -RZE—N\F+ZA=+—H B
BREMERAEARKEI 561,273,000 7T
(R=ZZE—+tF+=-A=1+—8: AR¥
©.922,333,0007T) - ZEERNIUTERE
HARAR L -« () R ER A S (—REE
FHREBEMERNEAREL)E  Kii)
MEB HEEIRBERE -

RRABEZRA  AEEVBEREAVNE
REREHARBERK  MESERAEEH
R BN ER - At - WER=Z
—NERZZE—FEF+ZA=+—"BNUH
RS TR R R AIEE o



ZE-N\FFR

BMEEERERAA

NOTES TO THE CONSOLUDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continved)
REPBRRME @)

For the year ended 31 December 2018
B2 —ZE—\F+A=+—HIFE

46.OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS 46. FEHELHE

The Group as lessee

FEREEAFRBEA

2018
—EB-N\F

RMB’000
ARBTR

Minimum lease payments paid FAXTEEHE 2 HEEERTR

under operating leases during the year

27,717

2017
—F—tF
RMB'O00
AREETFIT

24,410

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had commitments for
future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating

leases which fall due as follows:

MBEHR - NEBL TFIBEZ TR EH
KEREMARRSER S M FAIE

2018 2017

—F—-)\E —T—+tF

RMB’000 RMB'O00

AREFX AREET T

Within one year —FR 15,280 10,153
In the second to fifth year inclusive MERERFR 37,220 35,221
Over five years AR F 5,470 13,793
Total A&t 57,970 59,167

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the Group
for certain office premises. leases are negotiated for a term ranging

from 1 to 10 years with fixed rentals.

The Group as lessor

Property renfal income, net of negligible MERSWE - IBRFRLE
outgoings under operating leases HER/ R
during the year

REMENFEARERE THRIEMEN
NEE  KERRZEESHEN T —2+F

ZE - REEES -

FEEEBHBEA

2018
—FT—/\F

RMB’000
ARBTR

51,453

2017
—E—F
RMB'000
ARBTIT

36,321
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46.OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS 46.E2HERHE(E)

(Continued)

The Group as lessor (Continued) AEEESBHBANE)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had contracted with RBEHR - REBRBSETL THIRREK
tenants for the following future minimum lease payments: RABERER

2018 2017

—EB—)\§ —E—tF

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARETT ARKETFT

Within one year —ER 75,538 52,422

In the second to fifth year inclusive MFRBEBRFR 341,876 184,531

Over five years BT E 315,555 44,335

Total A 732,969 281,288
Property rental income represents rentals receivable by the Group. MEESWREAEHERES - LEFHER
leases are negotiated for a term ranging from 1 to 15 years with ZHERANF—=+HF2H - REEHE

fixed rentals. % o
47.CAPITAL COMMITMENTS a7. &K%

2018 2017
—T-N\E =T F

RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETR ARBETT

Property under development and investment B 2T 41{B R A4R A B SRR BHE Y
properties under development contracted BRAMERERPREME
buf not provided in the consolidated

financial statements 13,487,602 11,138,547
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48.RELATED-PARTY DISCLOSURES

0)

During the year, in addition to those disclosed in note 50 to

the consolidated financial statements, the Group entered info

the following fransactions with related parties:

0)
E5h -

A8. FAE 1K=
R B AR BRSO R
A B SRR

2018
—F—/\E¥

RMB’000
ARBTR

FIVIATRS

2017
—E—tF
RMB'000
ARBTIT

Property management and other MEEE AR E
services fee
— Greenland Holdings' subsidiaries — R 5,744 8,240
— joint ventures and associates A%ﬁ?%&ﬂﬁ?%ﬂﬂ 362 1,347
— non-controlling shareholders of NGIEISCE
subsidiaries 1,835 -
Construction service provided by AT A EHR ALY
Greenland Holdings’ subsidiaries RS 1,088,522 2,221,951
Interest income arising from amounts FEUH & A RIEE AR
due from associates FEMA 28,308 -
Interest expense arising from amounts FERH AR i F R EI5RIA
due fo Greenland Holdings' EENNEER
subsidiaries - 57,021
Entrusted loan received from KEFRRBEERRNE
non-confrolling shareholders of WZFEER
subsidiaries - 380,230
Entrusted loan repaid EEEZFER
— subsidiaries of a non-controlling —RKFREIFEERAR R
shareholders of a subsidiary FRA - 522,170
— Greenland Holdings' subsidiary — BRHOIERR A - 370,000
Advance to ANy R IR TR FRIA
— Greenland Holdings — AR A% 4,591,498 10
— Greenland Holdings' subsidiaries — B HDIERR TR 4,236,019 2,260,997
— associates VNG 440,722 120,369
— joinf ventures A%ﬂé% 175,541 -
— non-controlling shareholders of DRI AR
subsidiaries 587,692 1,912,616
— Shareholder's Company — R AF] 1 12
11,156,244 7,854,963
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48.RELATED-PARTY DISCLOSURES 48.EEtAIEE(E)

(Continued)

(i)  During the year, in addition to those disclosed in nofe 50 to i) F& BEAHBEBRERM TS0
the consolidated financial statements, the Group entered into BEEN  NEBEBEBAFEISLATR
the following fransactions with related parties: (Continued) 2 (&)

2018 2017
—EB—)\§ —E—tF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETFT
Repayment from KA TFIBIARER
— Greenland Holdings' subsidiaries — BRI RS TN A 1,387,984 754,953
— associates NG 82,978 -
— joint ventures —BEE - 1,261
- non-controlling shareholders of —FRAIBEERARR
subsidiaries 299,325 4,539
1,770,287 760,753
Advance from K E T 5 EIERTE FIE
— Greenland Holdings' subsidiaries — SRR TR B 7,534,040 3,497
— associates - WNC] 36,003 -
- non-controlling shareholders of —FRAIEERARR
subsidiaries 1,611,203 725,404
— Shareholder's Company —RERE] - |
9,181,246 728,902
Repayment to [ RFSIBEEEAER
— Greenland Holdings — KR RS 2 -
— Greenland Holdings' subsidiaries — BRI RS T A A 818,767 1,448,043
— associates i —/NE] 66,000 240,384
— non-confrolling shareholders of —F AR
subsidiaries 693,305 241,714
— Shareholder's Company VNG 1 -
1,578,075 1,930,141
Note: Mr. Wang Weixian is a “Shareholder” of the Company. Mie : TERBEERKTATNIRE] - &
Shareholder's Company represents a company owned by the RARRZREREERAEEH

Shareholder and affiliates. INGIRG
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48.RELATED-PARTY DISCLOSURES
(Continued)

i)

As af the end of the year, the Group had balances with related

parties, which are all unsecured, as follows:

48. BARE T EE (4])

(i) RER  NEEREH

77 BRI 1

EIEA - HIHIWT

2018
Z3-\F
Project-related Non-project related Sub Total
B FEEEE
Non-interest Interest  Non-Inferest Interest  Non-interest Inferest

bearing bearing bearing bearing bearing bearing Total

%'E\ §+‘E\ %'E‘ ﬂ+lh\ ﬁl‘E\ §+'E‘ %%+

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT  ARMTR  AREBTR  ARETR  AR®TR ARETR  ARETR

Due from Grenland Holdings el - - 4,591,508 - 4,591,508 - 4,591,508

Greenlond Holdings' subsidiories &2 F A7) 1,078,142 - 1,233,458 - 2,311,600 - 2,311,600

Associofes 7N 26,500 451,613 - - 26,500 451,613 478113

Jointventures A“ﬁ% 79,325 - 116,674 - 195,999 - 195,999
Nonconiollng shareholdersof — FAFSHARBE

subsidiaries 4,090,810 - 67,868 - 4,158,678 - 4,158,678

Shareholder's Company RRAR = - 13 - 13 - 13

5,274,771 451,613 6,009,521 - 11,284,298 451,613  11,735911

Due fo Greenland Holdings AR 686,730 - - - 686,730 - 686,730

Gresnlond Holdings' subsidiaries iiﬁﬁ“ R AT 798,784 - 7,501,026 - 8,299,810 - 8299810

Associates NG 36,013 - - - 36,013 - 36,013

Adirector and entifes confoled ~ —ZEZ RELH

by th direcor BE - - 1,158 - 1,158 - 1,158
Non-confroling shorefolders of FREFERKR

subsicoris 4,522,976 - 161,661 - 4,684,637 - 4,684,637

6,044,503 - 7,663,845 - 13,708,348 - 13,708,348

Sub Total
Norinterest Inferest [nferest
bearing bearing beor‘mq
%8 i
RMB'000
Due from Greenland Holdings IR 10 - - - 10 - 10
Greenland Holdings' subsidiories iﬁﬁl ERFLAR 2,962,838 - 2340 - 2,965,178 - 2,965,178
Associoles 2 NG 121,798 - - - 121,798 - 121798
Joint ventures Adpg - - 20,458 - 20,458 - 20,458
Norrconroling shoreholders of FRRE
subsidficries 3,528,937 - 344,741 - 3,873,678 - 3,873,678
Shareholder's Company RRAR - - 12 - 12 - 12
6,013,583 - 367,551 - 6,981,134 - 6,981,134
Due fo Greenland Holdings FEffLRR 686,732 - - - 686,732 - 686,732
Gresnlond Holdings' subsidiories 442 F A7) 212,048 724,021 136,457 - 348 505 724021 1,072,526
Associotes O 66,000 - - - 66,000 - 66,000
A director and eniities controlled —SEELERE
by the direcor g - - 1158 - 1158 - 1158
Nonconiollng shareholdersof — FAFSHARBE
subsidicries 2,548,697 - 655,773 - 3,204,470 - 3,204.470
Shareholder's Company RRAR - - 1 - I - I
3513477 724021 793,389 - 4,306,866 724,021 5,030,887
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48.RELATED-PARTY DISCLOSURES
(Continued)
(ii)  As at the end of the year, the Group had balances with related

parties, which are all unsecured, as follows: (Continued)
In respect of projectrelated balances with related parties:

(@)  The trade balances due from Greenland Holdings'
subsidiaries, joint ventures, associates and non-
controlling shareholders of subsidiaries are mainly
receivables from property management and other

services.

(b)  The project-related balances due from Greenland
Holdings and its subsidiaries are mainly prepaid
distributions and consideration receivables from disposal
of a subsidiary. The project-related balances due to
Greenland Holdings and its subsidiaries are mainly

project advances and non-inferest bearing loans.

[c)  The projectrelated balances due from non-controlling
shareholders are mainly prepaid distributions. The
project-related balances due from joint ventures/
associates are mainly project advances to these
joint ventures/associates and are tied fo the project
development cycle. In the opinion of the directors, these
balances are expected to be sefled when the projects

concerned commence pre-sales.

(d)  The projectrelated balances due to non-controlling
shareholders are mainly project advances from these
non-controlling shareholders and are tied to the project
development cycle. In the opinion of the direcors, these
balances are repayable on demand and are expected
to be setled when the projects concerned commence

pre-sales.

The non-project related balances with related parties are

mainly unsecured advances and repayable on demand.

The interest bearing balances due from associates of
RMB451,613,000 at 31 December 2018 (2017: Nil)
carried interest at fixed rate of 4.35% — 8.00% (2017:Nil) per

annum.

48. BAEE T HER (8)

(i) REXR AEERBHHOESTR
EIEW - AT : ()

71 EERARE T R IR B ARRRAE RN S ¢

() RBURSMBIZERFIE  GEE
¥ BEQR T RRIHER
RNBIERTIER/MEEER
H At IR 0 UL IR ©

b)  REMARBIER R E-FARRIAR
HREESRIERBE—RFAA
MTEN 2 IR KB ARAE - FEATAR
AR N BF A RIEYIE B AR A
REIBRERBREEEER

(c) FEMGHERMIRMIA B MRMAR
TEREMNDIK - BRAEZR
%/ NRINIER BREAHRE
ERMZSEERE HERT)
{EHEIRE 25K - WHIA R 3R
BR—% - E=2RR - ZEFEH
B TAERERREER T
LAEAS -

(d)  FERSEERAIRAIA B AR
ERRRAZFIFERBIRANTA
BE® YHEERFRBY—
BEERR  AEHEBRRE
RER - WHERKRAREEM
RIRER TAER -

ERERE T ROFFIR B MRS E R EIERR
RRIEERAEE o

R-E—N\F+-A=+—8  BRHEA
A B EBAREAS5,613,0007L(=
) TR E AR A.35%%8.00%
(ZZ—+%F : @) 8 -
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48.RELATED-PARTY DISCLOSURES 48.FEtFIHEE(E)

(Continued)
(i) Compensation of key management personnel (iii) FASEEIEN SErEM
Remuneration for key management personnel, including RAGLE IR A B H B IEAEMTE 145
amounts paid to the Company's directors as disclosed in nofe BN TARATESHH BAEM T
14 and five of the highest payment to employees as disclosed ISHEBEINTRAUSSEIEER
in note 15, was as follows: N BT
2018 2017
—B-N\E —E—+F
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®ETT ARETTT
Salaries and other emoluments T& RAAhE 21,089 12,877
49. ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY 49, WiE—RKF AT
On 23 January 2018, the Group completed the acquisition of 70% RZZE—N\F—A=+=H TEEZKH
interest in Zhaoging Hengchang from an independent third party BUE=FWEERFE70%Ez - Re i
for cash consideration of RMB1,365,197,000. This acquisition BAARE] 365,197,000t » WS iRk
has been accounted for using the acquisition method. Zhaoging AN EETENEMEMRBER W
Hengchang is engaged in property development business and B RBEAREBYEMAEEGNET -

was acquired to continue the expansion of the Group's property

development business.

Assefs acquired and liabilities recognised at the date of acquisition W RSN CWEEERCERA &I
are as follows: T
RMB'O00
ARBETT
Net assets acquired BB FEE
Bank balance and cash RITHEBRNIERS 13,160
Trade and other receivables JREE M52 B 30 e B At R W R 111,044
Properties under development LSS ES 3,083,526
Property, plant and equipment W - BB KR 1,507
Land use rights I A 44,601
Contract liabilities aREE (152,498
Trade and other payables JFEAST BRI EoAth A~ RIR [566,914]
Deferred tax liabilities BIERIARE (584,144
1,950,282
Non-controlling interests IR s (585,085

1,365,197
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49.ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY 49.lflE—=RF2AT(4E)

(Continued)

No goodwill arose from the Zhaoging Hengchang acquisition.

Non-confrolling inferest in Zhaoging Hengchang recognised at the
acquisition date was measured by reference to the proportionate
share 30% of recognised amounts of net assets of Zhaoging
Hengchang and amounted to RMB585,085,000.

Total consideration

EETENEEEMEELDE
RS B RER M ERE 7 & SR E g R TR

EETEFEEND R SREATIE30%N L
Bl E - 5 AREES585,085,0007T

BRE

RMB'000
ARETTT

Cash Be

1,365,197

Net cash outflow on acquisitions

WeRBaYIR &7 HH iR ER

RMB'000
ARMET T

Cash consideration BeRE 1,365,197
Bank balance and cash acquired BUWBRITESR LIRS (13,160)
1,352,037

Included in the profit for the year, a loss amounting to approximately
RMB14,606,000 was attributable to Zhaoqging Hengchang.
Revenue for the year includes RMB 162,908,000 revenue attributable
to Zhaoging Hengchang.

Had the acquisition of Zhaoging Hengchang been effected at the
beginning of the year, the fotal amount of revenue of the Group for
the year would have been RMB15,444,672,000, and the amount
of the profit for the year would have been RMB1,980,942,000.
The proforma information is for illustrative purposes only and is not
necessarily an indication results of operations of the Group that
actually would have been achieved had that the acquisition been
completed at the beginning of the year, nor is it infended fo be a

projection of future results.

In determining the ‘pro-forma’ revenue and profit of the Group
had Zhaoging Hengchang been acquired at the beginning of the
year, the directors of the Company calculated depreciation and
amortisation of plant and equipment based on the recognised

amounts of plant and equipment at the date of the acquisition.

FREMNEREETSREBROARE
14,606,0007T - FARRBIREET SR
1Mz ARHE162,908,0007T ©

HEBEES SERFINET  AEEN
FART LG R/ARE15,444,672,000
7T MERRNERARE 980,942,000
T BEEMERRAZR X T —EXRTR
BN FBEARAEE T ERISHE
EBRE - N TRIERARKREENTRA -

EEEASENEE M R A (R&
EETECREVRKE)  ARAESD
REBWEE B HIER S R R BB ER
P MRt r I e Rk -
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50.

The effect of disposal of Nanchang Shenyang is analysed as follows:

DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY

On 30 September 2018, the Group disposed of its entire
100% equity interest in Nanchang Shenyang Property Co., Ltd.
("Nanchang Shenyang’) to Greenland Holdings for a cash

consideration of approximately RMB1,970,501,000.

50. HE—XRFAF
KRB \EAA=+A ARG
BEEXABE B EEERAR(HEH
M) #9225 1 00%LHE - ReREANAR
#1,970,501,0007¢ °

HEBSRENTZEIITNT

RMB'000
ARETFT

Property, plant and equipment W - B K 231
Properties under development BERPYE 2,687,246
Trade, other receivables and advance deposits FEIERFR « HApEWF A R TatiR e 4,313,113
Bank balance and cash RITHEBNIR S 140,781
Tax recoverable Al B IE 126,496
Deferred tax assets RIETIHE B 131,269
Interestbearing loans FEER (625,000)
Confract liabilities aRAE (4,964,594
Trade and other payables JEAS AR SR e EL At FE AN 5RIR (326,732
Net assets disposed of EHEFEE 1,482,810
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary: HE—RFATUE :
Consideration RE 1,970,501
Net assets disposed of BEHEFEE (1,482,810
Gain on disposal of Nanchang Shenyang HEME BB 487,691
Net cash inflow arising on disposal: HEMNRESHRNSBE :
Total consideration BRE 1,970,501
Bank balance and cash disposed of BHENRITESRKR S (140,781)
Consideration receivable, included in other nontrade EURE GTATEWN AR T EMIEE S

receivable due from related parties FEHERRR) (903,913
Proceeds from disposal of a subsidiary HE—KFRRIMSHIE 925,807
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S1.RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES
ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities arising
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes.
Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash
flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group's
consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing

activities:

51. REmMEFHELENERHY
AR
TREMAEEREEDFELNEEED
(BERSRIRLED) - BEEDHEE
MEEEEIHENAEESARERER
AR ABEEHRSRE

Loans from

related Interest

Borrowings Bonds parties payable Total

REHBS

fB& &% BYER FEf I8 fi
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETRE ARETRE ARETRE ARETRE ARETR
At T January 2018 RZZ-\F—-A—H 10,561,812 7,028,658 4,966,070 161,951 22,718,491
Financing cash flows BERLHE 2,631,679 (1,471,408) 7,546,150  (960,019) 7,746,402
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—RFOA (625,000) - - - (625,000)
Foreign exchange NE 116,122 240,595 451,378 - 808,095
Inferest expenses MNEER - 20,170 - 894,647 914,817
At 31 December 2018 R-E—N\E

+ZA=1t—H 12,684,613 5,818,015 12,963,598 96,579 31,562,805

Loans from

related Inferest

Borrowings Bonds pariies payable Total

REBEH

1 % BB PRI CE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETE ARETR ARETT ARETT ARETR
At T January 2017 RZE—+F—f—H 9,484,221 8,038,774 6,227 416 180,261 23,930,672
Financing cash flows BERSNE 1,330,642 (662,927)  (1,201,239) (907, 743) (1,441 ,267)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—RFAF (102,159) - - - [102,159)
Foreign exchange HNE (150,892) (373,479) (117,128) - (6471,499)
Interest expenses FSER - 26,290 57,021 889,433 972744
At 31 December 2017 RZT—+F

+-A=+-H 10,561,812 7,028,658 4,966,070 161,951 22,718,491
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52.SUBSEQUENT EVENT
On 26 January 2019, the Group distributed the dividend of
Perpetual Securities issued on 27 July 2016. The amount is
USD3,375,000 (approximately RMB22,940,000).

52. 5HBEEMH
RZZ—NE—A=+AA AEER=
T-AELA=HLABGTOKAESSD
KRS - £ %% 3,375,000F T (K AR
22,940,0007T) °

53. X AT BHRAR

53.STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

OF THE COMPANY

2018 2017
—T—N\EF —FT—+tF
RMB’000 RMB'O00
ARET AREETTT
ASSETS BE
Investment in subsidiaries FREHEE 13,915,102 13,750,666
Total non-current assets FERBEELRTE 13,915,102 13,750,666
Trade, other receivables and FEUBRSR  Efh U IE &
advance deposits JEIEE 89,069 81,472
Bank balance and cash RITEBR MBS 125,128 208,284
Total current assets MENAELRT 214,197 379,756
Total assets BEMBRTE 14,129,299 14,130,422
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BARR#E
Share capifal REA 1,132,097 1,132,855
Share premium R (B 3,412,872 3,416,546
Reserves i 309,670 309,670
Perpetual securities KA B 787,823 787,823
Accumulated losses Z2:tEE (1,509,885) (1,159,730)
Total equity atfributable to /NS ¢ 2 S PN o v et ok
equity holders of the Company 4,132,577 4,487,164
LIABILITIES BfE
Bonds E+ 1,367,416 2,919,171
Interestbearing loans FEE 2,003,448 1,632,845
Total non-current liabilities FERE B AL 3,370,864 4,552,016
Interestbearing loans FTEEMR 603,620 924,967
Trade and other payables B A R R e LAt FE A5 5R0R 1,571,639 56,788
Bonds E% 4,450,599 4,109,487
Total current liabilities mENaERE 6,625,858 5,091,242
Total liabilities B &R 9,996,722 0,643,258
Total equity and liabilities WS R A R 14,129,299 14,130,422
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53.STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

Share Share

capital  premium

2.y
0

N ARETT

At T January 2017 RZZ—t5-A-R 1132855 3,416,546
loss and folal comprehensive expense ~ EEBERZ AR T EE

forthe year - .

Dividends recognised s distrbution RENRERE - -
Dividends paid fo perpetucl securiies Bt kAZHZRE - -

1231 308,439

53. X AFMBRAR(E)

Capital  Contributed
redemption surplus  Perpetual  Accumulated
reserve (note)  securities losses

BRRGR (M
0 0

)
0

AR

/‘k\ m*?[ v /b
5,331,307

T v
787,823

(315,587)
- - - (554066 (554,160]

- - - (44139 [244139)
(45,838 (45,838

At 31 December 2017 RZE-tF+ZA=1-A 1132855 3,416,546 1231 308,439 787823 (11597301 4,487,164
loss and folal comprehensive expense ~ FEBERR AR T EE

for the year - - - - - 34,675 34,675
Dividends recognised s ditrbution BRANRARE - - - - - (342,114)  (342,114)
Repurchase and logout shares BORERG (758) (3,674) - S o - (4,432)
Dividends paid fo perpetual secuifes B kAEFZRE - = - - - (42716)  (42716)
A1 31 December 2018 RZZ-\ETZA=+-0 1,132,097 3,412,872 1,231 308439 787,823 (1,509,885) 4,132,577

Note: The excess of the consolidated net assets represented by the shares of
the subsidiaries acquired over nominal value of the shares issued by
the Company in exchange under the Reorganisation was transferred to

the contributed surplus account in the Company’s financial statements.

BiaE : PR FARIRD 2 EE FEEBBAR
ANBEEARETARBZERNEEZE
BEBREARNRAVBRRNEHBSRE
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S54.PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

Details of the Company's principal subsidiaries as at 31 December

2018 and 2017 are as follows.

Name of subsidiary

3498

SPG Investment lid.

Shanghai Cambridge (Group] Co., lid.
LEFRE+S (£E) BRAA

Shanghai SPG Property Senvice
Co., ld.
LEEEYERERRAR

Shanghai SPG Hotel Development
Co., ltd.
LeREEERRERAT

Shanghai Oriental Cambridge Property
Development Co., lid.
AR RREMERRERAR

Principal activity

TEEH

Investment holding

RERK

Property development,
scles and lease

FRERY  BEREE

Property management

services

MEERRS

Hotel operdion, property
development, scles and
lease

BESE BHERE -
BELEE

Property development,
soles and lease

FRERYE  BENEE

Registered
capital

fax

USDI
[E

USD67,670,000
67,670,000%7

RMBS,000,000
ARES5,000,0007

RMB405,500,000
ARE405,500,0007

RMB650,000,000
AR650,000,0007

54. XA AF X EFAEHE

ARAR_E—NER-_ZE—+&F+=A
=t+—BZEEFREFBOT -

Place and
date of
incorporation

MR A

Briish Virgin Islands,

2 March 2004
ABRLAHE
“ZEME=A_H

the PRC,

25 August 1998

e
—AN\ENAZTEE

he PRC,

17 January 2001
e
ZEE-E-AtLE

the PRC,
1 December 2006

HE -
ERRETZA-A

the PRC,

26 September 2002

el
ZEFENAZTAA

Proportion of
ownership interest and
voting power held by
the Company as at
31 December

FEER+ZA=1+-BH

BEEES R R AL b
2018 2017
“E-0\fF
100% 100%
98.24% 08.24%
98.42% 08.42%
98.24% 08.24%
100% 100%

S8
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54.PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 54.KXATEFEFATEFHBE)
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

(Continued)
Defails of the Company's principal subsidiaries as at 31 December ARRAR-_E—NER-_ZT—+F+_-A
2018 and 2017 are as follows. (Continued) “+—HZEEFRAFBET - (&)

Proportion of

ownership interest and

Place and voting power held by
Registered date of the Company as at
Name of subsidiary Principal activity capital incorporation 31 December
FEER+=A=+—BH
FAEEH TEEH AT ARRINARESY  ARERGRAERARLH
2018 2017
—8-0\E Il i3
Shanghai Zhujia Cambridge Property Property development and RMB280,000,000 the PRC, 100% 100%
Development Co., Lid. soles AR280,000,0007 24 September 2003
PERERBLERHERRERAN  RUHERLRHE e

“EEZEAAZTIA

Huangshan SPG Property Hotel development and RMB270,000,000 the PRC, 100% 100%
Development Co., lid. operafion AK#270,000,0007T 7 January 2004
BLERYBRMERRERAR BEREREE E
“ZEME-ALH

Kunming SPG Land Development Property development, RMB142,500,000 the PRC, 100% 100%
Co., . sales and lease AR142,500,0007T 9 November 2006
ERERENERERAR FHERE HEREE G

“FEAFH-ANA

Huangshan Hiddentiger Club Management  Property management RMB1,000,000 the PRC, 100% 100%
Co., ltd. services ARE1,000,0007 7 July 2009
BB R eRERERAR NEERRE -
ZETNELALE

Kunming SPG Grand City Property development, USD40,000,000 the PRC, 100% 100%
Development Co., lid. sales and lease 40,000,000% 7T 15 June 2007
ERER AR ERRERAR BHERE BEREE E
“ZZAERATER

Suzhou Runjian Property Co., lid. Property development, RMB300,000,000 the PRC, 100% 100%
BIEREXBRAA scles and lease ARE300,000,0007 28 September 2007
FHERE HEREE G

“EFFCEAATTA
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54.PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
(Continued)
Details of the Company's principal subsidiaries as at 31 December
2018 and 2017 are as follows. (Continued)

54. X AT X EFAEFH(E)

ARaR—_E—NER-_E—+F+_-A
=+—HZEETFTARFBUOT - (&)

Name of subsidiary

FAT4R

Principal activity

TERH

Registered
capital

dfax

Place and
date of
incorporation

ammIhER A

Proportion of

ownership interest and

voting power held by

the Company as at

31 December

FRERT=A=1-BH
HREER R TR AL

2018
F-0\E

Suzhou SPG Property Management Hotel Operations, Propery RMB500,000 he PRC, 100% 100%
Co., ltd. management services ARE500,0007 5 March 2009
FNEBNERBERAR BEEE  NEERRE ME
“ZENFZALE

Wuxi Guosheng Property Property development, HKDI,196,530,000 e PRC, 100% 100%
Development Co., lid. sales and lease 1,196,530,0008 7t 2 November 2007
ERRRFERNEERAF FHERS HEREE el
“EEET-ACH

Waxi Shenglian Property Property development, HKDT, 105,000,000 the PRC, 100% 100%
Development Co., lid. sales and lease 1,105,000,000% 7t 2 November 2007
ESERFEREERAR FHERE HERES e
ZTTtE+T-AZA

Hainan Jiangjo Property Co. lid. Property development, RMB115,000,000 he PRC, 100% 100%
BEEREEARLA sales and lease ARE115,000,0007 4 Janvary 2008
PHERE HERHE e
“EE\F-AEA

Shanghai Huichang Construction Consfruction and RMB 100,000,000 the PRC, 100% 100%
Engineering Co., lid. decoration services ARH100,000,0007 21 Moy 2009
AR ERETIRERAR BEREERE el
“ETNEFRACT-R

Changshu SPG Lond Development Property development, RMB200,000,000 e PRC, 100% 100%
Co., ld. sales and lease AR®200,000,0007T 12 July 2007
ERRSRERNEERAT FHERE HERES e

“ZZ+FELA+H
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54.PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
(Continued)
Defails of the Company's principal subsidiaries as at 31 December
2018 and 2017 are as follows. (Continued)

54. XA AF X EFAEFE(E)

KRR E—NEFER-_ZT—+F+-HA
=+—HZEEBTFRARFBEOT - (&)

Proportion of
ownership interest and
Place and
date of
incorporation

voting power held by
Registered the Company as at
31 December
FEER+=A=+—BH
BARRELRFERARLH
2018 2017

—8-0\E Il i3

Principal activity capital

Name of subsidiary

FauEH IERR dfas AR A H

Changshu SPG Real Esfote Property development, RMB550,000,000 the PRC, 100% 100%
Development Co., id. scles and lease ARE550,000,0007 24 October 2007
FREHEERRAR BHERE HEREE -
“ERLFTACTAA

Shanxi SPG land Development Property development, USD20,000,000 the PRC, 100% 100%
Co., lid. sales and lease 20,000,000%7¢ 27 August 2009
WEZRERERERAT BHERE  BEREE E
“EENENA- LR

Ningbo SPG Cicheng Property Property development, RMB600,000,000 the PRC, 100% 100%
Development Co., lid. soles and lease ARH600,000,0007T 21 Morch 2011
EREREARELRERAR FHERE HEREE G
by

Hangzhou Tuojiang Property Co., Lid. Property development, USD582,000,000 the PRC, 50% 50%

MNEIEEERAR scles and lease 582,000,000t 22 )uy 2013 (note iii) [note i

BHERY  HEREE - (Eiii) (Hiziin)
“T-=FtA-tzA

Haikou Greenland Hongxiong Property development, RMB600,000,000 the PRC, 100% 100%
Property Co. lid. sales and lease AK#600,000,0007T 27, November 2013
BOREMEXERAT FHERE BERHEE E
ZFCFTACTA

Shanghai Dackun Investment Investing and consuliing RMB 10,000,000 the PRC, 100% 100%
Management Co., lid. REREA AE®10,000,0007T 9 June 2015
LEEREEERERAR G

ZZ-RERANA
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S54.PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

(Continued)

Details of the Company's principal subsidiaries as at 31 December
2018 and 2017 are as follows. (Continued)

Name of subsidiary

FAT4R

Shanghai He Mao Property Co., Lid.
EAREHELRERAT

Nanning Greenland Yingkoi
Investment Co., Lid.

HESHERREERAT

Success Yield Group Limited
RREEARAR

Xu Bao Co., ltd.
JBEBRAT]

Xuzhou Nanbu Property Co., Lid.
BHEBEEREERAT

Xuzhou Mingzhi Property Co., Lid.
BHAEEHEREERAR

Principal activity

TERH

Property development,
sales and lease

FHERT HERES

Property development,
soles and lease

FRERY  BENEE

Investment of subsidiaries

REFAFE

Investment of subsidiaries

REFAF

Property development,
soles and lease

FRERY  BENEE

Property development,
scles and lease

FRERY  BEREE

Registered
capital

dfax

RMB630,000,000
ARE630,000,0007

RMB558,500,000
AR 558,500,0007

USD200
200%7

HKD2
2B

USD50,000,000
50,000,000%7

HKD1,414,000,000
1,414,000,00087

ARaR—_E—NER-_E—+F+_-A

54. X AT X EFAEFH(E)

=T —RAZEEFRAFEET - (&)

Place and
date of
incorporation

ammIhER A

the PRC,

11 December 2013
e
ZE-ZE+ZAT-H

the PRC

1, November 2013
e
“T-=Ft-A-R

he BVI,

6 May, 2011

EE iR
ZT——%AARA

the BVI,

6 September, 2012
RERNES
“F-ZFNARH

the PRC,

23 January 2014

hE
“F-PmE-A=1ZR

the PRC,

3 March 2014
-
—E-EE=A=A

Proportion of

ownership interest and

voting power held by

the Company as
31 December

at

FEER+ZA=+-BH

BRERZRFRRR
2018
—B-0\g
50%
(note iii)
(Pitatiii)

100%

50%
(note iii)
(Ptaiii)

50%
(note iii)
(Pit&tiii)

100%

50%

(note iii)
(Pitaiii)

HLLHl

50%
[nofe iii)

(i)

100%

50%
[note iii]

(Bziii)

50%
[nofe iii)

(B i)

100%

0%

note iii]

(Bziii)

Sz



318 GREENLAND HONG KONG HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2018

NOTES TO THE CONSOLDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continved)
A VBRRWE @

For the year ended 31 December 2018
BE-FT—)\F+-A=+—HIFE

54.PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
(Continued)
Defails of the Company's principal subsidiaries as at 31 December
2018 and 2017 are as follows. (Continued)

54. XA AF X EFAEFE(E)

KRR E—NEFER-_ZT—+F+-HA
=+—HZEEBTFRARFBEOT - (&)

Proportion of
ownership interest and
Place and
date of
incorporation

voting power held by
Registered the Company as at
31 December

FKERT=A=1-BH
HREER R R RAELL B

Name of subsidiary

Principal activity capital

FauEH IERR dfas AR A H

2018
—F-\E

2017
“T+tF

Shanghai Xiangxuan Property Co., lid. ~ Property development, RMB20,000,000 the PRC, 100% 100%
HEHEERRAR sales and lease AKH#20,000,0007 17 January 2014
BHERE HEREE -
“T-mF-ATLA

Greenland [Kunming] Property Co., lid.  Property development, RMB517,272,222 the PRC, 55% 55%
FHEE (RH) EEERAT scles and lease AR¥517.272,2297t 17 December 2012
BHERE  BEREE E
ZF-CFTZATEA

Greenland [Kunming Wuhua| Property Property development, RMB528,000,000 the PRC, 55% 55%
Development Co., Lid. soles and lease AR#528,000,0007T 19 December 2012
We5E (RBLE) RHEFREERL FHERY HERES G
Al “F-ZFt-RthA

Shanghai Wali Property Co., Lid. Property development, RMB6,000,000,000 the PRC, 100% 100%
HERREZERLA sales and lease AK#6,000,000,0007 21 February 2014
BHERE HEREE -
“F-REZAZT-A

Nanning Greenland Hongkai Property Property development, HKD700,000,000 the PRC, 100% 100%
Property Co., lid soles and lease 700,000,000%7 20 May 2014
HERBEEXERAR BHERE BEREE E
“E2-MERAZTA

Hakou Greenland Wuyuan Property development, RMB200,000,000 the PRC, 100% 100%
Property Co., lid. sales and lease AKE%200,000,0007 26 Jonuary 2014
BN TREXERAR FHERYE HEREE G

ZE-IFE-A=T/A
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BMEEERERAA

NOTES TO THE CONSOLUDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continved)

REPBRRME @)

For the year ended 31 December 2018
B2 —ZE—\F+A=+—HIFE

S54.PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

(Continued)

Details of the Company's principal subsidiaries as at 31 December
2018 and 2017 are as follows. (Continued)

Name of subsidiary

FAT4R

Hainan Tianhongjive Shive Co., lid.
BERIERELXERAT

Hainan Tianhongjjye Invesiment Co., lid.

BERIERREARRAT

Nanning Greenland Xinyuan
Property Co., lid.
BEREREXARLA

Suzhou lyjie Property Co., lid.
FMEAEEARAR

Shanghai Greenland Financial
Information Semvices Co., lid.

LESbeRERRBAERLA

Guangxi Greenland Xintie
Property Co., lid.
BREGBHESERAR

Principal activity

TERH

Property development,
sales and lease

FHERT HERES

Property development,
soles and lease

FRERYE  BENEE

Property development,
scles and lease

FRERY  BEREE

Property development,
sales and lease

FHERT HERES

Financing

Wa

Property development,
scles and lease

FRERY  BEREE

Registered
capital

dfax

RMB100,000,000
ARE100,000,0007

RMB180,000,000
AEH180,000,0007

RMB300,000,000
AEH300,000,0007

UsD2,250,000,000
2,250,000,000% 7t

RMB100,000,000
ARH100,000,0007

RMB100,000,000
AEH100,000,0007

ARaR—_E—NER-_E—+F+_-A

54. X AT X EFAEFH(E)

=T —RAZEEFRAFEET - (&)

Place and
date of
incorporation

ammIhER A

the PRC,

21 December 2009

-
“EENETZAC-R

the PRC,

12 Jonuary 2010
hE
“FFE-ATCR

the PRC,

27 November 2014

e
ZE-MmET—A=ttA

the PRC,

22 Oclober 2015

-
“E-IFTACTCR

the PRC,

23 January 2015

hE
“F-R%-A-t=H

the PRC,

29 Aprl 2016

-
ZE-AERAZNA

Proportion of

ownership interest and

voting power held by

the Company as at

31 December

FRERT=A=1-BH
HREER R TR AL

2018
F-0\E

50.1%

50.1%

100%

100%

100%

60%

50.1%

100%

100%

100%

60%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continved)

A VBRRWE @

For the year ended 31 December 2018
BE-FT—)\F+-A=+—HIFE

54.PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
(Continued)
Defails of the Company's principal subsidiaries as at 31 December
2018 and 2017 are as follows. (Continued)

Registered

Name of subsidiary Principal activity capital

FauEH IERR dfas

Suzhou Lvying Property Co., lid. Property development, RMB20,000,000
BB EEERAF sales and lease ARE20,000,0007
BHERE HEREE

Guangxi Greenland Hengrun Property development, RMB100,000,000
Property Development Co., lid. soles and lease AR100,000,0007

BRI EREE X EREBAT BHERE  BEREE

Suzhou Lwwo Amusement Equipment Commercial management RMB12,750,000
Co. lid. BEER AR#12,750,0007

BNEREERBERAR)

Wuxi Guangcheng Metro Above-Station  Property development, RMB20,000,000
Property Development Co., lid. scles and lease AK#20,000,0007

ERBE L EESRRAR) BHERE HEREE

Wojiang Shenying Real Esiote Property development, RMBA50,000,000
Development Co. lid. sales and lease ARH50,000,0007

RIBEFREREERAT FHERE  BEREE

Foshan Hongyi Real Estate Invesiment Property development, RMB100,000,000
Co. ltd.. sales and lease AE#100,000,0007

ELmBEEXRERRAR FHERE HEREE

54. XA AF X EFAEFE(E)

KRR E—NEFER-_ZT—+F+-HA
=+—HZEEBTFRARFBEOT - (&)

Proportion of
ownership interest and
Place and voting power held by
date of the Company as at
incorporation 31 December
FEER+=A=+—BH
ARRINARESY  ARERGRAERARLH
2018 2017
—8-0\E Il i3

the PRC, 100% 100%
13)uly 2016
HE
IR FELATZH

the PRC, 65% 65%
5 May 2016
HE
“E-RERATRA

the PRC, 80% 80%
1 January 2017
e
“EtF-f-H

the PRC, 90% 90%
19 December 2013
R
“E-=F+-AThH

the PRC, 99% 9%
14]uly 2011
HE -
—E2——ELA+mA

e PRC, 100% 100%
3 July 2007
G
“EELFELA=H
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BMEEERERAA

NOTES TO THE CONSOLUDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continved)

REPBRRME @)

For the year ended 31 December 2018
B2 —ZE—\F+A=+—HIFE

S54.PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

(Continued)

Details of the Company's principal subsidiaries as at 31 December
2018 and 2017 are as follows. (Continued)

Name of subsidiary

FAT4R

Jixing Luzhan Real Estate Co. lid..
RERRERXERAR

Jixing Qinghua Redl Estate Co. lid..
FAREERARLA

Jiaing Tongchuang Real Estate Co. lid.

FRMAEXARAA

Zhaoging Hengchang
gE78

Greenland Kunming Dianchi
Property Co., lid.
BRI ERERAT

Greenland Kunming Spring City
Property Co., lid.
BRI EHNESRRAR

Principal activity

TERH

Property development,
sales and lease

FHERT HERES

Property development,
soles and lease

FRERY  BENEE

Property development,
scles and lease

FRERY  BEREE

Property development,
sales and lease

FHERE HERES

Property development,
soles and lease

FRERY  BENEE

Property development,
scles and lease

FRERY  BEREE

Registered
capital

dfax

RMB326,150,000
ARE326,150,0007

RMB156,381,000
ARH156,381,0007

RMB222,669,000
AEE222,669,0007

RMB300,000,000
AR 300,000,0007

RMB30,000,000
AR30,000,0007

RMB10,000,000
ARH10,000,0007

ARaR—_E—NER-_E—+F+_-A

54. X AT X EFAEFH(E)

=T —RAZEEFRAFEET - (&)

Place and
date of
incorporation

ammIhER A

e PRC,

1 September 2017
RE -
“EtFNA-H

the PRC,

1 September 2017
el
“F-LtFNA-H

the PRC,

1 September 2017
e
“TEAA-R

e PRC,

30 September 2007
]
ZEREENAZTE

the PRC,

17 August 2017

hE
“EE\ATLR

the PRC,

22 March 2018

e
“E-\EZAZtZH

Proportion of

ownership interest and

voting power held by

the Company as at
31 December

FEER+ZA=+-BH

2018
F-0\E

70%

70%

70%

70%
(note ii)

(Miatii)

100% 1

100%

(note i)
(Pt

HREER R TR AL

70%

70%

00%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continved)
A VBRRWE @

For the year ended 31 December 2018
BE-FT—)\F+-A=+—HIFE

54.PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
(Continued)
Defails of the Company's principal subsidiaries as at 31 December
2018 and 2017 are as follows. (Continued)

54. XA AF X EFAEFE(E)

KRR E—NEFER-_ZT—+F+-HA
=+—HZEEBTFRARFBEOT - (&)

Proportion of
ownership interest and

Place and voting power held by

Registered date of

the Company as at
31 December
FEER+=A=+—BH
BREERR TR AL
2018 2017
“F-0\E | 2T F

RMB10,000,000 the PRC, 100% -

Name of subsidiary Principal activity capital incorporation

FauEH IERR dfas AR A H

Greenland Kunming Center

Property development,

Property Co., lid. soles and leose ARE10,000,0007 22 Morch 2018 (note i)
BRGR L EXERAT BHERE HEREE - (i)

“F-/\#zA-tZR
Yiwu lchuang Property Co., lid. Property development, RMB50,000,000 the PRC, 100%
ERREIEEERAT soles and lease AR%50,000,0007 41y 2018 (note i)
BHERE BEREE E (Mtsi)

“Z-\FtARA
Wxi Lvying Property Co., lid. Property development, RMB50,000,000 e PRC, 100%
BHGREEERAT sales and lease AK%50,000,0007 3 September 2018 (note i)
FHERE HEREE e (s

“E-\fNAZH
Shaoxing Lvshen Property Co., lid. Property development, RMB10,000,000 the PRC, 100%
REGREXBRAT) sales and lease AK#10,000,0007 4 September 2018 (note i)
BHERY  HEREE - (i)

ZZ-\$NARA
Nanning Greenland Qixiang Property development, RMB30,000,000 the PRC, 60%
Investment Co., ltd. sales and lease AK#30,000,0007T 1 January 2018 (note i)
AERNEREBRAR BHERE BEREE E (s

—Z-/\5—A—H
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BMEEERERAA

NOTES TO THE CONSOLUDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continved)

REPBRRME @)

For the year ended 31 December 2018
B2 —ZE—\F+A=+—HIFE

S54.PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

(Continued)

Details of the Company's principal subsidiaries as at 31 December
2018 and 2017 are as follows. (Continued)

Name of subsidiary

FAT4R

Nanning Overseas Chinese
Transport Asset Management Co., Lid.
HEBEAETEERAT

Zhaoging Zhengyu Real Esiate

Development Co., lid.

ERIHEHERYBRAR

Nanning Greenland Hongjun

Real Estate Co., Ltd.

AERERERARLA

Nanning Huasong Indusrial

Investment Co., Ltd.

BEEEERRARRAA

Nanchang Shenyang
HERE

Guangxi Greenland Xingfie Property

Co., ltd.

RRGHREERARLA

Principal activity

TERH

Property development,
sales and lease

FHERT HERES

Property development,
sales

FHERE  HE

Property development,
scles and lease

FRERY  BEREE

Property development,
sales and lease

FHERT HERES

Property development,
soles and lease

FRERY  BENEE

Property development,
scles and lease

FRERY  BEREE

Registered
capital

dfax

RMB10,000,000
AR10,000,0007

RMBT,000,000
AEB1,000,0007

RMBT,010,000
AR#1,010,0007

RMB10,000,000
AR10,000,0007

USD25,000,000
25,000,000

RMB3,000,000
AR#3,000,0007

54. X AT X EFAEFH(E)

ARaR—_E—NER-_E—+F+_-A

=T —RAZEEFRAFEET - (&)

Place and
date of
incorporation

ammIhER A

he PRC,

1 January 2018

i
“F-\E-A-H

the PRC,

3 November 2008

HE
“EZ\E+-A=H

the PRC,

1 January 2018
e
“F-\F-A-H

he PRC,

1 January 2018

R -
“F-)\E-A-H

the PRC,

24 December 2015

-
i ey it}

the PRC,

4 August 2015
e
“Z-1f/\ANA

Proportion of

ownership interest and

voting power held by

the Company as at
31 December

FEER+ZA=+-BH

2018
—B-0\E
100%
(note i)
(kD)

100%
(note i)
(s

100%
(note i)
(Pt

100%
(note i)
(Bt

HREER R TR AL

- 100%

(note iv)

(Fitiv)

(note v)
(Miztv)

60%

828
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continved)
A VBRRWE @

For the year ended 31 December 2018
BE-FT—)\F+-A=+—HIFE

54.PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
(Continued)
Defails of the Company's principal subsidiaries as at 31 December
2018 and 2017 are as follows. (Continued)

54. XA AF X EFAEFE(E)

KRR E—NEFER-_ZT—+F+-HA
=+—HZEEBTFRARFBEOT - (&)

Proportion of

ownership interest and

Place and voting power held by
Registered date of the Company as at
Name of subsidiary Principal activity capital incorporation 31 December
FEER+=A=+—BH
FATEH TERH ZMER SMEIMERES  HREERRARRRELS
2018 2017
—8-0\E Il i3
Nanning Greenland Haiyue Property development, RMB50,000,000 the PRC, 100%
Investment Co., lid. sales AR%50,000,0007 4]y 2018 (note i)
BELERRERRAR BHERE  #E - (i)
“Z-\§+AmA
Hainan Greenland Haichuang Hotel development and RMB 10,000,000 ihe PRC, 100%
Hotel Management Co., lid. operafion AK#10,000,0007T 1 January 2018 (note i)
EEEAEEERERAR BEREREE E (Mtsi)
“E-N\5-A-H
Tongxiang Corproduction software development RMB30,000,000 ihe PRC, 100%
Information Technology Co., lid. MR AR#30,000,0007 13 June 2018 (note i)
RBARESHEERAR G (s

“Z-\FRAt=R
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BMEEERERAA

NOTES TO THE CONSOLUDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continved)

REPBRRME @)

For the year ended 31 December 2018
B2 —ZE—\F+A=+—HIFE

54.PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
(Continued)

Details of the Company's principal subsidiaries as at 31 December
2018 and 2017 are as follows. (Continued)

Note i: The subsidiaries were newly established in 2018.

Note ii: The subsidiary was acquired in 2018

Note iii: The Group has the right to appoint a majority of directors to the
board of directors. Hence the Group has the power over these
entities and has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.
Therefore, these entities are accounted for as subsidiaries of the
Company.

Note iv: The subsidiary was disposed in 2018.

Note v: The subsidiary was liquidated in 2018

Except for SPG Investment Lid, all the subsidiaries are indirectly held.
None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities af the end of
the year.

No minority inferest was individually material to the Group for the

year.

54. X AT EEFAEFTE)

ARRAR-_BE-NFR-_ZE-—+F+_H
=t —RZETEFAFH KIDTf’(f-“”)

it ZEFRRAN_T—/\FHMKIL -

Bk - RFRRAN T\ FEYRE -

Bzt : AEEEREZEEFTNRFLBES -
It AEEHZEEREGES - XHE
NERERNTEEDR - HENIL - Z
EEBAKREASLRRNFAA

Bfativ . ZFRRIR-E—/\FHELE -

BfifFty © ZFRBR_T—/\FHER -

BrSPG Investment Ltd4h » BT T AR A
%A -

FARBEF QA BITEAERE

FAMEERN S BESHAEBEMEEE
* o

23
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SUMMARY OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL INFORMATION
e MR EREE

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FEERREMEEFEER
Year ended 31 December 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
BET-A=+-HLEEE —F-0\E I e NS —T-1F —T-mE
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETTL ARETT ARETTT ARETT

Revenue g 15,444,246 14,618,872 16,919,188 5,687,953 2,840,025
Cost of sales HERA (11,306,122) (11,027,571) (14,091,196 (4,647 388) (2,060,909
Gross profit £7l 4,138,124 3,591,301 2,827,992 1,040,565 779,116
Other income HipA 29,346 25416 - - -
Other gains and losses Hiha R EE (659,896) 273,185 197,969 176,430 11,808
Selling and marketing costs HERTSEREKA (811,226) (587,187 [415,567) (318,911) (265,450
Adminisirative expenses THER (529,847) (437.517) 499,687 (428,641) (427 585)
Other operating expenses HibRghy (47,817) (13,403 1844,073) (887,192) (12,697)
Writedown of completed properties ERMFENE A

held for sale - [7,746) - - -
Impaiment loss of financial assefs and PREEREREEZ

confract assefs BEEE (133,529) - - - -
Net gain on disposal of equity interest HEFRAARR 2 W38

in subsidiaries 487,691 72,063 228 590 [500)
Results from operating activities REEETEHHES 2,472,846 2,916,112 1,266,862 (417,159 84,692
Finance income RERA 73,195 95,619 70,574 58,947 82,980
Finance expenses BB (187,488) (224,191) (135,088 (199,114 (186,180
Net finance expenses HERAFE (118293 (128572 [64514)  [(140167)  [103,200)
Share of profits (loss) of associates B2 AR R (E518) (15,354) [999) 370 (1,007) 94
Share of profit (loss| of joint ventures ELAENERTI(BER) 161,431 139,496 195,015 4 (2,726)
Revaluation gain on investment properies BEMES G 1,226,688 329,268 687,638 1,115,249 522,212
Profit before income tax BETE AR F 3,731,318 3,255,305 2,085,371 556,920 501,072
Income fax expense FHEY (1,750,378) (1,419,687 (1,024,852 (540,664) (436,951
Profit for the year from RERECEEBNERGRH

continuing operations 1,980,940 1,835,618 1,060,519 16,256 64,121
Discontinued operations BRIEGELE
Profit for the year from discontinued RES IS EBNENET

operations - - 180,063 15,389 -
Other comprehensive income for ~ FERHMBEEKA »

the year, net of income tax BRFR R 84,255 - - - -
Profit and total comprehensive EERFHR2ERNEE

income for the year 2,065,195 1835618 1,240,582 31,645 64,121
Attributable to: T AR :
Owners of the Company ADAERA 1,820,543 1,319,308 1,112,543 220,240 107,690
Non-controlling interests R ER 244,652 516,310 128,039 (188,595) 43,569
Earnings per share BkEH
Basic earings per share [RMB] BREABF(ARET) 0.61 0.46 0.39 0.08 0.04
Diluted earnings per share [RVB) BREERFI(ARET) 0.61 0.46 0.39 0.08 0.04




ZE-N\FFR

BMEEERERAA

SUMMARY OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL INFORMATION (Confinued)

REPBERBE®)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

FAMBRRE
Year ended 31 December 2018 2016 2015 2014
BE+t-RA=t+-HLEE —F-0\E I SyNS “T-1% |
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT AREFTL ARETTL ARETTL AREFTL
Assets BE
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment b ER S 1,208,629 1,228,459 1,282,241 1,546,906 1,619,850
Infangible assets BREE 1,251 1,296 1,341 1,386 1431
land use rights T fE R 69,315 24,042 24,608 74,738 76,924
Equity insiruments af FVTOCI BN BEIIER AL
PEMAMRELS 294,340 - - - -
Other financial assets Hib e pEE - 174,567 174,567 174,567 2,800
Invesiment properties RENE 13,083,000 9,082,000 8,216,000 7,246,000 5,722,000
Properties under development ERTIE 13,194,256 14,976,268 15,082,454 15,587,580 17,599 647
Investments in associates BENARE 206,554 6,084 - - 3,603
Interests in joint ventures REbERER 619,344 686,413 541,203 296,187 938,022
longferm receivables REEWH = - - - 596,096
Deferred fax assets BIEHBEE 644,169 817,628 210,427 209,727 185915
Total non-current assets ERBHEEDH 29,320,858 26,996,757 25,532,841 25,197,091 26,746,288
Current assets RBEE
Properies under development BERTIE 25,083,825 8,045,329 3,028,278 8,716,805 4,489,993
Completed properties held for sale BERFENE 10,170,401 11,609,969 9707 441 4,885,603 1,727 423
Trade, other receivables and advance JEUERT - Hph TR R
deposils BRke 17,538,455 12,568,170 8,275,245 5,214,650 2,760,960
longerm receivables with one year —EREHNREERT - - - - 125,561
Tax recoverable A EHIE 944,494 712,849 - - -
Conlract assefs ARBE 839,997 - - - -
Contract costs BRKA 54,962 - - - -
Other financial assets HiboEE - - 866,059 143,000 -
Restricted bank deposits SRHEE 2,217,430 2,401,495 1,436,984 621,618 156,693
Bank balance and cash FITEREAE 4,059,778 5455227 4,358,259 5,207,187 5,032,763
Total current assets RHEEGHE 60,909,342 41,753,039 28,572,266 24,788,863 14,293,393
Total assets BESE 90,230,200 68,749,796 54,105,107 49 085,954 41,039,681
Equity and Liabilities EERERE
Capital and Reserves BARGE
Share capital R 1,132,097 1,132,855 1,132,855 1,132,855 1,068,154
Share premium R E(E 3,412,872 3,416,546 3,416,546 3,416,546 2,362,986
Reserves [ 1,138,759 961,894 851,214 829,466 834,203
Perpetual securities KA S 787,823 787,823 787,823 - -
Retained earnings REEEH 4,778,667 3,560,011 2,641,360 1,550,565 1,353,595
Total equity attributable to RATHA NGRS EE
owners of the Company 11,250,218 0.859,129 8,829 798 6,929 432 5,618,938
Non-controlling interests I3t 2,694,520 1,725,761 893,806 758,676 371,648
Total equity HEREE 13,944,738 11,584,890 9,723,694 7,688,108 5,990,586
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SUMMARY OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL INFORMATION (Continved)

REVBERSE @)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (Continued)

FEMBRRR(E)
Year ended 31 December 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
BE+-RA=t+-BLEE —B-0\E B S o3 2R i3
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT AREFT AREFTL AREFTL AREFT
Liabilities =1
Non-current liabilities ERBaR
Interest bearing loans HEET 9,475,268 0.081,312 5,770,601 6,577,283 4,454,928
longerm payable REERR = - - 26,494 30,437
Bonds &% 1,367,416 2919171 4,581,996 4,714,521 8,763,401
Deferred fax liabiliies EEHEEE 1,822,577 957,999 809,639 875,234 491,791
Total non-current liabilities FREE RS 12,665,261 12,958,482 11,252,236 12,193,532 13,740,557
Current liabilities RBEE
Interest bearing loans HEER 3,209,345 1,480,500 3,713,620 3,265,938 1,227,105
Other financial liabilifies Hi4meRE - 98,178 320,543 - -
Trade, other payables and presale JE(TERTR - EMERTIER
deposits BERS 29,485,687 36,731,247 24,397 814 21,471,556 190.314,718
Contract liabilifies EREE 24,511,228 - - - -
Tox payable R 1,963,342 1787012 1,231,422 831,413 760,715
Bonds B 4,450,599 4,109,487 3,456,778 4,529,407 -
Longrterm payable within one year —FREENRAEAR = - - 6,000 6,000
Total current liabilities RBaEEsE 63,620,201 44,206,424  33,129.177 30,104,314 21,308,538
Total liabilities BfEEE 76,285,462 57,164,906 44 381,413 47297 846 35,049,095
Total equity and liabilities ERREELSE 90,230,200 68,749.796 54,105,107 49,085,054 41,039,681
Net current liabilities RBaETRE (2,710,859)  (2,453,385]  (4,556911)  [5315451) (7,015,145
Total assets less current liabilities  BEERGHARE 26,609,999 24543372 20,975,930 19,881,640 19,731,143
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